

### LUND UNIVERSITY

#### Society Inhaled. Social Epidemiology of COPD

Axelsson Fisk, Sten

2021

Document Version: Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

#### Link to publication

Citation for published version (APA): Axelsson Fisk, S. (2021). *Society Inhaled. Social Epidemiology of COPD*. [Doctoral Thesis (compilation), Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö]. Lund University, Faculty of Medicine.

Total number of authors:

#### General rights

Unless other specific re-use rights are stated the following general rights apply:

Copyright and moral rights for the publications made accessible in the public portal are retained by the authors and/or other copyright owners and it is a condition of accessing publications that users recognise and abide by the legal requirements associated with these rights. • Users may download and print one copy of any publication from the public portal for the purpose of private study

- or research.
- You may not further distribute the material or use it for any profit-making activity or commercial gain
   You may freely distribute the URL identifying the publication in the public portal

Read more about Creative commons licenses: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/

#### Take down policy

If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

LUND UNIVERSITY

**PO Box 117** 221 00 Lund +46 46-222 00 00

# Society inhaled Social Epidemiology of COPD

STEN AXELSSON FISK | FACULTY OF MEDICINE | LUND UNIVERSITY





**FACULTY OF** 

**MEDICINE** 

Sten Axelsson Fisk (SAF) is a medical doctor that studied medicine at Lund University in Malmö and is presently doing his residency in Gynecology and Obstetrics at Ystad Hospital. SAF has been engaged in public debate advocating equity in health and in political movements defending public health care for a decade.

Society inhaled – is a thesis that describes the social epidemiology of COPD in Sweden and inquires how the socially patterned risk of COPD emerges. Explicitly incorporating different social theories regarding the

genesis of health inequalities, this thesis uses novel statistical methods to study incidence of COPD, discontinuation to maintenance medication among COPD patients and risk of smoking. By directing attention not only to average differences between socioeconomic groups but also to the discriminatory accuracy of socioeconomic models, the thesis constitutes an argument that social epidemiological studies should report measures of discriminatory accuracy and individual heterogeneity to better inform public health interventions. The thesis supports the adoption of an intersectional perspective to improve understanding of how society is inhaled and calls for increased attention to socioeconomic factors in the management of COPD patients.

> Lund University Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö Unit for Social Epidemiology

Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:31 ISBN 978-91-8021-037-9 ISSN 1652-8220





### Society Inhaled

### Social Epidemiology of COPD

Sten Axelsson Fisk



#### DOCTORAL DISSERTATION

by due permission of the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden. To be defended at Medelhavet, CRC, Malmö. 23 April 2021, 09.00.

> *Faculty opponent* Bo Burström, Prof., PhD, MD, Karolinska Institutet

Main Supervisor Juan Merlo, Prof., PhD, MD, Lund University

Assistant Supervisors Shai Mulinari, Associate professor, PhD, Lund University Ann Ekberg-Jansson, Associate professor, PhD, MD, Sahlgrenska Academy Peter Nilsson, Prof., PhD, MD, Lund University

	Document name	
	Date of issue	
	2021-04-23	
Author	Sponsoring organization	n
Sten Axelsson Fisk		
Litle and subtitle Society Inhaled: Social Enidemiology of COPD		
Abstract		
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is a common disease that in its advanced stages is a life-limiting condition and a leading cause of death globally. This thesis aims at increasing the understanding of the socioeconomic disparities that exist both for COPD and its major risk factor, tobacco smoking. A related aim is to advance the theory and epidemiological methods used to evaluate equity in health and health care. In concrete terms, the thesis discusses absolute versus relative measures of income and applies Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy (AIHDA) within an intersectional framework.		
In three prospective national studies, register data including socioeconomic information, hospital diagnoses (I–III) and prescriptions (III) was used. Investigating incident COPD, study I evaluates absolute versus relative income and study II adopts an intersectional Multilevel AIHDA (MAIHDA). Study III is a MAIHDA which disentangles the effect of geographical (i.e. counties) and sociodemographic contexts on discontinuation to maintenance therapy among COPD patients. Study IV is a cross-sectional intersectional AIHDA, analysing smoking risk in the Swedish National Health Surveys. Discriminatory Accuracy (DA) is assessed through Area Under the ROC Curve (AUC) in study I, III and IV and the Variance Partition Coefficient (VPC) in study II and III.		
Absolute income had a higher DA than relative income and seems more relevant for predicting incident COPD. Intersectional information on age, gender, education, income, civil status and country of birth had a good DA, as 20% of total variance in propensity to develop COPD was found between intersectional strata. The stratum with older native females with low income and low education who live alone presented 49 times higher COPD risk than the stratum defined by young, native males with high income and high education who cohabit (0.98% versus 0.02%). Sociodemographic differences were more relevant than geographic (i.e. counties) differences for explaining patient variance in discontinuation to maintenance therapy (VPC 5.0% versus 0.4%). Intersectional information provided a moderate DA (AUC=0.66) for predicting smoking status.		
Although complex to disentangle from one another, our results suggest that material conditions matter more than psychosocial status for incidence of COPD. The intersectional MAIHDA and AIHDA approaches improve our understanding of heterogeneities in risk of COPD and smoking in the population. This approach can also disentangle geographical from sociodemographic contextual effects and provides an innovative instrument for planning interventions according to the idea of <i>proportionate universalism</i> .		
Key words Social epidemiology. Social medicine. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease. Intersectionality. Smoking. Social Determinants of Health.		
Classification system and/or index terms (if any)		
Supplementary bibliographical information		<b>Language</b> English
ISSN and key title 1652-8220		ISBN 978-91-8021-037-9
Recipient's notes	Number of pages 135	Price
	Security classification	

I, the undersigned, being the copyright owner of the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation, hereby grant to all reference sources permission to publish and disseminate the abstract of the above-mentioned dissertation. Signature Date 2021-03-18

# Society Inhaled

### Social Epidemiology of COPD

Sten Axelsson Fisk



Front cover photo by Dardana Hatashi Back cover photo by Niklas Asker

Copyright pp 1-135 Sten Axelsson Fisk Paper 1 © Publisher Open Access Paper 2 © Publisher Open Access

Paper 3 © Publisher Open Access

Paper 4 © Publisher Open Access

Faculty of Medicine Department of Clinical Sciences, Malmö Unit for Social Epidemiology

ISBN 978-91-8021-037-9 ISSN 1652-8220 Lund University, Faculty of Medicine Doctoral Dissertation Series 2021:31

Printed in Sweden by Media-Tryck, Lund University Lund 2021



Media-Tryck is a Nordic Swan Ecolabel certified provider of printed material. Read more about our environmental work at www.mediatryck.lu.se

MADE IN SWEDEN

"There is no exception to the rule, that, in every district which has a large indoor industry, the increased mortality of the workpeople is such as to colour the death-return of the whole district with a marked excess of lung disease."

Dr John Simon, quoted in Capital, Volume III (1894), Karl Marx

# Table of Contents

Abbreviations	9
List of papers	11
Abstract	13
Introduction	15
Background	17
Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease	17
Factors mediating socioeconomic gradient for COPD	19
Theories of the genesis of socioeconomic health inequities	22
Individual heterogeneity in modern epidemiology	32
Causation in (social) epidemiology	35
Proportionate universalism	37
Health care (e)quality	38
General aims	41
Questions	43
Methods	45
Study population	45
Assessment of variables	52
Statistical methods	54
Ethics	62
Results	63
Study I	63
Study II	66
Study III	73
Study IV	78
Conclusions	89

Discussion	91
Relation to previous research	92
Strengths and limitations of individual studies	96
Implications and future research	102
Sammanfattning på svenska	111
Acknowledgements	115
References	117

# Abbreviations

AATD	Alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency
ACE	Average Causal Effect
AUC	Area Under the ROC Curve
COPD	Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease
DA	Discriminatory Accuracy
$FEV_1$	Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 Second
FVC	Forced Vital Capacity
GOLD	Global Initiative for Obstructive Lung Disease
HR	Hazard Ratio
ICC	Intraclass Correlation Coefficient
ICD	International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems
ICE	Individual Causal Effect
OR	Odds Ratio
PCV	Proportional Change of the Variance
РНС	Primary Healthcare Centre
PR	Prevalence Ratio
ROC	Receiver Operator Characteristic Curve
RR	Relative Risk
SDH	Social Determinants of Health
SEP	Socioeconomic Position
SES	Socioeconomic Status
SNAR	Swedish National Airway Register
SPDR	Swedish Prescribed Drug Register
TPR	The Total Population Register
VPC	Variance Partition Coefficient
WHO	World Health Organization

## List of papers

**Paper I:** "<u>Absolute rather than relative income is a better socioeconomic predictor</u> of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Swedish adults" by **Axelsson Fisk, S.**, & Merlo, J. (2017). *Int J Equity Health, 16*(1), 70. doi:10.1186/s12939-017-0566-2. Published with kind permission from BioMed Central, licensed under <u>CC BY 4.0</u>

**Paper II:** "<u>Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in Sweden: an intersectional</u> <u>multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy</u>" by **Axelsson Fisk, S.**, Mulinari, S., Wemrell, M., Leckie, G., Perez-Vicente, R., & Merlo, J. (2018). *SSM-Population Health*, *4*, *334-346*. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.03.005. Published with kind permission from Elsevier, licensed under <u>CC BY-NC-ND 4.0</u>

**Paper III:** "<u>Geographical and sociodemographic differences in discontinuation of</u> medication for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease - A Cross-Classified Multilevel Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy (<u>MAIHDA</u>)" by Khalaf, K\*., **Axelsson Fisk, S**\*., Ekberg-Jansson, A., Leckie, G., Perez-Vicente, R., & Merlo, J. (2020). *Clin Epidemiol, 12*, 783-796. doi:10.2147/clep.s247368. Published with permission from DovePress, licensed under CC BY-NC 3.0.

**Paper IV:** "Understanding the complexity of socioeconomic disparities in smoking prevalence in Sweden: a cross-sectional study applying intersectionality theory" by **Axelsson Fisk, S.**, Lindstrom, M., Perez-Vicente, R., & Merlo, J. (2021) *BMJ open, 11*(2), e042323. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2020-042323. Published with kind permission from British Medical Journal under <u>CC BY 4.0</u>.

\*Both authors contributed equally to the manuscript.

### Abstract

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is a common disease that in its advanced stages is a life-limiting condition and a leading cause of death globally. This thesis aims at increasing the understanding of the socioeconomic disparities that exist both for COPD and its major risk factor, tobacco smoking. A related aim is to advance the theory and epidemiological methods used to evaluate equity in health and health care. In concrete terms, the thesis discusses absolute versus relative measures of income and applies Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy (AIHDA) within an intersectional framework.

In three prospective national studies, register data including socioeconomic information, hospital diagnoses (I–III) and prescriptions (III) was used. Investigating incident COPD, study I evaluates absolute versus relative income and study II adopts an intersectional Multilevel AIHDA (MAIHDA). Study III is a MAIHDA which disentangles the effect of geographical (i.e. counties) and sociodemographic contexts on discontinuation to maintenance therapy among COPD patients. Study IV is a cross-sectional intersectional AIHDA, analysing smoking risk in the Swedish National Health Surveys. Discriminatory Accuracy (DA) is assessed through Area Under the ROC Curve (AUC) in study I, III and IV and the Variance Partition Coefficient (VPC) in study II and III.

Absolute income had a higher DA than relative income and seems more relevant for predicting incident COPD. Intersectional information on age, gender, education, income, civil status and country of birth had a good DA, as 20% of total variance in propensity to develop COPD was found between intersectional strata. The stratum with older native females with low income and low education who live alone presented 49 times higher COPD risk than the stratum defined by young, native males with high income and high education who cohabit (0.98% versus 0.02%). Sociodemographic differences were more relevant than geographic (i.e. counties) differences for explaining patient variance in discontinuation to maintenance therapy (VPC 5.0% versus 0.4%). Intersectional information provided a moderate DA (AUC=0.66) for predicting smoking status.

Although complex to disentangle from one another, our results suggest that material conditions matter more than psychosocial status for incidence of COPD. The intersectional MAIHDA and AIHDA approaches improve our understanding of heterogeneities in risk of COPD and smoking in the population. This approach can

also disentangle geographical from sociodemographic contextual effects and provides an innovative instrument for planning interventions according to the idea of *proportionate universalism*.

### Introduction

Reviews of publications on inequities in risk of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) have confirmed the existence of socioeconomic disparities (Adeloye et al., 2015, Gershon et al., 2012). However, most of those studies are based on unidimensional socioeconomic, demographic or geographical dimensions without considering that the distribution of power and resources that condition the risk of COPD is complex and intersectional. Further, those previous studies are mostly focused on measures of association like odds ratios and relative risks without considering the discriminatory accuracy (DA) of their findings (Merlo, 2014, Merlo, 2018). However, during the last few years a small but growing number of studies focusing on different outcomes (Hernández-Yumar et al., 2018, Evans et al., 2018, Persmark et al., 2019, Wemrell et al., 2017a) are filling those knowledge gaps, and this thesis has a pioneer role in that initiative.

In a review of the association between socioeconomic position (SEP) and COPD, relative risks for negative COPD outcomes were at least two-fold for the most deprived compared to the most privileged groups in most studies (Gershon et al., 2012). No other organ system shows such strong socioeconomic inequities as the respiratory system (Schraufnagel et al., 2013, Pleasants et al., 2016, Black et al., 1980). This thesis investigates the airways as the anatomic site of *embodiment* of socioeconomic inequities (Krieger, 2005). I adopt a multilevel perspective in which socioeconomic factors are considered not as individual characteristics but rather as a relational concept that restrains chances of healthy airways for some individuals and protects others from individual-level risk factors that mediate the association between SEP and COPD morbidity.

The aim is to apply novel methods that develop the understanding of the societal factors driving inequities in COPD morbidity and that aid the evaluation of equity in COPD health care. In this way, the final aim is to provide and improve the knowledge basis for better treatment and prevention of COPD in the population.

### Background

### Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease

Although emphysema and chronic bronchitis are medical conditions that have been known for at least 200 years, COPD as a disease entity is a rather young condition (Swedish Medical Products Agency, 2015). It was in 1987 and the 8<sup>th</sup> version of the International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems (ICD) that it was first merited with its own code (Socialstyrelsen, 2017). COPD is defined as airflow limitation determined by spirometry in combination with symptoms including dyspnea, cough and/or sputum production (GOLD, 2020). Diagnosis of COPD is based on the ratio of air exhaled during the first second of a forced expiration ( $FEV_1$ ) over the forced total volume that is exhaled (FVC). A FEV<sub>1</sub>/FVC ratio under 0.7 is diagnostic of COPD (Kasper et al., 2015). COPD is an insidious disease where narrowing of peripheral airways alone or in combination with destruction of pulmonary parenchyma are characteristic structural changes. The pathogenesis is complex and involves several contributing processes, including oxidative stress, altered inflammatory response of the airways, imbalance between proteases and interstitial fibrosis (GOLD, 2020). While the disease was previously viewed as a strictly pulmonary disease, it is now understood as a systematic disease where an inflammatory process (Rabe and Watz, 2017) may lead to a negative spiral with aggravated inflammation of airways, leading to more mucus production and destruction of pulmonary tissue, reducing elasticity of the lungs, both leading to airway obstruction (Larsson, 2007).

COPD should be considered whenever an adult patient presents with dyspnea and/or prolonged cough in combination with exposure to risk factors for COPD (described in a following section). Whereas dynamic spirometry is necessary to establish diagnosis, devices assessing  $FEV_1/FEV_6$  can be used for screening (Labor et al., 2016). According to Swedish guidelines, once COPD diagnosis is established, further assessment of symptoms, exacerbation history, physical capacity assessed through a 6 minutes walking test, BMI, and comorbidities should be performed (Swedish Medical Products Agency, 2015). Based on the lung-function, degree of dyspnea and history of exacerbation, COPD is classified into stage A–D. Nonpharmacological treatments include adequate nutrition, physiotherapy and COPD education. For patients at any stage who are active smokers, active smoking cessation care is the most important therapeutic intervention, since it increases survival (Anthonisen et al., 2005). For patients with mild symptoms, less than two exacerbations during the previous 12 months and an FEV<sub>1</sub> >50% expected value, short-acting agents to relieve symptoms is the only bronchodilating medication recommended. Patients with GOLD stage B, C and D are recommended long-acting  $\beta$ -2 agonists (LABA) or long-acting muscarinic antagonists (LAMA), or a combination of both. Patients who suffer frequent exacerbations and have COPD stage C–D should also be prescribed inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) in combination with LABA or, if necessary, triple therapy with LAMA, LABA and ICS. Patients must be properly educated in how to use the inhalation devices, since misuse is a common problem with negative health implications (Gregoriano et al., 2018, GOLD, 2020). Additional therapies should be considered in patients with advanced disease and hypoxemia (long-term oxygen therapy) or increased mucus production (roflumilast) (Swedish Medical Products Agency, 2015).

The global prevalence of COPD is uncertain since both under- and over-diagnosis remain problems globally (Ho et al., 2019, Gershon et al., 2018) and in Sweden (Axelsson et al., 2020). The World Health Organization (WHO) estimates that chronic respiratory disease is the third leading cause of death among noncommunicable diseases (Alwan, 2011). By 2014, Swedish authorities estimated that around 500,000 individuals suffered from the disease, but only a fifth had an established diagnosis (Socialstyrelsen, 2014), and hence the opportunity for correct treatment. A recent prevalence study based on data between 2009–2012 from northern Sweden found a COPD prevalence of 7% among people aged 21–78 years, and a 23% decrease in prevalence from 1994 to 2009, presumably due to falling smoking rates. Prevalence of moderate to severe disease had halved during the same period (Backman et al., 2020). In a research project where COPD burden was compared between twelve countries. Sweden had the fourth lowest prevalence with 16.2% (Danielsson et al., 2012). In a study based on telephone interviews with 244 patients, the total cost of COPD in Sweden in 2010 was estimated to be 13.9 billion SEK, including both direct and indirect costs. Patients with severe disease had 29 times higher mean total cost compared to patients with mild disease, primarily due to more hospitalisations (Jansson et al., 2013). Another publication found that most of the costs for COPD patients proved to be attributable to hospital nights unrelated to COPD, underscoring the necessity of managing comorbidities among COPD patients properly (Lisspers et al., 2018).

#### Socioeconomic disparities and COPD

The association between low SEP and COPD has been studied in many previous publications (Gershon et al., 2012, Marmot et al., 1991). In prevalence studies from northern Sweden, occupational class was not associated with prevalence of COPD among non-smokers (Hagstad et al., 2012). However, in a study from western Sweden, Axelsson et al. (2016) found that compared to non-smoking individuals

with university education, having a low education implied a similar increase in odds of chronic bronchitis as being a current smoker. Danielsson et al. (2012) published a study reporting decreased prevalence of COPD with increasing years of education, in a model adjusted for age, gender, previous tuberculosis and pack-years of smoking. In a recent publication by Borné et al. (2019), an income gradient was observed for incident COPD with a two-fold risk of COPD for individuals with incomes below the median. When adjusting for smoking status and  $FEV_1$  by baseline, both income and occupational class remained significant risk factors for incident COPD, although hazard ratios decreased after this adjustment.

Furthermore, COPD patients with low socioeconomic position have worse prognosis than those with high SEP, regarding both risk of hospitalisation and mortality. In a longitudinal Canadian study by Gershon et al. (2014), mortality among COPD patients in all socioeconomic strata decreased between 1996/7 and 2011/12. Since mortality decreased less among the poorest income quintile compared to the richer quintiles, income disparities in mortality widened. In Denmark, COPD patients with lower education have higher risks of exacerbation and hospital admission and have higher mortality compared to individuals with university education. While partly explained by disparities in mediators between low SEP and COPD, such as smoking status, FEV<sub>1</sub> and history of exacerbations, the educational gradient remained after adjustment for these factors (Lange et al., 2014).

This thesis focuses on COPD and smoking in Sweden, a high-income country with a universal health care system. It should be kept in mind that low- and middle-income countries carry the largest global burden of COPD morbidity and mortality (Halpin et al., 2019).

### Factors mediating socioeconomic gradient for COPD

#### Smoking

In high-income countries, smoking is the most important individual-level risk factor for COPD (Soriano et al., 2017). In Sweden, the epidemic of tobacco smoking has passed over its initial steps during which tobacco consumption was more common among the higher social classes compared to manual occupations (Vågerö and Norell, 1989), and today people with low SEP smoke more frequently than people with high SEP (Giskes et al., 2005, Eek et al., 2010). The higher prevalence of smoking among people with low SEP results both from higher rates of initiation (Joffer et al., 2014) and less successful smoking cessation (Gilman et al., 2008). Among women, life course factors such as early motherhood and non-cohabitation both increase odds of smoking and reduce chances of being a former smoker (Graham et al., 2006). Findings are diverging regarding the influence of childhood socioeconomic position on smoking, but it seems to have a stronger influence on women's smoking patterns than men's (Jefferis et al., 2004, Power et al., 2005). Recent evidence further indicate that offspring to women that smoke during most of their pregnancy have increased risk of respiratory disease in adult life (Johansson et al., 2020).

The factors hypothesised to mediate the association between low SEP and smoking depend on the level in the eco-social framework in which the analysis is performed (Krieger, 2005). Individual-level factors such as sleep disturbance and psychological stress, together with financial strain, did mediate the association between low SEP and increased risk of smoking, according to one study (Martinez et al., 2018). Other factors higher up in the social causal pathway that influence risk of smoking include work place and neighbourhood norms (Ahern et al., 2009) and family smoking habits (Jackson and Henriksen, 1997). Tobacco marketing that is more oriented towards people with low SEP may also contribute to SEP disparities in smoking, according to studies on tobacco marketing strategies in the USA (Barbeau et al., 2004, Barbeau et al., 2005).

One focus of this thesis is directed to the theories of how low SEP translates into different health behaviours, including smoking. In the Black Report, published in the UK in 1982, three major explanation models for how health inequities are generated were presented (Black et al., 1980), not counting the artefact theory. First, the natural and social selection model views social class as a consequence of health rather than the opposite, i.e. people that smoke will develop poor health and thus be prevented from reaching high SEP. Second, the materialist explanation model (presented in detail below) stresses that different material life circumstances of people with different SEP offer different possibilities to choose a healthy life (Roos and Prättälä, 2012). Last, the cultural/behavioural explanation model focuses on how class-dependent cultures and norms regarding smoking and other health behaviours are central to the understanding of SEP disparities in smoking. This explanation model aligns with Bourdieu's view of how tastes, preferences and cultural practices are shaped by the social conditions in which we grow up and live (Bottero, 2005). The process through which class-differentiated practices reproduce the social order define what Bourdieu terms habitus. According to this concept, it is more in congruence with common expectations that a working class person smokes than it is for people of higher social classes. These expectations affect decisions on whether to take up and quit smoking (Katainen, 2010).

The strong causal association between smoking and COPD has contributed to a conception of the disease as a pure *cigarettosis*, despite its multifactorial causes (Larsson, 2007). Such a simplistic view is erroneous, since approximately 20-25% of Swedish COPD patients have never smoked (Skold, 2017, Hagstad et al., 2012).

#### Other risk factors for COPD

As smoking prevalence decreases in Sweden, the etiologic fraction attributable to other risk factors increases. Occupational exposure to dusts, mineral dusts, fumes and asbestos is calculated to cause between 15% (Blanc and Toren, 2007) and 37% (Torén et al., 2017) of COPD morbidity. Among never-smokers, the population attributable fraction of occupational exposures to COPD is 31% (95% CI 18-43%) (Blanc et al., 2019). Individuals with low SEP run a higher risk of being exposed both to occupational exposures and living near major roads, increasing the risk of COPD (Schikowski et al., 2008). In low- and middle-income countries, combustion of biofuels constitutes an important risk factor for COPD among women (Po et al., 2011), and with increasing migration this may contribute to COPD burden in Sweden as well, although this has still not been studied. Several environmental exposures in-utero and early life also condition risk of COPD (Savran and Ulrik, 2018) Pre-term delivery and factors causing intra-uterine growth restriction of the lungs, correlated to low birth weight, also predispose people with low SEP to COPD (Brostrom et al., 2013) due to decreased pulmonary reserve capacity. Infections in early life increases risk of asthma and chronic respiratory conditions, and such infections are more common among people with low SEP (Dowd et al., 2009). Living near a major road during adulthood is associated with increased odds of COPD (Lindgren et al., 2009) and air pollution exposure in early life is associated with decreased FEV<sub>1</sub> during adolescence, which in turn predisposes individuals to COPD (Schultz et al., 2016). Air pollutions are more common in socioeconomically deprived areas (Chaix et al., 2006). Interest is also emerging regarding a potential harmful effect on lung function of Western diet contrasted by a reduced risk among people consuming a balanced diet rich in anti-oxidants, but conclusive evidence is lacking (Scoditti et al., 2019). The problem of residual confounding by unmeasured aspects of social class is a concern that should be highlighted when studying individual life style factors mediating the association between SEP and COPD (Oakes and Andrade, 2017).

Alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency (AATD) is a genetic disorder that through different pathophysiologic mechanisms predisposes affected individuals to early onset COPD. The deficiency of alpha-1-antitrypsin protein causes an imbalance between protease and antiprotease activity, primarily due to excess neutrophil elastase activity. This, in turn, may lead to a destruction of pulmonary parenchyma characteristic of emphysema, a process which is accelerated in the presence of tobacco smoke or pulmonary infection, both of which increase the elastase burden in the lungs (Stoller and Aboussouan, 2012). Epigenetic alterations including DNA-methylation have been suggested as one mechanism contributing to socioeconomic inequalities in health, and low education was associated with accelerated epigenetic ageing in a study comprising 17 independent cohorts, even after adjustment for smoking, BMI, alcohol and physical activity (Fiorito et al., 2019). Recently, conflicting results have been reported regarding the association between epigenetic

indicators of accelerated ageing and COPD. One study found very weak or nonexistent associations between epigenetic markers of accelerated ageing and COPD (Breen et al., 2020) while another found stronger associations (Hillary et al., 2020). In addition to this, hypotheses exist about other gene-environment interactions, for example related to genetic predispositions to addiction which increase risk of exposure to smoking (Molfino and Coyle, 2008).

# Theories of the genesis of socioeconomic health inequities

Social epidemiology is distinguished from classic epidemiology through its treating of social factors as explanatory variables of interest rather than as a source of bias (Oakes and Kaufman, 2017). WHO defines health inequities as

avoidable inequalities in health between groups of people within countries and between countries. These inequities arise from inequalities within and between societies. Social and economic conditions and their effects on people's lives determine their risk of illness and the actions taken to prevent them becoming ill or treat illness when it occurs (WHO, 2020).

Some health disparities depend on natural biomedical factors that are not readily amenable through policy interventions, for example some biological differences between men and women. Such disparities do not imply the same moral imperative as avoidable inequalities in health (Alonge and Peters, 2015) and accordingly are not defined as health inequities. In the case of COPD, it is not yet possible to alter the genetic predisposition arising from alpha-1-antitrypsin deficiency, in the same way that the frequency of low income and low educational achievement or discrimination on the basis of gender or ethnicity can be modified. The width and strength of the association between low SEP and ill health has led to the formulation of the fundamental cause theory. In this theory, Phelan and Link claim that the robust association between high SEP and better health is attributable to the concentration of a large set of resources such as money, education, prestige, power and beneficial social connections among individuals higher up in the social hierarchy. Through multiple pathways, people with higher SEP will find ways of attaining resources that are beneficial for their health (Link and Phelan, 2010).

Critique has been directed at both the fundamental cause theory (Oversveen et al., 2017) and social epidemiology as a discipline, targeting the relative lack of explicit social theory (Krieger, 1994, Ng and Muntaner, 2014, Wemrell et al., 2016). As a response to this critique, one aim of this thesis is to contribute to the development of methods to evaluate the relevance of different social theories for the

understanding of the social distribution of COPD. When explicitly stating which social theories are being hypothesised to explain socioeconomic disparities in COPD, one can approach knowledge about mechanisms that generate these inequities (Oversveen et al., 2017). In contrast, if associations between different socioeconomic categories and health hazards are presented without a proper theory-grounded explanation, this may perpetuate conceptions of social health gradients as constant and unchangeable phenomena.

#### Embodiment and eco-social theory

Embodiment is a core concept in the eco-social theory (Krieger, 2005) and refers to the process through which people, as all living creatures, incorporate their surroundings into their bodies. Therefore, by studying the states of our bodies we can reach insights about the distribution of power and resources in any given society. The eco-social theory also stresses that health conditions are affected by biological and social factors acting upon us at several different levels, from molecular levels to macroeconomics. The scientific questions that are being asked and the research that is performed in a society is influenced by dominant social beliefs. Epidemiologists, as do other scientists, have a responsibility to acknowledge at which levels they seek causes of diseases (Krieger, 2001). Although neither the embodiment concept nor the eco-social theory are addressed directly in any of the papers, the ideas have influenced the work within this thesis.

#### Measuring socioeconomic position

Despite being one of the most studied and influential determinants of health, there is no universal agreement on how to define or denominate SEP. On the contrary, the choice of SEP measurement is influenced by available data, a priori hypotheses on causal mechanisms between SEP and the studied outcome as well as political ideology. Neither is there a consensual terminology. Socioeconomic position, socioeconomic status and social class are to some extent exchangeable synonyms, but express different nuances in how the socioeconomic variable is hypothesised to influence health (Oakes and Andrade, 2017). Social class is a term with a Marxist origin, and in its original form it separates individuals dichotomously into an owning capitalist class and a working class, depending on whether people own their means of production (and pay others to work for them) or sell their labour in exchange for a salary. This dichotomous class definition has been further developed by Marxist scholar Olin Wright, who presented a class matrix including several dimensions: the relation to the means of production, number of employees, authority at the work place and possession of scarce skills (Wright, 2000). Other class definitions stem from a Weberian tradition and focus on the character of the employment relationships that are either service relationships or labour contracts. Service

relationships are typically present for high status occupations and are characterised by a higher degree of freedom. Labour contracts, on the contrary, dominate among occupations requiring less skill and imply a stricter control over employees. These ideas have inspired the construction of the Swedish Socioeconomic Index (SEI), the Eriksson-Goldthorpe-Portocarero (EGP) and the more recent European Socioeconomic Classification (ESeC) (Bihagen and Nermo, 2018). Social class is usually operationalised using occupational status, and the association between working class occupations and increased odds of COPD have been shown in Sweden (Montnemery et al., 2001, Borné et al., 2019), although another study only found insignificant trends of manual workers having higher odds of COPD (Lindberg et al., 2005). Socioeconomic status, perhaps the most commonly used term within both social and traditional epidemiology, is implicitly linked to the subjective experiences of being more or less deprived. Status is a concept that also has a Weberian origin and was first defined in direct opposition to the concept of class, since class, according to Weber, was defined by mere economic interests and situation in the labour market whereas status is determined by honour and social lifestyle (Weber, 2010). The term socioeconomic status thus directs attention to the subjective aspects of deprivation (Humber, 2019). Socioeconomic position (SEP), thirdly, is a term that avoids connotations of prestige and is therefore often preferred by researchers who are interested in both material and prestige aspects of social stratification (Krieger, 2001). It is the term used in this thesis when not specifically referring to the psychosocial pathway as outlined below.

The measurement of SEP can be broadly categorised into composite measurements and proxy measurements. The prior category are aggregate measurements taking into account several aspects of SEP, such as earnings, wealth, education, occupation and prestige. The advantage of this is that such measurements better capture the full aspects of SEP compared to proxy measurements, a downside is that combined measurements are more complicated to transform into policy change. It is hard to launch campaigns directed at individuals with a specific score on a composite SEP measurement, compared to targeting individuals with low education or low income. Proxy variables take advantage of the fact that possession of desirable resources tend to correlate; an individual with high SEP has a good chance to have a high income, high education, high-prestige occupation and live in a wealthy neighbourhood. Measuring any of these aspects thus captures important aspects of SEP, although not as exhaustively as the composite measurements (Oakes and Andrade, 2017).

In study I, absolute and relative income are compared as predictors of incident COPD. In study II we included both education and income in the intersectional matrix as two separate dimensions. This choice was based on the hypothesis that across categories of gender and migration status, education would perform differently as a proxy for SEP; we therefore chose to include income as well. In the study focused on discontinuation with maintenance therapy, we chose income as the proxy for SEP since we hypothesised that financial strain could be one reason that

COPD patients discontinued their medication. When studying the intersectional pattern of smoking prevalence, we chose to include education rather than income in the main analysis, although we performed a sensitivity analysis using income instead. This choice was based on the purpose of providing an alternative way of mapping health disparities for authorities, and education is a frequently used proxy for SEP in evaluations of health disparities in Sweden (Socialstyrelsen, 2015). It should be noted that the lack of a consensual terminology may confuse readers of research in this field. For example, relative income as defined in study I is not synonymous to the concept of living beneath the "relative poverty line", which is usually defined as having an income below 50% or 60% of the median income (Betson and Warlick, 2017) or having an income below a poverty line defined as the minimum cost of living (Lee et al., 2019). This concept of relative poverty rather resembles our absolute income definition and its effect on health may be mediated through both materialistic and psychosocial pathways, as explained below.

#### Theories linking low SEP to poor health

#### Psychosocial model

While it is evident that poor people will have worse health outcomes when poverty leads to a deprivation of basic material resources such as clean water, food and shelter, it has been scientifically debated how persistent socioeconomic disparities in high-income countries should be explained. Two explanation models that can be distinguished are the *psychosocial* and the *materialistic* theories of the genesis of socioeconomic health gradients.

The psychosocial explanation model recognises the existence of a continuous socioeconomic health gradient. That is, socioeconomic status does not only matter among the most deprived individuals in society but are also important for longevity of affluent individuals. For example, Redelmeier and Singh (2001) found that actors who were only nominated for an Oscars award had higher mortality compared to the actors who actually won the awards. The presence of a socioeconomic gradient from the bottom to the top among civil servants at Whitehall has been interpreted as evidence that the status in the hierarchy rather than the material aspects linked to higher positions are most important for health (Marmot et al., 1991, Marmot, 2007). This is supported by the absence of a beneficial health impact of GDP growth, above a threshold level where material deprivation ceases to have serious health impact, claim psychosocial proponents (Wilkinson, 1999). Explanations of how socioeconomic status influences health includes both different health behaviours and neuroendocrinologic pathways engaging the hypothalamus-pituitary glandadrenal gland axis, which has proved to be triggered by threatened social position among monkeys (Shively and Clarkson, 1994).

Rather than the materialistic aspects of health, it is the psychosocial comparison that is placed at the focus of interest. Once basic material needs are satisfied, the reason why higher income improves our health is that it can buy us cars, houses, clothes or experiences that increase our status. Income is related to health because it functions as a score counter for socioeconomic status. The degree to which these items increase an individual's status is then dependent on what people who surround the person can purchase. Therefore, it is the relative income rather than the absolute income that matters most. Since the psychosocial comparison exists across all socioeconomic strata, relative income will be important across the whole socioeconomic gradient (Marmot, 2007).

#### Materialist model

The materialist model emphasises the importance of health promoting resources as key determinants of health, even in rich societies. The material goods an individual possesses will determine the availability of healthy housing, leisure time activities, health care including medications, transportation and education. While the poorest strata are excluded from some of the studies of psychosocial researchers, materialist researchers tend to direct comparatively more focus to the poorest proportion of the population (Lynch et al., 2000a).

A related debate with its peak intensity at the advent of this century concerns the interpretation of the association between income inequality and health. Wilkinson and Pickett (2009) presented data showing that above a certain level of GDP, rather than increased wealth it is the degree of economic equality that is most important for how healthy a population is. While Wilkinson et al. claimed this association was due to negative subjective experiences of inferiority related to low relative income (Marmot and Wilkinson, 2001), Lynch et al. (2000b) questioned the robustness of this finding and shifted focus to the political and economic processes that determine the degree of income inequality. A materialistic interpretation of this observation is that the same historical and cultural processes that result in income inequalities will affect important determinants of public infrastructure available to an individual. They also underscore the unintended risk that psychosocial explanation models locating the cause of health disparities in subjective processes may result in victim blaming and hamper structural change. Humber (2019) highlights the correlation in time between increased union membership and increased life expectancy in the UK. In the materialist framework, absolute income as a proxy for available material assets of an individual is more important for health than the relative income compared to other individuals as a proxy for psychosocial strain. The materialist model is also related to the Social Determinants of Health (SDH) approach that is summarised in the rainbow model (see Figure 1) (Dahlgren and Whitehead, 1991). This model conceptualises the different layers at which social factors act upon health. The outermost layer 1 represents macro-level factors such as the economic system, social policies and environmental factors that tend to be stressed by

materialistic researchers. In layer 2 we find the socioeconomic factors most frequently analysed within social epidemiology, such as education, work environment and health care services, which are equally stressed by psychosocial and materialistic researchers. Moving closer to the individual, in layer 3, social factors located in the communities such as social support and participation in society are located. These are more related to psychosocial theories of social cohesion as a key determinant of health. In layer 4, finally, we find the individual level determinants of health which include health behaviours and other factors that constitute the major interest for general epidemiology. Individual coping mechanisms can also be located in this layer.



Figure 1. Rainbow model of the Social Determinants of Health Rainbow model of four layers of the Social Determinants of Health, originally presented by Dahlgren and Whitehead (Dahlgren, 1995).

#### Gender

While biological sex is determined by characteristics such as chromosomal constitution, gonads or secondary sex characteristics, the concept of gender refers to characteristics of women and men that are socially constructed and due to conventions and norms regarding behaviours, gender roles and the relationship among and between women and men (Krieger, 2001). Both sex and gender can be of relevance to the diagnosis, prevention and treatment of disease (Mauvais-Jarvis et al., 2020). Sex disparities that may be relevant for the distribution of COPD exist, for example average airway size which is smaller for women than men with the same lung size (Merkus et al., 1996). Several downstream risk factors for COPD are

differently distributed among men and women due to gender roles. For example, smoking prevalence in Sweden has in the past shifted from being more common among men to being more common among women (Ali et al., 2009), but now prevalence is similar for men and women. Findings regarding the vulnerability to tobacco smoke for incident COPD are diverging. Haghani et al. (2020) found that risk of developing COPD as a consequence of smoking was higher among men than women, but other researchers have found smoking women to be more susceptible to COPD compared to smoking men (Prescott et al., 1997, Sorheim et al., 2010). Occupational exposures hazardous for airways are most common among men (Blanc et al., 2009) whereas exposure to biomass fuels appears to be a more important risk factor for COPD among women in low- and middle-income countries (Liu et al., 2007).

#### **Country of birth**

Ethnicity and "race" are sensitive concepts and a tension exists between the need to utilise categories in order to unveil health inequalities and the risk of contributing to stigmatising stereotypes of socially constructed categories by utilising such labels. The concept of "nation" is also a socially constructed entity that contains ideas of homogeneity regarding culture, language and solidarity between inhabitants of any given country (Karlsen and Nazroo, 2017). Ethnicity or race is a commonly used concept in Anglo-Saxon research whereas in Sweden register studies more frequently utilise country of birth, since ethnicity or race is not registered.

Immigrants have higher mortality (Albin et al., 2005) and worse self-rated health compared to people born in Sweden (Rostila, 2010). However, these associations differ depending on the group of migrants and the studied health outcome (Rostila and Hjern, 2018). Among men, immigrants have higher smoking rates compared to people born in Sweden, but that association is less clear for women (Landberg et al., 2018). Existing evidence does not show a clear association between migration status and COPD risk (Eisner et al., 2010, Borné et al., 2019, Hu et al., 2016).

Ethnicity and country of birth are relevant in the social epidemiological study of COPD for several reasons. First, the probability of belonging to a higher SEP is lower for immigrants compared to people born in Sweden (Katz and Österberg, 2013). Second, the effect of having a given SEP, defined through income, education or another proxy or composite measurements may differ according to whether you belong to an ethnic minority or not. Kaufman, Cooper and McGee (1997) showed that ethnic minority groups in the USA are more likely to live in neighbourhoods where expenses are higher, and therefore similar incomes do not lend similar access to material resources. *Status incongruence* refers to the fact that immigrants who get a job tend to have lower salaries, lower status occupations and occupations that do not match their educational achievements (Rostila and Hjern, 2018). Third, smoking

habits of immigrants' country of origin may influence their risk of smoking, over and above the risk or protective effect conveyed by their SEP (Lindstrom and Sundquist, 2002). Fourth, being exposed to racism increases risk of smoking as an unhealthy coping mechanism (Shariff-Marco et al., 2010) and racism within Swedish health care is an under-investigated issue that contributes to health inequities (Bradby et al., 2019). While the specific study of the association between ethnic group and COPD is not the focus of this thesis, I consider country of birth in the intersectional studies (II and IV). This is a crude variable that conflates individuals from different country groups and does not necessarily consider experienced racism, but we nonetheless consider it an important dimension in an intersectional matrix.

#### **Civil status**

Civil status was included in study II and IV since it is a variable that captures aspects of normativity central to intersectional research. Evidence exists that living alone constitutes a risk factor for poorer quality of life (Henoch et al., 2016b) and inadequate medical treatment (Tottenborg et al., 2016) among COPD patients. People in Sweden who live alone, especially unmarried and divorced individuals, have higher risks of smoking compared to married or cohabiting individuals. These risks are attenuated but remain when adjusting for economic conditions (Lindström, 2010). The effect of civil status on a composite health outcome termed frailty was different between men and women in a cohort of elderly individuals in Sweden. While being partnered protected men against frailty, older women who lost their partner displayed lower odds of frailty compared to women who remained partnered (Trevisan et al., 2020).

#### Age, embodiment and life course epidemiology

While older age implies an increased risk of COPD and ageing lungs show pathological and immunological similarities with lungs of COPD patients (MacNee, 2016), it is unclear whether a healthy ageing process implies increased risk of COPD or if it is the accumulation of exposure to risk factors for COPD across the life course that make elderly individuals more vulnerable to COPD (GOLD, 2020). Although ageing may be shallowly grasped as a strictly biological phenomenon, the mode in which we age is a highly social process. With increasing age, experiences of material deprivation or prosperity, discrimination, or privilege leaves its marks on our bodies (Krieger, 2005). Therefore, socioeconomic inequities in health are best understood from a life course perspective where specific vulnerable periods exist. The SEP of a child's parents influence the risk of low birthweight (Diderichsen et al., 2012), which in turn is associated to low pulmonary reserve capacity and increased susceptibility to COPD (Brostrom et al., 2013). Furthermore, the

socioeconomic circumstances of the family, interplaying with societal institutions such as preschools and schools, influence the course of an individual through the educational system with long-lasting effects on individual SEP and adult health (Diderichsen et al., 2012). The association between age and health can be mediated through the ageing process, period effects that account for time-varying levels of exposures across calendar years and cohort effects if specific cohorts are exposed to increased risk of COPD (Cerdá and Keyes, 2017). In social epidemiologic studies of COPD, age constitutes a challenging confounder. Age is positively associated to both incident COPD and increasing income levels until the age of retirement, which is around 65 years in Sweden. Average length of education has increased for successively later cohorts. Exposure to immediate risk factors for COPD such as smoking and occupational exposures have diminished during the last decades, while socioeconomic gradients in exposures to risk factors remain (Pleasants et al., 2016).

#### Intersectionality

While intersectionality is accepted as the most valid concept of social stratification in modern sociology (Green et al., 2017, Bauer, 2014, Merlo, 2018), it has been sparsely applied in the context of social epidemiology. Stratification and adjustment for several social factors is common, but an explicit intersectional approach that simultaneously considers several power dimensions has never been applied in the study of COPD epidemiology. The intersectionality scholar Hancock (2007) distinguishes between "multiple approaches" and "intersectional approaches", and claims that while both consider several social categorisations at the time, the former implies a static view of categorisations and a presumption that members of a single category can be regarded to be uniform, whereas the intersectional approach has a more dynamic stance on social categorisations and acknowledges heterogeneity within such categories. In other words, it is not possible to isolate the effect of class by adjusting for ethnicity, since ethnicity may be one way that social class is experienced. One cornerstone of intersectionality theory is the notion that the socioeconomic situation, or the position of relative privilege or advantage in society, of an individual is impossible to properly assess by simply summing the effects of the different categories that define their social location. This is expressed by Bowleg in the title of a seminal paper: "When Black plus Lesbian plus Woman not equal Black Lesbian Woman". The reason for the inappropriateness of summing Black plus Lesbian plus Woman is that intersectional interaction occurs between the different social dimensions of race, sexual orientation and gender (Bowleg, 2008). Intersectionality research is not a homogenous research field and McCall distinguishes between inter-categorical, intra-categorical (not further discussed here) and anti-categorical intersectionality. The anti-categorical approach emerged simultaneously from feminist, poststructuralist and antiracist theories, resulting in the coining of the term *intersectionality* by the legal scholar and feminist Crenshaw in 1989 (Crenshaw, 1989, Bauer, 2014). These three research fields formulated a critique of the validity of analytical categories that were being used (McCall, 2005). In anti-categorical intersectionality, social life and its multiple and fluid subjects and structures are considered too complex for fixed categories to be anything but simplifying social fictions. Furthermore, the application of those simplified categorisations by authorities and the research community can contribute to the production or essentialization of differences between groups. Some researchers, claims McCall, argue that the language creates the categorical reality more than the reality produces the categories (McCall, 2005). In conclusion, the anti-categorical approach refutes the use of the common social categorisations that constitute the foundation of quantitative social epidemiology.

intersectionality, Inter-categorical henceforth simply called categorical intersectionality, acknowledges that there are observable relations of inequality between already defined categories, although these categories are imperfect and changing. The complexity that arises when performing comparative multi-group analyses has to do with the exponentially increasing number of unique social locations that appear when simultaneously considering even simple categorisations of SEP (high, middle, low), gender (male, female) and migration status (native, immigrant) (McCall, 2005). Bauer argues that public health research may be much enriched by the intersectionality framework which can both provide an improved mapping of health disparities and constitute a theoretical foundation to increase the understanding of heterogeneity within unidimensional categories (Bauer, 2014). To contribute to the application of intersectionality approaches in quantitative research Bauer identifies seven challenges that need to be dealt with, among others the problems arising when interpreting intersectional interactions on the logistic scale. This is problematic since it is the additive scale that is most consistent with both social and biological causation. Bauer also notes that multilevel analysis is a promising statistical approach to bridging the gap between intersectionality theory and public health (Bauer, 2014).

Intersectionality is not only a research approach but also a platform for political activism aiming for social change. While one advantage of including an intersectionality perspective into population health research is that it adds specificity, and thereby improves the understanding of the individual heterogeneity within unidimensional categories, cautions must be made against presumptive intersectional approaches that simply add more social categories to increase the discriminatory accuracy (DA) of a model (Wemrell, 2017). The intersectional character of research is defined by the questions that are being asked and the critical stance towards the social categorisations adopted, and not by the applied methodology.

### Individual heterogeneity in modern epidemiology

One of the main tasks for modern epidemiology is to identify risk factors for different health outcomes that can ideally guide interventions to improve population health (Galea, 2013). Risk factors are frequently evaluated by reporting measures of average differences such as odds ratios (OR), absolute risk difference (ARD) and relative risks (RR). In several publications during the last two decades, Merlo et al. have directed critique at this exclusive focus on average differences between categorisations that can be defined by biological, geographical and socioeconomic criteria (Merlo et al., 2017, Merlo and Mulinari, 2015, Merlo, 2014, Merlo et al., 2013, Merlo et al., Merlo et al., 2005b, Merlo, 2003, Lynch et al., 2010, Merlo et al., 2012). A higher average risk pertaining to a certain group is often interpreted as entailing increased risk for *all* individuals belonging to that category, which has been denominated as the tyranny of the averages in risk factor epidemiology (Merlo et al., 2017). Nevertheless, it is known that even average differences that are generally considered as large, such as an OR of 10, can be found in the presence of a very poor ability of the risk factor to discriminate individuals that develop the outcome from those that do not (Pepe et al., 2004). This is because the same difference between two groups in average propensity to develop an outcome may exist regardless of whether the overlap in distribution of individuals' propensities is large or small. This concept corresponds with assessment of the so-called area under the receiving operator characteristic (ROC) curve or AUC (Royston and Altman, 2010), which is a measure of DA.

Analogously, when comparing health outcomes between categories of exposure such as intersectional strata or counties, it is highly relevant to quantify not only average differences in outcome between groups but also how much of the total individual variance in the health outcome that is located between the categories' averages. This notion corresponds with measurement of the variance partition coefficient (VPC). To explain this key idea, I use a modified example published elsewhere (Merlo, 2019, Merlo et al., 2019).



Figure 2a-b. Same average difference in the presence of small versus large intra-group individual heterogeneity around the averages

The figure represents the individual distributions of a continuous variable, for instance Forced Expiratory Volume in 1 second (FEV<sub>1</sub>), in two hypothetical income groups.

Figure 2a–b presents the distribution of  $FEV_1$  in two hypothetical income groups. The difference in average individual  $FEV_1$  between the two income groups in scenario A (D<sub>A</sub>) is as large as that presented in scenario B (D<sub>B</sub>), but the individual variation around the average values is much smaller in scenario A than in scenario B. Clearly, the same difference in the average value between the two income groups is possible with very different degrees of individual variation within those groups.

In the first scenario, 2a, the individual variation in  $FEV_1$  around the average values is very small in relation to the difference between the income groups' average values. Since there is almost no overlap between the two groups' individual distributions, we can say that a large share of the total variation in individual lung function operates at the income group-level. Thus, when the overlap is very small (i.e., a high VPC), we can initially say that the relevance of the income groups in relation to the outcome is strong.

In contrast, in the second scenario, 2b, the variation in individual outcomes around the income groups' averages is very large in relation to the difference between the average values. In this scenario, there is substantial overlap across the two distributions (i.e. a low VPC) and, therefore, the relevance of the two income groups in relation to the outcome is more questionable.
In the former case, it makes sense to intervene on individuals in the high-risk group with preventive, diagnostic or therapeutic interventions. In the second case, on the other hand, exclusively targeting individuals in one group would both lead to many cases being missed and to unmotivated interventions.

### **Evaluating discriminatory accuracy**

Both the AUC and the VPC are measures of DA with rather similar interpretation. The choice of one versus another mainly depends on technical reasons. While scarcely applied in social epidemiology, the notion that average differences need to be accompanied by measures of discriminatory accuracy is recognised in clinical research evaluating prognostic abilities of risk factors and risk scores (Pepe et al., 2004). The ROC curve plots the True Positive Fraction (TPF) (number of exposed individuals that have the outcome / number of individuals that have the outcome) against the False Positive Fraction (FPF) (number of exposed individuals that do not have the outcome / number of individuals that do not have the outcome). This can equivalently be expressed as sensitivity / 1-specificity. The TPF will be higher if you accept a larger FPF. By plotting the TPF against the FPF for all different FPF values (0-1) a line is drawn that creates a curve. The area under that curve can take a value between 1 and 0.5 and constitutes the AUC which is a numerical representation of the DA of a model. A value of 1 implies that a model perfectly discriminates between individuals with and without the outcome whereas a value 0.5 means that the model is as informative as flipping an unbiased coin.

The concept of VPC identified above is also a measure of the discriminatory accuracy of a model and has been mostly used in multilevel regression analysis. The VPC corresponds with the Intraclass Correlation Coefficient (ICC) (Rasbash and Goldstein, 1994, Merlo et al., 2005a) when the structure of the data is hierarchical. In this case the VPC is the ICC, as it corresponds with the correlation in the outcome between two individuals randomly selected from the same cluster (i.e. county, intersectional stratum).

In multilevel analyses the total variance is partitioned between different levels of analyses. The relevance of a specific context can then be evaluated by assessing what proportion of the total variance that is attributable to the context of interest. The share of the total variance that exists between groups is compared with the total variance and expressed as ICC or VPC. Contexts with high relevance for an outcome will thus express a large ICC, whereas a low ICC indicates a heterogeneous distribution of the outcome within the different groups.

When the groups or strata have a similar size the correlation between AUC and VPC is high, as it has been calculated by Merlo and Leckie using simulated data and is presented in Figure 3 (Merlo et al., 2019). However, if the strata have very different

sizes the AUC and the VPC may differ, and in that situation they provide complementary information (Merlo et al., 2016).



#### Figure 3. Correlation between AUC and VPC

This figure was published by Merlo and Leckie (2019) and illustrates the relationship between the variance partition coefficient (VPC) and the area under receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC) for a binary individual health outcome. The figures are based on simulated data. Specifically, balanced two-level datasets (100 areas with 100 individuals per area) where the population average prevalence is 50% and where VPC varies from 0 to 100% in increments of 1. For each simulated dataset, the AUC was calculated based on the individual predicted probabilities. Simulations were repeated 1,000 times to average away the simulation variability.

The above referenced literature on the associations between COPD on one hand and SEP, gender, ethnicity, civil status and geographical contexts on the other, are focused on average differences, without assessment of DA. Revisiting well documented health disparities with a DA perspective may provide novel insights on the appropriateness of interventions targeting groups with higher average risk of negative health outcomes (Mulinari et al., 2015). Therefore, the quantification of DA throughout this thesis provides novel and complementary information that is necessary to appropriately assess the socioeconomic disparities in COPD morbidity and plan public health interventions.

## Causation in (social) epidemiology

Much methodological development in both general and social epidemiology aims at approaching causal conclusions despite lack of experimental data. To infer causality of an exposure, such as low SEP, on an outcome, such as COPD, requires

a comparison between the risk for incident COPD if an individual were exposed to low SEP with the risk if the same individual were not exposed to low SEP. Since an individual cannot simultaneously be both exposed and un-exposed to low SEP, researchers aiming at assessing causality need to speculate about the counterfactual situation in which an individual actually exposed to low income were unexposed, or vice versa. The problem of causal inference is thus a problem of missing data (Rosenbaum and Rubin, 1983). That is, the fundamental problem is that individual causal effect (ICA) cannot be estimated because the potential outcome in the counterfactual situation can never be observed. However, we can calculate the average causal effect (ACE) if by randomisation or other techniques we can ensure that the assignation of the exposure is not associated with the outcome when we compare groups with different exposure. A randomised clinical trial (RCT) is one way of estimating ACE. If people at random are assigned to a life with or without low SEP and the risk for incident COPD is analysed, that would constitute a (hypothetical) study design that estimates the ACE of SEP on incident COPD (Bind and Rubin, 2019, Rubin, 1974). The randomisation in an RCT ensures that the probability of being exposed to a given treatment is random, regarding all observed and unobserved baseline variables. The comparison groups are balanced with regard to all observed and unobserved variables that can condition the probability of both the exposure and the outcome and that could therefore be confounders. Exposure is thus the only thing that differs between the two groups. The ACE is as close as we can theoretically get to the counterfactual world in which an exposed individual is simultaneously unexposed (Austin, 2011).

In New York, an RCT studied the effect on mental health of moving from public housing in poor neighbourhoods to private housing or non-poor neighbourhoods among 512 children (Leventhal and Brooks-Gunn, 2003). In Sweden, a small experiment has been performed that provided individuals with severe mental disorders an extra monthly income of USD 72 and studied the effect on self-rated health. (Topor and Ljungqvist, 2017). It is unfeasible for both economical and practical reasons to perform randomised experimental studies on a large scale to investigate a causal effect of low SEP on the incidence of COPD. A conceptually interesting alternative to estimate ACE of low income on health using observational data is the propensity score analysis (Elstad and Pedersen, 2012, Austin, 2011). Here, one first calculates the propensity of the exposure (e.g. low income) based on observed information and then calculates the risk difference in individuals with a similar propensity but differential exposure (e.g. we identify people with low income and people with high income who have the same propensity of being in the low income category and calculate the difference in COPD risk between the low and the high income categories).

During the work with this thesis, one research project evaluating a propensity score model to investigate an eventual causal relationship between low income and incident COPD was initiated. However, despite good access to socioeconomic and demographic as well as clinical variables, it was not possible to obtain a propensity score model that created groups that were balanced. That is, the distribution of the propensity for low income badly overlapped between the groups with low and with high income. Therefore, since we could not find enough individuals with similar propensity scores but different income the analysis was abandoned.

Whereas the lack of a methodological focus on the causal relationship between social factors and COPD can be considered a weakness, the focus on approaching causal conclusions in current epidemiology has been criticised, since this etiologic focus comes at the expense of research guided by a consequentialist principle, i.e. research that can result in health improvement (Galea, 2013).

# Proportionate universalism

The evident socioeconomic gradient in COPD prevalence, morbidity and mortality has led researchers to conclude that "a standardized method must be created to include socioeconomic status in the prognostic calculations of disease" (Sahni et al., 2017). As pointed out above, if interventions should be directed differently to individuals according to their SEP, it does not suffice to design such interventions based on average differences between individuals with different SEP. It is imperative to assess the individual heterogeneity around those averages. Therefore, the large literature showing increased average morbidity among COPD patients with low socioeconomic position (Gershon et al., 2012) needs to be complemented with studies that assess the DA of those socioeconomic factors.

If social epidemiologists should convince policy makers and public health professionals that social and economic risk factors merit clinical consideration, we must evaluate such risk factors rigorously and acknowledge likely side effects of proposed interventions. If an intervention is planned based on categorisations with low DA, the risk of detrimental side effects must be minimised to align with the principle of not doing harm (Merlo et al., 2017).

These ideas pair well with the concept of proportionate universalism, proposed by Marmot and Bell (Marmot and Bell, 2012), as one strategy to reduce socioeconomic disparities in health. Universalism and targeting have been considered as opposing principles to guide interventions aiming at increased equality, i.e. an intervention can either be universal and directed at the whole population or targeted when directed only at specific groups with enhanced needs (Korpi and Palme, 1998). According to proportionate universalism, that distinction is not necessary. When universalism is instead coupled with targeting, interventions directed at the whole population can be more intense among people with increased needs. There is no consensual definition of interventions that align with this principle and rather few studies exist that evaluate interventions guided by proportionate universalism,

according to a recent review (Francis-Oliviero et al., 2020). According to proportionate universalism, a response to a finding of an increased average COPD risk for people with low SEP in combination with low DA would thus be universal interventions such as increasing tobacco taxation, ensuring education, and healthy living and working conditions for all. When the DA is high, on the other hand, a proportionately higher degree of targeting of interventions to the exposed group(s) can be motivated.

# Health care (e)quality

An overarching programmatic aim of Swedish health care is to provide equitable care that is distributed according to needs (Kommissionen för Jämlik Hälsa, 2017). In addition to moral arguments for an equitable health care system that may or may not be shared by political and public health leadership (Berwick, 2020), there is an efficacy argument that is of strategic importance. The greatest return from health investments can be achieved when directing health care resources to population groups that have worse health (Dahlgren and Whitehead, 1991). The efficacy gained through equitable health care was also stressed in a report on equitable health care where a conceptual framework viewing equality, availability, knowledge-base, patient focus, safe health care and prevention as indispensable dimensions of an efficient health care was presented. It was also stressed that the continuous evaluation of quality of health care, along all these dimensions, is per se its own dimension of health care quality (Merlo et al., 2008).

Equity in health care can be divided into horizontal equity referring to equal access to health care for people with similar needs, and vertical equity meaning that health care is most available for people with more health care needs (von dem Knesebeck, 2015). The determinants of health care utilisation are complex and include health status, perceptions of care need and cultural factors as well as geographically and economically accessible health care supply (Burström, 2009). However, according to the Inverse Care Law presented by Tudor Hart (1971), health care tends to be more available for groups with lesser needs, especially when health care systems are exposed to market mechanisms. The need for monitoring of health care equity is therefore increasing, since Swedish health care reforms over the last decades have increased exposure to market mechanisms. Although evidence of the effect of these market-orientations of the Swedish health care sector is limited, studies from northern Sweden have shown pro-rich inequalities in the use of Primary Healthcare Centre (PHC) physicians but horizontal equity in the use of specialists (San Sebastián et al., 2017). A review of the effects of privatisation of health care indicated that access has increased most in more affluent areas with lesser needs (Burstrom et al., 2017).

The equitability of the health care system should not only be evaluated along socioeconomic and intersectional dimensions. Geographical inequalities must also be assessed and county disparities have become a focus of Swedish health care evaluation (Socialstyrelsen, 2015). Investigating socioeconomic and county disparities in cancer care, the Swedish Agency for Health and Care Services Analysis acknowledges difficulties in comparing the relevance of counties and sociodemographic contexts (author's translation):

even though it is not very simple to objectively decide whether a difference is large or small, and there are problems comparing socioeconomic and demographic disparities with regional disparities, we consider that regional disparities are generally more evident for the interventions that we have analysed. While the spread between counties for multidisciplinary conference and treatments are around 10, 20 or 30 percentage units, disparities across educational groups are generally a few percent, maximum 8 percent units, when they exist. (Vårdanalys, 2019)

The study on discontinuation (paper III) includes a framework for evaluation of the (e)quality of health care systems that presents a solution to the problem of comparing the relevance of sociodemographic versus geographical contexts.

# General aims

The principal aim of this thesis is to deepen the understanding of socioeconomic inequities in COPD morbidity. Further aims are to contribute to the inclusion of social theory in the social epidemiologic study of COPD and to the development of epidemiological methods to assess disparities in incidence of COPD, in health care provided to COPD patients and in the prevalence of smoking, a major mediator of the detrimental effects of low SEP on COPD risk.

# Questions

- 1. To what extent do absolute income and relative income influence the risk of incident COPD, over and above age?
  - a. What is the DA of models including absolute income and relative income, respectively?
- 2. What is the intersectional pattern of smoking prevalence and of incident COPD?
  - a. To what extent is the risk of smoking and the risk of COPD attributable to main effects of variables included in an intersectional model versus interaction effects between these variables?
- 3. How does discontinuation to inhalatory maintenance medication among patients with a hospital COPD diagnosis and previous maintenance medication in Sweden vary across sociodemographic categories and counties?
  - a. What proportion of the variance in discontinuation is attributable to sociodemographic factors and to counties? That is, which information has the highest DA?

# Methods

## Study population

#### Swedish registers with national coverage

This thesis is based on data from several registers with national coverage as well as data from the Swedish National Health Survey (NHS). In Sweden, there is a long tradition of epidemiologic register studies. Conditions are favourable considering the existence of a unique personal identity number and high quality registers containing both medical and socioeconomic information (Ludvigsson et al., 2009).

The Total Population Register (TPR) is administered by Statistics Sweden and contains data for the whole Swedish population on birth, death, immigration, emigration and internal migration as well as data on the family structure. This register is updated on a daily basis with data from the Swedish Tax Agency and provides background data for other national registries as well as functioning as a coordination register. In this thesis, the TPR provided information on age, gender, civil status and migration status. Statistics Sweden also administers longitudinal integrated databases for health insurance and labour market studies (LISA), which comprise detailed data covering demographics, educational achievement, income, employment and social insurance, which is registered at the end of each calendar year (Statistics Sweden 2016). In this thesis, LISA provided information on income and education.

The National Board of Health and Welfare runs three registers that were used for the construction of the databases utilised in this thesis. First, the Swedish cause of death register is a national register that provides data on the cause of death of all fatalities in Sweden. Data is based on medical death certificates that are submitted by physicians to the National Board of Health and Welfare within three weeks of the date of death (Brooke et al., 2017). Mortality data was used to exclude individuals from the study populations. Second, the National Patient Register (NPR) includes medical information including ICD codes from both outpatient external visits as well as inpatient discharges. Primary health care visits are not recorded. Last, information on prescribed drugs were retrieved from the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register (SPDR) which has, since 2005, recorded all medications dispensed by Swedish pharmacies, excluding storage in hospitals and nursing homes (Wettermark et al., 2007).

Study I–III are based on a database constructed from all the above mentioned registers. The database includes all individuals who resided in Sweden by the 31<sup>st</sup> of December 2010. The National Board of Health and Welfare linked data on ICD codes from in- and outpatient specialist care, mortality data from the National Mortality Register as well as information on all dispensed drugs at pharmacies requiring a prescription. Statistics Sweden linked detailed socioeconomic information to the database. The inclusion and exclusion criteria as well as the final study samples of study I-IV are summarised in Table 1.

#### Table 1. List of papers and selection criteria for the study populations

This table presents study questions, populations, selection criteria and final study samples for paper I–IV. ICD=International Classification of Diagnosis; NHS=Swedish National Health Surveys; MAIHDA=Multilevel Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy; AIHDA=Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy.

Paper	Inclusion criteria	Exclusion criteria	Study sample
Paper I. Importance of absolute income and relative income for predicting incident COPD.	All individuals residing in Sweden on 31st December 2010 aged 55– 60 years (N=688 650)	Registered as dead before 2011 (N=77) Emigrated during 2011 (N=4 369) Moved to Sweden in 2006 or later (N=10 482) Previous COPD diagnosis (N=6 628)	N=667 094
Paper II. Intersectional MAIHDA studying incident COPD in strata defined by age, sex, income, education, civil status and country of birth.	All individuals residing in Sweden on 31st December 2010 aged 45– 65 years (N=2 536 789)	Dead during 2010–2011 (N=11 722) Moved to Sweden in 2006 or later (N=54 161) Emigrated during 2011 (N=3 643) Previous COPD (N=21 762)	N=2 445 501
Paper III. Relevance of geographical and sociodemographic contexts for risk of discontinuation to maintenance medication for COPD.	Individuals aged 45–80 years residing in Sweden on 31st December 2010 with COPD diagnosis ICD J43–J44 and previous maintenance medication. (N=69 391)	No previous medication (N=16 402) Died during 2011 (N=3 640) Moved to Sweden 2006 or later (N=330)	N=49 019
Paper IV. Intersectional AIHDA mapping smoking prevalence in strata defined by age, gender, education, household composition and country of birth.	NHS respondents between 2004–2016 and 2018 (N=136 301)	People aged <30 years (N=20 566) Missing values on education (N=4 840) Missing values on cohabiting status (N=1) Missing values on smoking (N=850)	N=110 044

### Study I

All 688,650 individuals aged 55–60 years as of the  $31^{st}$  of December 2010 and residing in Sweden were included. The narrow age span was chosen to minimise the confounding effect of age on the association between income and incident COPD. We excluded individuals who died before 2011 (N=77), who emigrated during 2011 (N=4,369) or moved to Sweden after 2006 (N=10,482). Finally, we excluded individuals with a registered COPD diagnosis during the previous five years to study incident COPD. A total of 667,094 individuals remained and were included in the analyses.

## **Study II**

In the second study, due to the intersectional approach with 96 strata, we widened the age span and included all individuals aged 45–65. The upper age limit of 65 was chosen to avoid the confounding effect of retirement, generally at age 65, on income. We started with the total Swedish population of 2,536,789 individuals aged 45–65 years as of the  $31^{st}$  of December 2010. We then excluded individuals who died during 2011 (N=11,722), who moved to Sweden during 2006 or later (N=54,161), who emigrated during 2011 (N=3,643) and who had previous hospital diagnosis of COPD (N=21,762). We ended up with a final sample of 2,445,501 individuals.

## **Study III**

In the third study, we started with 69,391 individuals with a previous diagnosis of emphysema or other COPD (ICD J43 or J44), whereafter we excluded individuals without previous inhalatory maintenance medication (N=16,402) (see below for definition). We then excluded individuals who died during 2011 (N=3,640) or who had lived in Sweden for less than five years (N=330). The final study population consisted of 49,019 COPD patients with previous maintenance medication who had lived in Sweden for at least five years.

#### **Study IV**

In the fourth study, we used data from the Swedish National Health Survey (NHS). The NHS is administered by the Authority for Public Health and entails 63 questions that are largely identical from year to year. Questionnaires were sent to 10,000 individuals in 2005–2007, 20,000 individuals in 2004 and 2008–2016 and to 40,000 individuals in 2018. No survey was performed during 2017. Response rates have been declining and spans from 60.8% in 2004 to 42.1% in 2018. Respondents answer questions regarding health and social circumstances. Information from Statistics Sweden on income, country of birth, highest educational attainment, civil

status and gender was subsequently added to the dataset using the unique personal identity number of all residents in Sweden.

It is known that smoking prevalence in Sweden is decreasing, therefore we expected a cohort effect of the calendar year during which an individual responded to the NHS on the probability of smoking. To assess whether survey year influenced the association between the included sociodemographic variables and prevalence of smoking we started our analysis by investigating the temporal fluctuations in these associations, as shown in Figure 4. While sex differences were small throughout the period and the sex category with highest smoking prevalence changed, we observed consistent differences between groups defined by age, country of birth, educational achievement and household composition. In absolute terms, the gaps between subgroups were static, except for differences between age categories that narrowed in later years.

#### Figures 4a-f. Trends in smoking prevalence in the National Health Surveys for Sweden between 2004 and 2018.

Categories of age, gender, educational achievement, migration status and household composition are shown with different lines in the respective graphs, including 95% confidence intervals. The last graph shows the trend of overall prevalence of smoking in the Swedish population aged 30–84 years between 2004 and 2018.













# Assessment of variables

### Income

Throughout the thesis, all income variables used are individualised disposable family income calculated by Statistics Sweden. This income variable divides the total family income by the number of individuals in the family, taking into account the different consumption weights of different members of the household. For example, an adult who lives alone has a higher consumption weight than each adult in a cohabiting couple. Children have different consumption weights that increase with age. This income variable is the most frequently used for research purposes and reflects the available assets after taxes and different subsidies (Statistics Sweden 2016).

In study 1 the absolute income variable was defined by dividing the whole Swedish population aged 35–80 into five equally sized groups by quintiles based on the income during 2010. The absolute income variable was hypothesised to act through the materialistic pathway. There is no consensus on how to define relative income. We calculated relative income by creating new quintiles of income within the absolute income quintiles. Thereby, individuals with similar materialistic assets (i.e. disposable income) were categorised into different relative income groups and eventual disparities in propensity of COPD across these relative income groups would, according to our hypothesis, be attributable to psychosocial comparison. We then pooled all individuals belonging to the same relative income quintile from the five absolute income groups together to create our final relative income variable.

In study II, the income categorization was limited to tertiles of income during 2010 in order to limit the number of intersectional strata. In study III, we also used tertiles of income but instead computed a cumulative income variable. We used information on individualised disposable family income for the years 2000, 2005 and 2010 to compute a cumulative measurement of absolute income. For each of the three years, income was categorised in 25 groups (1 to 25) by quantiles using the complete Swedish population. The quantiles from the three years were then summed up so a patient could have a value between 3 (always in the lowest income group) and 75 (always in the highest income group). Thereafter, we categorised the cumulative income in three groups by tertiles. Individuals with missing values for income during 2000 or 2005 (N=1,002) were assigned the tertile values of the year 2010; no individuals had missing income information for 2010. In study IV, we performed a sensitivity analysis using tertiles of household disposable income.

#### Other sociodemographic variables

In study II, education was binary defined as high if the individual had any further education after high school, otherwise as low. In study IV, the education variable

was coded into three categories by Statistics Sweden. Educational achievement was categorised as low if the respondent had not completed three years of high school education; as middle if they had high school education but less than three years of education after high school; and high if the respondent had at least three years of education after high school. In study II and IV, migration status was defined as immigrant if the individual was born outside Sweden, otherwise as innate. In study III, the geographical context of interest were the counties. COPD patients were categorised into 21 different counties depending on where they resided as of the 31<sup>st</sup> of December 2010. Gender was always binary defined as legal male or female. In studies I-III, age was defined according to the age as of the 31<sup>st</sup> of December 2010. People below the age of 35 were excluded from all analyses since AATD is more common among young COPD patients (Köhnlein and Welte, 2008) and the social epidemiology of COPD in a younger cohort may therefore be different. Sixty-five years is the official age of retirement in Sweden and in all studies we wanted to account for the effect on both income and health from retirement (Merlo et al., 2003), either by excluding individuals above this age or by analysing individuals older than 65 separately. In study I, we had a narrow age span (55-60 years) and adjusted for age. In study II, we categorised age into two categories (45-54 and 55-65). In study III, where we studied COPD-patients, we needed to expand the age span to include all individuals aged 35-80 years but created age categories of 35-49, 50-64 and 65-80 years. In study IV, where smoking is the outcome, the age groups were 30-44, 45-64 and 65-84. We chose 30 years as the lower age limit in study IV since we used educational achievement as the indicator of SEP. Around three quarters of people in Sweden who will eventually complete a three year tertiary education will have achieved that educational status when they are 30 years old (OECD, 2010). In study II, cohabitation status was defined as cohabiting if the individual lived with a married partner, registered partner or lived together with a partner with a common child, otherwise as living alone. In study IV, household composition was defined by Statistics Sweden as living with other(s) if the individual lived with a married partner or with a registered partner, otherwise as living alone.

#### COPD

In both studies where we studied incidence (study I and II), one of the following ICD codes were used to define COPD: J40 (bronchitis, not specified as acute or chronic); J41 (simple and mucopurulent chronic bronchitis); J42 (unspecified chronic bronchitis); J43 (emphysema); or J44 (other chronic obstructive pulmonary disease). We identified new cases of COPD from January 1st, 2011 to December 31st, 2011. In study III, where we wanted to isolate a COPD population with indication for maintenance therapy (i.e. COPD stage II–IV (Swedish Medical Products Agency, 2015) or B–D in the new classification (GOLD, 2020)), we defined COPD more narrowly using only ICD codes J43 and J44, in addition to the

presence of retrieval of any maintenance medication during the previous five years. COPD diagnoses from Swedish hospitals have been validated and less than 10% of diagnoses were uncertain or misclassified, therefore they are considered to be of acceptable validity for epidemiologic studies (Inghammar et al., 2012).

#### Maintenance medication

In study III, we used the SPDR to get information on both previous maintenance medication and discontinuation. Retrieval of any prescription during 2006–2010 in combination with hospital COPD diagnosis was sufficient to classify an individual as a COPD patient with indication for maintenance medication. Absolute absence of retrieval of any prescription of maintenance medication from January 1<sup>st</sup> to December 31<sup>st</sup> of 2011 was defined as discontinuation. All prescriptions with the indication maintenance treatment of COPD available and recommended during the study period were included in the definition and consisted of LABA (salmeterol, formoterol and indacaterol), LAMA (tiotropium bromide) and combinations of LABA with ICS (formeterol and budenoside, salmeterol and fluticasone, and formeterol and beclomethasone).

#### Smoking

Smoking status was based on self-reported smoking in the NHS. The exact questions have undergone minor changes between 2004 and 2018, but in each survey people were asked the question "Do you smoke?" and if the answer was "yes, sometimes" or "yes" they were considered as smokers. If the response was "no" they were considered as non-smokers. Previous smoking was not assessed in the study.

## Statistical methods

#### **Discriminatory accuracy**

In study I we performed gender-stratified logistic regression analyses with COPD as the dependent variable. In model 1, we analysed the AUC of a model with only age as a reference value. Model 2 included age and absolute income. Model 3 included age and relative income. Model 4, finally, included age, absolute income and relative income. In all models we presented ORs that were interpreted as relative risks, since the incidence was low. We compared the increment in AUC in models 2–4 to the AUC of model 1.

### **Intersectional MAIHDA**

As described in the introduction, intersectionality theory stresses the necessity of considering several social dimensions at the same time. This creates a number of questions when translating intersectionality from its traditionally qualitative scholarly field into quantitative social epidemiology. The anti-categorical questioning of the social categorisations adopted in epidemiologic research stresses the need to appropriately judge the relevance of social categories. Practical problems come with the numerous intersectional strata that emerge even when using rather simple intersectional matrices.

Intersectionality scholars like Bauer and Green have called for the use of intersectional multilevel models to improve quantitative intersectionality research (Green et al., 2017, Bauer, 2014). Intersectional Multilevel Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy (MAIHDA) is a term that was first proposed by Merlo in 2018 (Evans and Erickson, 2019) and has gained recognition as the new "gold-standard" for investigating health inequalities because it solves many practical issues and brings methods into closer alignment with theory (Merlo, 2018). The conceptual underpinnings and advantages of intersectional MAIHDA are discussed in detail both in the pioneering work by Evans et al. (2018) and in a commentary on that article by Merlo (2018).

Summarising, intersectional MAIHDA provides a detailed mapping of health disparities while treating the social location of an individual, formed by interlocking social dimensions, as a higher-level context rather than as individual characteristics. Thereby, the multilevel approach harmonises with the view of health inequities arising through unequal distribution of power and resources rather than through a combination of risky identities (Merlo, 2018). The calculation of the ICC constitutes a quantification of the relevance of a context for a specific outcome, which for public health purposes can help in the judgement of whether a categorical or anti-categorical perspective is most adequate. Intersectional MAIHDA also enables feasible assessment of multiple interactions, which is valuable since the number of intersectional strata and possible interaction is large in most intersectional models. The multilevel approach also presents precision-weighted estimates of the strata specific risk (i.e. shrunken residuals). This is advantageous when the number of individuals in some strata is small.

In study II, we investigated incident COPD by applying intersectional MAIHDA. In the first step, we constructed an intersectional matrix consisting of all possible combinations of age, gender, income, education, country of birth and cohabitation status (2x2x3x2x2=96 strata). The choice of these social dimensions was informed by previous intersectional research and by what is known about associations between different social dimensions and the mediators of COPD, but was also restricted by available data. We then performed a multilevel analysis with

the intersectional strata at the second level of analysis and individuals at the first level of analysis. We modelled incident COPD in three successive models.

Model 1, the *simple intersectional model*, is an unadjusted random intercepts model that served two purposes. First, we performed an analysis of components of variance to calculate the ICC. This model conflates the additive effects of the social dimensions used to construct the intersectional matrix and eventual intersectional interaction, and the ICC thus expresses the ceiling explanatory power of our intersectional matrix on incident COPD. Since the outcome was binary, we calculated the ICC using the latent response formulation of the model, which is the most widely used version of the ICC:

$$ICC = \frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_u^2 + 3.29}$$

Formula 1

where  $\sigma_{\mu}^2$  denotes the between-stratum variance in the propensity to receive a new COPD diagnosis and 3.29 denotes the within-stratum-between-individual variance constrained equal to the variance of the standard logistic distribution (Goldstein et al., 2002, Merlo et al., 2005a). There is no official grading scale for evaluating the ICC of a socioeconomic modelling of incident disease. In the ideal scenario, the ICC of a socioeconomic risk factor should be 0, since that implies no socioeconomic disparities at all. Aligning with the questioning of social categorisations, and in order to avoid perpetuations of socially constructed categorisations that do not represent a relevant context for public health purposes, we want an intersectional model to have a high discriminatory accuracy to consider it relevant. In line with the terminology suggested for evaluation of psychometric test reliability (Cicchetti, 1994), and similar to the grading subsequently proposed by Merlo et al. (2019), we therefore consider that a reasonable grading for social epidemiologic purposes could be (ICC as %): non-existent (0–1), poor (>1– $\leq$ 5), fair (>5– $\leq$ 10), good (>10– $\leq$ 20), very good (>20 $\leq$ 30), excellent (>30). The second purpose of the model was to calculate predicted incidence and 95% CIs for every stratum. In order to use an additive scale, we transformed the predicted logit (log-odds) of receiving a new COPD diagnosis from the multilevel analyses into probabilities. The probability of receiving a COPD diagnosis in stratum *j* was calculated according to the formula:

$$\pi_j = \text{logit}^{-1}(\beta_0 + u_j)$$
Formula 2

where  $\pi_j$  is the probability of receiving a COPD diagnosis,  $\beta_0$  is the intercept and  $u_j$  is the random effect for stratum *j*.

In model 2, the *partly adjusted intersectional model*, we adjusted for one of the dimensions at a time and calculated the ICC in the models that were adjusted for one variable. By doing so, we could quantify how much each of the dimensions contributed to the between-stratum variance seen in model 1. We also calculated the proportional change in between-stratum variance (PCV):

$$PCV = \frac{\sigma_{u(1)}^2 - \sigma_{u(2)}^2}{\sigma_{u(1)}^2}$$

Formula 3

where  $\sigma_{u(1)}^2$  and  $\sigma_{u(2)}^2$  denote the between-stratum variance from models 1 and 2, respectively. PCVs are typically multiplied by 100 and reported as percentages.

Last, in model 3, the *intersectional interaction model*, we expanded model 1 by including as fixed main effects all the variables that were used to construct the intersectional strata. If all between-stratum variance of model 1 was attributable to the main effects, all 96 random effects in model 3 would equal 0. If intersectional interaction is present, this will be expressed as the between-stratum variance that remains unexplained by the additive effects. The ICC of model 3 thus represents the part of the original model 1 stratum variance that is due to intersectional interaction effects, at least in relation to the set of variables included. Model 3 also served to calculate total predicted incidences and predicted incidences based on the main effects only. By subtracting the incidence attributable to the main effects from the total incidence, we isolated the incidence attributable to intersectional interaction in each stratum. A positive interaction effect indicates that people in that intersectional stratum have higher incidences than expected based on the simple addition of the risks conveyed by the categories that constitute the intersectional stratum, while a negative interaction means a lower incidence than expected. Model 3 was also used to calculate mutually adjusted unidimensional ORs and 95% CIs for the main effects of age, gender, income, education, civil status and migration status.

#### **Cross-classified MAIHDA in health care evaluation**

In study III we focused on quality of COPD maintenance medication and analysed the risk of discontinuation. We used a simple sociodemographic categorisation consisting of 18 strata based on age (35–49, 50–64 and 65–80), gender (male/female) and income tertiles (low, medium and high). The geographical context we investigated were the 21 counties, since counties are the administrative units responsible for health care in Sweden. We used cross-classified multilevel logistic regression models with COPD patients simultaneously nested within the 18 sociodemographic contexts, and within the 21 counties. Underneath these two higher levels of analysis were 372 strata (18x21=378; six strata were empty).

In order to not give higher weight to strata with large numbers of patients, as in the case of traditional single-level analysis, we calculated the average proportion of discontinuation across the geographic and sociodemographic categories. The reliability and precision of the strata information is considered in multilevel models since they are based on reliability-weighted strata residuals (i.e. shrunken residuals) and average proportions (Jones et al., 2016). In addition to this, county differences may be confounded by disparities in the sociodemographic categories could be confounded by a contextual effect of the county of residence, e.g. an effect of different health care policies of the counties. In the two-way cross-classified MAIHDA, the estimates of the effects on discontinuation of the two contexts are mutually adjusted. We performed a two-way cross-classified multilevel model that decomposes the higher-level variance into county and sociodemographic components. Let  $y_i$  denote the number of patients who discontinue in stratum i (i = 1, ..., 372). The model is written as:

 $y_i \sim \text{Binomial}(n_i, \pi_i)$ 

$$logit(\pi_i) \equiv log\left(\frac{\pi_i}{1 - \pi_i}\right) = \beta_0 + v_k + u_j$$
$$v_k \sim N(0, \sigma_v^2)$$
$$u_j \sim N(0, \sigma_u^2)$$

Formula 4

where  $n_i$  denotes the total number of patients in that stratum,  $\pi_i$  denotes the probability of discontinuation,  $\beta_0$  denotes the intercept,  $u_j$  denotes the random effect for sociodemographic context j (j = 1, ..., 18) and  $v_k$  denotes the random effect for county of residence k (k = 1, ..., 21). The random effects are assumed to be normally distributed with mean 0 and variances  $\sigma_v^2$  (between-counties) and  $\sigma_u^2$  (between sociodemographic contexts). The intercept,  $\beta_0$ , is the average proportion (on the log-odds scale) of discontinuation (i.e. grand mean) across all counties and sociodemographic categories, defined as the 372 strata.

This model had three purposes.

#### 1. Mapping county and sociodemographic differences in discontinuation risk

First, we wanted to obtain a mapping of how the individual risk of discontinuation was distributed across counties and sociodemographic strata. Using the intercept and predicted random effects (i.e. shrunken residuals) from the multilevel regression we calculated the absolute risk of discontinuation and its 95% credible interval for each county and sociodemographic stratum. We did this by transforming the predicted logit of discontinuation into predicted proportions. The following formula was used to calculate the absolute risk (AR<sub>C</sub>) of the different counties:

$$AR_{C} \equiv \pi_{k} = \text{logit}^{-1}(\beta_{0} + v_{k}) \equiv \frac{\exp(\beta_{0} + v_{k})}{1 + \exp(\beta_{0} + v_{k})}$$
  
Formula 5

Similarly, the following formula was used to calculate the absolute risk of discontinuation of the sociodemographic contexts:

$$AR_{SD} \equiv \pi_j = \text{logit}^{-1}(\beta_0 + u_j) \equiv \frac{\exp(\beta_0 + u_j)}{1 + \exp(\beta_0 + u_j)}$$
  
Formula 6

In these formulas the predictions isolate the effects of counties and sociodemographic strata respectively, by holding the effect of the other context constant. The values are thus mutually adjusted. However, the absolute risk predictions represent average values that should be accompanied by measures of county, sociodemographic context and individual patient components of variance and DA.

#### 2. Evaluating the components of variance: the variance partition coefficient (VPC)

In order to consider individual heterogeneities around the averages obtained through formula 2 and 3, we calculated the VPC for counties and sociodemographic strata. The VPC expresses the share of the total variance in latent propensity of discontinuation that is attributable to the contexts of counties and sociodemographic strata. The higher VPC for the county level ( $VPC_C$ ), the more relevant the county context is for understanding individual variation in the latent risk for discontinuation. The outcome was binary, so we used the latent response formulation and calculated the  $VPC_C$  as:

$$VPC_C = \frac{\sigma_v^2}{\sigma_v^2 + \sigma_u^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{3}}$$

Formula 7

where  $\pi$  denotes the mathematical constant 3.1416, and  $\frac{\pi^2}{3} = 3.29$  is the variance of the standard logistic distribution. We then multiply the *VPC<sub>C</sub>* by 100 and interpret it as a percentage. Analogously, the VPC for the sociodemographic level (VPC<sub>SD</sub>) can be calculated as:

$$VPC_{SD} = \frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_v^2 + \sigma_u^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{3}}$$

Formula 8

#### 3. Evaluating DA of the information on counties and sociodemographic contexts

As explained in previous sections, AUC is a well-known measure of DA. The AUC values for the contexts of counties and sociodemographic strata computed from formula 5 and 6 respectively provides complementary information to the  $VPC_C$  and  $VPC_{SD}$ .

#### Auditing sociodemographic and geographical differences in discontinuation

The framework of health care evaluation we propose is a reaction to the exclusive focus on average differences between geographical and sociodemographic contexts, which is common (Socialstyrelsen, 2015). The same concept has been presented elsewhere (Merlo et al., 2019) and is outlined in Table 2. By combining the achievement in relation to the benchmark value with information on the VPC, 15 different scenarios emerge which guide the interpretation of the results.

In the first step, a predetermined benchmark value for acceptable achievement should be established. For discontinuation of COPD medication, no such benchmark exists in Sweden. In Denmark, adherence above 90% is considered standard for COPD outpatients with dyspnea (Lange et al., 2016, Regionernes Kliniske Kvalitetsudviklingsprogram, 2019). We proposed that a prevalence of discontinuation below 10% should be considered as full achievement, between 10–15% close to full achievement and above 15% insufficient achievement. While this is a reasonable proposal based on findings of prevalence of non-adherence of 5% among patients treated at a specialist pulmonary clinic in Denmark (Tottenborg et al., 2016), we underscore the need for establishment of a proper benchmark for Swedish circumstances. Both the crude prevalence, i.e. the number of patients that discontinue treatment divided by the number of patients in the study population, and

the grand mean are relevant figures to compare with the predetermined benchmark. In this multilevel analysis we use a precision-weighted grand mean.

In the second step, we looked at the geographical or sociodemographic differences between the groups. In addition to a visual presentation of the adjusted average differences between counties and sociodemographic groups, we paid special attention to the measurements of the DA. The primary focus lies at the VPC, but as a complementary measurement we also present the AUC values, which is a measurement that is known to most readers. Although significant average differences may exist, if the VPC is absent or very low (0-1%), variance between individuals is not explained by the investigated context and interventions that exclusively target groups with higher average rates of discontinuation are not recommended. If the VPC is very large (>20%), on the other hand, the evaluated context explains a large proportion of the total variance, which means that it is highly relevant and interventions should indeed target the more vulnerable groups. In Table 2, a framework for how to interpret results from a cross-classified MAIHDA is presented. Noteworthy, this framework is suitable to guide interventions according to the principle of proportionate universalism.

#### Table 2. Framework for evaluating continuity of maintenance medication among COPD patients (III).

The table outlines a two-dimensional evaluation of continuity with maintenance medication. First, we locate the overall achievement in relation to a pre-defined benchmark value. Second, we quantify the size of county- and sociodemographic differences expressed as variance partition coefficients (VPC) and area under receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC). Combining this information, we obtain 15 different scenarios (A to O) useful for the evaluation.

		Benchmar	k value achieveme	nt	
Size of the county/soo	ciodemographic differenc	ces			
	VPC (%)	AUC	ਤ ਦ <10%	80 0 10%–15%	Insufficient > 12%
Absent / Very small	0 to 1	0.50 to 0.55	A	В	С
Small	1 to 5	0.55 to 0.61	D	E	F
Moderate	5 to 10	0.61 to 0.66	G	н	I
Large	10 to 20	0.66 to 0.72	J	К	L
Very large	>20	>0.72	М	Ν	0

## AIHDA

In the fourth study we present an intersectional approach that can be easily adopted for different health outcomes in different contexts (Wemrell et al., 2017b, Wemrell et al., 2019). To maintain a feasible intersectional matrix, we restricted the included variables to age, gender, education status, household composition and migration status. In a stepwise procedure we successively included age, gender, education status, household composition and migrations status in Cox regression analyses with fixed follow-up time set to 1 in order to calculate adjusted prevalence ratios (PR) in smoking prevalence. A quantification of the addition to the DA was obtained by evaluating the increase in AUC. Lastly, we analysed smoking prevalence performing a Cox regression analysis in which we included the same variables in an intersectional matrix, which allows for detection of eventual intersectional interaction effects if they exist.

## Ethics

The Regional Ethics Review Board in southern Sweden (# 2012/ 637) as well as the data safety committees from the National Board of Health and Welfare and from Statistics Sweden approved the construction of the database used in study I-III. Study IV was approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (Dnr: 2019– 01793) and the data safety committee at the Public Health Agency of Sweden.

# Results

# Study I

In total 1,754 of 667,094 individuals (0.26%, erroneously stated to be 0.31% in the published article) suffered a new hospital COPD event during 2011. The absolute risk differences between the highest and lowest absolute income quintiles were 3.1 per 1,000 among both men and women. For women, the highest incidence was found among individuals with medium-low income (quintile 4) who had an absolute risk that exceeded the high-income quintile by 3.9 events per 1,000 individuals. Both absolute income and relative income were associated with incident COPD, but whereas absolute income presented a clear gradient, no gradient was observed for relative income. In model 2, relative risks for COPD was 3.44 and 3.71 times higher in the medium-low absolute income quintile for men and women respectively, compared to the highest income quintile. For relative income, absolute risk differences between the highest quintile and the quintile with the highest incidence were 0.7 per 1,000 individuals for both men and women. The highest incidence was found in the medium income group for men and the medium-low income group for women. Compared to the highest quintile in model 3, relative risks for all other relative income groups ranged between 1.32–1.37 among men and 1.09–1.27 among women. Results are presented in Table 3 and 4.

The AUC of the model including only age was 0.54 for men and 0.53 for women. Inclusion of the relative income increased the AUC compared to the model with age only by 0.01 units in both genders. AUC increased with 0.11 and 0.10 units after inclusion of absolute income among men and women and reached values of 0.65 and 0.63 respectively.

In a sensitivity analysis, the relative income gradient was analysed separately in the different absolute income strata, but relative income did not show a consistent socioeconomic gradient with incident COPD in that analysis either.

#### Table 3. Age and crude incidence of COPD in study population (I)

Age and incidence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease by absolute and relative income groups in the 333,952 men and 333,142 women aged 55–60 years that resided in Sweden in 2011. The absolute income is categorised by quintiles of all 4,994,921 people aged 35–80 years registered as residents in Sweden on December 31st 2010. The relative income categories are defined by quintile groups within absolute income quintiles. These were pooled so that all people that belong to the poorest quintile within their absolute income group constitute the low relative income category.

	MEN				WOMEN			
	Age (mean)	Number of cases	Number of people	Incidence (per 1000 individuals)	Age (mean)	Number of cases	Number of people	Incidence (per 1000 individuals)
Absolute incor	ne							
Low	57.4	167	38 125	4.4	57.4	140	30 567	4.6
Medium Iow	57.4	175	39 481	4.4	57.5	208	38 624	5.4
Medium	57.4	138	50 760	2.7	57.5	182	52 913	3.4
Medium high	57.5	161	856 77	1.9	57.5	256	95 865	2.7
High	57.6	158	119 909	1.3	57.6	169	115 173	1.5
Relative incom	ne							
Low	57.5	150	59 477	2.5	57.5	161	58 513	2.8
Medium Iow	57.5	157	62 965	2.5	57.5	203	63 045	3.2
Medium	57.5	173	67 131	2.6	57.5	186	67 881	2.7
Medium high	57.5	179	70 374	2.5	57.5	221	71 018	3.1
High	57.5	140	74 005	1.9	57.5	184	72 685	2.5

#### Table 4. ORs and AUC for incident COPD of absolute and relative income, gender stratified (I)

Association between absolute and relative income and risk of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in the 333,952 men and 333,142 women aged 55–60 years and residing in Sweden in 2011. Values are OR, 95% CI and AUC. The absolute income is categorised by quintiles of all 4,994,921 people aged 35–80 years registered as residents in Sweden on December 31st 2010. The relative income categories are defined by quintile groups within absolute income quintiles. These were pooled so that all people that belong to the poorest quintile within their absolute income group constitute the low relative income category.

	Model 1 (Age)	Model 2 (Age and absolute income)	Model 3 (Age and relative income)	<b>Model 4</b> (Age and absolute and relative income)
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
MEN				
Age (1 year)	1.09 (1.05–1.14)	1.05 (1.06–1.15)	1.09 (1.05–1.14)	1.11 (1.06–1.15)
Absolute income*				
High		REF		REF
Medium high		1.43 (1.15–1.78)		1.44 (1.16–1.80)
Medium		2.10 (1.67–2.64)		2.11 (1.68–2.65)
Medium low		3.44 (2.77–4.27)		3.44 (2.77–4.27)
Low		3.40 (2.73–4.23)		3.39 (2.73–4.22)
Relative income **				
High			REF	REF
Medium high			1.35 (1.08–1.68)	1.34 (1.08–1.68)
Medium			1.37 (1.09–1.71)	1.36 (1.08–1.69)
Medium low			1.32 (1.05–1.66)	1.31 (1.04–1.64)
Low			1.34 (1.06–1.69)	1.31 (1.04–1.64)
AUC (95% CI)	0.54 (0.52–0.56)	0.65 (0.63–0.66)	0.55 (0.53–0.57)	0.65 (0.63–0.67)
WOMEN				
Age (1 year)	1.05 (1.01–1.09)	1.06 (1.02–1.10)	1.05 (1.01–1.09)	1.06 (1.02–1.10)
Absolute income				
High		REF		REF
Medium high		1.83 (1.51–2.22)		1.84 (1.52–2.24)
Medium		2.36 (1.92–2.91)		2.39 (1.94–2.95)
Medium low		3.71 (3.03–4.55)		3.73 (3.05–4.58)
Low		3.17 (2.54–3.97)		3.20 (2.56–4.01)
Relative income				
High			REF	REF
Medium high			1.23 (1.01–1.50)	1.25 (1.03–1.52)
Medium			1.08 (0.88–1.33)	1.11 (0.91–1.36)
Medium low			1.27 (1.04–1.56)	1.34 (1.10–1.64)
Low			1.09 (0.88–1.35)	1.15 (0.93–1.42)
AUC (95% CI)	0.53 (0.51–0.54)	0.63 (0.62–0.65)	0.54 (0.52–0.55)	0.64 (0.62–0.65)

# Study II

In this study the incidence of COPD during 2011 was 0.22%. The lower incidence in this cohort compared to the incidence in study I is presumably due to the lower average age of the cohort. From model 3, adjusted ORs (95% CI) for the different unidimensional variables used to construct the intersectional matrix were obtained and are presented in Table 5. In short, the risk of COPD was higher for people who were older, women, people with lower income and lower education as well as people living alone and people who had immigrated.

Table 6 and Figure 5 show the results from intersectional model 1, which revealed substantial heterogeneities between strata when including both additive and interactive effects in the calculated predicted incidence of COPD. The smallest stratum had 1,236 individuals. The stratum with the highest incidence comprised older native females with low income and low education who lived alone (0.98%, 95% CI: 0.89%–1.08%). It was followed by the strata including older immigrant females with low income and low education who lived alone (0.87%, 95% CI: 0.72%–1.05%) and older immigrant males with low income and low education who lived alone (0.87%, 95% CI: 0.72%–1.05%) and older immigrant males with low income and low education who lived alone (0.82%, 95% CI: 0.66%–1.00%). The three strata with the lowest predicted incidence all included younger cohabiting men with high education with low (0.02%, 95% CI: 0.01%–0.04%), medium (0.03% 95% CI:0.02%–0.04%) and high income (0.03%, 95% CI: 0.02%–0.05%). The ICC of model 1 was 20.0%, which means that a substantial share of the total individual differences in COPD incidence was found at the intersectional strata level.

nested in inte strata. In this intersectional of individuals	rsectional table we strata are and the al	strata. Mc only prese hidden in bsolute inc	odel 2 ent me i this ta cidence	(age ad asures ble but e of CO	jjusted of var we pre PD. L	) is part iance a esent th ow age:	ially adj nd of as em in F 45–54;	usted and r ssociation ( igure 5 and high age: <del>t</del>	nodel 3 (inters ORs and 95% in Table 6. Th 55–65; Hi: high	ectional interaction) i Cls) between the m e green boxes indica ; Me: medium; Lo: Lo	s adjusted for all the ain individual variab te the actual categor ow.	main variables used les and COPD risk. y. For each categor	d to define the intersectional The incidences for specific y, we show the total number
High age	Female	gender	Incon	Je	_ •	Low educatic	L.	<i>r</i> ing alone	Immigrant	Number (% COPD)	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
No Yes	No	Yes	Ξ	Me	-	٥N	es V	o Yes	No Yes			OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
										1 180 420 (0.10)		Ref.	Ref.
										1 265 081 (0.33)		3.79 (2.90–4.91)	3.62 (3.22–4.08)
										1 228 715 (0.20)			Ref.
										1 216 786 (0.24)			1.21 (1.08–1.36)
										831 992 (0.14)			Ref.
		-								829 423 (0.21)			1.52 (1.31–1.76)
										784 086 (0.32)			2.25 (1.96–2.59)
										1 070 164 (0.11)			Ref.
										1 375 337 (0.30)			1.97 (1.76–2.21)
										1 665 239 (0.16)			Ref.
									_	780 262 (0.36)			1.88 (1.69–2.10)
										2 080 162 (0.21)			Ref.
										365 339 (0.26)			1.15 (1.01–1.29)
Variance be	tween str	ata (Stand	lard En	ror)							0.83 (0.14)	0.40 (0.07)	0.04 (0.01)
Intra-class (	Correlation	רו (95% Crt	edible	Interval	~						20.0 (15.6–25.6)	10.8 (8.1–14.1)	1.1 (0.6–2.1)
Bayesian di	agnostic ii	nformatior	n criteri	ion (DIC	0						661.87	650.21	628.31

≘
trata (
ŝ
ona
sect
nter
Ē
ŏ
COPI
٩
incidence
edicted
al pr
. Tot
ö
Table

Total number of individuals, number of cases of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and predicted incidence in 2011 for people aged 45–65 residing in Sweden on December 31<sup>st</sup> 2010, by intersectional strata. Predictions are based on model 1 multilevel regression analysis with individuals at the first level and intersectional strata at the second level. Main effects and interactive effects are conflated. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tertiles in the whole population aged 45-65 years, education, civil status and country of birth. Intersectional strata are ordered according to predicted incidence of COPD, with increasing incidence in decreasing rows.

	95% Credible interval		(0.01–0.04)	(0.02-0.04)	(0.02–0.05)	(0.03–0.05)	(0.01–0.09)	(0.03-0.07)	(0.01–0.11)	(0.02–0.11)	(0.03–0.08)	(0.04–0.08)	(0.04–0.08)	(0.04–0.09)	(0.04–0.10)	(0.03–0.13)	(0.04–0.11)	(0.03–0.12)	(0.05–0.10)	(0.03–0.14)	(0.03–0.15)	(0.04–0.14)
Model 1	Incidence		0.02	0.03	0.03	0.04	0.04	0.05	0.05	0.05	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.06	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.07	0.08	0.08	0.08
	Number of cases		6	19	16	26	-	25	4	2	14	31	30	14	14	5	13	ω	21	9	4	ω
	Number of individuals		50 798	72 164	54 482	74 237	6 991	56 851	5 473	6 685	27 451	58 098	55 705	25 075	22 160	9 021	20 321	13 516	31 143	9 481	6 549	11 853
Immigrant		səY vo	~	>	>	>	~	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	~	>	>	~	~	>
Living alone		oN səY	· >	^	^	~	>	~	>	>	>	~	~	~	>	~	~	~	~	~	~	~
Education		мод ИріН	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>
Income		hgiH muibəM Mo	~	>		>	7	>	>	>	>	>		>	>	>	>	>	7	7	7	>
Gender		Female Male 55–65	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>
Age		49–64	` >	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>

68

(0.06–0.10)	(0.07–0.11)	(0.05–0.13)	(0.04–0.16)	(0.03–0.20)	(0.02–0.22)	(0.06–0.14)	(0.05–0.16)	(0.02–0.23)	(0.04–0.20)	(0.04–0.20)	(0.04–0.23)	(0.10–0.14)	(0.10–0.14)	(0.10–0.15)	(0.04–0.24)	(0.09–0.17)	(0.04–0.30)	(0.07–0.28)	(0.06–0.28)	(0.13–0.19)	(0.06–0.32)	(0.09–0.27)	(0.09–0.25)	(0.14–0.21)	(0.08–0.32)	(0.12–0.23)	(0.13–0.23)
0.08	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.09	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.10	0.11	0.11	0.12	0.12	0.12	0.12	0.13	0.14	0.15	0.15	0.16	0.16	0.16	0.17	0.17	0.17	0.18	0.18
45	58	16	6	2	-	19	10	-	4	4	з	113	120	76	з	40	з	7	9	111	4		15	98	7	38	44
57 497	68 586	19 625	7 809	3 076	1 993	20 237	11 206	1 943	4 613	4 351	3 334	98 120	101 692	62 902	2 926	32 367	2 450	4 795	4 099	71 224	2 606	6 786	9 085	57 439	4 071	21 782	25 095
~	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	~
>			>			>	>	>		>	>				>	>	>	>	>		>						
	>	>		>	>				>			>	>	>						>		>	>	>	>	>	~
>	>			>	>	>				>				>		>	>	>		>					>	>	
		>	>				>	>	>		>	>	>		>				>		>	>	>	>			>
	>	>	>																>	>			>			>	~
~					、	、	~	~		~		、	、			~						、					
		>		>		>	>	>		>		>		>	>		>		>	>			>				
>	>		>		>				>		>		>			>		>			>	>		>	>	>	>
												>	>								>	>	>	>	>		>
>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>	>			>	>	>	>	>	>	>						>	
> >		>			>	>		>	59 437	105	0.18	(0.15–0.21)															
----------------------	-----	----------	---	---	---	---	---	---	--------	-----	------	-------------															
>			>	>			>	~	1 626	ю	0.19	(0.06–0.40)															
>	>		>	>		>		>	54 766	104	0.19	(0.16–0.23)															
>		<b>、</b>		>			>	>	28 371	54	0.19	(0.14–0.25)															
>	>		>	>		>		>	8 181	16	0.20	(0.11–0.29)															
>	>	<b>、</b>		>		>		>	8 567	17	0.20	(0.12–0.30)															
> >			>	>		>		>	7 825	16	0.20	(0.11–0.31)															
~		•		>			>	>	3 886	8	0.20	(0.09–0.35)															
>	>			>		>		>	21 579	47	0.22	(0.16–0.28)															
	>				>	>		>	22 559	49	0.22	(0.16–0.29)															
`	· >	>		>			>	>	36 219	87	0.24	(0.19–0.30)															
>	>	>			>	>		>	57 118	148	0.26	(0.22–0.30)															
	>		>		>		>	>	28 024	73	0.26	(0.21–0.32)															
<ul> <li></li> </ul>			>	>			>	>	1 236	4	0.27	(0.09–0.57)															
>	>	<b>`</b>		>			>	>	4 219	12	0.27	(0.15–0.43)															
>	>	>			>	>		>	4 986	14	0.27	(0.15–0.42)															
>		>			>		>	>	54 576	153	0.28	(0.24–0.33)															
>				>		>		>	11 252	33	0.29	(0.20–0.40)															
>		>			>		>	>	4 864	15	0.29	(0.17–0.45)															
>			>	>			>	>	6 858	21	0.30	(0.19–0.43)															
>			>		>	>		>	82 655	247	0.30	(0.26–0.34)															
>	>		>	>			>	>	2 049	7	0.31	(0.14–0.56)															
<b>`</b>					>		>	>	41 080	130	0.32	(0.26–0.37)															
>	>	~			>		>	>	4 275	15	0.33	(0.18–0.52)															
> >				>			>	>	7 596	26	0.33	(0.22–0.49)															
~	>		,		>	>		>	85 879	285	0.33	(0.29–0.37)															
>	>		>		>	>		>	11 217	38	0.33	(0.24–0.45)															
<b>&gt;</b>					>		>	>	11 402	40	0.34	(0.24–0.46)															

>			>		>		>		>	>		10 107	36	0.35	(0.24–0.47)
	>		>	>			>		>		>	34 017	125	0.37	(0.30–0.43)
	>		>	>		>			>		>	12 088	48	0.39	(0.29–0.50)
	>	>			5		>	>			>	43 509	177	0.40	(0.35–0.47)
	>		>		>		>	>		>		15 257	63	0.41	(0.32–0.51)
>			>		>		>		>		~	36 867	155	0.42	(0.35–0.49)
	>	>		>			>	>		>		9 411	42	0.44	(0.32–0.59)
	>		>		5	>			>	>		3 106	15	0.45	(0.25–0.70)
	>	>			>		>	>		>		13 963	64	0.45	(0.34–0.58)
	>		>		>	>			>		~	8 710	43	0.48	(0.35–0.62)
	>		>		>		>	>			>	48 220	236	0.49	(0.43–0.55)
	>	>		>			>		>		>	38 031	187	0.49	(0.43–0.56)
	>		>	>			>		>	>		7 166	37	0.50	(0.35–0.68)
	>	>		>			>		>	>		4 749	29	0.58	(0.39–0.81)
	>		>	>			>		>		>	44 571	264	0.59	(0.52–0.66)
	>	>			5	>			>	>		2 957	19	0.59	(0.36–0.90)
	>	>			>		>		>		>	45 939	370	0.80	(0.72–0.88)
	>	>			>		>		>	>		10 450	88	0.82	(0.66–1.00)
	>		>		>		>		>	>		12 805	113	0.87	(0.72–1.05)
	>		>		>		>		>		>	41 513	409	0.98	(0.89–1.08)



**Figure 5. Total predicted incidence of COPD by intersectional strata (II)** Predicted incidence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in 2011 for people aged 45–65 residing in Sweden on December 31<sup>st</sup> 2010, by intersectional strata. Predictions are based on model 1 multilevel regression analysis with individuals at the first level and intersectional strata at the second level. Main effects and interactive effects are conflated. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tertiles in the whole population aged 45–65 years, education, civil status and country of birth. Intersectional strata are ordered according to their rank; strata with lowest rank to the left. For identification of the different intersectional strata, see Table 6.

In model 2, the ICC fell to 10.8% when adjusting for age, implying that more than half of the intersectional clustering was attributable to age. For the other variables, the changes were smaller; ICC fell to 17.7% when adjusting for civil status, to 17.8% when adjusting for education, to 18.2% when adjusting for income, remained 20.0% when adjusting for migration status and was 20.4% when adjusting for gender.

In model 3, the intersectional interaction model, ICC was 1.1%, which suggests that additive rather than interactive effects explain most of the differences in incident COPD between intersectional strata. Figure 6 shows the predicted incidences when accounting for both additive and interaction effects alongside predicted incidences when isolating additive effects, visualising the small changes attributable to intersectional interaction. Of the 96 strata, only three had interaction effects with confidence intervals excluding 0: young native women with low income and low education who cohabited (interaction effect 0.13 95% CI 0.07–0.20), young native males with low income and low education who lived alone (interaction effect 0.08 95% CI 0.03–0.13) and young native women with medium income and low education who lived alone (interaction effect 0.06 95% CI 0.01–0.11).



Figure 6. Predicted incidence of COPD by intersectional strata, additive and interactive effect separated (II) Incidence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease during 2011 for people aged 45–65 residing in Sweden on December 31st 2010, by intersectional strata. Point estimates of predicted incidences based on model 3. Black circles indicate the incidence according to predictions based on the total effect (intersectional effects and main effects) while white circles indicate the incidence according to predictions based on main effects only. The differences between black and white circles depict the interaction effects. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tertiles in the whole population aged 45–65 years, education, living alone and immigration status. To identify the different intersectional strata, see Table 6.

## Study III

Mean age of COPD patients in the study was 68 years. Women were slightly overrepresented in the study population and people with low income constituted the most common income tertile in all counties except Stockholm. Among 49,019 COPD patients with previous maintenance medication, 18.4% (8,998 individuals) discontinued their medication. The distribution of patients across counties and the absolute risks of discontinuation across counties is presented in Table 7. Absolute risks of discontinuation among sociodemographic strata are presented in Table 8. The crude county prevalence of discontinuation ranged from 14% in Värmland to 21% in Stockholm. For sociodemographic strata, differences in crude prevalence were larger: women aged 65–80 years with high income had the lowest prevalence of 15%, while the highest prevalence of 37% was found among men aged 35–49 years with low income.

Table 7. Characteristics of discontinuation among COPD-patients in Sweden by county (III) Characteristics of the 49,019 COPD patients by county of residence and sociodemographic factors as well as absolute risk of discontinuation (AR-D) to inhaled maintenance medication in 2011. Values are percentages if not otherwise indicated.

Counties	Number of patients	AR-D Crude %	AR-D adjusted %	Female, %	Mean age (years)	Income grou	ps, %	
						High	Middle	Low
Stockholms län	10 028	21.01	25.80	57.14	67.50	31.46	36.35	32.19
Uppsala län	1 699	16.48	20.77	54.97	67.25	22.66	37.08	40.26
Södermanlands län	1 604	16.77	21.21	56.80	67.76	21.32	37.66	41.02
Östergötlands län	2 264	15.28	19.73	55.30	67.72	20.32	36.75	42.93
Jönköpings län	1 759	15.86	20.31	53.21	67.96	18.65	38.26	43.09
Kronobergs län	606	16.17	20.93	53.91	68.07	19.47	40.26	40.26
Kalmar län	1 330	17.74	21.94	53.83	67.88	17.74	36.54	45.71
Gotlands län	331	20.24	22.74	50.45	67.35	13.90	34.44	51.66
Blekinge län	850	18.12	22.09	53.06	67.76	17.06	41.06	41.88
Skåne län	8 034	17.70	21.84	56.97	67.28	21.55	35.69	42.77
Hallands län	1 523	16.41	21.17	55.88	68.31	24.43	37.16	38.41
Västra Götalands län	7 567	19.65	24.21	57.31	68.11	19.41	36.91	43.68
Värmlands län	1 161	13.87	19.15	53.66	68.57	15.93	33.76	50.30
Örebro län	1 597	17.41	21.36	54.16	67.17	16.91	35.82	47.28
Västmanlands län	1 324	18.88	22.67	56.34	67.19	18.96	38.44	42.60
Dalarnas län	1 394	17.29	21.60	55.24	67.97	16.43	39.38	44.19
Gävleborgs län	1 358	17.82	22.12	57.73	68.22	17.45	36.16	46.39
Västernorrlands län	1 083	16.99	21.35	56.14	67.85	19.85	34.44	45.71
Jämtlands län	602	18.44	22.54	58.80	68.26	16.94	37.38	45.68
Västerbottens län	1 150	18.00	22.39	57.83	68.70	17.48	39.91	42.61
Norrbottens län	1 452	19.28	23.54	55.65	68.44	19.70	41.18	39.12
Sweden	49 019	18.36	21.86	56.25	67.75	22,08	36.91	41.01
Concord		00.01	200.12	07:00	01.10	22.00	0.00	2
a) Estimated from the cross-classit	ied MAIHDA							

#### Table 8. Discontinuation to COPD medication by sociodemographic groups (III)

Number of patients by sociodemographic group as well as crude and county-adjusted absolute risk of discontinuation (AR-D) to inhaled maintenance medication in 2011. Values are percentages if not otherwise indicated. Adjusted values are estimated from the cross-classified MAIHDA.

Sociodemographic groups	Number of patients (N)	AR-D Crude	AR-D Adjusted (%)
65–80 male high	3 530	17.65	16.71
65–80 male middle	5 913	17.74	17.07
65–80 male low	5 731	18.79	18.22
50–64 male high	1 528	21.53	20.59
50–64 male middle	1 831	24.30	23.39
50–64 male low	2 288	26.79	25.61
35–49 male high	115	29.57	26.54
35–49 male middle	161	34.78	31.58
35–49 male low	347	36.60	34.05
65–80 female high	3 555	14.74	13.81
65–80 female middle	7 070	15.30	14.56
65–80 female low	7 813	15.33	14.85
50–64 female high	2 026	15.20	14.55
50–64 female middle	2 904	17.84	17.24
50–64 female low	3 091	21.51	20.72
35–49 female high	68	23.53	21.79
35–49 female middle	214	32.24	29.58
35–49 female low	834	31.77	30.46
Total	49 019	18.36	21.86

In addition to the crude prevalence, we pay special attention to the results from the cross-classified MAIHDA that are presented in Table 9. The average prevalence of discontinuation across geographical and sociodemographic contexts was 21.9% (95% CI 19.1%–25.0%). The evaluation of the VPC and AUC showed that county differences were very small since the VPC is 0.4% and the AUC is 0.53. The relevance of the sociodemographic contexts was larger, but differences were still small with a VPC of 5.0% and an AUC of 0.57. From the coefficients obtained in the MAIHDA, we calculated average risk for discontinuation for counties and sociodemographic strata; these are mutually adjusted so county risks are adjusted for sociodemographic composition and vice versa. Results for counties are presented in Table 7 and Figure 7. Results for sociodemographic strata are found in Table 8 and Figure 8. Värmland remained the county with the lowest risk of discontinuation with 19%, and Stockholm had the highest risk with 26%. Again, sociodemographic disparities were larger. Men aged 35-49 years with low income had an average risk of discontinuation of 34% and women aged 65-80 years with high income had the lowest risk with 14%.

# Table 9. Variance, VPC and AUC for counties and sociodemographic contexts from cross-classified MAIHDA, analysing discontinuation with COPD medication (III)

Results (95% confidence intervals) from the multilevel cross-classified analysis of counties and sociodemographic contexts in relation to discontinuation with inhaled maintenance medication in 2011, among 49,019 patients with COPD. VPC: Variance partition coefficient; AUC: area under the receiver operating characteristic curve

Variance		
County level	0.012	(0.005–0.026)
Sociodemographic categories	0.174	(0.082–0.352)
VPC (%)		
County level	0.35	(0.15–0.75)
Sociodemographic contexts	4.98	(2.42–9.63)
AUC		
County level $(AUC_v)$	0.54 (	0.53–0.54)
Sociodemographic contexts $(AUC_u)$	0.57 (0	0.56–0.57)





Risk of discontinuation decreased with age, but we did not find clear income gradients, except among women aged 50–64 years. Discontinuation rates were similar for men and women, but among patients aged 50–64 and 65–80 years men had slightly higher rates of discontinuation.



Figure 8. Risk of discontinuation to maintenance medication among COPD patients, by sociodemographic strata Adjusted absolute risk differences between the 18 sociodemographic categories in discontinuation with inhaled maintenance medication among 49,019 COPD patients according to the cross-classified multilevel model.

Sociodemographic context influences risk of discontinuation more than county of residence, but the discriminatory accuracy of both these contexts is low. According to the framework presented in Table 2, county disparities can be placed in scenario C and sociodemographic disparities in scenario F.

## Study IV

The proportion of smokers across all survey years was 18%, and decreased from 25%in 2004 to 11% in 2018. While gender differences were small throughout the period and the gender category with highest smoking prevalence changed, we observed consistent differences between groups defined by age, country of birth, educational achievement and household composition. In absolute terms, the gaps between subgroups were static, except for differences between age categories that narrowed in later years. Time trends in smoking prevalence for the different dimensions included in the intersectional matrix as well as overall prevalence in the survey populations of the different years are shown in Figure 4a-f. Table 10 shows that 20.6% of people aged 45-64 years smoked, compared to 19.8% and 12.4% for younger and older individuals respectively. Men and women had similar smoking rates (17.9% and 17.8%), but there was an educational gradient where people with low, middle and high education had smoking rates of 21.7%, 17.0% and 11.9% respectively. Smoking was more common among immigrants (23.9%) than among natives (17.0%) and the smoking rate was 24.1% among people living alone, compared to 16.5% for people living with other(s). Table 11 shows smoking prevalence across four regions of birth stratified by gender. Except for women born outside Europe, all other groups had higher smoking rates than people born in Sweden. The results from the intersectional analysis in Figure 9 shows that the absolute risk of smoking was 9 times higher in the stratum with highest prevalence (young immigrant men with low education who lived alone) than in the stratum with the lowest prevalence (older native women with high education who lived with other(s)). Corresponding PRs compared to the reference stratum of young native men with high education living with other(s) was 0.55 for older native women with high education who lived with other(s), and 4.45 for young immigrant men with low educational achievement who lived alone. PRs for all 72 strata are shown in Table 12.

#### Table 10. Descriptive statistics of smokers and non-smokers in Sweden (IV)

Distribution (prevalence) of smokers across categories of age, gender, education, migration status and household composition in the 110,044 participants in the Swedish National Health Surveys (2004–2018). Values are number (and percentage) of individuals.

	Non smokers	Smokers
30–44	22 799 (80.23%)	5 618 (19.77%)
45–64	38 024 (79.41%)	9 862 (20.59%)
65–84	29 575 (87.65%)	4 166 (12.35%)
Female	48 782 (82.08%)	10.653 (17.92%)
Male	41 616 (82.23%)	8 993 (17.77%)
Low	38 791 (78.32%)	10 738 (21.68%)
Middle	27 716 (83.02%)	5 670 (16.98)
High	23 891 (88.06%)	3 238 (11.94%)
Immigrant	10 410 (76.07%)	3 274 (23.93%)
Native	79 988 (83.01%)	16 372 (16.99%)
Cohabiting	75 625 (83.48%)	14 964 (16.52%)
Living Alone	14 773 (75.93%)	4 682 (24.07%)
0004		0.004 (04.07%)
2004	6 803 (75.03%)	2 264 (24.97%)
2005	3 339 (75.90%)	1 060 (24.10%)
2006	3 450 (77.62%)	995 (22.38%)
2007	3 272 (77.81%)	933 (22.19%)
2008	6 525 (79.07%)	1 727 (20.93%)
2009	6 123 (79.22%)	1 606 (20.78%)
2010	6 718 (80.59%)	1 618 (19.41%)
2011	6 760 (82.56%)	1 428 (17.44%)
2012	6 893 (82.68%)	1 444 (17.32%)
2013	6 770 (83.10%)	1 377 (16.90%)
2014	6 845 (83.74%)	1 329 (16.26%)
2015	6 978 (84.21%)	1 308 (15.79%)
2016	7 086 (88.13%)	954 (11.87%)
2018	12 836 (88.90%)	1 603 (11.10%)

#### Table 11. Smoking prevalence across region of birth (IV)

Smoking prevalence across regions of birth among 110,044 individuals responding to National Health Surveys during 2004–2016 and 2018. Both everyday smokers and sometimes smokers are included in the proportions presented.

Region of birth	Women	Men
Sweden	17.5%	16.4%
Nordic countries	21.7%	23.0%
Europe	24.0%	27.1%
Outside Europe	16.3%	32.5%



Figure 9. Absolute risks of smoking by intersectional strata Absolute risk (i.e. prevalence) and 95% confidence intervals of smoking in different intersectional strata according to the National Health Survey in Sweden between 2004 and 2018.

The PR of smoking decreased with increasing age in the fully adjusted Cox regression analysis, being lowest in the oldest age group. This contrasts with the crude prevalence which are unadjusted for survey year. Relative risk of smoking was increased for people with lower education, for immigrants and for people living alone, but no age-adjusted gender differences were detectable. Results are shown in Table 13.

The AUC of the model including only survey year was 0.58 and increased to 0.60 when including age, and remained so after the inclusion of gender in model 3. The inclusion of education increased the AUC with 0.04 units. AUC did not change when we included migration in model 5. After inclusion of household composition in model 6, AUC increased by 0.01 units to 0.65. The AUC was 0.66 in the intersectional interaction model 7, but the confidence interval overlapped with AUC of model 6. This indicates that the difference in smoking prevalence between the strata was due to the main effects of the variables used to construct the intersectional matrix and that no conclusive intersectional interaction between the included variables was found.

In a sensitivity analysis, we used income tertiles instead of educational achievement in the intersectional matrix. Results largely remained stable and are presented in Table 14 (model 1–6) and Table 15 (intersectional model 7).

the stratum of young na	ative men with high e	aucation who were living with oth	er(s) (LWU) as reterence in the	e comparisons.	
Age	Gender	Educational achievement	Migration status	Household composition	PR (95% CI)
30–44	Female	Low	Immigrant	LWO	2.35 (1.96–2.82)
30–44	Female	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	3.41 (1.96–5.94)
30–44	Female	Low	Native	LWO	2.24 (1.96–2.56)
3044	Female	Low	Native	Living alone	2.95 (2.29–3.78)
3044	Female	Middle	Immigrant	LWO	1.83 (1.51–2.21)
30–44	Female	Middle	Immigrant	Living alone	2.33 (1.34–4.05)
30–44	Female	Middle	Native	LWO	1.53 (1.35–1.73)
30-44	Female	Middle	Native	Living alone	2.2 (1.8–2.7)
30-44	Female	High	Immigrant	LWO	1.22 (0.99–1.49)
30–44	Female	High	Immigrant	Living alone	2.87 (1.86–4.42)
30–44	Female	High	Native	LWO	0.86 (0.74–0.98)
30–44	Female	High	Native	Living alone	1.72 (1.39–2.12)
30–44	Male	Low	Immigrant	ГМО	3.66 (3.07–4.35)
30–44	Male	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	4.45 (3.29–6.03)
30-44	Male	Low	Native	ГМО	1.92 (1.68–2.2)
3044	Male	Low	Native	Living alone	2.67 (2.21–3.21)
3044	Male	Middle	Immigrant	LWO	2.84 (2.36–3.43)
3044	Male	Middle	Immigrant	Living alone	3.33 (2.35–4.71)
3044	Male	Middle	Native	ГМО	1.43 (1.25–1.63)
30–44	Male	Middle	Native	Living alone	2.21 (1.85–2.64)
30–44	Male	High	Immigrant	ГМО	2.13 (1.74–2.6)
3044	Male	High	Immigrant	Living alone	2.32 (1.53–3.5)

Table 12. Relative risks of smoking according to intersectional AIHDA model 7 (IV) Results from the intersectional model 7 indicating the prevalence ratios (PR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) of smoking across intersectional strata in the Swedish population using

Reference	1.75 (1.41–2.18)	2.19 (1.88–2.55)	3.22 (2.56–4.06)	2.08 (1.85–2.34)	2.99 (2.61–3.41)	1.87 (1.56–2.23)	2.23 (1.66–3.01)	1.29 (1.14–1.46)	2.16 (1.84–2.53)	1.27 (1.03–1.57)	1.63 (1.08–2.45)	0.97 (0.84–1.11)	1.76 (1.46–2.13)	2.55 (2.18–2.98)	3.61 (2.9–4.5)	1.71 (1.52–1.93)	2.77 (2.42–3.17)	2.39 (2.01–2.86)	3.1 (2.26–4.26)	1.28 (1.12–1.45)	1.92 (1.61–2.31)	1.91 (1.56–2.35)	2.7 (1.84–3.98)	0.92 (0.8–1.07)	1.35 (1.04–1.75)
LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone	LWO	Living alone
tive	live	nigrant	nigrant	live	live	nigrant	nigrant	live	live	nigrant	nigrant	live	live	nigrant	nigrant	live	live	nigrant	nigrant	ive	ive	nigrant	nigrant	live	live
Na	Na	Ē	Ē	Na	Na	ī	Ē	Na	Na	Ē	Ē	Na	Na	Ē	Ē	Na	Na	Ē	Ē	Na	Na	Ē	Ē	Na	Na
High	High	Low	Low	Low	Low	Middle	Middle	Middle	Middle	High	High	High	High	Low	Low	Low	Low	Middle	Middle	Middle	Middle	High	High	High	High
Male	Male	Female	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male	Male											
30-44	30-44	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64	45–64

65–84	Female	Low	Immigrant	LWO	1.23 (0.98–1.54)
65-84	Female	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	1.62 (1.28–2.05)
65–84	Female	Low	Native	LWO	1.1 (0.97–1.25)
65–84	Female	Low	Native	Living alone	1.62 (1.42–1.86)
65–84	Female	Middle	Immigrant	LWO	1.18 (0.81–1.71)
65-84	Female	Middle	Immigrant	Living alone	1.66 (1.12–2.46)
65–84	Female	Middle	Native	LWO	0.8 (0.66–0.96)
65–84	Female	Middle	Native	Living alone	1.2 (0.97–1.48)
65–84	Female	High	Immigrant	LWO	0.61 (0.33–1.11)
65–84	Female	High	Immigrant	Living alone	1.16 (0.65–2.07)
65-84	Female	High	Native	LWO	0.55 (0.45–0.69)
6584	Female	High	Native	Living alone	0.83 (0.64–1.06)
65–84	Male	Low	Immigrant	LWO	1.57 (1.27–1.95)
65–84	Male	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	2.49 (1.84–3.37)
65–84	Male	Low	Native	LWO	0.96 (0.84–1.1)
6584	Male	Low	Native	Living alone	1.71 (1.47–2)
65–84	Male	Middle	Immigrant	LWO	1.12 (0.82–1.51)
65–84	Male	Middle	Immigrant	Living alone	1.29 (0.74–2.24)
65–84	Male	Middle	Native	LWO	0.85 (0.73–0.99)
65–84	Male	Middle	Native	Living alone	1.47 (1.18–1.83)
65–84	Male	High	Immigrant	LWO	1.06 (0.72–1.57)
65–84	Male	High	Immigrant	Living alone	0.91 (0.38–2.21)
65–84	Male	High	Native	LWO	0.58 (0.48–0.71)
6584	Male	High	Native	Living alone	1.19 (0.88–1.6)

Table 13. Discriminatory accuracy and unidimensional ORs of smoking from intersectional AIHDA model 1–6 (IV) Prevalence ratios (PR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI) of smoking among people aged 30–84 included in the National Health Surveys between 2004 and 2018 in relation to survey year, age, gender, education, migration status and household composition. AUC values with 95% CI representing the discriminatory accuracy and <u>A</u>UC values of the models are also presented. PRs and AUC of model 7 are presented in Table 12.

		Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4	Model 5	Model 6
Year							
	2004	2.25 (2.11–2.40)	2.07 (1.95–2.21)	2.08 (1.95–2.21)	1.85 (1.74–1.98)	1.88 (1.76–2.00)	1.84 (1.73–1.97)
	2005	2.17 (2.01–2.35)	2.01 (1.86–2.17)	2.01 (1.86.2.17)	1.83 (1.69.1.98)	1.85 (1.71–2.00)	1.83 (1.69–1.98)
	2006	2.02 (1.86–2.18)	1.87 (1.72–2.02)	1.87 (1.72–2.02)	1.70 (1.57–1.84)	1.71 (1.58–1.85)	1.68 (1.55–1.82)
	2007	2.00 (1.84 –2.17)	1.86 (1.71–2.01)	1.86 (1.71–2.01)	1.71 (1.57–1.85)	1.65 (1.54–1.77)	1.70 (1.56–1.84)
	2008	1.89 (1.76–2.02)	1.76 (1.64–1.88)	1.76 (1.64–1.88)	1.64 (1.53–1.75)	1.66 (1.55–1.78)	1.63 (1,52–1.74)
	2009	1.87 (1.75–2.01)	1.75 (1.64–1.89)	1.76 (1.64–1.88)	1.65 (1.54–1.77)	1.62 (1.51–1.73)	1.63 (1.52–1.75)
	2010	1.75 (1.63–1.87)	1.70 (1.58–1.82)	1.70 (1.58–1.82)	1.61 (1.50–1.72)	1.46 (1.36–1.57)	1.59 (1.48–1.70)
	2011	1.57 (1.46–1.69)	1.53 (1.43–1.64)	1.53 (1.43–1.64)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.47 (1.37–1.58)	1.43 (1.33–1.54)
	2012	1.56 (1.45–1.68)	1.53 (1.42–1.64)	1.53 (1.42–1.64)	1.47 (1.37–1.57)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.44 (1.34–1.55)
	2013	1.52 (1–42–1.64)	1.49 (1.39–1.60)	1.49 (1.39–1.60)	1.45 (1.35–1.55)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.42 (1.32–1.52)
	2014	1.47 (1.36–1.75)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.41 (1.31–1.52)	1.42 (1.32–1.53)	1.39 (1.30–1.50)
	2015	1.42 (1.32–1.53)	1.40 (1.30–1.51)	1.40 (1.30–1.51)	1.37 (1.27–1.47)	1.38 (1.28–1.48)	1.35 (1.26–1.46)
	2016	1.07 (0.99–1.16)	1.06 (0.97–1.14)	1.06 (0.97–1.14)	1.04 (0.96–1.13)	1.05 (0.97–1.13)	1. 03 (0.95–1.11)
	2018	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.	Ref.

Age

Table 14. Sensitivity analysis where income tertiles replace educational achievement in model 1–6 (IV)

Prevalence ratios (PR) and 95% confidence intervals (CI), of smoking among people aged 30–84 included in the National Health Surveys between 2004 and 2018 in relation to survey year, age, gender, income, migration status and household composition. Model 7 includes the same variables as model 6 but as a multi-categorical variable. AUC values with 95% CI representing the discriminatory accuracy and AUC values of the models are also presented. The PRs for model 7 are presented in Table 15.

1

Model 6

Model 5

Model 4

Model 3

Model 2

Model 1

2004	2.25 (2.11-2.40)	2.08 (1.95-2.21)	2.08 (1.95-2.21)	2.07 (1.94-2.21)	2.09 (1.96-2.23)	2.06 )1-94-2.20)
2005	2.17 (2.01-2.35)	2.01 (1.86.1.17)	2.01 (1.95-2.21)	2.01 (1.86-2.17)	2.03 (1.88-2.19)	2.01 (1.86-2.18)
2006	2.02 (1.86-2.18)	1.87 (1.72-2.02)	1.87 (1.72-2.02)	1.86 (1.72-2.01)	1.87 (1.72-2.02)	1.85 (1.71-2.00)
2007	2.00 (1.84-2.17)	1.86 (1.71-2.01)	1.86 (1.71-2.01)	1.86 (1.71-2.01)	1.87 (1.73-2.03)	1.85 (1.70-2.00)
2008	1.89 (1.76-2.02)	1.76 (1.64-1.88)	1.76 (1.64-1.88)	1.76 (1.64-1.88)	1.76 (1.65-1.89)	1.75 (1.63-1.87)
2009	1.87 (1.75-2.01)	1.75 (1.64.1.88)	1.76 (1.64-1.88)	1.75 (1.63-1.88)	1.76 (1.65-1.89)	1.74 (1.62-1.87)
2010	1.75 (1.63-1.87)	1.70 (1.58-1.82)	1.70 (1.58-1.82)	1.68 (1.57-1.80)	1.69 (1.57-1.81)	1.67 (1.56-1.79)
2011	1.57 (1.46-1.69)	1.53 (1.43-1.64)	1.53 (1.43-1.64)	1.52 (1.41-1.63)	1.52 (1.42-1.64)	1.51 (1.40-1.62)
2012	1.56 (1.45-1.68)	1.53 (1.42-1.64)	1.53 (1.42-1.64)	1.48 (1.37-1.59)	1.53 (1.42-1.64)	1.51 (1.41-1,62)
2013	1.52 (1.42-1.64)	1.49 (1.39-1.60)	1.49 (1.39-1.60)	1.45 (1.34-1.55)	1.48 (1.38-1.59)	1.46 (1.36-1.57)
2014	1.46 (1.36-1.57)	1.45 (1.35-1.56)	1.45 (1.35-1.56)	1.40 (1.30-1.50)	1.45 (1.35-1.56)	1.44 (1.33-1.54)
2015	1.42 (1.32-1.53)	1.40 (1.30-1.51)	1.40 (1.30-1.51)	1.40 (1.30-1.50)	1.40 (1.30-1.51)	1.39 (1.29-1.50)
2016	1.07 (0.99-1.16)	1.06 (0.97-1.14)	1.06 (0.97-1.14)	1.05 (0.97-1.14)	1.06 (0.97-1.14)	1.04 (0.96-1.13)
2018	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference

Year

	30-44		Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
	45–64		1.06 (1.03-1.10)	1.06 (1.03-1.10)	1.11 (1.07-1.15)	1.11 (1.08-1.15)	1.09 (1.06-1.13)
	65–84		0.68 (0.65-0.71)	0.68 (1.86-0.71)	0.61 (0.58-0.63)	0.62 (0.59-0.64)	0.61 (0.58-0.63)
Gender							
	Male			Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
	Female			1.00 (0.97-1.02)	0.98 (0.95-1.00)	0.98 (0.95-1.00)	0.98 (0.95-1.00)
Income							
	Low				1.93 (1.86-2.00)	1.88 (1.82-1.95)	1.72 (1.65-1.78)
	Middle				1.34 (1.29-1.39)	1.32 (1.28-1.33)	1.30 (1.25-1.34)
	High				Reference	Reference	Reference
Born in Sweden							
	Native					Reference	Reference
	Immigrant					1.28 (1.23-1.33)	1.30 (1.25-1.35)
Household composition							
	Living alone						1.26 (1.21-1.31)
	Living with other(s)						Reference
AUC		0.58 (0.58-0.59)	0.60 (0.60-0.61)	0.60 (0.60-0.61)	0.64 (0.63-0.64)	0.64 (0.64-0.65)	0.64 (0.64-0.65)
AUC			0.02	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.01

Results from the inters intersectional strata in the	ectional model 7 in re Swedish populati	idicating the strata with the 10 h ion using the stratum of young nat	ighest and the 10 lowest previve men with high income who	/alence ratio (PR) with 95% o were living with other(s) (LWO)	onfidence intervals (CI) of smoking across as reference in the comparisons.
Age	Gender	Income	Migration status	Civil status	RR (95% CI)
65–84	Male	High	Immigrant	LWO	0.51 (0.07–3.61)
65–84	Female	High	Immigrant	Living alone	0.64 (0.37–1.08)
65–84	Male	High	Native	Living alone	0.64 (0.55–0.74)
65–84	Female	High	Native	Living alone	0.66 (0.56–0.78)
65–84	Female	High	Native	LWO	0.71 (0.45–1.12)
65–84	Male	Middle	Native	Living alone	0.74 (0.65–0.83)
65–84	Female	Middle	Native	Living alone	0.76 (0.67–0.86)
65–84	Male	High	Immigrant	Living alone	0.77 (0.51–1.15)
65–84	Male	Low	Native	Living alone	0.87 (0.76–0.99)
65–84	Male	High	Native	LWO	0.91 (0.57–1.46)
30-44	Male	High	Native	ГМО	Reference
30-44	Male	High	Immigrant	Living alone	2.37 (0.98–5.73)
45-64	Male	Low	Immigrant	LWO	2.53 (2.14–2.98)
65–84	Female	High	Immigrant	Living alone	2.58 (0.96–6.89)
30-44	Female	High	Immigrant	Living alone	2.62 (0.98–7.02)
45-64	Male	Middle	Immigrant	Living alone	2.63 (1.86–3.7)
30-44	Female	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	2.64 (1.89–3.68)
30-44	Male	Middle	Immigrant	Living alone	2.66 (1.74–4.08)
30-44	Male	Low	Immigrant	LWO	2.73 (2.32–3.2)
30-44	Male	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	2.94 (2.31–3.74)
45-64	Male	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	2.96 (2.45–3.58)
AUC					0.65
ΔAUC compared with	model 6				0.01

Table 15. Sensitivity analysis where income tertiles replace educational achievement in intersectional model 7 (IV)

# Conclusions

#### Study I

There is a clear socioeconomic gradient in incident COPD in Sweden; people with low absolute income have a threefold relative risk of COPD compared to high income individuals. No such gradient exists for relative income. Although it is impossible to isolate psychosocial from material effects with the applied methodology, the lack of a relative income gradient in COPD incidence and the low DA of the relative income model compared to the absolute income model supports the materialistic explanation model rather than the psychosocial model for the genesis of income disparities in COPD incidence. The AUC of 0.63 for women and 0.65 for men imply that income alone does not explain a large share of the disparities in COPD incidence in Sweden.

#### **Study II**

Intersectional analysis of COPD incidence provides an improved mapping of socioeconomic disparities in COPD compared to unidimensional studies. The intersectional analysis showed that socioeconomic risk factors like low income may not imply a high risk of COPD in the presence of protecting factors, and conversely, individuals at specific intersectional locations may possess a protective factor like high education and still be at high risk of COPD. As expected, age was the most important dimension in the intersectional matrix and explained half the variance found in the null model. More surprisingly, second to age the adjustment for civil status lead to the largest drop in ICC. The DA of the intersectional model was good with an ICC of 20%. Additive rather than interactive effects explain intersectional disparities. MAIHDA is a suitable tool to perform quantitative intersectional research.

## **Study III**

The overall average prevalence of discontinuation to COPD maintenance medication across geographical and sociodemographic contexts is high. Sociodemographic context (age, gender and education) influences risk of discontinuation more than county of residence. Sociodemographic disparities in discontinuation are small and geographical disparities between counties are very small. Cross-classified MAIHDA is a useful method to evaluate health care inequalities and to compare the relevance of different contexts. The results from this study supports interventions targeted to the whole population rather than specific sociodemographic groups or counties.

#### Study IV

The intersectional pattern of smoking prevalence in Sweden is complex. Immigrant men aged 30–44 years with low education who lived alone, immigrant men aged 30–44 years with low education who lived with other(s) and immigrant men aged 45–64 years with low education who lived alone occupied the three strata with highest crude smoking prevalence. Young immigrant women living alone had a rather high PR of smoking despite their high educational achievement. The DA of the intersectional model was moderate and had a confidence interval that overlapped with the previous model, which indicates that additive effects rather than interactive effects explained the intersectional disparities in smoking prevalence. AIHDA constitutes a good complement to MAIHDA that is easy to apply and that provides specific information of value for public health policy.

# Discussion

This thesis confirms that the risk of smoking and the risk of COPD in the population are conditioned by socioeconomic and demographic factors, and so is the probability of continuous maintenance medication among COPD patients. Among the socioeconomic factors, absolute income and materialistic mechanisms seem more relevant than relative income and psychosocial mechanisms for understanding the risk of COPD in the population. However, both kinds of income mechanisms may act together, and they are difficult to disentangle. Studies based on the analysis of separated socioeconomic, demographic or geographical dimensions seem insufficient for investigating inequities in health and healthcare quality. Much previous research on the social epidemiology of COPD lack an explicit social theoretical framework and focus only on differences between group averages. On the contrary, intersectional MAIHDA/AIHDA use social theory to analyse an array of intersectional contexts (i.e. intersectional strata) that better reflect the distribution of power and resources in the population and may condition individual health and health care utilisation. When doing so, MAIHDA/AIHDA focus not only on differences between strata averages but also on their DA. In this way intersectional MAIHDA/AIHDA may avoid stigmatisation, allow for a more complete picture of the distribution of ill health and lead to more effective guidance of clinical and public health interventions according to the idea of proportionate universalism.

When it comes to understanding adherence to COPD treatment, we observed that contexts defined by socioeconomic and demographic dimensions were more relevant than those defined by the geographical boundaries of the Swedish counties. However, neither of those contexts displayed a high DA.

Overall, this thesis suggests that interventions to eliminate socioeconomic disparities in smoking, COPD risk and COPD care are needed. Such interventions should primarily be universal and focus on equitable distribution of SDH. Since substantial heterogeneity within the intersectional strata exists, interventions exclusively focused on intersectional strata with a higher risk are unlikely to be efficient.

## Relation to previous research

### Study I

For study I, the gradient with a threefold relative risk of incident COPD for people with medium-low and low absolute income compared to the high-income quintile confirms previous findings of a socioeconomic income gradient for COPD. Borné et al. (2019) reported hazard ratios of incident COPD of 2.23 (95% CI: 1.97–2.53) for people with low annual income. In a review of the association between different measures of SEP and COPD, Gershon et al. (2012) conclude that most studies report at least twofold risks for poor outcomes for the lowest socioeconomic strata. Although studies exist that assess DA by calculating AUC of models with clinical data to predict the course of COPD (Amalakuhan et al., 2012, Sundh and Ekstrom, 2017), I have not found any study assessing the DA of socioeconomic risk factors for incident nor prevalent COPD.

To my knowledge, there is no previous studies that explicitly compare the importance of materialistic and psychosocial explanation models for incident COPD. Cho et al. (2016) investigated the association between individual household income and mortality among 9,275 COPD patients in South Korea, and whether that association changed if people lived in advantaged compared to disadvantaged neighbourhoods. They found that low individual household income was associated with increased mortality regardless of deprivation status of the neighbourhood, but that mortality was higher among low-income individuals living in disadvantaged (HR=1.43; 95% CI, 1.17–1.74 vs. HR), compared to advantaged neighbourhoods (HR=1.36; 95% CI, 1.11-1.66). While the difference between neighbourhoods is not conclusive, this finding is hypothesised to be explained by increased psychosocial stress and relative deprivation experienced by people with low income living in a disadvantaged area. This interpretation of the effect of living in a deprived area contrasts with other publications. Gerdtham and Johannesson (2004) explored the effect of individual income, community income inequality and mean community income on mortality among adults in Sweden. According to these authors, the relative income hypothesis posits that mean municipality income should be positively associated with mortality rates, holding individual-level income constant. However, this relative income hypothesis was not supported. The income variable that can be hypothesised to act mostly through the materialistic pathway, low individual-level income, was the only variable that was associated with increased mortality. Hillemeier et al. (2003) found that poverty by national standards rather than US state relative poverty was more related to infant mortality. This suggests that capacity to afford the basic needs is more important than the relative position in a state hierarchy for infant mortality. When accounting for the effect of area level economic deprivation, Zhang et al. (2013) found higher prevalence of long-term illness and self-reported "not good health" in areas that had more affluent neighbouring areas. This hypothesised psychosocial effect was strongest in the least deprived areas, suggesting that psychosocial effect becomes more important when material deprivation is absent. Overall, the inherent difficulties in disentangling materialistic and psychosocial mediators between low SEP and COPD is partly attributable to the fact that both pathways act through health behaviours (Mackenbach, 2006) that are decisive for incident COPD.

#### **Study II**

Intersectionality research on respiratory diseases is a novel research field. Fuller-Thomson et al. (2016) studied self-reported COPD among 129,535 non-Hispanic black and white never-smokers in the USA and found that both black and white women had higher odds of COPD compared to men, but that gender and ethnic disparities were modified when adjusting for SEP. The odds of COPD decreased for black women but was slightly increased for white women after SEP adjustment. While there were no differences between black and white men prior to SEP adjustment, the odds of COPD became significantly higher for white compared to black men after this adjustment. This study did not assess interactions between nor individual heterogeneity within the different social dimensions, but the slightly increased odds of COPD among women and immigrants are consistent with our findings. The unidimensional ORs obtained in model 3 confirm previous findings of increased risk of COPD for people with higher age but contradict the estimation of higher prevalence of COPD among men by Raherison and Girodet (2009). Other studies have found similar odds of prevalent (Lindberg et al., 2006a) and incident (Lindberg et al., 2006b) COPD between men and women. The income and educational disparities in COPD morbidity are, as already noted, in line with existing evidence (Gershon et al., 2012). Borné et al. (2019) did not find any effect of country of birth on incidence of COPD in a Swedish sample. Whereas the OR for incident COPD among immigrants was conclusive but only 1.15 (95% CI 1.01-1.29), the ICC in our study did not change after adjustment for migration status, indicating a small or non-existent contribution by migration status to the overall DA. Our findings regarding migration status thus resembles those presented by Borné et al. Second to age category, civil status was the dimension that contributed most to the ICC according to the analysis in model 2. Yet civil status has been scarcely investigated in relation to incident COPD. Borné et al. report that compared to married individuals, hazard ratios for incident COPD was 1.61 (95% CI 1.46–1.78) for divorced people and 1.30 (95% CI 1.16-1.46) for widowed individuals (Borné et al., 2019). Remarriage after divorce or bereavement diminishes risk of incident COPD among women but not men, according to a study from the USA including 2,676 individuals (Noda et al., 2009). In a Danish study focused on prognosis among COPD patients, people living alone had lower hospitalisation rates due to exacerbation, but worse adherence to maintenance therapy and higher mortality rates (Tottenborg et al., 2016).

The MAIHDA approach has not been applied for respiratory outcomes before or after publication of study II, yet the same methodology has been applied for other outcomes. When studying BMI among US adults, Evans et al. (2018) found an ICC=5.0% for the null model, and 35% of this between-strata variance was due to intersectional interaction. In a study utilising Spanish data to study BMI from an intersectional perspective (Hernández-Yumar et al., 2018), the ICC dropped from 12.9% (additive effects and interaction effects conflated) to 1.9% when isolating interaction effects. In a study from 2020, Kern et al. (2020) found modest ICCs for null models (3.1–6.4%) when investigating life dissatisfaction and psychosomatic complaints in a study adopting a MAIHDA approach with three dimensions: native/immigrant, high/middle/low SES and boys/girls. A total of 98-99% of the between-strata variance was explained by main effects, thus intersectional interaction was absent or contributed very little. This study comprised data from 33 different countries and included a comparison of how the intersectional strata influenced outcomes in countries with high versus low income inequality. They found that in more equal countries the most advantaged groups performed worse, whereas the multiply disadvantaged strata had better health compared to countries with higher income inequalities. Persmark et al. (2019) studied opioid prescriptions and found a modest VPC of 13.2% for the null model, and the VPC of the interaction model was only 0.42%. Other studies have applied MAIHDA to study rheumatological diseases (Kiadaliri and Englund, 2020, Kiadaliri et al., 2020) and biomarkers for common chronic diseases (Holman et al., 2020) and found ICCs for the null model much lower than 20%, as well as very small intersectional interaction effects.

In comparison to these studies, the intersectional MAIHDA seems especially relevant for the study of COPD since the VPC of the null model was 20.0%. The modest contribution of intersectional interaction in our study has mostly been replicated in the mentioned studies. Different health outcomes in different contexts should be revisited utilising this intersectional approach.

#### Study III

The prevalence of discontinuation found in study III is close to those reported from other Swedish studies on adherence to maintenance medication among COPD patients. In a study including both COPD and asthma patients with prescriptions of inhalatory medication, including short-acting beta2-agonists, 24% retrieved their medication only once during a five year period (Haupt et al., 2008). Another study comparing pharmacological treatment among patients in 2004 and 2014 showed a decrease in the proportion of patients without maintenance therapy from 36% in 2004 to 31% in 2014, including patients from both primary and secondary care. In secondary care, the prevalence of no maintenance therapy in 2014 was 22% (Sundh et al., 2017). In the annual report from the Swedish National Airway Register

(SNAR) 2019 (Hesselmar et al., 2019), a lower prevalence of absence of maintenance medication is noted among patients reported from specialist care. Patients with COPD stadium 2 have a prevalence of about 8% and for patients with COPD stage 3 and 4 the prevalence of no maintenance medication is below 5%. Possible explanations to the difference in this report compared to our results include better compliance to guidelines among clinics that report to SNAR, inclusion of some patients with COPD stage 1 in our cohort and improved adherence to guidelines in 2019 compared to 2011. As noted above, there is a lack of an established way of comparing regional and sociodemographic disparities in health care.

## Study IV

The unidimensional relationships between smoking on one hand and age, educational attainment, civil status and migration status on the other, largely confirm previous research on socioeconomic patterns of smoking in Sweden. For example, Landberg et al. investigated cigarette addiction, rather than self-reported smoking as in our study, and found increased odds of cigarette addiction among people with low education and low income. Immigrant men had higher odds of smoking compared to natives but the same pattern was not as clear for women, where people born in other Nordic countries had higher prevalence of smoking but women born outside the Nordic countries had lower odds of smoking (Landberg et al., 2018). The same pattern was found in our study, where women born outside Europe was the only group with lower smoking prevalence than people born in Sweden, according to Table 11. In a working paper, Spika et al. (2018) have found that an increase in the proportion of the population with more than 12 years of education can explain part of the decreasing prevalence of smoking in Sweden between 1994 and 2018. While overall prevalence of smoking decreased, both income- and education-related inequalities increased for daily smoking as well as for smoking related hospitalisations and death.

In contrast to COPD, explicit intersectional research exists for smoking, although intersectional matrices and outcomes are different. Potter et al. (2020) investigated successful smoking cessation and found no significant intersectional interaction. In a study on temporal development of light and intermittent smoking among men and women of different ethnic groups in California, Pulvers et al. (2015) found gender differences to be maintained only among non-Hispanic whites, whereas gender differences disappeared for blacks and Hispanics.

Qualitative intersectional studies have provided important insights into how the stigma associated with smoking may interact with other identities such as being low class, a bad mother, country of birth and norms of femininity. The strengthened stigma experienced by smokers as a result of anti-smoking campaigns can either be an incentive to stop smoking or a side effect constituting an extra health burden

(Triandafilidis et al., 2016). The stigma associated with smoking may be differently experienced for people with different SEP, and according to Graham (2011) this may contribute to widening disparities in smoking rates between social classes. While stigma is not assessed in this paper, it should be considered when strategies to eliminate smoking in the population are designed.

## Strengths and limitations of individual studies

#### **Study I**

One challenge when studying relative income is to find the appropriate reference group. This translates into the question of whether individuals compare themselves with neighbours and colleagues, with the richest people in their country or with people in other countries and continents. Our methodology is based on the hypothesis that people compare themselves with others sharing similar economic circumstances, i.e. people who belong to the same absolute income quintile. Kawachi et al. (2002) claim that people most likely compare themselves in several directions, and hence the effect we observed for absolute income on COPD incidence could contain both materialistic and psychosocial components. A key point made by proponents of the psychosocial model of health inequalities is that its effect exists across the whole socioeconomic gradient (Wilkinson and Pickett, 2009). Therefore, we would have expected a relative income gradient for incident COPD if psychosocial stress was the major pathway causing the socioeconomic disparities in COPD. Additionally, we performed a sensitivity analysis in which we analysed the relationship between relative income and COPD separately in the different absolute income quintiles, but saw no consistent gradient and very small increments in AUC compared to a model including only age.

We did not have information on COPD from primary health care where mild cases of COPD patients are treated. Although this is a limitation, it is not a serious concern since the purpose of the study was to compare absolute and relative income as predictors of incident COPD, rather than establishing the precise incidence in the population. The income data we used covers income from wages, subsidies, retirements, insurances, profits from capital and other sources, which is a strength. However, since 2007, wealth statistics are not monitored in Sweden after abolition of capital taxes (Statistics Sweden, 2021), so we did not consider wealth in this study nor in any of the other studies included in this thesis. This can be considered a weakness since in Sweden wealth inequalities are larger than income inequalities. For example, the ten percent with the highest income earn close to 30% of the total annual income in Sweden, but the ten percent with largest capital own nearly 60% of the total capital in the country (Piketty, 2015). Our results may therefore underestimate socioeconomic differences in COPD incidence, since the wealth or absence of savings of an individual also condition access to material resources. It can be considered a weakness that we only measured income data at one point in time, the year prior to measuring incident COPD, since COPD may influence the possibilities for an individual to participate in work life. The fact that we excluded individuals with previous COPD reduces the problem of reverse causality.

The application of AUC is a strength of this study. The AUC is a feasible way of evaluating the relevance of absolute versus relative income models for predicting incident COPD. In the case of this study, the clear socioeconomic gradient with threefold relative risks for COPD among people in the middle-low and low income quintiles among both genders could lead to the conclusion that income and age explain a large share of an individuals' propensity to develop COPD. The DA of the absolute income models indicates a large remaining heterogeneity within income quintiles and that other factors must be explored to increase the understanding of the social mechanisms behind disparities in COPD incidence.

#### **Study II**

A main strength of this study is that it is the first study to describe the particularities of intersectional MAIHDA when modelling a binary outcome in logistic regression and thus contributes to the application of intersectionality theory in a quantitative framework. However, while intersectional MAIHDA is becoming one of the standard tools to perform quantitative intersectional research, a methodological criticism has been directed at the MAIHDA analyses, including conclusions drawn in paper II (Lizotte et al., 2019). This critique represents a classical debate on the suitability of multilevel analyses based on cluster-specific information versus single-level traditional studies based on population averages. In a publication by Evans, Leckie and Merlo (2019) the differences between MAIHDA and the traditional single-level approach are discussed. In analogy with the analyses of multiple measurements within individuals, MAIHDA considers individuals within intersectional strata. The "context" in the case of multiple measurements is the individual, while in the intersectional case the "context" is the stratum. In both cases, multilevel regression is appropriate for both statistical and substantive reasons. Statistically, if the "context" matters, the multiple measurements will be correlated within individuals and, analogously, the individuals will be correlated within strata. This correlation is taken into account by the multilevel regression. For instance, if we were investigating the FEV<sub>1</sub> of 100 patients and had 2 measurements for 80 patients, 4 measurements for 15 patients and 16 measurements for 5 patients the number of measurements would be 300. However, the effective sample size would not be 300 but rather close to 100 because the measurements within the patients are highly correlated. For this reason, when calculating the average FEV<sub>1</sub> of the patient populations we firstly calculate the average  $FEV_1$  in each patient and then we

calculate the mean of the patient values (that is the mean of the patients' means). Otherwise, the 5 patients with 16 measurements each would be overrepresented, and the population average would be biased.

Analogously, if we were investigating intersectional strata, our interest would be to obtain information on the average  $FEV_1$  of each stratum, and we would use this information to calculate the average in the population (i.e. mean of the strata's means). Otherwise, strata with many patients would be overrepresented. This situation is especially relevant in social epidemiology and intersectionality where we are especially interested in the health of minorities. In addition, the multilevel approach gives reliability-weighted estimations of the strata values which prevents excess influence of extreme values due to a very small number of individuals in some strata.

Quantifying the correlation of the information within the context provides knowledge on the relevance of that context for the outcome under investigation (Merlo et al., 2005a). In the example of analyses of multiple measurements within individuals, the "individual body" is obviously very relevant, so the intra-individual correlation between measurement can be close to 100% (Merlo et al., 2009). However, in the case of intersectional strata, it is not given that the intra-strata correlation between individuals is high. It could be low, indicating that the intersectional strata were not relevant.

In the traditional population average estimations defended by (Lizotte et al., 2019), neither the intra-strata correlation nor the size of the strata is considered and the population average represents the average of the individuals' values, not the grand mean of the strata means. Besides, when calculating the interactions in the MAIHDA, the results are the same whatever the reference category used for the estimation of the main effects (Evans et al., 2019). Both methodological approaches are correct but because of the way they conceptualise the information may give different results.

This study is based on a large database that covers the whole population of Sweden and the socioeconomic and demographic information is of high quality (Statistics Sweden, 2019). Noteworthy, the stratum with the least number of individuals still had 1,236 individuals, which increases the precision of the estimates.

Our intersectional matrix has some limitations. For example, important axes of oppression such as sexual orientation and functionality were not included. This was partly due to a lack of information, but also stems from a wish to present a parsimonious intersectional model. The assessment of some of the social dimensions that were included can also be questioned. A limitation shared by all studies in this thesis is the binary assessment of gender. Due to a lack of more nuanced data, individuals were categorised as either male or female depending on their legal gender (study I–III) or self-reported data (study IV). Lamentably, this thesis thereby perpetuates the discrimination of trans-sexual and transgender

individuals by ignoring the existence of more than two sexual identities. We did not have information on ethnicity but included country of birth as a proxy variable that captures experiences of migration. As a consequence, we could not assess racism, but on the other hand avoid contributing to the idea of cultural differences based on ethnicity (Karlsen and Nazroo, 2017). As for study I, we did not have information on COPD patients from primary health care.

#### Study III

The principal weakness of this study is that we did not have information on the COPD stage of the patients, due to a lack of data on  $FEV_1$ , symptoms of dyspnea and number of exacerbations during the previous 12 months. While our double criteria for the definition of the COPD cohort, requiring both previous maintenance medication and a hospital COPD diagnosis, makes it probable that patients who were included had an indication for maintenance therapy, it would have been valuable to stratify for disease stage. It is known that patients with more severe disease have better adherence (Humenberger et al., 2018) and that people with low SEP have more severe COPD (Lange et al., 2014). Thus, it is possible that a more pronounced sociodemographic gradient in adherence to maintenance medication is more counterweighted bv advanced disease among more deprived sociodemographic strata. Similarly, older individuals have more severe disease so the differences between age categories may be underestimated. With access to COPD stage, this hypothesis could have been explored. A total of 3,636 patients died during 2011 and were excluded from the study. This raises the question of whether any selection bias was introduced. These patients accounted for 6.6% of the study population, and in a sensitivity analysis where we maintained people who died during 2011 in the analysis results remained stable.

MAIHDA has previously been used to simultaneously study average differences between geographical contexts and the individual variance around those averages (Merlo et al., 2016), but this is the first study to compare geographical and sociodemographic disparities adopting a cross-classified MAIHDA approach. I see three principal advantages of the framework we propose to evaluate equity in health care. First, our method offers a clear way of comparing the proportion of variance in patients' propensity to discontinue their medication that is attributable to a geographic versus a sociodemographic context. This means that with our method, health care policies can be designed that target the context with most relevance for the studied outcome. If such decisions are based only on comparisons between the average disparities between counties on the one hand and sociodemographic groups on the other, they can be very imprecise since the degree of heterogeneity within the categories is not known. Second, current epidemiology has been criticised for its lack of a consequentialist focus, since it is not always clear how results from epidemiologic research should be translated into a more equitable health distribution in society (Galea, 2013). The coupling of our methodology with the concept of proportionate universalism thus answers the call for a more consequentialist epidemiology since we a priori define how results shall translate into different strategies depending on the overall prevalence of discontinuation on one hand, and on the VPC and AUC on the other. When the VPC is high, interventions should be targeted to specific vulnerable strata, but when the VPC is low they should be more universal. Thirdly, rather than focusing on the crude prevalence of discontinuation in counties and sociodemographic groups, we present precision-weighted absolute risks calculated from the multilevel model. The grand mean is the prevalence of discontinuation that would be found if all combinations of geographical and sociodemographic contexts were of the same size (Evans et al., 2019). While the crude prevalence of discontinuation rate in the whole country, the adjusted precision-weighted absolute risks are more informative when the focus of research is the contextual effect of counties and sociodemographic strata on maintenance medication.

The cross-classified MAIHDA makes it easy to detect interaction between two contexts at the second level. As a supplementary analysis we investigated whether any interaction occurred between county of residence and sociodemographic strata for risk of discontinuation. While this was not the case, it should be investigated in future studies in other contexts or with other outcomes. An interaction between sociodemographic strata and counties could imply that county-level policies affect the sociodemographic gradient, i.e. that counties perform better or worse in terms of equitable health care. Additionally, characteristics of the counties such as urban versus rural dwellings, political majority or number of PHCs per inhabitant could be included as explanatory variables at the second level to evaluate specific contextual effect. However, when the VPC is very low, it does not make sense to evaluate the specific contextual effect of a very weak general contextual effect.

#### **Study IV**

One limitation of this study is that participation rates in the NHS were rather low and diminished from 60.8% in 2004 to 42.1% in 2018. According to an analysis of non-participants performed by Statistics Sweden, people with low education, immigrants and people living alone were more likely to be non-responders. If people who did not respond had higher smoking rates compared to responders, it is possible that we have underestimated the socioeconomic disparities in smoking prevalence. Statistics Sweden provides a weighted data-set that calibrates the bias introduced by non-participation (Franzén, 2018); the variables used for the calculation of the calibrated weights were age, gender, education status, migration status, civil status and urban versus rural dwelling. We performed a sensitivity analysis where the weighted data was used and the results were very similar. We consider it a strength that socioeconomic and demographic data was obtained from registers, but smoking

status was self-reported and enabled the inclusion of both sometimes smokers and daily smokers in the definition of the outcome. However, we did not have information on the amount of tobacco consumed by the participants, which could have rendered a more nuanced mapping of the smoking habits in the population. This would have been valuable in order to analyse light and intermittent smoking rates in Sweden since previous intersectional research report light and intermittent smoking to be increasing among ethnic minorities but decreasing among whites (Pulvers et al., 2015). We did perform a sensitivity analysis where the outcome was restricted to daily smokers; as expected, smoking prevalence was lower, at 11% compared to 18%. Socioeconomic disparities were more pronounced since the intersectional context had a DA of 0.70 compared to 0.66 in the main analysis. The prevalence of everyday smoking was only 1.6% for the stratum presumed to occupy greatest structural privilege, compared to 11.8% when sometimes smokers were included. Our main results combined with the results from this sensitivity analysis reflect the existence of socioeconomic disparities not only in prevalence but also in intensity of smoking (Bobak et al., 2000). Our results may therefore underestimate the intersectional disparities in health hazards attributable to smoking.

The advantages of an intersectional approach when studying inequalities in health have already been discussed under the section on strength and limitations for study II. Inherent to the intersectional approach is a view of social and demographic categories as socially constructed that are relevant only insofar as they capture axes of oppression. Therefore, the adoption of an intersectional approach to the study of smoking directs focus away from individual factors, such as moral character and self-discipline, towards the social mechanisms that cause the complex pattern of socioeconomic differences in smoking rates. This is especially important in the context of COPD and smoking. COPD patients frequently suffer from feelings of guilt due to ideas of having a self-inflicted disease (Strang et al., 2014). If health care workers and people in general had better understanding of the social factors that influence the risks of smoking, problems of self-accusation could be alleviated.

The intersectional AIHDA presented here should not be viewed as a substitution of MAIHDA. Rather, the two approaches provide different information and serve complementary functions. AIHDA and MAIHDA share three crucial advantages. First, the intersectional mapping is superior to unidimensional, albeit multiple, analyses when it comes to identifying vulnerable population groups towards which interventions should be directed. Second, the assessment of the DA, analogous to the ICC, informs on the heterogeneity within the intersectional strata and thus the relevance of that intersectional matrix for the specific outcome under study. Third, in both the AIHDA and the MAIHDA, the intersectional strata are conceptualised as contexts rather than as individual characteristics.

While MAIHDA may seem inconvenient for researchers not familiar with multilevel models, intersectional AIHDA can be readily performed by researchers familiar with single-level regression models and still provide worthy and correct

information. Some differences between the two approaches should be noted. AIHDA uses a specific stratum as reference in the comparisons while MAIHDA uses the grand mean (or the mean of the strata means) as reference. Whereas MAIHDA allows for a more detailed analysis of the specific strata where intersectional interaction is taking place, AIHDA only informs on the increase in AUC when the intersectional interaction effects are accounted for. In our case, there was no conclusive intersectional interaction taking place and therefore this attribute of the MAIHDA would not have increased our understanding of smoking patterns in Sweden. When the study population is small in comparison to the number of intersectional strata, the problem of empty or small strata may arise. In such situations, the MAIHDA approach is advantageous due to the use of shrunken residuals, as explained in the methodology section.

## Implications and future research

## Materialistic and psychosocial approaches

Without claiming that study I should be interpreted as definitive evidence that the materialistic perspective is the only relevant theory when it comes to understanding COPD risk, our results indicate that it merits more attention than the psychosocial approach. I will therefore shortly outline the different implications of the two approaches, both for COPD specifically and for the general strive for equity in health. It is important to underscore that regardless of whether socioeconomic health disparities are mediated through psychosocial or materialistic pathways, both approaches concord in the view that more equitable resource distribution is necessary to reduce socioeconomic health disparities. Contrary to this, there are widening income and wealth disparities in Sweden. The gap in disposable annual income between people at the 5<sup>th</sup> and 95<sup>th</sup> percentiles increased by 82,000 SEK between 2011 and 2017 (Folkhälsomyndigheten, 2020a). The wealth gap also increases in Sweden (Piketty, 2015).

The concept of status originates in Weberian research and was further developed by Giddens. It is based on a subjective perception of an individual's location in society rather than an objective one (Humber, 2019). Hence, if the causes of health inequalities are subjective it will be attractive to find solutions that alter this subjective perception of inequalities. Research to find healthy responses to financial strain constitutes one such example (Perzow et al., 2018). Although most proponents of the psychosocial explanation model do not propose subjective solutions, the risk of such conclusions is inherent to the psychosocial theory of the genesis of health inequilities itself. As a contrast to this, an SDH approach directs attention to the material and objective roots of health disparities. This approach was

first proposed in the Black Report on inequalities in health in the U.K. (that found the steepest class gradients in mortality among respiratory diseases) (Black et al., 1980), and was then developed by Dahlgren and Whitehead (1991) in the rainbow model explained above (see Figure 1). This model presents four layers into which SDH can be divided. Each layer requires different levels of interventions. In the original report, Dahlgren and Whitehead exemplify how the goal of reducing overall smoking rates can be achieved through simultaneous interventions at level 1 (structural changes such as increased tobacco taxes), level 2 (bans on cigarette advertisement, smoke-free spaces), level 3 (communities joining together to avoid sales of tobacco to children in local shops) and level 4 (education to the general public of the dangers of smoking). While many of these interventions have been performed in Sweden and have contributed to a continuous reduction in smoking prevalence (Sohlberg, 2019), inequities in smoking remain, as seen in study IV. A recent review conclude that there is evidence that financial incentives for smoking cessation is effective even at prolonged follow-up (Notley et al., 2019). While such incentives can be presumed to be stronger among people with low SEP and the intervention aligns with the materialistic approach, the review did not evaluate the effect on socioeconomic disparities in smoking of campaigns with financial incentives.

In Sweden, the Public Health Agency has listed eight areas of strategic priority to reach the goal of closing the gap in preventable disease in one generation. These align with the SDH approach and include early life circumstances, education and competence, work life, income, housing, lifestyle factors, control and participation. and equitable and health promoting health care (Folkhälsomyndigheten, 2020b). Although the direction set forth through these prioritised areas of intervention has the potential to reduce socioeconomic health inequalities, the development of many of them are unsatisfying. As mentioned above, income and wealth disparities are widening. Unfortunate trends of increasing inequalities rather than gaps being closed are also occurring for lifestyle factors (as exemplified in study IV), housing conditions and housing segregation (Lilja and Pemer, 2010) and long-term unemployment (Folkhälsomyndigheten, 2020c), whereas for educational achievement social inequalities are stable (Bjorklund et al., 2003).

Building on Wright's operationalisation of social class, McCartney et al. (2019) have recently presented an integrated model for deepening the understanding of how different class processes contribute to health inequalities. Urging researchers to include theoretical hypotheses of how social class conditions health, the model includes both individual attributes aligning with Bourdieus' class concepts, a phenomenon denominated 'opportunity hoarding' that resembles Weberian ideas of class definition based on similar opportunities, and relational processes of exploitation and domination most closely related to Marxism. The model further includes an intersectional perspective since it considers the interaction with discrimination based on gender, race and sexual identity and other social

dimensions, as well as the specific importance of early life experiences. The role of health behaviours is also included in the model. The authors admit that datasets seldom allow assessment of all class processes that contribute to health inequalities. This model puts focus on processes of domination and is a promising tool that can help researchers identifying and contextualising which specific process that is being investigated and could be useful for future social epidemiologic studies of COPD.

#### Implications of moderate DA for income

Although individual income conditions the risk of developing COPD, no recommendations have been formulated for how the health care system should tackle this risk factor. Screening interventions in socioeconomically deprived areas have been proposed (Dirven et al., 2013, Pleasants et al., 2016) and constitute a logical response to the disparities in COPD incidence. However, since the DA for the absolute income model in our study was only 0.63 for women and 0.65 for men, clinical interventions exclusively directed to specific income strata are not justified by our data. Rather, as outlined above, preventive and universal measures aiming to improve equal distribution of the SDH should be the focus, since this may benefit other aspects of population health as well. The finding of a moderate DA in this unidimensional analysis motivated exploration of the intersectional approaches adopted in study II and IV.

#### Health policies guided by intersectional research

Although the ICC of 20% in study II shows that substantial heterogeneity remains unexplained, the DA of the intersectional model is sufficiently large to support the categorical standpoint that health care interventions aiming at reducing disparities in COPD incidence should be guided by the intersectional mapping presented in study II. If a similar ICC would have been found for any unidimensional model (i.e. based on gender, age, SEP, civil status or migration status alone), interventions targeting vulnerable groups according to a unidimensional analysis would be more feasible, since it is easier to design interventions in groups defined by a single social axis.

Important insights emerge from the intersectional modelling of smoking and COPD. For example, high level of education is known to be a protective factor when it comes to both COPD and smoking. Yet, older immigrant men with low income who lived alone had the fifth highest risk of COPD of the 96 strata despite their high education. For smoking, high education failed to protect young immigrant women who lived alone from smoking, since they displayed the tenth highest smoking rates of the 72 strata. One potential explanation is that education status constitutes a poorer indicator of SEP among some immigrant groups due to discrimination in the labour market (Carlsson and Rooth, 2007). This finding can also reflect maintained

smoking patterns from countries of birth (Lindstrom and Sundquist, 2002). Findings from study I and other unidimensional studies indicate that low income is a risk factor for COPD. Despite this, young men with high education who were born in Sweden and cohabited belonged to the three strata with lowest predicted incidence regardless of whether their income was high (predicted incidence =0.02%, 95% CI 0.01%–0.04%), medium (predicted incidence =0.03% 95% CI 0.02%–0.04%) or low (predicted incidence =0.03%, 95% CI: 0.02%–0.05%). This indicates that with sufficient protecting factors, exposure to low income is not as hazardous as it is for individuals lacking those protective factors. In addition to this, our results from study II and IV indicate that civil status/household composition is a variable that merits more attention since it is an important part of the intersectional matrix when studying both risk of COPD and smoking.

Several questions remain unanswered regarding how to perform health care interventions informed by studies applying intersectional MAIHDA or AIHDA. First, multi-categorical approaches including socioeconomic, demographic and individual-level risk factors as well as clinical variables should be explored to further increase our understanding of groups with increased risk of smoking/COPD where targeted interventions could be motivated. Older individuals with low income who live alone comprised most of the strata with the highest COPD risk, with similar prevalence pertaining to both genders and immigrants as well as natives. For smoking, all three strata with the highest risk of smoking included immigrant men younger than 65 years with low education. The immediate risk factors that drive increased risk of COPD and smoking in these strata should be further explored.

Second, there is poor evidence that currently adopted approaches to reduce socioeconomic disparities in individual level determinants of health are efficient (Vilhelmsson and Ostergren, 2018). Qualitative methods could be utilised to identify and develop interventions with support from members of groups with a high risk of COPD and smoking according to quantitative intersectional analyses. One aim should be to further the understanding of how the different dimensions of power operate, including exploration of the specific causal mechanisms that cause intersectional disparities in COPD and smoking. Such studies should preferably involve members of those groups and have a clear focus on generating knowledge that can guide implementations, such as the community-based participatory research approach (Andrews et al., 2012).

Third, quantitative intersectional research should be further developed to present a solution to the question of which strata should be considered at risk for the studied outcome, i.e. in which strata could the interventions be recommended. Such discernment could be based on pre-defined cut-off values for average risk in the presence of sufficient DA, but other methods including likelihood-ratios (Rodriguez-Lopez et al., 2017) could also be explored.
The intersectional approach should not be conceptualised as a study of the intensity of the oppression at the different social axes. Rather, it is a way to let theories of social dynamics guide the study of which social factors that have an implication for the incidence of COPD and the prevalence of smoking.

# Maintenance medication for COPD patients

According to the framework presented in study III, Table 2, there is a need to improve continuity in maintenance medication among COPD patients, as the country average was 18.4% – which is above the proposed threshold level of 10% as an acceptable level of discontinuation. In one study, primary health care staff reported that COPD patients constitute a low priority patient group. Compared to other common chronic diseases such as diabetes, it is less frequent, with specific teams responsible for COPD health care at PHC (Lundell et al., 2017). This may contribute to the high over-all prevalence of discontinuation and constitutes an argument for a standardised and cohesive care for COPD patients, as discussed below.

While county of residence has no or very small influence on discontinuation rates, sociodemographic categorisations based on age, income and gender is more relevant for assessing risk of discontinuation but still explain only a small proportion of the variance in propensity to discontinue COPD medication. Thus, universal interventions that are proportionately more intense among the sociodemographic strata with highest prevalence should be implemented. The introduction of a standardised care process for COPD patients that was initiated in 2019 is supported by the findings in study III. The aim of this standardised process is to identify COPD patients earlier, improve equity in health care and improve adherence. The process should be initiated when a patient has symptoms of COPD or if a patient has been exposed to risk factors for COPD. Through rapid investigation and establishment of a written treatment plan for both pharmacological and non-pharmacological therapies as well as a contract describing the divided responsibility between the patient and the health care provider, all patients should be ensured care according to national and international guidelines (Nationellt system för kunskapsstyrning, 2020). While there is a plan to follow-up several health care quality indicators, including both outcome and process indicators, no cut-off for the proportion of patients that should be on maintenance medication is proposed. It has been stressed that one of the main reasons for the standardised and cohesive care is to "ensure accessible and equitable care for all patients, regardless of where in the country they reside" (Nationellt system för kunskapsstyrning, 2020). However, socioeconomic equity is not explicitly mentioned and there is no plan for how an evaluation of how socioeconomic equity in COPD care should be performed, since SEP is not registered in the SNAR, which will serve as the principal tool for evaluation. Our data implies that more focus should be dedicated to equity between sociodemographic groups rather than between counties, since the VPC for the

sociodemographic groups was much higher than for counties when it comes to discontinuation to maintenance medication.

The cross-classified MAIHDA is a suitable tool when it comes to evaluating equity in health care, and makes it easy to compare the relevance of different contexts. Future studies should explore equity in non-pharmacological treatment and prognosis and compare patients with similar COPD stage.

# Swedish National Airway Register

In 2009, the first version of the SNAR was launched. The target population of SNAR corresponds to all patients with either a diagnosis of COPD, asthma or of asthma-COPD overlap syndrome. In 2019, 80,372 unique patients with COPD were included in the register (Stridsman et al., 2020). Based on prevalence studies, it is estimated that 85% of individuals with moderate to severe COPD are present in the register (Hesselmar et al., 2019). Until 2013, all data in the register was reported manually by health care professionals and administrators. A key factor for the rapid increase in the number of patients in the register. In recent years, several papers using data from SNAR (Henoch et al., 2019, Henoch et al., 2016b, Henoch et al., 2016a, Sundh and Ekstrom, 2017, Henoch et al., 2018), have provided insight into the quality and equity of Swedish health care for airway diseases.

The register has several purposes, including monitoring health care quality, facilitating evidence-based and equitable health care and to provide data for research. One way of contributing to an improved care is by facilitating the reporting units' quality development and offering a possibility to identify groups of patients with needs for special interventions (Stridsman et al., 2020). From now on, SNAR will also be used for follow-up of the standardised cohesive care for COPD patients.

Initially, the plan for this thesis was to incorporate a study focusing on socioeconomic disparities in treatment and prognosis among COPD patients utilising data from SNAR. A database to perform such studies was constructed, including data from SNAR, socioeconomic and demographic data from Statistics Sweden and information on prescriptions and medical conditions from the National Board of Health and Welfare. Since the quality of some of the variables from SNAR that should be included in that study was not guaranteed, I participated in a pilot study evaluating the validity of some key variables in SNAR through comparison of register data with data from the medical records, this project is still ongoing (Axelsson Fisk et al., 2021a).

Together with other researchers, I argue that socioeconomic variables should be included in SNAR and other patient quality registers in order to enable continuous surveillance of equity in health care (Axelsson Fisk et al., 2021b). Today, there is no way for a clinic or region to detect how well they manage to deliver equitable

COPD care. If socioeconomic variables, for example educational achievement, civil status and country of birth, were included in the registers, health care staff could easily realise if they fail to deliver care according to guidelines for specific socioeconomic strata. In that way, efficacy of health care can also be improved. The question of registering socioeconomic variables in patient quality registers was discussed at a meeting arranged by the Network for Law and National Quality Registers which I attended. It was concluded that no legal obstacles exist as long as the registered variables have a relevance for the quality of care (Nymark, 2020).

For asthma patients in Sweden gender disparities in treatment have been detected through SNAR (Stridsman et al., 2020). The further benefits of incorporating socioeconomic variables in a patient quality register are exemplified by studies based on data from the National Quality Register for better management of patients with osteoarthritis. This register includes information on educational achievement, country of birth and status in the labour market. Utilising this register, Unevik et al. (2020) showed that several outcomes among rheumatoid patients are better for native people with higher educational status.

SNAR is a powerful tool that has the potential to offer new insights into the socioeconomic inequities in COPD health care. Studies on socioeconomic disparities in prognosis could motivate or rule out the efficacy of different follow-up for different socioeconomic strata. The cross-classified MAIHDA focused on discontinuation could be repeated with stratification for disease stage. Further, non-pharmacological treatments and diagnostic interventions could be investigated.

# Towards pulmonary health equity

Limited research exists on which interventions are efficient when it comes to reducing socioeconomic disparities in COPD morbidity. In an article titled "Defining and targeting health disparities in COPD", Pleasants et al. (2016) discuss strategies to reduce COPD health disparities. They list three broad principles that should be adopted: 1) include all stakeholders in development and implementation; 2) adapt interventions to unique barriers and facilitators of different groups; and 3) target all levels in the socioecological framework, from individual, interpersonal to organizational, community and public policy. Subsequently, the authors turn their focus to individual-level interventions and interventions in the local setting. The suggestions they offer are screening of high-risk populations; educational efforts in high-risk populations regarding hazardous effects of biomass smoke and tobacco; providing alternatives to indoor biomass cooking; identifying cost-effective health strategies in vulnerable populations; and identifying strategies to reduce costs of medication. Other researchers have called for governing bodies to create a standardised method to include SEP in the prognostic calculations of people with respiratory diseases and to account for SEP in the clinical management of patients with respiratory diseases (Sahni et al., 2017).

The principal strategies to promote equitable airway health emanating from this PhD project can be summarised into three categories.

## Future research

In my view, the two principal research challenges that should be prioritised to advance towards equitable COPD health care are the designation of efficient preventive interventions informed by AIHDA/MAIHDA, and studies on socioeconomic disparities in clinical management and prognosis of COPD patients accounting for disease stage of the patient. In addition to this, future research on social epidemiology of COPD should report DA of different socioeconomic categorisations to better inform any health policy decisions and intersectional models should be considered, due to the heterogeneity within unidimensional socioeconomic categories regarding risk of both COPD and smoking.

## Targeting social determinants of health at all levels

Whereas continuous education about risk factors for COPD and general health information is necessary, the current trend with disproportionate focus on individual interventions (level 4 in Dahlgren and Whiteheads' scheme) is insufficient if intersectional disparities in COPD should be eliminated. First, policy changes targeting economic and environmental conditions in order to increase economic equality and healthy living environments for all are needed (level 1). Second, education systems, housing conditions and working conditions should develop in a direction favouring equal health. Specifically, such interventions should involve people with low SEP, people living alone and people born outside Sweden. Availability of health care must be prioritised for disadvantaged population strata instead of the current trend of rapid access to health care for people with private health care insurance (level 2). Third, political institutions in conjunction with members of communities should engage in raising awareness of risk factors for COPD and early signs of the disease in order to reduce both the prevalence and the problem of underdiagnosis (level 3).

## Standardised care as an intervention aligning with proportionate universalism

The standardised and cohesive care for COPD patients that is already taking place is a universal intervention that also has the potential to reduce and even eliminate socioeconomic disparities in COPD health care (Tottenborg et al., 2017). As indicated in study III, inequities between sociodemographic groups should be given more attention than county disparities. In order to achieve and document this, the inclusion of socioeconomic disparities as one quality indicator of care should be adopted both for health care units and as a way of evaluating quality of COPD health care nationally. The low VPC found for both counties and sociodemographic strata suggests that other areas than pharmacological maintenance medication should be prioritised to reduce socioeconomic inequities.

# Sammanfattning på svenska

Kroniskt Obstruktiv Lungsjukdom (KOL) är en folksjukdom som upp till en halv miljon människor i Sverige beräknas lida av. Sjukdomar som drabbar lungor och luftvägar följer det generella mönstret att personer med låg socioekonomisk position har en högre risk att insjukna än människor med högre socioekonomisk position, men dessa skillnader är särskilt uttalade för KOL. Medan många studier har genomförts som har visat på dessa sociala skillnader i KOL-sjuklighet har förhållandevis lite forskning ägnats åt att utvärdera relevansen av olika förklaringsmodeller för uppkomsten av den ojämlika KOL-sjukligheten. Ett av syftena med denna avhandling är att inkludera sociala teorier i studiet av hur KOLsjukligheten fördelas i befolkningen.

Ett annat fokus för denna avhandling är att tillämpa statistiska metoder som inte enbart fokuserar på genomsnittliga skillnader mellan socioekonomiska grupper. Detta är viktigt eftersom de genomsnittliga skillnader mellan grupper som oftast rapporteras när ojämlikhet i hälsa studeras inte säger någonting om hur storleken på skillnaderna mellan grupperna förhåller sig till storleken på skillnaderna inom grupperna. Anta att en grupp med låg social position har tre gånger så hög risk för KOL som en grupp med hög social position. I ett scenario kan alla personer med låg social position ha en hög risk för KOL och alla personer med hög social position ha en låg risk för KOL, då är skillnaden mellan grupperna större än skillnaderna inom grupperna och social position har hög prediktiv träffsäkerhet (engelska: discriminatory accuracy, DA). I ett annat scenario kan risken för KOL istället vara mycket varierande inom grupperna med låg och hög social position, och överlappningen i risk mellan grupperna därmed bli stor. Då är DA låg. I denna avhandling används svenska registerdata och data från folkhälsoenkäten för att genom beräkning av DA utvärdera olika sociala kontexters betydelse för insjuknande i KOL, risk för avbruten underhållsbehandling samt förekomsten av rökning i samhället.

I studie I användes en ny metod för att jämföra betydelsen för KOL-risk av psykosociala respektive materiella aspekter av att ha en låg inkomst. Absolut inkomst antas påverka risken för KOL genom att den avgör tillgången till materiella resurser som har betydelse för hälsan, exempelvis bostad, utbildning, hälsosamma fritidsaktiviteter och sjukvård. Relativ inkomst, det vill säga hur mycket man tjänar jämfört med personer som lever under likartade materiella förutsättningar, antas verka genom psykosocial jämförelse med personer i omgivningen. Vi fann att KOL- risken var drygt tre gånger högre för personer med låg absolut inkomst jämfört med höginkomsttagare men att relativ inkomst saknade betydelse. DA var låg för relativ inkomst och medelhög för absolut inkomst, vilket tyder på att andra saker än inkomst också behöver beaktas för att förstå KOL-sjuklighetens spridning.

Studie II är en intersektionell analys av risken för insjuknande i KOL som tillämpar en innovativ flernivåmetod. Utifrån ett intersektionellt perspektiv hänger olika sociala kategorier samman på ett komplext sätt, vilket gör att man inte kan isolera effekterna av till exempel kön, klass, ursprungsland eller civilstånd från varandra eftersom de interagerar. Denna intersektionella interaktion är komplicerad att ta hänsyn till statistiskt när flera sociala dimensioner samtidigt beaktas men den metod som här används visar lovande resultat. Vi fann att 20% av KOL-sjukligheten förklarades av en intersektionell modell bestående av grupperingar baserade på ålder, kön, inkomst, utbildning, civilstånd och härkomst. Skillnaden i risk kunde tillskrivas den adderade effekten på KOL-risk av de enskilda kategorierna som definierade den intersektionella modellen. Intersektionell interaktion mellan de olika sociala dimensionerna bidrog i liten utsträckning till skillnader i risk.

I studie III studeras jämlikhet i sjukvård genom att undersöka förekomsten av avbruten underhållsbehandling bland KOL-patienter. Genom en flernivåmetod undersöktes betydelsen av geografisk kontext (vilket landsting en patient är skriven i) och en sociodemografisk gruppering baserad på ålder, kön och inkomst för att beräkna risken för en patient att inte använda underhållsmedicinering under ett helt år. Studien presenterar också en modell för hur folkhälsointerventioner kan designas utifrån resultat från denna flernivåanalys. Vi fann att var femte KOL-patient avbröt sin underhållsbehandling, vilket är klart högre än önskvärt. Vilket landsting en patient bor i saknar betydelse, den sociodemografiska grupperingen är mycket mer relevant men har ändå en liten betydelse för risken att avbryta behandling. Sammantaget finns problematiskt hög förekomst av avbruten en underhållsbehandling men såväl geografiska som sociodemografiska ojämlikheter är små.

Studie IV är en intersektionell analys av förekomsten av rökning bland personer som är 35 till 80 år gamla och bor i Sverige. En lättillgänglig statistisk metod användes som delar flera fördelar med flernivåmetoden i studie II. Lägst risk för rökning fann vi bland äldre kvinnor med hög utbildning som bodde med någon annan vuxen och var födda i Sverige. Vi fann högst risk för rökning bland unga män med låg utbildning som var ensamstående och var födda utanför Sverige, risken i denna grupp var nio gånger högre än i gruppen med lägst risk. Den intersektionella modellen hade en medelhög DA.

Även om metoden i studie I inte styrker någon definitiv slutsats antyder resultaten att materiella aspekter är viktigare än psykosociala för risken att insjukna i KOL. Kunskap om enbart inkomst är otillräckligt för att förutsäga risken för KOL hos en individ. De sociala skillnaderna i KOL-sjuklighet och rökning framträder tydligare med ett intersektionellt perspektiv. Sociodemografisk information och landstingstillhörighet förklarar endast en liten respektive mycket liten del av en enskild KOL-patients risk att avbryta underhållsbehandling. Den sociodemografiska grupptillhörigheten är klart mer relevant än information om vilket landsting en patient bor i.

Denna avhandling inkluderar sociala teorier i studiet av hur förekomsten av KOL är fördelad i samhället. Avhandlingen bidrar till utveckling av nya metoder för utvärdering av (o)jämlikhet i KOL-sjuklighet, avbruten underhållsbehandling och rökning. När genomsnittliga socioekonomiska skillnader existerar men DA är låg är insatser riktade till hela befolkningen som syftar till att förbättra hälsans sociala bestämningsfaktorer motiverade. Ju högre DA är, desto mer motiverat är det att kombinera de universella insatserna med interventioner som är mer intensiva bland grupper med förhöjd risk för rökning, KOL eller avbruten behandling. Vidare forskning krävs för att ta fram effektiva åtgärder för att minska intersektionella skillnader i KOL-sjuklighet.

# Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I thank Juan, my main supervisor. You have taught me to interpret average associations with caution and to pay attention to variance within and between groups, and that is possibly the most important lesson from this PhD project – thank you for that. Throughout this project, you have constantly offered your time and been generous with sharing your deep knowledge, experience and clear understanding of epidemiological concepts. That has meant a lot to me. Thank you for patience when I have been impatient and for in the first place convincing me to enter the PhD programme. I am grateful that you have encouraged me to combine the scientific evaluation of equity in health with a political striving for the same goal. Without that support I am not sure I would have considered academia as a place for me.

I also want to thank my three deputy supervisors. Shai, thank you for your always very clear perspectives on texts, scientific problems and for being my sociological go-to person. Thanks also for being a role model for how to combine scientific activities with other things that are important in life, such as family and politics. You have helped me feel comfortable as a PhD student. Ann, thank you for opening the doors to the Swedish National Airway Register and expert advice in pulmonology. Because of you, a part of me will always wish to become a pulmonologist opening up hospitals where health care needs are greatest. Peter, I will not forget how during my first year as a medical student you explained that physicians have an obligation to dedicate their time to understanding *how* social injustice is translated into our bodies, or more specifically how social class can turn into stiffer blood vessels. Although focusing on peripheral airways rather than arteries, this is what this thesis is about.

Raquel, I owe incredibly much to you. Thank you for first helping me learn the procedures and concepts of statistical analyses, for discussions on how social phenomena should be statistically expressed and for help performing analyses entirely when my time has been scarce. Maria, you have served as a co-supervisor and academic big sister. Thanks for that. Kani, you impressed me from the first week you were at the office. The collaboration with you made the somewhat lengthy process of publishing paper III enjoyable. Sofia, comrade in academia and politics, you are an inspiring person and sharing the everyday burdens and joys as a PhD student with you has made these years so much better. I hope our discussions will continue.

Research on health equity is at its best a compass indicating possible directions for politics to improve health equity. I thank all the people who spend their time struggling for political decisions going in that direction – those efforts are the force propelling real progress. Specifically, I thank all those that I have met in Socialistiska läkare, Socialistiska vårdarbetare, and other networks for their struggle to defend and develop equitable public health care.

Mum, thanks for help with proof-reading, interest in my research and constant belief in my capacities. Hedda, Svante and coming child, thank you for letting me do this and your reasonably reluctant generosity with time -I love you.

# References

- ADELOYE, D., CHUA, S., LEE, C., BASQUILL, C., PAPANA, A., THEODORATOU, E., NAIR, H., GASEVIC, D., SRIDHAR, D., CAMPBELL, H., CHAN, K. Y., SHEIKH, A., RUDAN, I. & GLOBAL HEALTH EPIDEMIOLOGY REFERENCE, G. 2015. Global and regional estimates of COPD prevalence: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of global health*, 5, 020415-020415.
- AHERN, J., GALEA, S., HUBBARD, A. & SYME, S. L. 2009. Neighborhood smoking norms modify the relation between collective efficacy and smoking behavior. *Drug and Alcohol Dependence*, 100, 138-145.
- ALBIN, B., HJELM, K., EKBERG, J. & ELMSTÅHL, S. 2005. Mortality among 723 948 foreign- and native-born Swedes 1970–1999. *European Journal of Public Health*, 15, 511-517.
- ALI, S. M., CHAIX, B., MERLO, J., ROSVALL, M., WAMALA, S. & LINDSTRÖM, M. 2009. Gender differences in daily smoking prevalence in different age strata: A population-based study in southern Sweden. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, 37, 146-152.
- ALONGE, O. & PETERS, D. H. 2015. Utility and limitations of measures of health inequities: a theoretical perspective. *Glob Health Action*, 8, 27591.
- ALWAN, A. 2011. *Global status report on noncommunicable diseases 2010*, World Health Organization.
- AMALAKUHAN, B., KILJANEK, L., PARVATHANENI, A., HESTER, M., CHERIYATH, P. & FISCHMAN, D. 2012. A prediction model for COPD readmissions: catching up, catching our breath, and improving a national problem. *Journal of Community Hospital Internal Medicine Perspectives*, 2, 9915.
- ANDREWS, J. O., NEWMAN, S. D., HEATH, J., WILLIAMS, L. B. & TINGEN, M. S. 2012. Community-based participatory research and smoking cessation interventions: a review of the evidence. *Nursing Clinics*, 47, 81-96.
- ANTHONISEN, N. R., SKEANS, M. A., WISE, R. A., MANFREDA, J., KANNER, R. E. & CONNETT, J. E. 2005. The effects of a smoking cessation intervention on 14.5year mortality: a randomized clinical trial. *Ann Intern Med*, 142, 233-9.
- AUSTIN, P. C. 2011. An Introduction to Propensity Score Methods for Reducing the Effects of Confounding in Observational Studies. *Multivariate behavioral research*, 46, 399-424.
- AXELSSON FISK, S., SJÖÖ, Y., FJÄLLMAN SCHÄRBERG, K., NYBERG, F., EKBERG JANSSON, A. & STRIDSMAN, C. 2021a. Evaluation of internal validity of data in Swedish National Airway Register. Working paper.

- AXELSSON FISK, S., EKBERG JANSSON, A., STRIDSMAN, C. & MERLO, J. 2021b. Socioekonomiska riskfaktorer bör beaktas i kvalitetsregister. *Läkartidningen*, 6-7/2021.
- AXELSSON, M., EKERLJUNG, L., ERIKSSON, J., HAGSTAD, S., RONMARK, E., LOTVALL, J. & LUNDBACK, B. 2016. Chronic bronchitis in West Sweden - a matter of smoking and social class. *Eur Clin Respir J*, 3, 30319.
- AXELSSON, M., BACKMAN, H., VANFLETEREN, L., STRIDSMAN, C., EKERLJUNG, L., ERIKSSON, B., NWARU, B., RÖNMARK, E., KANKAANRANTA, H., LINDBERG, A. & LUNDBÄCK, B. 2020. Underdiagnosis and misclassification of COPD in Sweden. *European Respiratory Journal*, 56, 1395.
- BACKMAN, H., VANFLETEREN, L., LINDBERG, A., EKERLJUNG, L.,
  STRIDSMAN, C., AXELSSON, M., NILSSON, U., NWARU, B. I., SAWALHA,
  S., ERIKSSON, B., HEDMAN, L., RÅDINGER, M., JANSSON, S.-A., ULLMAN,
  A., KANKAANRANTA, H., LÖTVALL, J., RÖNMARK, E. & LUNDBÄCK, B.
  2020. Decreased COPD prevalence in Sweden after decades of decrease in smoking. *Respiratory Research*, 21, 283.
- BARBEAU, E. M., LEAVY-SPEROUNIS, A. & BALBACH, E. D. 2004. Smoking, social class, and gender: what can public health learn from the tobacco industry about disparities in smoking? *Tobacco Control*, 13, 115.
- BARBEAU, E. M., WOLIN, K. Y., NAUMOVA, E. N. & BALBACH, E. 2005. Tobacco advertising in communities: associations with race and class. *Preventive Medicine*, 40, 16-22.
- BAUER, G. R. 2014. Incorporating intersectionality theory into population health research methodology: challenges and the potential to advance health equity. *Soc Sci Med*, 110, 10-7.
- BERWICK, D. M. 2020. The Moral Determinants of Health. JAMA, 324, 225-226.
- BETSON, D. M. & WARLICK, J. L. 2017. Measuring poverty. *Methods in Social Epidemiology. Second Edition. San Francisco: Jossey-Bass.*
- BIHAGEN, E. & NERMO, M. 2018. Social stratifiering och social klass. 37-44.
- BIND, M. C. & RUBIN, D. B. 2019. Bridging observational studies and randomized experiments by embedding the former in the latter. *Stat Methods Med Res*, 28, 1958-1978.
- BJORKLUND, A., LINDAHL, M. & SUND, K. 2003. Family background and school performance during a turbulent era of school reforms. *Swedish Economic Policy Review*, 10, 111-136.
- BLACK, D., MORRIS, J., SMITH, C., TOWNSEND, P., DAVIDSON, N. & WHITEHEAD, M. 1980. The black report: inequalities in health. *London: DHSS*.
- BLANC, P. D., ANNESI-MAESANO, I., BALMES, J. R., CUMMINGS, K. J., FISHWICK, D., MIEDINGER, D., MURGIA, N., NAIDOO, R. N., REYNOLDS, C. J., SIGSGAARD, T., TOREN, K., VINNIKOV, D. & REDLICH, C. A. 2019. The Occupational Burden of Nonmalignant Respiratory Diseases. An Official American Thoracic Society and European Respiratory Society Statement. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 199, 1312-1334.

- BLANC, P. D., MENEZES, A. M. B., PLANA, E., MANNINO, D. M., HALLAL, P. C., TOREN, K., EISNER, M. D. & ZOCK, J.-P. 2009. Occupational exposures and COPD: an ecological analysis of international data. *European Respiratory Journal*, 33, 298-304.
- BLANC, P. D. & TOREN, K. 2007. Occupation in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and chronic bronchitis: an update. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis*, 11, 251-7.
- BOBAK, M., JARVIS, M. J., SKODOVA, Z. & MARMOT, M. 2000. Smoke intake among smokers is higher in lower socioeconomic groups. *Tobacco Control*, 9, 310.
- BORNÉ, Y., ASHRAF, W., ZAIGHAM, S. & FRANTZ, S. 2019. Socioeconomic circumstances and incidence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) in an urban population in Sweden. COPD: Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, 16, 51-57.
- BOTTERO, W. 2005. Stratification: Social division and inequality, Psychology Press.
- BOWLEG, L. 2008. When Black plus Lesbian plus Woman not equal Black Lesbian Woman: The methodological challenges of qualitative and quantitative intersectionality research. *Sex Roles*, 59, 312-325.
- BRADBY, H., THAPAR-BJÖRKERT, S., HAMED, S. & AHLBERG, B. M. 2019. Undoing the unspeakable: researching racism in Swedish healthcare using a participatory process to build dialogue. *Health Research Policy and Systems*, 17, 43.
- BREEN, M., NWANAJI-ENWEREM, J. C., KARRASCH, S., FLEXEDER, C., SCHULZ, H., WALDENBERGER, M., KUNZE, S., OLLERT, M., WEIDINGER, S., COLICINO, E., GAO, X., WANG, C., SHEN, J., JUST, A. C., VOKONAS, P., SPARROW, D., HOU, L., SCHWARTZ, J. D., BACCARELLI, A. A., PETERS, A. & WARD-CAVINESS, C. K. 2020. Accelerated epigenetic aging as a risk factor for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and decreased lung function in two prospective cohort studies. *Aging*, 12, 16539-16554.
- BROOKE, H. L., TALBÄCK, M., HÖRNBLAD, J., JOHANSSON, L. A., LUDVIGSSON, J. F., DRUID, H., FEYCHTING, M. & LJUNG, R. 2017. The Swedish cause of death register. *European journal of epidemiology*, 32, 765-773.
- BROSTROM, E. B., AKRE, O., KATZ-SALAMON, M., JARAJ, D. & KAIJSER, M. 2013. Obstructive pulmonary disease in old age among individuals born preterm. *Eur J Epidemiol*, 28, 79-85.
- BURSTROM, B., BURSTROM, K., NILSSON, G., TOMSON, G., WHITEHEAD, M. & WINBLAD, U. 2017. Equity aspects of the Primary Health Care Choice Reform in Sweden - a scoping review. *Int J Equity Health*, 16, 29.
- BURSTRÖM, B. 2009. Market-Oriented, Demand-Driven Health Care Reforms and Equity in Health and Health Care Utilization in Sweden. *International Journal of Health Services*, 39, 271-285.
- CARLSSON, M. & ROOTH, D.-O. 2007. Evidence of ethnic discrimination in the Swedish labor market using experimental data. *Labour Economics*, 14, 716-729.
- CERDÁ, M. & KEYES, K. M. 2017. Longitudinal approaches to social epidemiologic research. *Methods in Social Epidemiology*.

- CHAIX, B., GUSTAFSSON, S., JERRETT, M., KRISTERSSON, H., LITHMAN, T., BOALT, A. & MERLO, J. 2006. Children's exposure to nitrogen dioxide in Sweden: investigating environmental injustice in an egalitarian country. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 60, 234-41.
- CHO, K. H., NAM, C. M., LEE, E. J., CHOI, Y., YOO, K. B., LEE, S. H. & PARK, E. C. 2016. Effects of individual and neighborhood socioeconomic status on the risk of allcause mortality in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: A nationwide populationbased cohort study, 2002-2013. *Respir Med*, 114, 9-17.
- CICCHETTI, D. V. 1994. Guidelines, criteria, and rules of thumb for evaluating normed and standardized assessment instruments in psychology. *Psychological assessment*, 6, 284.
- CRENSHAW, K. 1989. Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: A black feminist critique of antidiscrimination doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. U. Chi. Legal F., 139.
- DAHLGREN, G. 1995. Determinants of health. <u>https://www.healthknowledge.org.uk/public-health-textbook/medical-sociology-policy-economics/4c-equality-equity-policy/inequalities-distribution.</u>
- DAHLGREN, G. & WHITEHEAD, M. 1991. Policies and strategies to promote social equity in health. Background document to WHO-Strategy paper for Europe. <u>http://repositori.uji.es/xmlui/bitstream/handle/10234/187797/GoeranD\_Policies%20a nd%20strategies%20to%20promote%20social%20equity%20in%20health.pdf?seque nce=1: Institute for Futures Studies.</u>
- DANIELSSON, P., OLAFSDOTTIR, I. S., BENEDIKTSDOTTIR, B., GISLASON, T. & JANSON, C. 2012. The prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Uppsala, Sweden--the Burden of Obstructive Lung Disease (BOLD) study: crosssectional population-based study. *Clin Respir J*, 6, 120-7.
- DIDERICHSEN, F., ANDERSEN, I., MANUEL, C., HEALTH, W. G. O. T. D. R. O. S. D. O., ANDERSEN, A.-M. N., BACH, E., BAADSGAARD, M., BRØNNUM-HANSEN, H., HANSEN, F. K. & JEUNE, B. 2012. Health Inequality-determinants and policies. *Scandinavian journal of public health*, 40, 12-105.
- DIRVEN, J. A., TANGE, H. J., MURIS, J. W., VAN HAAREN, K. M., VINK, G. & VAN SCHAYCK, O. C. 2013. Early detection of COPD in general practice: patient or practice managed? A randomised controlled trial of two strategies in different socioeconomic environments. *Prim Care Respir J*, 22, 331-7.
- DOWD, J. B., ZAJACOVA, A. & AIELLO, A. 2009. Early origins of health disparities: burden of infection, health, and socioeconomic status in U.S. children. *Soc Sci Med*, 68, 699-707.
- EEK, F., OSTERGREN, P.-O., DIDERICHSEN, F., RASMUSSEN, N. K., ANDERSEN, I., MOUSSA, K. & GRAHN, M. 2010. Differences in socioeconomic and gender inequalities in tobacco smoking in Denmark and Sweden; a cross sectional comparison of the equity effect of different public health policies. *BMC public health*, 10, 9-9.

- EISNER, M. D., BLANC, P. D., OMACHI, T. A., YELIN, E. H., SIDNEY, S., KATZ, P. P., ACKERSON, L. M., SANCHEZ, G., TOLSTYKH, I. & IRIBARREN, C. 2010. Socioeconomic status, race and COPD health outcomes. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*.
- ELSTAD, J. I. & PEDERSEN, A. W. 2012. The impact of relative poverty on Norwegian adolescents' subjective health: a causal analysis with propensity score matching. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, 9, 4715-4731.
- EVANS, C. R. & ERICKSON, N. 2019. Intersectionality and depression in adolescence and early adulthood: A MAIHDA analysis of the national longitudinal study of adolescent to adult health, 1995-2008. *Soc Sci Med*, 220, 1-11.
- EVANS, C. R., LECKIE, G. & MERLO, J. 2019. Multilevel versus single-level regression for the analysis of multilevel information: The case of quantitative intersectional analysis. *Soc Sci Med*, 112499.
- EVANS, C. R., WILLIAMS, D. R., ONNELA, J.-P. & SUBRAMANIAN, S. 2018. A multilevel approach to modeling health inequalities at the intersection of multiple social identities. *Social Science & Medicine*, 203, 64-73.
- FIORITO, G., MCCRORY, C., ROBINSON, O., CARMELI, C., ROSALES, C. O., ZHANG, Y., COLICINO, E., DUGUÉ, P. A., ARTAUD, F., MCKAY, G. J., JEONG, A., MISHRA, P. P., NØST, T. H., KROGH, V., PANICO, S., SACERDOTE, C., TUMINO, R., PALLI, D., MATULLO, G., GUARRERA, S., GANDINI, M., BOCHUD, M., DERMITZAKIS, E., MUKA, T., SCHWARTZ, J., VOKONAS, P. S., JUST, A., HODGE, A. M., GILES, G. G., SOUTHEY, M. C., HURME, M. A., YOUNG, I., MCKNIGHT, A. J., KUNZE, S., WALDENBERGER, M., PETERS, A., SCHWETTMANN, L., LUND, E., BACCARELLI, A., MILNE, R. L., KENNY, R. A., ELBAZ, A., BRENNER, H., KEE, F., VOORTMAN, T., PROBST-HENSCH, N., LEHTIMÄKI, T., ELLIOT, P., STRINGHINI, S., VINEIS, P. & POLIDORO, S. 2019. Socioeconomic position, lifestyle habits and biomarkers of epigenetic aging: a multi-cohort analysis. *Aging (Albany NY)*, 11, 2045-2070.
- FOLKHÄLSOMYNDIGHETEN 2020a. Ekonomisk standard. <u>https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/folkhalsorapportering-statistik/tolkad-rapportering/folkhalsans-utveckling/resultat/livsvillkor/ekonomisk-standard/:</u> Folkhälsomyndigheten.
- FOLKHÄLSOMYNDIGHETEN 2020b. Folkhälsopolitiska mål. <u>https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/folkhalsoarbete/folkhalsopolitikens-mal/</u>.
- FOLKHÄLSOMYNDIGHETEN 2020c. Långtidsarbetslöshet. <u>https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/folkhalsorapportering-statistik/tolkad-rapportering/folkhalsans-utveckling/resultat/livsvillkor/langtidsarbetsloshet/.</u>
- FRANCIS-OLIVIERO, F., CAMBON, L., WITTWER, J., MARMOT, M. & ALLA, F. 2020. Theoretical and practical challenges of proportionate universalism: a review. *Revista panamericana de salud publica = Pan American journal of public health*, 44, e110-e110.

FRANZÉN, M. 2018. Extra bortfallsanalys. <u>https://www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/contentassets/d7a60768b3b6444096a3b8c5c4</u> 29d1a8/scb-bortfallsanalys-nationellt-urval.pdf: Statistics Sweden.

- FULLER-THOMSON, E., CHISHOLM, R. S. & BRENNENSTUHL, S. 2016. COPD in a Population-Based Sample of Never-Smokers: Interactions among Sex, Gender, and Race. *Int J Chronic Dis*, 2016, 5862026.
- GALEA, S. 2013. An argument for a consequentialist epidemiology. *Am J Epidemiol*, 178, 1185-91.
- GERDTHAM U-G, J., M 2004. Absolute Income, Relative Income, Income Inequality and Mortality? *Journal of Human Resources.*, 39, 228-47.
- GERSHON, A. S., DOLMAGE, T. E., STEPHENSON, A. & JACKSON, B. 2012. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and socioeconomic status: a systematic review. *COPD*, 9, 216-26.
- GERSHON, A. S., HWEE, J., VICTOR, J. C., WILTON, A. S. & TO, T. 2014. Trends in socioeconomic status-related differences in mortality among people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Ann Am Thorac Soc*, 11, 1195-202.
- GERSHON, A. S., THIRUCHELVAM, D., CHAPMAN, K. R., AARON, S. D., STANBROOK, M. B., BOURBEAU, J., TAN, W. & TO, T. 2018. Health Services Burden of Undiagnosed and Overdiagnosed COPD. *CHEST*, 153, 1336-1346.
- GILMAN, S. E., MARTIN, L. T., ABRAMS, D. B., KAWACHI, I., KUBZANSKY, L., LOUCKS, E. B., RENDE, R., RUDD, R. & BUKA, S. L. 2008. Educational attainment and cigarette smoking: a causal association? *Int J Epidemiol*, 37, 615-24.
- GISKES, K., KUNST, A. E., BENACH, J., BORRELL, C., COSTA, G., DAHL, E., DALSTRA, J. A., FEDERICO, B., HELMERT, U. & JUDGE, K. 2005. Trends in smoking behaviour between 1985 and 2000 in nine European countries by education. *Journal of Epidemiology & Community Health*, 59, 395-401.
- GOLD 2020. Global Strategy for Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease 2020 Report. <u>https://goldcopd.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/11/GOLD-2020-REPORT-ver1.0wms.pdf</u>: Global Initiative for Lung Disease.
- GOLDSTEIN, H., BROWNE, W. & RASBASH, J. 2002. Partitioning variation in multilevel models. *Understanding Statistics: Statistical Issues in Psychology, Education, and the Social Sciences,* 1, 223-231.
- GRAHAM, H. 2011. Smoking, Stigma and Social Class. Journal of Social Policy, 41, 83-99.
- GRAHAM, H., FRANCIS, B., INSKIP, H. M. & HARMAN, J. 2006. Socioeconomic lifecourse influences on women's smoking status in early adulthood. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 60, 228-33.
- GREEN, M. A., EVANS, C. R. & SUBRAMANIAN, S. V. 2017. Can intersectionality theory enrich population health research? *Soc Sci Med*, 178, 214-216.
- GREGORIANO, C., DIETERLE, T., BREITENSTEIN, A. L., DURR, S., BAUM, A., MAIER, S., ARNET, I., HERSBERGER, K. E. & LEUPPI, J. D. 2018. Use and inhalation technique of inhaled medication in patients with asthma and COPD: data from a randomized controlled trial. *Respir Res*, 19, 237.
- HAGHANI, A., ARPAWONG, T. E., KIM, J. K., LEWINGER, J. P., FINCH, C. E. & CRIMMINS, E. 2020. Female vulnerability to the effects of smoking on health outcomes in older people. *PloS one*, 15, e0234015-e0234015.

- HAGSTAD, S., EKERLJUNG, L., LINDBERG, A., BACKMAN, H., RONMARK, E. & LUNDBACK, B. 2012. COPD among non-smokers report from the obstructive lung disease in Northern Sweden (OLIN) studies. *Respir Med*, 106, 980-8.
- HALPIN, D. M. G., CELLI, B. R., CRINER, G. J., FRITH, P., LÓPEZ VARELA, M. V., SALVI, S., VOGELMEIER, C. F., CHEN, R., MORTIMER, K., MONTES DE OCA, M., AISANOV, Z., OBASEKI, D., DECKER, R. & AGUSTI, A. 2019. The GOLD Summit on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in low- and middle-income countries. *Int J Tuberc Lung Dis*, 23, 1131-1141.
- HANCOCK, A.-M. 2007. When multiplication doesn't equal quick addition: Examining intersectionality as a research paradigm. *Perspectives on politics*, 5, 63-79.
- HART, J. T. 1971. The inverse care law. The Lancet, 297, 405-412.
- HAUPT, D., KRIGSMAN, K. & NILSSON, J. L. 2008. Medication persistence among patients with asthma/COPD drugs. *Pharm World Sci*, 30, 509-14.
- HENOCH, I., LOFDAHL, C. G. & EKBERG-JANSSON, A. 2018. Influences of patient education on exacerbations and hospital admissions in patients with COPD a longitudinal national register study. *Eur Clin Respir J*, 5, 1500073.
- HENOCH, I., STRANG, P., LOFDAHL, C. G. & EKBERG-JANSSON, A. 2019. Equal palliative care for patients with COPD? A nationwide register study. *Ups J Med Sci*, 124, 140-147.
- HENOCH, I., STRANG, S., LOFDAHL, C. G. & EKBERG-JANSSON, A. 2016a. Healthrelated quality of life in a nationwide cohort of patients with COPD related to other characteristics. *Eur Clin Respir J*, 3, 31459.
- HENOCH, I., STRANG, S., LOFDAHL, C. G. & EKBERG-JANSSON, A. 2016b. Management of COPD, equal treatment across age, gender, and social situation? A register study. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis*, 11, 2681-2690.
- HERNÁNDEZ-YUMAR, A., WEMRELL, M., ABÁSOLO ALESSÓN, I., GONZÁLEZ LÓPEZ-VALCÁRCEL, B., LECKIE, G. & MERLO, J. 2018. Socioeconomic differences in body mass index in Spain: An intersectional multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy. *PLoS One*, 13, e0208624.
- HESSELMAR, B., TUNSÄTER, A., EKBERG JANSSON, A., STRIDSMAN, C. A., KONRADSEN, R. J., VANFLETEREN, L., ULLMAN, A., LINDBERG, A., LÖFDAHL, C.-G., BINNMYR, J., FJÄLLMAN SCHÄRBERG, K., EDFELT, P., SJÖÖ, Y. & BENGTSSON, B. 2019. Luftvägsregistrets årsrapport 2019. <u>https://registercentrum.blob.core.windows.net/lvr/r/Arsrapport-2019-BJxD2a9UcL.pdf:</u> Luftvägsregistret.
- HILLARY, R. F., STEVENSON, A. J., MCCARTNEY, D. L., CAMPBELL, A., WALKER, R. M., HOWARD, D. M., RITCHIE, C. W., HORVATH, S., HAYWARD, C., MCINTOSH, A. M., PORTEOUS, D. J., DEARY, I. J., EVANS, K. L. & MARIONI, R. E. 2020. Epigenetic measures of ageing predict the prevalence and incidence of leading causes of death and disease burden. *Clin Epigenetics*, 12, 115.

- HILLEMEIER, M. M., LYNCH, J., HARPER, S., RAGHUNATHAN, T. & KAPLAN, G. A. 2003. Relative or absolute standards for child poverty: a state-level analysis of infant and child mortality. *Am J Public Health*, 93, 652-7.
- HO, T., CUSACK, R. P., CHAUDHARY, N., SATIA, I. & KURMI, O. P. 2019. Underand over-diagnosis of COPD: a global perspective. *Breathe (Sheff)*, 15, 24-35.
- HOLMAN, D., SALWAY, S. & BELL, A. 2020. Mapping intersectional inequalities in biomarkers of healthy ageing and chronic disease in older English adults. *Scientific reports*, 10, 1-12.
- HU, Y., CANTARERO-AREVALO, L., FROLICH, A. & JACOBSEN, R. 2016. Ethnic Inequalities in COPD Outcomes: a Register-Based Study in Copenhagen, Denmark. J Racial Ethn Health Disparities.
- HUMBER, L. 2019. Vital Signs, the deadly costs of health inequality, London, Pluto Press.
- HUMENBERGER, M., HORNER, A., LABEK, A., KAISER, B., FRECHINGER, R., BROCK, C., LICHTENBERGER, P. & LAMPRECHT, B. 2018. Adherence to inhaled therapy and its impact on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). *BMC Pulm Med*, 18, 163.
- INGHAMMAR, M., ENGSTROM, G., LOFDAHL, C. G. & EGESTEN, A. 2012. Validation of a COPD diagnosis from the Swedish Inpatient Registry. *Scand J Public Health*, 40, 773-6.
- JACKSON, C. & HENRIKSEN, L. 1997. Do as I say: Parent smoking, antismoking socialization, and smoking onset among children. *Addictive Behaviors*, 22, 107-114.
- JANSSON, S. A., BACKMAN, H., STENLING, A., LINDBERG, A., RÖNMARK, E. & LUNDBÄCK, B. 2013. Health economic costs of COPD in Sweden by disease severity--has it changed during a ten years period? *Respir Med*, 107, 1931-8.
- JEFFERIS, B. J., POWER, C., GRAHAM, H. & MANOR, O. 2004. Effects of childhood socioeconomic circumstances on persistent smoking. *Am J Public Health*, 94, 279-85.
- JOFFER, J., BURELL, G., BERGSTROM, E., STENLUND, H., SJORS, L. & JERDEN, L. 2014. Predictors of smoking among Swedish adolescents. *BMC Public Health*, 14, 1296.
- JOHANSSON, C. J., NILSSON, P. M. & IGNELL, C. 2020. Early life exposures and risk of adult respiratory disease during 50 years of follow-up. *European Journal of Epidemiology*, 35, 1157-1166.
- JONES, K., JOHNSTON, R. & MANLEY, D. 2016. Uncovering interactions in multivariate contingency tables: a multi-level modelling exploratory approach. *Methodological Innovations*, 9, 2059799116672874.
- KARLSEN, S. & NAZROO, J. Y. 2017. Measuring and analyzing "race," racism, and racial discrimination.
- KASPER, D., FAUCI, A., HAUSER, S., LONGO, D., JAMESON, J. & LOSCALZO, J. 2015. Harrison's principles of internal medicine, 19e. USA2015.
- KATAINEN, A. 2010. Social class differences in the accounts of smoking striving for distinction? *Sociology of Health & Illness*, 32, 1087-1101.
- KATZ, K. & ÖSTERBERG, T. 2013. Unga invandrare: utbildning, löner och utbildningsavkastning, IFAU Uppsala.

- KAWACHI, I., SUBRAMANIAN, S. V. & ALMEIDA-FILHO, N. 2002. A glossary for health inequalities. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 56, 647-52.
- KERN, M. R., DUINHOF, E. L., WALSH, S. D., COSMA, A., MORENO-MALDONADO, C., MOLCHO, M., CURRIE, C. & STEVENS, G. 2020. Intersectionality and Adolescent Mental Well-being: A Cross-Nationally Comparative Analysis of the Interplay Between Immigration Background, Socioeconomic Status and Gender. J Adolesc Health, 66, S12-s20.
- KIADALIRI, A. & ENGLUND, M. 2020. Intersectional inequalities and individual heterogeneity in chronic rheumatic diseases: An intersectional multilevel analysis. *Arthritis Care & Research*, n/a.
- KIADALIRI, A., MERLO, J. & ENGLUND, M. 2020. Complex sociodemographic inequalities in consultations for low back pain: lessons from multilevel intersectional analysis. *Pain*.
- KOMMISSIONEN FÖR JÄMLIK HÄLSA 2017. Nästa steg på vägen mote en mer jämlik hälsa. SOU 2017:47.
   <u>https://www.regeringen.se/49ba4e/contentassets/3917644bbd69413bbc0c017647e53</u> <u>528/nasta-steg-pa-vagen-mot-en-mer-jamlik-halsa-slutbetankande-av-kommissionen-</u> for-jamlik-halsa sou2017 47.pdf.
- KORPI, W. & PALME, J. 1998. The paradox of redistribution and strategies of equality: Welfare state institutions, inequality, and poverty in the Western countries. *American sociological review*, 661-687.
- KRIEGER, N. 1994. Epidemiology and the web of causation: has anyone seen the spider? *Soc Sci Med*, 39, 887-903.
- KRIEGER, N. 2001. A glossary for social epidemiology. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 55, 693.
- KRIEGER, N. 2005. Embodiment: a conceptual glossary for epidemiology. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 59, 350.
- KÖHNLEIN, T. & WELTE, T. 2008. Alpha-1 Antitrypsin Deficiency: Pathogenesis, Clinical Presentation, Diagnosis, and Treatment. *The American Journal of Medicine*, 121, 3-9.
- LABOR, M., VRBICA, Ž., GUDELJ, I., LABOR, S. & PLAVEC, D. 2016. Diagnostic accuracy of a pocket screening spirometer in diagnosing chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in general practice: a cross sectional validation study using tertiary care as a reference. *BMC family practice*, 17, 112-112.
- LANDBERG, J., RAMSTEDT, M. & SUNDIN, E. 2018. Socioekonomiska skillnader i beroende och utsatthet för andras användning av alkohol, narkotika och tobak. <u>https://www.can.se/publikationer/socioekonomiska-skillnader-i-beroende-ochutsatthet-for-andras-anvandning-av-alkohol-narkotika-och-tobak/:</u> Centralförbundet för alkohol- och narkotikaupplysning.
- LANGE, P., MAROTT, J. L., VESTBO, J., INGEBRIGTSEN, T. S. & NORDESTGAARD, B. G. 2014. Socioeconomic status and prognosis of COPD in Denmark. COPD, 11, 431-7.

LANGE, P., TOTTENBORG, S. S., SORKNAES, A. D., ANDERSEN, J. S., SOGAARD, M., NIELSEN, H., THOMSEN, R. W. & NIELSEN, K. A. 2016. Danish Register of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Clin Epidemiol*, 8, 673-678.

LARSSON, S. L., C-G. 2007. KOL - en multifaktoriell systemsjukdom. Läkartidningen, 104.

- LEE, Y. S., OH, J. Y., MIN, K. H., LEE, S. Y., KANG, K. H. & SHIM, J. J. 2019. The association between living below the relative poverty line and the prevalence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *J Thorac Dis*, 11, 427-437.
- LEVENTHAL, T. & BROOKS-GUNN, J. 2003. Moving to Opportunity: an Experimental Study of Neighborhood Effects on Mental Health. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93, 1576-1582.
- LILJA, E. & PEMER, M. 2010. Boendesegregation-orsaker och mekanismer: En genomgång av aktuell forskning.
- LINDBERG, A., BJERG, A., RONMARK, E., LARSSON, L. G. & LUNDBACK, B. 2006a. Prevalence and underdiagnosis of COPD by disease severity and the attributable fraction of smoking Report from the Obstructive Lung Disease in Northern Sweden Studies. *Respir Med*, 100, 264-72.
- LINDBERG, A., ERIKSSON, B., LARSSON, L. G., RONMARK, E., SANDSTROM, T. & LUNDBACK, B. 2006b. Seven-year cumulative incidence of COPD in an agestratified general population sample. *Chest*, 129, 879-85.
- LINDBERG, A., JONSSON, A. C., RÖNMARK, E., LUNDGREN, R., LARSSON, L. G. & LUNDBÄCK, B. 2005. Ten-year cumulative incidence of COPD and risk factors for incident disease in a symptomatic cohort. *Chest*, 127, 1544-52.
- LINDGREN, A., STROH, E., MONTNÉMERY, P., NIHLÉN, U., JAKOBSSON, K. & AXMON, A. 2009. Traffic-related air pollution associated with prevalence of asthma and COPD/chronic bronchitis. A cross-sectional study in Southern Sweden. *International journal of health geographics*, 8, 2-2.
- LINDSTROM, M. & SUNDQUIST, J. 2002. Ethnic differences in daily smoking in Malmo, Sweden. Varying influence of psychosocial and economic factors. *Eur J Public Health*, 12, 287-94.
- LINDSTRÖM, M. 2010. Social capital, economic conditions, marital status and daily smoking: A population-based study. *Public Health*, 124, 71-77.
- LINK, B. G. & PHELAN, J. 2010. Social conditions as fundamental causes of health inequalities. *Handbook of medical sociology*, 6, 3-17.
- LISSPERS, K., LARSSON, K., JOHANSSON, G., JANSON, C., COSTA-SCHARPLATZ, M., GRUENBERGER, J. B., UHDE, M., JORGENSEN, L., GUTZWILLER, F. S. & STALLBERG, B. 2018. Economic burden of COPD in a Swedish cohort: the ARCTIC study. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis*, 13, 275-285.
- LIU, S., ZHOU, Y., WANG, X., WANG, D., LU, J., ZHENG, J., ZHONG, N. & RAN, P. 2007. Biomass fuels are the probable risk factor for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in rural South China. *Thorax*, 62, 889-97.
- LIZOTTE, D. J., MAHENDRAN, M., CHURCHILL, S. M. & BAUER, G. R. 2019. Math versus meaning in MAIHDA: A commentary on multilevel statistical models for quantitative intersectionality. *Soc Sci Med*, 112500.

- LUDVIGSSON, J. F., OTTERBLAD-OLAUSSON, P., PETTERSSON, B. U. & EKBOM, A. 2009. The Swedish personal identity number: possibilities and pitfalls in healthcare and medical research. *Eur J Epidemiol*, 24, 659-67.
- LUNDELL, S., TISTAD, M., REHN, B., WIKLUND, M., HOLMNER, A. & WADELL, K. 2017. Building COPD care on shaky ground: a mixed methods study from Swedish primary care professional perspective. *BMC Health Serv Res*, 17, 467.
- LYNCH, J., DUE, P., MUNTANER, C. & SMITH, G. D. 2000a. Social capital--is it a good investment strategy for public health? *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 54, 404-8.
- LYNCH, J. W., SMITH, G. D., KAPLAN, G. A. & HOUSE, J. S. 2000b. Income inequality and mortality: importance to health of individual income, psychosocial environment, or material conditions. *Bmj*, 320, 1200-4.
- LYNCH, K. F., SUBRAMANIAN, S. V., OHLSSON, H., CHAIX, B., LERNMARK, Å. & MERLO, J. 2010. Context and disease when disease risk is low: the case of type 1 diabetes in Sweden. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 64, 789-795.
- MACKENBACH, J. P. 2006. *Health inequalities: Europe in profile*, Produced by COI for the Department of Health.
- MACNEE, W. 2016. Is Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease an Accelerated Aging Disease? *Ann Am Thorac Soc*, 13 Suppl 5, S429-s437.
- MARMOT, M. 2007. *The Status Syndrome: How Social Standing Affects Our Health and Longevity*, Henry Holt and Company.
- MARMOT, M. & BELL, R. 2012. Fair society, healthy lives. *Public Health*, 126 Suppl 1, S4-s10.
- MARMOT, M. & WILKINSON, R. G. 2001. Psychosocial and material pathways in the relation between income and health: a response to Lynch et al. *Bmj*, 322, 1233-6.
- MARMOT, M. G., SMITH, G. D., STANSFELD, S., PATEL, C., NORTH, F., HEAD, J., WHITE, I., BRUNNER, E. & FEENEY, A. 1991. Health inequalities among British civil servants: the Whitehall II study. *Lancet*, 337, 1387-93.
- MARTINEZ, S. A., BEEBE, L. A., THOMPSON, D. M., WAGENER, T. L., TERRELL, D. R. & CAMPBELL, J. E. 2018. A structural equation modeling approach to understanding pathways that connect socioeconomic status and smoking. *PloS one*, 13, e0192451-e0192451.
- MAUVAIS-JARVIS, F., MERZ, N. B., BARNES, P. J., BRINTON, R. D., CARRERO, J.-J., DEMEO, D. L., DE VRIES, G. J., EPPERSON, C. N., GOVINDAN, R. & KLEIN, S. L. 2020. Sex and gender: modifiers of health, disease, and medicine. *The Lancet*, 396, 565-582.
- MCCALL, L. 2005. The complexity of intersectionality. *Signs: Journal of women in culture and society*, 30, 1771-1800.
- MCCARTNEY, G., BARTLEY, M., DUNDAS, R., KATIKIREDDI, S. V., MITCHELL, R., POPHAM, F., WALSH, D. & WAMI, W. 2019. Theorising social class and its application to the study of health inequalities. *SSM Population Health*, *7*, 100315.
- MERKUS, P., HAVE-OPBROEK, A. T. & QUANJER, P. 1996. Human lung growth: a review. *Pediatric pulmonology*, 21, 383-397.

- MERLO, J. 2003. Multilevel analytical approaches in social epidemiology: measures of health variation compared with traditional measures of association. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 57, 550-2.
- MERLO, J. 2014. Invited commentary: multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity-a fundamental critique of the current probabilistic risk factor epidemiology. *Am J Epidemiol*, 180, 208-12; discussion 213-4.
- MERLO, J. 2018. Multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA) within an intersectional framework. *Soc Sci Med*, 203, 74-80.
- MERLO, J. 2019. Flernivåanalyser behövs i öppna jämförelser inom hälso- och sjukvård. *Läkartidningen*, 116.
- MERLO, J., BROMS, K., ÖSTERGREN, P.-O., HAGBERG, O., NORLUND, A. & LITHMAN, T. Landstingens egenskaper har föga inflytande på patientens prognos.
- MERLO, J., CHAIX, B., YANG, M., LYNCH, J. & RASTAM, L. 2005a. A brief conceptual tutorial of multilevel analysis in social epidemiology: linking the statistical concept of clustering to the idea of contextual phenomenon. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 59, 443-9.
- MERLO, J., GERDTHAM, U. G., LYNCH, J., BECKMAN, A., NORLUND, A. & LITHMAN, T. 2003. Social inequalities in health- do they diminish with age? Revisiting the question in Sweden 1999. *Int J Equity Health*, 2, 2.
- MERLO, J., HÅKANSSON, A., BECKMAN, A., LINDBLAD, U., LINDSTRÖM, M., GERDTHAM, U. & RÅSTAM, L. 2005b. God vård på lika villkor vid hjärtinfarkt i dagens Sverige. Geografiska skillnader i dödlighet utan betydelse för den enskilda patienten. Läkartidningen, 102, 20-23.
- MERLO, J. & MULINARI, S. 2015. Measures of discriminatory accuracy and categorizations in public health: a response to Allan Krasnik's editorial. *Eur J Public Health*, 25, 910.
- MERLO, J., MULINARI, S., WEMRELL, M., SUBRAMANIAN, S. V. & HEDBLAD, B. 2017. The tyranny of the averages and the indiscriminate use of risk factors in public health: The case of coronary heart disease. *SSM Population Health*, 3, 684-698.
- MERLO, J., OHLSSON, H., LYNCH, K. F., CHAIX, B. & SUBRAMANIAN, S. V. 2009. Individual and collective bodies: using measures of variance and association in contextual epidemiology. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 63, 1043-8.
- MERLO, J., ROSVALL, M., LINDSTRÖM, M., LINDEBERG, S., TEGENROT, F., OHLSSON, H., MODÉN, B. & GRAHN, M. 2008. Jämlik vård? Rapport med fokus på områdena hjärt- och kärlsjukdomar, psykisk ohälsa och psykiatriska sjukdomar samt barns hälsa och sjukvård. [Online]. Socialmedicinska enheten Universitetssjukhuset MAS, Region Skåne [Accessed 2021-02-26].
- MERLO, J., WAGNER, P., GHITH, N. & LECKIE, G. 2016. An Original Stepwise Multilevel Logistic Regression Analysis of Discriminatory Accuracy: The Case of Neighbourhoods and Health. *PLoS One*, 11, e0153778.
- MERLO, J., WAGNER, P. & HEDBLAD, B. 2013. Discriminatory accuracy and population attributable fractions: the case of traditional risk factors and novel biomarkers for coronary heart disease. *European journal of epidemiology*, 28, S147-8.

- MERLO, J., WAGNER, P. & LECKIE, G. 2019. A simple multilevel approach for analysing geographical inequalities in public health reports: The case of municipality differences in obesity. *Health & place*, 58, 102145.
- MERLO, J., VICIANA-FERNANDEZ, F. J., RAMIRO-FARINAS, D. & LDAP, R. G. 2012. Bringing the individual back to small-area variation studies: A multilevel analysis of all-cause mortality in Andalusia, Spain. *Social Science & Medicine*, 75, 1477-1487.
- MOLFINO, N. A. & COYLE, A. J. 2008. Gene-environment interactions in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *International journal of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*, 3, 491-497.
- MONTNEMERY, P., BENGTSSON, P., ELLIOT, A., LINDHOLM, L. H., NYBERG, P. & LOFDAHL, C. G. 2001. Prevalence of obstructive lung diseases and respiratory symptoms in relation to living environment and socio-economic group. *Respir Med*, 95, 744-52.
- MULINARI, S., BREDSTROM, A. & MERLO, J. 2015. Questioning the discriminatory accuracy of broad migrant categories in public health: self-rated health in Sweden. *Eur J Public Health*.
- NATIONELLT SYSTEM FÖR KUNSKAPSSTYRNING 2020. Personcentrerat och sammanhållet vårdförlopp Kroniskt obstruktiv lungsjukdom (KOL) <u>https://registercentrum.blob.core.windows.net/lvr/r/Personcentrerat-och-sammanhllet-v-rdf-rlopp-Kroniskt-obstruktiv--B1xWKvcrvP.pdf:</u> Hälso- och sjukvård, Sveriges regioner i samverkan.
- NG, E. & MUNTANER, C. 2014. A Critical Approach to Macrosocial Determinants of Population Health: Engaging Scientific Realism and Incorporating Social Conflict. *Current Epidemiology Reports*, 1, 27-37.
- NODA, T., OJIMA, T., HAYASAKA, S., HAGIHARA, A., TAKAYANAGI, R. & NOBUTOMO, K. 2009. The health impact of remarriage behavior on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: findings from the US longitudinal survey. *BMC public health*, 9, 412-412.
- NOTLEY, C., GENTRY, S., LIVINGSTONE-BANKS, J., BAULD, L., PERERA, R. & HARTMANN-BOYCE, J. 2019. Incentives for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews*.
- NYMARK, M. 2020. Minnesanteckningar nätverket kvalreg och juridik 15 dec 2020.
- OAKES, J. M. & ANDRADE, K. E. 2017. The measurement of socioeconomic status. *Methods in social epidemiology*, 18, 23-42.
- OAKES, J. M. & KAUFMAN, J. S. 2017. Introduction: Advancing Methods in social epidemiology, John Wiley & Sons.
- OECD 2010. Tertiary-type A graduation rates in 1995, 2000 and 2008 (first-time graduation).
- OVERSVEEN, E., RYDLAND, H. T., BAMBRA, C. & EIKEMO, T. A. 2017. Rethinking the relationship between socio-economic status and health: Making the case for sociological theory in health inequality research. *Scand J Public Health*, 45, 103-112.

- PEPE, M. S., JANES, H., LONGTON, G., LEISENRING, W. & NEWCOMB, P. 2004. Limitations of the odds ratio in gauging the performance of a diagnostic, prognostic, or screening marker. *Am J Epidemiol*, 159, 882-90.
- PERSMARK, A., WEMRELL, M., ZETTERMARK, S., LECKIE, G., SUBRAMANIAN, S. & MERLO, J. 2019. Precision public health: Mapping socioeconomic disparities in opioid dispensations at Swedish pharmacies by Multilevel Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy (MAIHDA). *PloS one*, 14, e0220322.
- PERZOW, S. E. D., BRAY, B. C. & WADSWORTH, M. E. 2018. Financial stress response profiles and psychosocial functioning in low-income parents. *Journal of family psychology : JFP : journal of the Division of Family Psychology of the American Psychological Association (Division 43)*, 32, 517-527.
- PIKETTY, T. 2015. Kapitalet i tjugoförsta århundradet, Karneval.
- PLEASANTS, R. A., RILEY, I. L. & MANNINO, D. M. 2016. Defining and targeting health disparities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis*, 11, 2475-2496.
- PO, J. Y., FITZGERALD, J. M. & CARLSTEN, C. 2011. Respiratory disease associated with solid biomass fuel exposure in rural women and children: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Thorax*, 66, 232-9.
- POTTER, L. N., LAM, C. Y., CINCIRIPINI, P. M. & WETTER, D. W. 2020. Intersectionality and Smoking Cessation: Exploring Various Approaches for Understanding Health Inequities. *Nicotine & Tobacco Research*.
- POWER, C., GRAHAM, H., DUE, P., HALLQVIST, J., JOUNG, I., KUH, D. & LYNCH, J. 2005. The contribution of childhood and adult socioeconomic position to adult obesity and smoking behaviour: an international comparison. *Int J Epidemiol*, 34, 335-44.
- PRESCOTT, E., BJERG, A. M., ANDERSEN, P. K., LANGE, P. & VESTBO, J. 1997. Gender difference in smoking effects on lung function and risk of hospitalization for COPD: results from a Danish longitudinal population study. *Eur Respir J*, 10, 822-7.
- PULVERS, K., ROMERO, D. R., BLANCO, L., SAKUMA, K. L., AHLUWALIA, J. S. & TRINIDAD, D. R. 2015. Light and intermittent smoking among California Black, Hispanic/Latino, and non-Hispanic White men and women. *Nicotine Tob Res*, 17, 755-9.
- RABE, K. F. & WATZ, H. 2017. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Lancet*, 389, 1931-1940.
- RAHERISON, C. & GIRODET, P. O. 2009. Epidemiology of COPD. European Respiratory Review, 18, 213.
- RASBASH, J. & GOLDSTEIN, H. 1994. Efficient Analysis of Mixed Hierarchical and Cross-Classified Random Structures Using a Multilevel Model. *Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics*, 19, 337-350.
- REDELMEIER, D. A. & SINGH, S. M. 2001. Survival in Academy Award–Winning Actors and Actresses. *Annals of Internal Medicine*, 134, 955-962.
- REGIONERNES KLINISKE KVALITETSUDVIKLINGSPROGRAM 2019. Dansk register for Kronisk Obstruktiv Lungesygdom National årsrapport 2018. https://www.sundhed.dk/content/cms/90/4690\_drkol-aarsrapport-2018\_offentlig.pdf.

- RODRIGUEZ-LOPEZ, M., WAGNER, P., PEREZ-VICENTE, R., CRISPI, F. & MERLO, J. 2017. Revisiting the discriminatory accuracy of traditional risk factors in preeclampsia screening. *PloS one*, 12, e0178528.
- ROOS, E. & PRÄTTÄLÄ, R. 2012. Sociala skillnader i hälsorelaterade vanor. *Teoksessa Rostila M, Toivanen S.(toim.) Den orättvisa hälsan. Stockholm*, 201-20.
- ROSENBAUM, P. R. & RUBIN, D. B. 1983. The central role of the propensity score in observational studies for causal effects. *Biometrika*, 70, 41-55.
- ROSTILA, M. 2010. Birds of a feather flock together-and fall ill? Migrant homophily and health in Sweden. *Sociology of health & illness*, 32, 382-399.
- ROSTILA, M. & HJERN, A. 2018. Migration och ojämlikhet i hälsa. *Den ojämlika hälsan*. Stockholm.
- ROYSTON, P. & ALTMAN, D. G. 2010. Visualizing and assessing discrimination in the logistic regression model. *Statistics in Medicine*, 29, 2508-2520.
- RUBIN, D. B. 1974. Estimating causal effects of treatments in randomized and nonrandomized studies. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 66, 688-701.
- SAHNI, S., TALWAR, A., KHANIJO, S. & TALWAR, A. 2017. Socioeconomic status and its relationship to chronic respiratory disease. *Adv Respir Med*, 85, 97-108.
- SAN SEBASTIÁN, M., MOSQUERA, P. A., NG, N. & GUSTAFSSON, P. E. 2017. Health care on equal terms? Assessing horizontal equity in health care use in Northern Sweden. *European Journal of Public Health*, 27, 637-643.
- SAVRAN, O. & ULRIK, C. S. 2018. Early life insults as determinants of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in adult life. *International journal of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*, 13, 683.
- SCHIKOWSKI, T., SUGIRI, D., REIMANN, V., PESCH, B., RANFT, U. & KRÄMER, U. 2008. Contribution of smoking and air pollution exposure in urban areas to social differences in respiratory health. *BMC Public Health*, 8, 179.
- SCHRAUFNAGEL, D. E., BLASI, F., KRAFT, M., GAGA, M., FINN, P. & RABE, K. F. 2013. An official American Thoracic Society and European Respiratory Society policy statement: disparities in respiratory health. *Eur Respir J*, 42, 906-15.
- SCHULTZ, E. S., HALLBERG, J., BELLANDER, T., BERGSTRÖM, A., BOTTAI, M., CHIESA, F., GUSTAFSSON, P. M., GRUZIEVA, O., THUNQVIST, P. & PERSHAGEN, G. 2016. Early-life exposure to traffic-related air pollution and lung function in adolescence. *American journal of respiratory and critical care medicine*, 193, 171-177.
- SCODITTI, E., MASSARO, M., GARBARINO, S. & TORALDO, D. M. 2019. Role of Diet in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Prevention and Treatment. *Nutrients*, 11.
- SHARIFF-MARCO, S., KLASSEN, A. C. & BOWIE, J. V. 2010. Racial/ethnic differences in self-reported racism and its association with cancer-related health behaviors. *American Journal of Public Health*, 100, 364-374.
- SHIVELY, C. A. & CLARKSON, T. B. 1994. Social status and coronary artery atherosclerosis in female monkeys. *Arterioscler Thromb*, 14, 721-6.
- SKOLD, M. 2017. COPD not only found amongst smokers: a quarter have never smoked. *Lakartidningen*, 114.

- SOCIALSTYRELSEN 2014. Nationella riktlinjer Utvärdering 2014 Vård vid astma och KOL. <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/artikelkatalog/nationella-riktlinjer/2015-1-3.pdf</u>.
- SOCIALSTYRELSEN 2015. Öppna jämförelser. Hälso och sjukvård vid kroniska sjukdomar. <u>https://www.socialstyrelsen.se/globalassets/sharepoint-dokument/artikelkatalog/oppna-jamforelser/2015-12-1.pdf</u>.
- SOCIALSTYRELSEN 2017. Historiska klassifikationer (ICD). http://www.socialstyrelsen.se/klassificeringochkoder/Documents/KLASS87.pdf.
- SOHLBERG, T. 2019. In favour of tobacco control? Former smokers' support for tobacco policies. *Nordic Studies on Alcohol and Drugs*, 36, 496-510.
- SORHEIM, I. C., JOHANNESSEN, A., GULSVIK, A., BAKKE, P. S., SILVERMAN, E. K. & DEMEO, D. L. 2010. Gender differences in COPD: are women more susceptible to smoking effects than men? *Thorax*, 65, 480-5.
- SORIANO, J. B., ABAJOBIR, A. A., ABATE, K. H., ABERA, S. F., AGRAWAL, A., AHMED, M. B., AICHOUR, A. N., AICHOUR, I., AICHOUR, M. T. E., ALAM, K., ALAM, N., ALKAABI, J. M., AL-MASKARI, F., ALVIS-GUZMAN, N., AMBERBIR, A., AMOAKO, Y. A., ANSHA, M. G., ANTÓ, J. M., ASAYESH, H., ATEY, T. M., AVOKPAHO, E. F. G. A., BARAC, A., BASU, S., BEDI, N., BENSENOR, I. M., BERHANE, A., BEYENE, A. S., BHUTTA, Z. A., BIRYUKOV, S., BONEYA, D. J., BRAUER, M., CARPENTER, D. O., CASEY, D., CHRISTOPHER, D. J., DANDONA, L., DANDONA, R., DHARMARATNE, S. D., DO, H. P., FISCHER, F., GEBREHIWOT, T. T., GELETO, A., GHOSHAL, A. G., GILLUM, R. F., GINAWI, I. A. M., GUPTA, V., HAY, S. I., HEDAYATI, M. T., HORITA, N., HOSGOOD, H. D., JAKOVLJEVIC, M. B., JAMES, S. L., JONAS, J. B., KASAEIAN, A., KHADER, Y. S., KHALIL, I. A., KHAN, E. A., KHANG, Y.-H., KHUBCHANDANI, J., KNIBBS, L. D., KOSEN, S., KOUL, P. A., KUMAR, G. A., LESHARGIE, C. T., LIANG, X., EL RAZEK, H. M. A., MAJEED, A., MALTA, D. C., MANHERTZ, T., MARQUEZ, N., MEHARI, A., MENSAH, G. A., MILLER, T. R., MOHAMMAD, K. A., MOHAMMED, K. E., MOHAMMED, S., MOKDAD, A. H., NAGHAVI, M., NGUYEN, C. T., NGUYEN, G., LE NGUYEN, Q., NGUYEN, T. H., NINGRUM, D. N. A., NONG, V. M., OBI, J. I., ODEYEMI, Y. E., OGBO, F. A., OREN, E., PA, M., PARK, E.-K., PATTON, G. C., PAULSON, K., OORBANI, M., OUANSAH, R., RAFAY, A., RAHMAN, M. H. U., RAI, R. K., RAWAF, S., REINIG, N., SAFIRI, S., SARMIENTO-SUAREZ, R., et al. 2017. Global, regional, and national deaths, prevalence, disability-adjusted life years, and years lived with disability for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma, 1990–2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. The Lancet Respiratory Medicine, 5, 691-706.
- SPIKA, D., HECKLEY, G. & GERDTHAM, U.-G. 2018. What Do Demographics Have To Do With It? An Oaxaca-Blinder Decomposition of Changes over Time in Inequalities in Alcohol, Narcotics and Tobacco-Related Ill Health in Sweden. *Working Papers*.

- STATISTICS SWEDEN 2016. Background facts 2016:1, *Integrated database for labour market research*. <u>https://www.scb.se/contentassets/f0bc88c852364b6ea5c1654a0cc90234/dokumentati</u> on-av-lisa.pdf.
- STATISTICS SWEDEN 2019. Longitudinal integrated database for health insurance and labour market studies (LISA). https://scb.se/contentassets/f0bc88c852364b6ea5c1654a0cc90234/lisa-bakgrundsfakta-1990-2017.pdf.
- STATISTICS SWEDEN 2021. Förmögenhetsregistret och kontrolluppgifter över finansiella tillgångar och skulder. <u>https://www.scb.se/vara-tjanster/bestalla-mikrodata/vilka-mikrodata-finns/individregister/formogenhetsregistret-och-kontrolluppgifter-over-finansiella-tillgangar-och-skulder/</u>.
- STOLLER, J. K. & ABOUSSOUAN, L. S. 2012. A review of α1-antitrypsin deficiency. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med*, 185, 246-59.
- STRANG, S., FARRELL, M., LARSSON, L. O., SJOSTRAND, C., GUNNARSSON, A., EKBERG-JANSSON, A. & STRANG, P. 2014. Experience of guilt and strategies for coping with guilt in patients with severe COPD: a qualitative interview study. J Palliat Care, 30, 108-15.
- STRIDSMAN, C., KONRADSEN, J. R., VANFLETEREN, L., PEDROLETTI, C., BINNMYR, J., EDFELT, P., FJÄLLMAN SCHÄRBERG, K., SJÖÖ, Y., NYBERG, F., LINDBERG, A., TUNSÄTER, A. & EKBERG-JANSSON, A. 2020. The Swedish National Airway Register (SNAR): development, design and utility to date. *European Clinical Respiratory Journal*, 7, 1833412.
- SUNDH, J., ABERG, J., HASSELGREN, M., MONTGOMERY, S., STALLBERG, B., LISSPERS, K. & JANSON, C. 2017. Factors influencing pharmacological treatment in COPD: a comparison of 2005 and 2014. *Eur Clin Respir J*, 4, 1409060.
- SUNDH, J. & EKSTROM, M. 2017. Risk factors for developing hypoxic respiratory failure in COPD. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis*, 12, 2095-2100.
- SWEDISH MEDICAL PRODUCTS AGENCY. 2015. Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease - treatment recommendations [Swedish: Kroniskt Obstruktiv Lungsjukdom behandlingsrekommendationer]. [Online]. https://lakemedelsverket.se/upload/halsooch-sjukvard/behandlingsrekommendationer/Kroniskt\_obstruktiv\_lungsjukdom\_ KOL\_behandlingsrekommendation.pdf. [Accessed 2018-04-19 2018].
- TOPOR, A. & LJUNGQVIST, I. 2017. Money, Social Relationships and the Sense of SelfThe Consequences of an Improved Financial Situation for Persons Suffering from Serious Mental Illness. *Community mental health journal*, 53, 823-831.
- TORÉN, K., VIKGREN, J., OLIN, A.-C., ROSENGREN, A., BERGSTRÖM, G. & BRANDBERG, J. 2017. Occupational exposure to vapor, gas, dust, or fumes and chronic airflow limitation, COPD, and emphysema: the Swedish CArdioPulmonary BioImage Study (SCAPIS pilot). *International journal of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease*, 12, 3407.
- TOTTENBORG, S. S., LANGE, P., JOHNSEN, S. P., NIELSEN, H., INGEBRIGTSEN, T. S. & THOMSEN, R. W. 2016. Socioeconomic inequalities in adherence to inhaled maintenance medications and clinical prognosis of COPD. *Respir Med*, 119, 160-167.

- TOTTENBORG, S. S., LANGE, P., THOMSEN, R. W., NIELSEN, H. & JOHNSEN, S. P. 2017. Reducing socioeconomic inequalities in COPD care in the hospital outpatient setting - A nationwide initiative. *Respir Med*, 125, 19-23.
- TREVISAN, C., GRANDE, G., VETRANO, D. L., MAGGI, S., SERGI, G., WELMER, A.-K. & RIZZUTO, D. 2020. Gender Differences in the Relationship Between Marital Status and the Development of Frailty: A Swedish Longitudinal Population-Based Study. *Journal of Women's Health*, 29, 927-936.
- TRIANDAFILIDIS, Z., USSHER, J. M., PERZ, J. & HUPPATZ, K. 2016. An Intersectional Analysis of Women's Experiences of Smoking-Related Stigma. *Qualitative Health Research*, 27, 1445-1460.
- UNEVIK, E., ABBOTT, A., FORS, S. & ROLFSON, O. 2020. Sociodemographic Inequalities in Outcomes of a Swedish Nationwide Self-Management Program for Osteoarthritis: Results from 22,741 Patients between Years 2008–2017. *Journal of Clinical Medicine*, 9, 2294.
- WEBER, M. 2010. Class, status and party [Online]. <u>https://sites.middlebury.edu/individualandthesociety/files/2010/09/Weber-Class-Status-Party.pdf</u>. [Accessed 2020-05-06].
- WEMRELL, M. 2017. An intersectional approach in social epidemiology: Understanding health heterogeneity, Lund University.
- WEMRELL, M., BENNET, L. & MERLO, J. 2019. Understanding the complexity of socioeconomic disparities in type 2 diabetes risk: a study of 4.3 million people in Sweden. *BMJ Open Diabetes Res Care*, 7, e000749.
- WEMRELL, M., MERLO, J., MULINARI, S. & HORNBORG, A. C. 2016. Contemporary epidemiology: a review of critical discussions within the discipline and a call for further dialogue with social theory. *Sociology Compass*, 10, 153-171.
- WEMRELL, M., MULINARI, S. & MERLO, J. 2017a. An intersectional approach to multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity (MAIH) and discriminatory accuracy. *Soc Sci Med*, 178, 217-219.
- WEMRELL, M., MULINARI, S. & MERLO, J. 2017b. Intersectionality and risk for ischemic heart disease in Sweden: Categorical and anti-categorical approaches. *Soc Sci Med*, 177, 213-222.
- WETTERMARK, B., HAMMAR, N., FORED, C. M., LEIMANIS, A., OTTERBLAD OLAUSSON, P., BERGMAN, U., PERSSON, I., SUNDSTROM, A.,
  WESTERHOLM, B. & ROSEN, M. 2007. The new Swedish Prescribed Drug Register--opportunities for pharmacoepidemiological research and experience from the first six months. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf*, 16, 726-35.
- WHO, W. H. O. 2020. Social determinants of health. https://www.who.int/social\_determinants/thecommission/finalreport/key\_concepts/en/.
- VILHELMSSON, A. & OSTERGREN, P. O. 2018. Reducing health inequalities with interventions targeting behavioral factors among individuals with low levels of education A rapid review. *PLoS One,* 13, e0195774.
- WILKINSON, R. G. 1999. Health, Hierarchy, and Social Anxiety. *Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences*, 896, 48-63.

- WILKINSON, R. G. & PICKETT, K. 2009. *The Spirit Level: Why More Equal Societies Almost Always Do Better*, Allen Lane.
- VON DEM KNESEBECK, O. 2015. Concepts of social epidemiology in health services research. *BMC health services research*, 15, 357.

WRIGHT, E. O. 2000. Class counts student edition, Cambridge University Press.

- VÅGERÖ, D. & NORELL, S. E. 1989. Mortality and Social Class in Sweden Exploring a New Epidemiological Tool. *Scandinavian Journal of Social Medicine*, 17, 49-58.
- VÅRDANALYS 2019. Omotiverat olika. Socioekonomiska och regionala skillnader i cancervården. <u>https://www.vardanalys.se/wp-content/uploads/2019/12/Omotiverat-olika-socioekonomiska-och-regionala-skillnader-i-cancerv%C3%A5rden.pdf:</u> Myndigheten för vårdanalys.
- ZHANG, X., COOK, P. A., LISBOA, P. J., JARMAN, I. H. & BELLIS, M. A. 2013. The effects of deprivation and relative deprivation on self-reported morbidity in England: an area-level ecological study. *Int J Health Geogr*, 12, 5.

Paper I

## International Journal for Equity in Health

## RESEARCH

**Open Access** 



Absolute rather than relative income is a better socioeconomic predictor of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Swedish adults

Sten Axelsson Fisk<sup>\*</sup> and Juan Merlo

## Abstract

**Background:** While psychosocial theory claims that socioeconomic status (SES), acting through social comparisons, has an important influence on susceptibility to disease, materialistic theory says that socioeconomic position (SEP) and related access to material resources matter more. However, the relative role of SEP versus SES in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) risk has still not been examined.

**Method:** We investigated the association between SES/SEP and COPD risk among 667 094 older adults, aged 55 to 60, residing in Sweden between 2006 and 2011. Absolute income in five groups by population quintiles depicted SEP and relative income expressed as quintile groups *within* each absolute income group represented SES. We performed sex-stratified logistic regression models to estimate odds ratios and the area under the receiver operator curve (AUC) to compare the discriminatory accuracy of SES and SEP in relation to COPD.

**Results:** Even though both absolute (SEP) and relative income (SES) were associated with COPD risk, only absolute income (SEP) presented a clear gradient, so the poorest had a three-fold higher COPD risk than the richest individuals. While the AUC for a model including only age was 0.54 and 0.55 when including relative income (SES), it increased to 0.65 when accounting for absolute income (SEP). SEP rather than SES demonstrated a consistent association with COPD.

**Conclusions:** Our study supports the materialistic theory. Access to material resources seems more relevant to COPD risk than the consequences of low relative income.

**Keywords:** Health inequality - absolute income - relative income, Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, Materialistic theory, Psychosocial theory, Health equity

### Background

By 2020, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is predicted to become the fifth largest disease burden and the third cause of death globally [1, 2]. The Swedish National board of Health and Welfare estimates that about 500 000 people in Sweden suffer from COPD, but only approximately 100 000 of them have established diagnoses [3].

Smoking is the major risk factor for developing COPD [4] and is more frequent among people with socioeconomic

\* Correspondence: sten.axelsson\_fisk@med.lu.se

Unit for Social Epidemiology, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, CRC, Jan Waldeströms gata, 35, S-205 02 Malmö, Sweden

disadvantage, which is consistent with the higher prevalence of COPD in that group [5–7]. Socioeconomic differences in COPD risk remains when controlling for smoking [6], so other independent mechanisms could explain those differences [8–12]. An open discussion in social epidemiology concerns the relative importance of material versus psychosocial factors in the genesis of socioeconomic differences in health [13–15].

Socioeconomic position (SEP) is often operationalized by using information on absolute income. Materialistic theory assumes that an individual's health depends on their own (and only their own) level of income, rather than that of those around them. It is a person's SEP and



© The Author(s). 2017 **Open Access** This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/), which permits unrestricted use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons fuelice, and indicate if changes were made. The Creative Commons Public Domain Dedication waiver (http://creativecommons.org/publicdomain/zero/1.0/) applies to the data made available in this article, unless otherwise stated.

the related access to material resources and power that matters most [9, 16]. Although this approach to social class has been criticized by Marxist health researchers for transforming a societal process into an individual characteristic, it can be considered a pragmatic class definition [17]. For instance, deprivation in low household SEP might impair intra-uterine and childhood environments [18], increasing the risk of growth restriction and of repeated viral infections. In turn, decreased pulmonary reserve capacity might then predispose an individual to COPD later in life [19]. Sociological mechanisms in adulthood may promote smoking habits [20], low physical activity, and inappropriate nutrition [21] in people with low SEP. These factors alone or in combination with harmful occupational exposures [22], air pollution [23, 24], and reduced access to appropriate health care and medication may also increase risk of developing COPD in people with low SEP [2].

In contrast, the psychosocial theory focuses on characteristics such as low social cohesion, income inequalities and the experience of relative poverty in the understanding of mechanisms behind the social health gradient. In this study we investigate whether low income compared to people in the same strata of society is related to incidence of COPD. One key question is the individual's socioeconomic status (SES), which can be operationalized by using information on relative income, in relation to the reference socioeconomic group. In this view, those with relatively lower income within a high SEP group will show a higher COPD risk even if access to material resources is high for the entire reference group. The harmful effect is hypothesized to act by mechanisms precipitated by psychosocial harm (e.g., shame, loss of self-respect) from social comparisons [16, 25] directly related to the individual's SES [16]. The psychosocial model emphasizes that relative income inequalities are relevant not only to the poor, but also to the middle and even upper strata [25-27]. Low SES is assumed to cause stress that activates neuroendocrine systems, especially the sympathetic response and the hypothalamus-pituitary-adrenal-axis (HPA-axis). Chronic psychological stress increases cortisol levels via the HPA-axis [28], which has harmful effects when the stress response is prolonged [29, 30]. Low relative income could cause COPD through lowered immunity due to increased cortisol levels and predisposition to infections. Chronic stress is also detrimental through promoting inappropriate coping behaviours, such as excessive alcohol consumption, smoking, and unhealthy eating [31]. So far, the role of psychosocial stress in COPD seems not to have been as thoroughly studied as it has in cardiovascular diseases.

It is difficult, not to say impossible, to isolate the relative and the absolute income hypotheses, especially when it comes to identifying the appropriate reference groups for social comparison [9]. There is also an underlying political tension. One criticism of psychosocial explanation models is their propensity to "blame the victim". If psychosocial stress is due to low status and lack of supportive relationships in deprived neighbourhoods, could we not simply teach the poor to be less stressed? [16]. Some authors [13], but not others [26], claim that exaggerated focus on material conditions might misdirect policies.

Only a few investigations [32–34] have examined the socioeconomic differences in COPD in Sweden and, as far we know, no one in the global literature has assessed the relative relevance of SEP versus SES to incidence of COPD. Therefore, we aimed to analyse those questions using a nationwide cohort of adults aged 55 to 60 and residing in Sweden in 2011.

#### Methods

### Study population

The National Board of Health and Welfare, in coordination with Statistics Sweden, linked the register of the Total Swedish Population to other national databases such as the National Inpatient Register, the National Mortality Register, and the Income and Asset Register. This record linkage was performed by the Swedish authorities using a unique personal identification number given to each person residing in Sweden. In the data we analysed, the identification numbers were replaced with arbitrary numbers to safeguard the anonymity of the subjects.

The process of selection of individuals included in the study database is visualized in Fig. 1. From the initial 688 650 individuals aged 55 to 60 years and residing in Sweden by the baseline date of December 31st, 2010, we excluded 77 who died before 2011 and were erroneously registered in the population file. Since age is associated to both income level and COPD risk, we restricted our study by selecting a narrow age span (i.e., 55-60) in order to reduce the confounding influence of age. To ensure information on incident COPD during 2011 we excluded 4 369 individuals who emigrated during 2011. 10 482 individuals residing in Sweden less than four years were also excluded to make sure that information on prevalence of COPD was available. Finally, we excluded individuals with a COPD diagnosis within the four years before baseline, which rendered a final study sample of 667 094 individuals.

### Assessment of variables

The variable COPD was defined as a hospital discharge or visit to a hospital clinic diagnosis with one of the following International Statistical Classification of Diseases and related Health Problems 10<sup>th</sup> revision [35] (ICD-10) codes: J40 (bronchitis, not specified as acute or chronic), J41 (simple and mucopurulent chronic bronchitis), J42



(unspecified chronic bronchitis), J43 (emphysema), or J44 (other chronic obstructive pulmonary disease). We identified new cases of COPD from January 1st, 2011 to December 31st, 2011.

We calculated household individualized disposable income by dividing the total disposable income of a family by the number of family members, taking into account the different consumption weight of adults and children according to Statistics Sweden. We operationalized SEP by categorizing the income into quintiles of the whole Swedish population between 35 and 80 years old. That is, we created five groups of absolute income as the groups were created using the whole population. The five groups were named high income, medium high income, medium income, medium low income, and low income. To operationalize SES we calculated a relative income variable by making new quintiles within each quintile of absolute income. E.g. all people that belonged to the poorest quintile within their absolute income quintiles were pooled together to compose the low relative income group. We used the same category labels as those used for absolute income and the high income category as reference in the analyses.

We defined *age* as age in 2010 and *sex* as binary: legally male or female.

#### Statistical and epidemiologic methods

We performed sex-stratified logistic regression models to examine the association between COPD risk and age, SEP (absolute income) and SES (relative income). Model A included only the continuous age variable; model B included age and absolute income; model C included age and relative income; and model D included age and both absolute and relative income. We expressed associations by means of ORs and 95% confidence intervals (CI). Since COPD incidence was low, ORs correspond well to relative risks.

We paid special attention to calculating the discriminatory accuracy of the models, as commented in more detail elsewhere [36, 37]. For this purpose, we calculated the area under the receiver-operating characteristic curve (AUC). The AUC measured the ability of the model to correctly classify those with and without COPD assuming a value between 1 and 0.5, where 1 is perfect discrimination and 0.5 is as informative as flipping an unbiased coin. Even though our cohort only included people between 55 and 60 years of age, the incidence of COPD increases with age. Therefore, we calculated the AUC of model A to estimate how much absolute and relative income added in discriminatory accuracy (DA) compared to models using age only.

We used SPSS version 21 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) to perform the statistical analyses.

#### Results

Overall, 3.1 per 1000 individuals (1754/667 094) in the study sample suffered a COPD event during 2011. Table 1 shows a clear gradient in the incidence of COPD for absolute income groups, with an absolute risk difference between the *low* and *high income* groups of 3.1 per thousand in both men and women. For relative income groups this risk difference is rather inconsistent in both genders. As expected, the average age was about 57 years in all income groups.

Table 2, models 2, 3, and 4 show that both absolute and relative income are associated with COPD risk. In both men and women there is a clear gradient for absolute income groups with increasing COPD risk as the absolute income decreases. However, there is no such gradient for relative income that also shows much smaller ORs.

As expected, because of the short age range (55 to 60 years), the AUC for age in model 1 was close to 0.5 in both men and women. Inclusion of absolute income in model 2 increased the AUC to 0.65 in men and to 0.63 in women. Relative income in model 3, on the other hand, did not add much to model 1 (age only), as the AUC was 0.55 in both men and women.
	MEN				WOMEN				
	Age (mean)	Number of cases	Number of people	Incidence (per 1000 individuals)	Age (mean)	Number of cases	Number of people	Incidence (per 1000 individuals)	
Absolute income <sup>a</sup>	1								
Low	57.4	167	38125	4.4	57.4	140	30567	4.6	
Medium low	57.4	175	39481	4.4	57.5	208	38624	5.4	
Medium	57.4	138	50760	2.7	57.5	182	52913	3.4	
Medium high	57.5	161	85677	1.9	57.5	256	95865	2.7	
High	57.6	158	119909	1.3	57.6	169	115173	1.5	
Relative income <sup>b</sup>									
Low	57.5	150	59477	2.5	57.5	161	58513	2.8	
Medium low	57.5	157	62965	2.5	57.5	203	63045	3.2	
Medium	57.5	173	67131	2.6	57.5	186	67881	2.7	
Medium high	57.5	179	70374	2.5	57.5	221	71018	3.1	
High	57.5	140	74005	1.9	57.5	184	72685	2.5	

Table 1 Age and incidence of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease by absolute and relative income groups in the 333 952 men and 333 142 women aged 55 to 60 years and residing in Sweden in 2011

<sup>a</sup>The absolute income is categorized by quintiles of all 4 994 921 people aged 35 to 80 years registered as residents in Sweden by December 31st, 2010. <sup>b</sup>The relative income categories are defined by quintile groups within absolute income categories

#### Discussion

In this large, population-based study both SEP (measured as absolute income) and SES (assessed as relative income) were associated with COPD risk. However, while the association between relative income groups and COPD was rather inconsistent, we found a clear socioeconomic gradient for absolute income groups, which confirms previous findings [5, 6, 38]. COPD risk increased with decreasing absolute income, so ORs for COPD were around three times higher for the poorest than for the richest individuals. Even if the AUC value was rather low for both absolute and relative income, the AUC for absolute income was clearly higher than for relative income. Therefore, our study suggests that the materialistic absolute income model is more relevant than the psychosocial relative income model for understanding socioeconomic disparities in COPD risk. It seems that limited material resources per se (i.e., low SEP) are more relevant to COPD risk than the psychosocial consequences of having relatively less resources than the others with a similar income (i.e., low SES). Similar conclusions have previously been drawn for other health outcomes [14, 39].

By including a measure of DA like the AUC, our study adds a new tool for evaluating the relevance of (socioeconomic) categorizations in public health as recently discussed [37].

#### Material or psychosocial mechanisms

Relative income is a complex concept. A fundamental aspect is the difficulty of identifying appropriate reference groups for social comparison. It could be questioned whether individuals compare themselves with people below or above them, or if they compare themselves with others like them or to celebrities and moguls portrayed in the mass media. Kawachi et al. (2002) concluded that most likely people compare themselves simultaneously in several directions.

Our aim was to contribute to the question of whether material or psychosocial mechanisms best explain incomerelated inequalities in COPD risk. It could be argued that OR and DA for absolute income reflect the effects of psychosocial stress and not of material deprivation. The impaired health observed in the poorest groups could be because poor people compare themselves with the rich people, which leads to chronic stress, higher cortisol levels, and increased general susceptibility to diseases, including COPD. Wilkinson and Picket (2006), for example, argue that it is relative socioeconomic differences between broader groups, such as nations, rather than between neighbourhoods that cause psychosocial stress. Since the psychosocial stress is presumably present across all societal strata, we would have expected a difference in incidence between people with similar absolute incomes but different relative incomes if the incidence of COPD would have depended on the psychosocial comparison. As an alternative to our main analysis including absolute and relative income in the same model, we performed analyses of the association of SES and COPD in separate models within the five strata of absolute income quintiles. However, relative income did not show a consistent gradient within any of the absolute income quintiles.

#### Strengths and weaknesses of the study

Our results are derived from a large hospital database comprising the whole Swedish population but we did

#### Axelsson Fisk and Merlo International Journal for Equity in Health (2017) 16:70

	Model 1 (Age)	Model 2 (Age and absolute income)	Model 3 (Age and relative income)	Model 4 (Age and absolute and relative income)
	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)	OR (95% CI)
MEN				
Age (1 year)	1.09 (1.05-1.14)	1.05 (1.06–1.15)	1.09 (1.05-1.14)	1.11 (1.06–1.15)
Absolute income <sup>a</sup>				
High		REF		REF
Medium high		1.43 (1.15–1.78)		1.44 (1.16-1.80)
Medium		2.10 (1.67–2.64)		2.11 (1.68–2.65)
Medium low		3.44 (2.77-4.27)		3.44 (2.77-4.27)
Low		3.40 (2.73-4.23)		3.39 (2.73-4.22)
Relative income <sup>b</sup>				
High			REF	REF
Medium high			1.35 (1.08-1.68)	1.34 (1.08–1.68)
Medium			1.37 (1.09–1.71)	1.36 (1.08-1.69)
Medium low			1.32 (1.05-1.66)	1.31 (1.04–1.64)
Low			1.34 (1.06-1.69)	1.31 (1.04-1.64)
AUC (95% CI)	0.54 (0.52-0.56)	0.65 (0.63-0.66)	0.55 (0.53-0.57)	0.65 (0.63-0.67)
WOMEN				
Age (1 year)	1.05 (1.01-1.09)	1.06 (1.02–1.10)	1.05 (1.01-1.09)	1.06 (1.02-1.10)
Absolute income				
High		REF		REF
Medium high		1.83 (1.51–2.22)		1.84 (1.52–2.24)
Medium		2.36 (1.92–2.91)		2.39 (1.94–2.95)
Medium low		3.71 (3.03–4.55)		3.73 (3.05-4.58)
Low		3.17 (2.54–3.97)		3.20 (2.56-4.01)
Relative income				
High			REF	REF
Medium high			1.23 (1.01-1.50)	1.25 (1.03–1.52)
Medium			1.08 (0.88-1.33)	1.11 (0.91–1.36)
Medium low			1.27 (1.04–1.56)	1.34 (1.10–1.64)
Low			1.09 (0.88–1.35)	1.15 (0.93–1.42)
AUC (95% CI)	0.53 (0.51-0.54)	0.63 (0.62–0.65)	0.54 (0.52–0.55)	0.64 (0.62–0.65)

Table 2 Association between absolute and relative income and risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the 333 952 men and 333 142 women aged 55 to 60 years and residing in Sweden in 2011. Values are OR, 95% CI, and AUC

<sup>a</sup>The absolute income is categorized by quintiles of all 4,994,921 people aged 35 to 80 years registered as residents in Sweden by December 31st, 2010. <sup>b</sup>The relative income categories are defined by quintile groups within absolute income categories

not have information on COPD diagnoses from primary health care. Hence, we only identified cases treated at the hospital (hospitalizations or visits to an external clinic at the hospital), which may underestimate the incidence of COPD in the population. We do not think this situation had a major influence on our study as our aim was to investigate the contributions of absolute and relative income rather than the exact incidences of COPD in the population. Also, we used ICD codes recorded in routine care rather than in clinical examinations focused on identifying COPD cases in a prospective cohort study. However, hospital ICD codes of COPD from the Swedish Inpatient Registry have been considered to have acceptable validity for epidemiological research in a previous study [40]. If the people that were excluded because of emigration or recent immigration belong to lower SEP-groups and also have a higher risk for COPD our results may underestimate the socioeconomic gradients. We do not believe this affects the conclusions of our study since only 0.7% of the individuals emigrated and 1.6% resided in Sweden less than four years (see section on study population). The quality of income data is high, including income from wages, subsidies, retirement, insurance, profits on capital, and other sources, according to Statistics Sweden. Lynch and Kaplan [41] suggest that repeated measures of income and assessment of wealth should be included to better reflect life course effects of SEP and total material resources available for an individual. The fact that we only measured income on one occasion can be considered a weakness. For instance, suffering from COPD may lead to a reduced income rather than the opposite. We excluded individuals with previous COPD, which reduces the problem of reverse causality.

When planning the analyses, we considered the existence of common causes of both income and COPD that could confound the association between those variables. Education and occupation are alternative indicators of SEP. If we were to adjust for them, we would underestimate the association between low SEP and COPD. Since prevalence of COPD increases with age [4] and income normally increases with age until retirement, age was the only variable that we adjusted for in addition to choosing a study population with individuals of similar age (i.e., 55 to 60 tears). Different smoking patterns among men and women motivated the sex-stratified analyses [42].

Smoking is the most important risk factor for COPD [4, 23, 43]. It is known to be more prevalent among people with low SEP [44, 45]. Since it is low income that causes smoking rather than smoking that causes low income, adjusting for smoking would underestimate the association between income and COPD.

#### Psychosocial versus materialistic interventions

The dichotomous description of psychosocial versus materialistic theories used hitherto is pedagogic but not entirely true. Psychosocial researchers agree that material deprivation exists even in high-income countries and materialistic epidemiologists admit the presence of a psychosocial pathway. Although followers of the materialist theory and those of the psychosocial one disagree on to what extent specific mechanisms explain socioeconomic health gradients, they harmonize about the political direction needed. Effective smoking prevention programmes among low income people would probably reduce the slope of the socioeconomic gradient observed in this study. Solving health problems by teaching the poor to live healthily conveys a risk of blaming the victim if the health problems are the result of the political and cultural system [25]. Therefore, interventions should be directed at upstream societal causes of those health problems. An equalitarian distribution of resources in the society will lead to better health whether the underlying mechanisms are materialistic, psychosocial, or both. To ameliorate the effects of materialistic inequalities in COPD incidence,

investments in public primary health care with greater availability of spirometry could be effective. Subsidized medications, improved housing for children to prevent respiratory infections in early life, and strict regulation of working conditions and air pollution are other materialistic interventions to reduce the social gradient for incidence of COPD. The trend of privatization in primary health care in Sweden has benefited high income groups more than low income groups [46, 47] and therefore may exacerbate the social gradient for COPD incidence.

The psychosocial model of how relative poverty causes bad health is a significant advance over purely behavioural explanations that blame poor people for their unhealthy life styles. Thanks to this, struggles for equality in health have earned broad scientific support. Although suggestions to ameliorate income and class division are presented by psychosocial researchers [25], little attention is directed at the capitalist structure of production as an upstream causes of economic and health gaps in society.

#### Future research and conclusion

Our study is innovative as we calculated and interpreted not only measures of association such as the OR but also measures of DA such as the AUC as recently proposed in public health research [37]. By doing so we pioneer a new *imaginative* approach in social epidemiology [48] that goes beyond probabilities to explain heterogeneity around averages [36, 37, 49]. Our study indicates that neither SEP nor SES sufficiently increases the AUC of a model including only age for discriminating patients with, from those without COPD. Therefore, interventions exclusively directed at people with low income might convey the risk of stigmatizing people who already bear a high load of psychosocial stress and impaired material resources. Based on our results, prevention of COPD should not exclusively be understood as a fundamental socioeconomic issue. However, we have used rather simple categorizations of income that may not properly capture the social and economic heterogeneity in the distribution of COPD risk. For instance, the materialistic approach hypothesizes health depends on what resources a person possesses.

This study is based on the assumption that income captures purchasing power. Nevertheless, the same amount of money might be less efficient in "buying health" if, for example, you are a female immigrant and have a low SEP compared to a rich man born in Sweden. We also discussed this in previous studies from the analogous perspective of multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity [36]. The key idea is to understand social heterogeneity by identifying categories that better discriminate between who suffers from COPD and who not. Future research should include intersectional analyses as a model for identifying socially defined groups that are more vulnerable to poor health outcomes [50]. Given the higher precision when including more variables, it is possible to identify smaller groups suffering from the consequences of structural inequalities and at high risk for COPD and where interventions are more easily affordable than for the whole population. Combining intersectionality theory with measures of discriminatory accuracy may be a useful tool in modern social epidemiology as recently indicated [36, 37].

### Conclusions

In conclusion, it seems that limited material resources per se are more relevant than the psychosocial consequences of having a relatively lower status than others with a similar income. Our results, therefore, suggest that the materialistic explanatory model is more relevant than the psychosocial relative income model for understanding socioeconomic disparities in COPD risk. However, the rather low DA of both SEP and SES suggest that public health interventions should target the structural factors in the whole society, rather than target specific income groups.

#### Abbreviations

AUC: Area under receiver-operating characteristic curve; CI: Confidence interval; COPD: Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; DA: Discriminatory accuracy; OR: Odds ratio; SEP: Socioeconomic position; SES: Socioeconomic status

#### Acknowledgements

We want to thank Raquel Perez Vicente for her assistance with the database and statistical analyses.

#### Funding

This work was supported by the Swedish Scientific Council (# 2013-2484, Pl: Juan Merlo) and research funds from the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, and Region Skåne County Council.

#### Availability of data and material

The database we analyzed is not publicly available for ethical and data safety reasons according to the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare. However, the same dataset can be constructed by request to the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare after approval of the research project by an Ethical Committee and by the data safety committee at the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare.

#### Authors' contribution

Both authors made substantial contributions to conception and design of the study. JM acquired the data. SAF performed the analysis and both authors revised and interpreted the data. SAF wrote the first draft of the manuscript and JM revised it. Both authors have approved the final version and take public responsibility for the content.

#### Competing interests

Both authors declare they have no competing interests.

#### Consent for publication

Not applicable.

#### Ethics approval

The Regional Ethics Review Board in southern Sweden (# 2012/637) as well as the data safety committees from the National Board of Health and Welfare and from Statistics Sweden approved the construction of the database used in this study.

#### Publisher's Note

Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

Received: 26 January 2017 Accepted: 25 April 2017 Published online: 04 May 2017

#### References

- Agusti AG. COPD, a multicomponent disease: implications for management. Respir Med. 2005;99:670–82.
- Pauwels RA, Buist AS, Calverley PM, Jenkins CR, Hurd SS. Global strategy for the diagnosis, management, and prevention of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. NHLB/WHO global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease (GOLD) workshop summary. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2001;163:1256–76.
- Socialstyrelsen: Nationella riktlinjer Utvärdering 2014 Vård vid astma och KOL. vol. 1. pp. 24; 2014:24.
- Pierson DJ. Clinical practice guidelines for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a review and comparison of current resources. Respir Care. 2006;51:277–88.
- Gershon AS, Dolmage TE, Stephenson A, Jackson B. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and socioeconomic status: a systematic review. COPD. 2012;9:216–26.
- Kainu A, Rouhos A, Sovijarvi A, Lindqvist A, Sarna S, Lundback B. COPD in Helsinki, Finland: socioeconomic status based on occupation has an important impact on prevalence. Scand J Public Health. 2013;41:570–8.
- Lange P, Marott JL, Vestbo J, Ingebrigtsen TS, Nordestgaard BG. Socioeconomic status and prognosis of COPD in Denmark. COPD. 2014;11:431–7.
- Der G. Absolute income and life expectancy. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2001;55:151–2.
- 9. Kawachi I, Subramanian SV, Almeida-Filho N. A glossary for health inequalities. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2002;56:647–52.
- 10. Marmot M. Status Syndrome. London: Bloomsbury Publishing; 2007.
- Muntaner C, Lynch J, Oates GL. The social class determinants of income inequality and social cohesion. Int J Health Serv. 1999;29:699–732.
- Muntaner C, Rai N, Ng E, Chung H. Social class, politics, and the spirit level: Why income inequality remains unexplained and unsolved. Int J Health Serv. 2012;42:369–81.
- Marmot M, Wilkinson RG. Psychosocial and material pathways in the relation between income and health: a response to Lynch et al. BNJ. 2001;322:1233–6.
- Hillemeier MM, Lynch J, Harper S, Raghunathan T, Kaplan GA. Relative or absolute standards for child poverty: a state-level analysis of infant and child mortality. Am J Public Health. 2003;93:652–7.
- Groffen DA, Bosma H, Tan FE, van den Akker M, Kempen GI, van Eijk JT. Material vs. psychosocial explanations of old-age educational differences in physical and mental functioning. Eur J Public Health. 2012;22:587–92.
- Lynch JW, Smith GD, Kaplan GA, House JS. Income inequality and mortality: importance to health of individual income, psychosocial environment, or material conditions. BMJ. 2000;320:1200–4.
- Muntaner C, Ng E, Chung H, Prins SJ. Two decades of Neo-marxist class analysis and health inequalities: a critical reconstruction. Soc Theory Health. 2015;13:267–87.
- Reagan PB, Salsberry PJ, Olsen RJ. Does the measure of economic disadvantage matter? exploring the effect of individual and relative deprivation on intrauterine growth restriction. Soc Sci Med. 2007;6:42016–29.
- From the Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of COPD, Global Initiative for Oronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD) 2017. http://goldcopd.org/gold-2017-global-strategy-diagnosis-management-preventioncopd/. Accessed 30 Apr 2017.
- Hedman L, Andersson M, Stridsman C, Ronmark E. Evaluation of a tobacco prevention programme among teenagers in Sweden. BMJ Open. 2015;5:e007673.
- Fernandez-Álvíra JM, Bornhorst C, Bammann K, Gwozdz W, Krogh V, Hebestreit A, Barba G, Reisch L, Eiben G, Igleisa I, et al. Prospective associations between socio-economic status and dietary patterns in european children: the identification and prevention of dietary- and lifestyle-induced health effects in children and infants (DEFICS) study. Br J Nutr. 2015;113:517–25.
- Wurtz ET, Schlunssen V, Malling TH, Hansen JG, Omland O. Occupational COPD among Danish never-smokers: a population-based study. Occup Environ Med. 2015;72:456–9.
- Eisner MD, Anthonisen N, Coultas D, Kuenzli N, Perez-Padilla R, Postma D, Romieu I, Silverman EK, Balmes JR. An official american thoracic society public policy statement: novel risk factors and the global burden of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2010;18:2693–718.

- Larsson SL, C-G. KOL en multifaktoriell systemsjukdom. Läkartidningen 2007; 104: 1028-1031.
- Wilkinson RG, Pickett K: The Spirit Level: Why More Equal Societies Almost Always Do Better. Allen Lane; 2009.
- Lynch J, Due P, Muntaner C, Smith GD. Social capital-is it a good investment strategy for public health? J Epidemiol Community Health. 2000;54:404–8.
- Marmot MG, Smith GD, Stansfeld S, Patel C, North F, Head J, White I, Brunner E, Feeney A. Health inequalities among British civil servants: the Whitehall II study. Lancet. 1991;337:1387–93.
- Tobin M. Unhealthy societies Wilkinson, RG. J Public Health Med. 1997;19: 368–9.
- McEwen BS. Protective and damaging effects of stress mediators. N Engl J Med. 1998;338:171–9.
- Shively CA, Clarkson TB. Social status and coronary artery atherosclerosis in female monkeys. Arterioscler Thromb. 1994;14:721–6.
- Jutz R. The role of income inequality and social policies on income-related health inequalities in Europe. Int J Equity Health. 2015;14:117.
- Chaix B, Rosvall M, Lynch J, Merlo J. Disentangling contextual effects on causespecific mortality in a longitudinal 23-year follow-up study: impact of population density or socioeconomic environment? Int J Epidemiol. 2006;35:633–43.
- Hagstad S, Ekerljung L, Lindberg A, Backman H, Ronmark E, Lundback B. COPD among non-smokers - report from the obstructive lung disease in Northern Sweden (OLIN) studies. Respir Med. 2012;106:980–8.
- Lindberg A, Bjerg A, Ronmark E, Larsson LG, Lundback B. Prevalence and underdiagnosis of COPD by disease severity and the attributable fraction of smoking report from the obstructive lung disease in northern sweden studies. Respir Med. 2006;100:264–72.
- International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10th revision (ICD-10) WHO version for 2016
- Merlo J. Invited commentary: multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneitya fundamental critique of the current probabilistic risk factor epidemiology. Am J Epidemiol. 2014;180:208–12. discussion 213-204.
- Merlo J, Mulinari S. Measures of discriminatory accuracy and categorizations in public health: a response to Allan Krasnik's editorial. Eur J Public Health. 2015;25:910.
- Trachtenberg AJ, Dik N, Chateau D, Katz A. Inequities in ambulatory care and the relationship between socioeconomic status and respiratory hospitalizations: a population-based study of a canadian city. Ann Fam Med. 2014;12:402–7.
- Gerdtham U-G J. M: absolute income, relative income, income inequality and mortality? J Hum Resour. 2004;39:228–47.
- Inghammar M, Engstrom G, Lofdahl CG, Egesten A. Validation of a COPD diagnosis from the Swedish inpatient registry. Scand J Public Health. 2012;40:773–6.
- Lynch J, Kaplan G. Socioeconomic position. In: Berkman LF, Kawachi I, editors. Social epidemiology. New York: Oxford university press, inc; 2000. p. 13–35.
- Danielsson M, Gilliam H, Hemström Ö: Folkhälsorapport. Kapitel 10. Tobaksvanor och tobaksrelaterade besvär. pp. 297. https://www. socialstyrelsen.se/Lists/Artikelkatalog/Attachments/8495/2009-126-71.pdf: Socialstyrelsen; 2009:297.
- Forey BA, Thornton AJ, Lee PN. Systematic review with meta-analysis of the epidemiological evidence relating smoking to COPD, chronic bronchitis and emphysema. BMC Pulm Med. 2011;11:36.
- Miravitiles M, Naberan K, Cantoni J, Azpeitia A. Socioeconomic status and health-related quality of life of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. Respiration. 2011;82:402–8.
- Nordahl H. Social inequality in chronic disease outcomes. Dan Med J. 2014;61:B4943.
- Beckman A, Anell A. Changes in health care utilisation following a reform involving choice and privatisation in Swedish primary care: a five-year follow-up of GP-visits. BMC Health Serv Res. 2013;13:452.
- Burstrom B, Burstrom K, Nilsson G, Tomson G, Whitehead M, Winblad U. Equity aspects of the primary health care choice reform in sweden a scoping review. Int J Equity Health. 2017;16:29.
- Glymour MM, Rudolph KE. Causal inference challenges in social epidemiology: bias, specificity, and imagination. Soc Sci Med. 2016;166:258–65.
- Merlo J. Multilevel analytical approaches in social epidemiology: measures of health variation compared with traditional measures of association. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2003;57:550–2.
- Wemrell M, Mulinari S, Merlo J. Intersectionality and risk for ischemic heart disease in Sweden: categorical and anti-categorical approaches. Soc Sci Med. 2017;177:213–22.

# Submit your next manuscript to BioMed Central and we will help you at every step:

- We accept pre-submission inquiries
- · Our selector tool helps you to find the most relevant journal
- We provide round the clock customer support
- Convenient online submission
- Thorough peer review
- Inclusion in PubMed and all major indexing services
- Maximum visibility for your research

Submit your manuscript at www.biomedcentral.com/submit



# Paper II

#### SSM - Population Health 4 (2018) 334-346



#### Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# SSM - Population Health

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/ssmph

## Article

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in Sweden: An intersectional multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy



Sten Axelsson Fisk<sup>a,\*</sup>, Shai Mulinari<sup>a</sup>, Maria Wemrell<sup>a</sup>, George Leckie<sup>b</sup>, Raquel Perez Vicente<sup>a</sup>, Juan Merlo<sup>a,c</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Unit for Social Epidemiology, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Sweden

<sup>b</sup> Centre for Multilevel Modelling, University of Bristol, UK

<sup>c</sup> Center for Primary Health Research, Region Skåne, Malmö, Sweden

#### ARTICLE INFO

Keywords: Intersectionality Incidence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease Multilevel analysis Individual heterogeneity Equity in health Socioeconomic determinants of health Respiratory epidemiology

#### ABSTRACT

Socioeconomic, ethnic and gender disparities in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) risk are well established but no studies have applied multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA) within an intersectional framework to study this outcome. We study individuals at the first level of analysis and combinations of multiple social and demographic categorizations (i.e., intersectional strata) at the second level of analysis. Here we used MAIHDA to assess to what extent individual differences in the propensity of developing COPD are at the intersectional strata level. We also used MAIHDA to determine the degree of similarity in COPD incidence of individuals in the same intersectional stratum. This leads to an improved understanding of risk heterogeneity and of the social dynamics driving socioeconomic and demographic disparities in COPD incidence. Using data from 2,445,501 residents in Sweden aged 45-65, we constructed 96 intersectional strata combining categories of age, gender, income, education, civil- and migration status. The incidences of COPD ranged from 0.02% for young, native males with high income and high education who cohabited to 0.98% for older native females with low income and low education who lived alone. We calculated the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) that informs on the discriminatory accuracy of the categorizations. In a model that conflated additive and interaction effects, the ICC was good (20.0%). In contrast, in a model that measured only interaction effects, the ICC was poor (1.1%) suggesting that most of the observed differences in COPD incidence across strata are due to the main effects of the categories used to construct the intersectional matrix while only a minor share of the differences are attributable to intersectional interactions. We found conclusive interaction effects. The intersectional MAIHDA approach offers improved information to guide public health policies in COPD prevention, and such policies should adopt an intersectional perspective.

#### Introduction

Social epidemiological studies have long been criticized for the relative absence of explicit sociological theory (Krieger, 1994; Ng & Muntaner, 2014), and further integration of, and dialogue between, epidemiology and social theory has been advocated (Wenrell, Merlo, Mulinari & Hornborg, 2016). From this perspective, and following similar initiatives in the social sciences, several authors have argued for an integration of intersectionality theory within epidemiology and public health (Bauer, 2014; Bowleg, 2008; Evans, Williams, Onnela & Subramanian, 2017; Merlo, 2017; Merlo & Mulinari, 2015; Mulinari, Wenrell, Rönnerstrand, Subramanian & Merlo, 2017; Wenrell, Mulinari & Merlo, 2017b). The advantage of incorporating an intersectional framework in social epidemiology is that it goes beyond the unidimensional study of socioeconomic and demographic categorizations by considering the effect of belonging to specific strata simultaneously defined by multiple social, economic and demographic dimensions. Intersectionality theory stresses the possible existence of an interaction effect over and above the additive influence of the isolated dimensions (Bauer, 2014; Bowleg, 2008; Evans et al., 2017). In this study, we aim to apply an innovative methodological approach combining multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA) (Merlo, 2014, 2017) with an intersectional framework (Evans et al., 2017; Green, Evans & Subramanian, 2017;

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.03.005

Received 13 October 2017; Received in revised form 9 March 2018; Accepted 12 March 2018

2352-8273/ © 2018 The Authors. Published by Elsevier Ltd. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/BY-NC-ND/4.0/).

Abbreviations: MAIHDA, Multilevel Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy; CI, Credible Interval; DA, Discriminatory Accuracy; ICC, Intra Class Correlation \* Correspondence to: Unit for Social Epidemiology, CRC, Jan Waldenströms gata, 35, S-205 02, Malmö, Sweden.

E-mail addresses: sten.axelsson fisk@med.lu.se (S. Axelsson Fisk), shai.mulinari@med.lu.se (S. Mulinari), maria.wemrell@med.lu.se (M. Wemrell), g.leckie@bristol.ac.uk (G. Leckie), raquel.perez\_vicente@med.lu.se (R. Perez Vicente), juan.merlo@med.lu.se (J. Merlo).

Wemrell, Mulinari & Merlo, 2017a). This approach may improve our understanding of both the heterogeneous distribution of risk in the population and the social dynamics driving socioeconomic and demographic disparities in health.

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) constitutes a growing but underestimated population health challenge (GOLD, 2017) that by 2020 is predicted to become the third leading cause of death globally (Murray & Lopez, 1997). Smoking is considered the most important risk factor for COPD (GOLD, 2017). From a causal perspective, many individual level risk factors for COPD can be understood as downstream mediators of upstream social and economic determinants of health (Kaplan, 1999). While global initiatives are underway to investigate risk factors for COPD many, including smoking (Hiscock, Bauld, Amos, Fidler & Munafò, 2012), low birthweight (Brostrom, Akre, Katz-Salamon, Jaraj & Kaijser, 2013), exposure to biofuels (Po, FitzGerald & Carlsten, 2011) and hazardous particles in working environment (Boschetto et al., 2006) are differently distributed among social strata (GOLD, 2017). Whereas policy-documents may mention equity in health as an overarching aim (Schraufnagel et al., 2013; Socialstyrelsen, 2015b) the focus of clinical guidelines (GOLD, 2017) and public health strategies (Socialstyrelsen, 2015a) tend to downplay upstream interventions and little research is done on the social processes that drive disparities in COPD morbidity. Altogether, this may contribute to the image of COPD as a self-inflicted smoking related disease and increase feelings of guilt among COPD-patients (Lindqvist & Hallberg, 2010; Strang et al., 2014).

There is strong evidence that social and economic factors influence the risk of COPD (Gershon, Dolmage, Stephenson & Jackson, 2012; Schraufnagel et al., 2013; Stringhini et al. 2017). Most epidemiological studies consider one social categorization at a time (gender, class, civilor migration status etc.) while the others are adjusted for. A limitation in the literature on socioeconomic disparities in health in general and on COPD risk in particular is the disregard for heterogeneity within socioeconomic categories (Gershon et al., 2012; Kanervisto et al., 2011; Miravitlles, Naberan, Cantoni & Azpeitia, 2011). Typically, studies on socioeconomic disparities in COPD-morbidity report odds ratios (ORs) (Chen, Breithaupt & Muhajarine, 2000; Marmot, Shipley, Brunner & Hemingway, 2001; Montnemery et al., 2001) or differences in prevalence (Eachus et al., 1996; Kainu et al., 2013), or other measurements of average risk differences, between social strata based on one factor at a time (e.g., income, education and occupation). This may inadvertently strengthen the belief in the effectiveness of selective interventions based on unidimensional categorizations. Indeed, some researchers suggest selective screening of COPD among people with low socioeconomic status (Dirven et al., 2013; Pleasants, Riley & Mannino, 2016). Yet it is known that measurements of average risk differences are insufficient to inform on the ability of an exposure category to discriminate individuals with an outcome from those without it. For instance, an OR that is usually considered high, for example OR=10, can be associated with a low discriminatory accuracy (DA), due to heterogeneity within categories and overlap between categories (Merlo, Mulinari, Wemrell, Subramanian & Hedblad, 2017; Pepe, Janes, Longton, Leisenring & Newcomb, 2004). We have previously suggested that when reporting and interpreting risk factors, measures of average associations should be accompanied by analyses of heterogeneity using measures of DA, such as the area under the ROC curve or the intra-class correlation coefficient (ICC) obtained in multilevel regression modeling (Merlo, 2003, 2014, 2017; Merlo & Mulinari, 2015; Merlo, Chaix, Yang, Lynch & Råstam, 2005; Merlo et al., 2017).

As a further development of this line of research we (Merlo, 2014, 2017; Wemrell et al., 2017a) and other scholars (Evans et al., 2017; Jones, Johnston & Manley, 2016) have recently suggested the use of multilevel analysis of variance within an intersectional matrix framework. From the perspective of social epidemiology (Merlo, 2017), the intersectional MAIHDA approach can be used to evaluate the strength of intersectional strata for disease prediction. Among several

conceptual and technical advantages (Evans et al., 2017; Jones et al., 2016; Merlo, 2017) the intersectional MAIHDA approach provides a feasible way of measuring multiple interactions and analysing groups of small size. By considering the social context (i.e., intersectional strata) as a higher level in the multilevel analysis, this approach also avoids the treatment of societal factors as individual level characteristics.

In the present study we apply MAIHDA to investigate an intersectional matrix that simultaneously considers different social power dimensions and therefore may improve our understanding of the socioeconomic, gendered and ethnically patterned distribution of COPD in society. Our investigation had three specific aims. First, we aimed to provide a detailed intersectional map of COPD risk in the population in order to evaluate to what extent intersectional categorizations help predict COPD at the individual level. Second, we sought to investigate whether potential differences in average incidence for COPD between intersectional strata depend on intersectional interaction or if the average risk differences are explained by the additive effects of the dimensions used to construct the intersectional matrix. Our third aim was to contribute to methodological development by applying intersectional MAIHDA in social epidemiology in general and the study of socioeconomic disparities in COPD incidence in particular.

#### Population and methods

#### Study population

The National Board of Health and Welfare, in coordination with Statistics Sweden, linked the register of the Total Swedish Population to other national databases such as the National Inpatient Register, the National Mortality Register, and the Longitudinal Integration Database for Health Insurance and Labor Market Studies (LISA), using the unique personal identification number given to each person residing in Sweden. In the data we analysed, the identification numbers were replaced with arbitrary numbers to safeguard the anonymity of the subjects. The Regional Ethics Review Board in southern Sweden as well as the data safety committees from the National Board of Health and Welfare and from Statistics Sweden approved the construction of the database used in this study.

In Fig. 1 we have visualized the selection of individuals included in the database. We restricted the population to individuals aged 45 years and older since COPD is a rare condition below that age (GOLD, 2017). To avoid the confounding effect of retirement we did not include individuals older than 65 years, which is the official age of retirement in Sweden. From 2,536,789 individuals aged 45 to 65 years and residing in Sweden at the baseline date of December, 31st 2010, we excluded 11,722 individuals who died during 2010 or 2011. We also excluded 54,161 individuals who had spent less than 5 years in Sweden to assure that the information on previous diagnosis of COPD was reliable. We also excluded 3643 individuals that emigrated during 2011 to make sure we could obtain information on incident COPD. Finally, since our study was concerned with incidence (i.e., new cases) of COPD, we excluded 21,762 individuals who received a COPD-diagnosis between 2006 and 2010. This rendered a final study sample of 2,445,501 individuals or 96% of the Swedish population in that age span.

#### Assessment of variables

The outcome variable was the presence or absence of a new diagnosis of COPD between January 1st, 2011 and December 31st, 2011. We defined COPD based on hospital diagnosis (visit to a hospital clinic or hospital discharge) using one of the following International Statistical Classification of Diseases and related Health Problems 10<sup>th</sup> revision (WHO, 2016) (ICD-10) codes: J40 (bronchitis, not specified as acute or chronic), J41 (simple and mucopurulent chronic bronchitis), J42 (unspecified chronic bronchitis), J43 (emphysema), or J44 (other chronic obstructive pulmonary disease).



Fig. 1. Flow diagram showing the selection of the study population.

We categorized age into two categories (45-54 and 55-65). Gender was dichotomized as male or female according to legal status. We calculated household individualized disposable income by dividing the total disposable income of a family by the number of family members, taking into account the different consumption weights of adults and children, according to Statistics Sweden. Using the tertile values of the income distribution we divided the study population into three groups, termed high, medium and low income. We constructed two education categories based on whether individuals had any further education after high school or not, and these categories were also termed high and low. We computed a cohabitation variable by categorizing people that lived together as a married couple, in a registered partnership or with a common child as cohabiting and grouping all others into another category termed living alone. Finally, migration status was defined using information on country of birth from Statistics Sweden. We categorized people born outside Sweden as immigrants and individuals born in Sweden as natives.

#### Intersectional multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity

We created a matrix with 96 intersectional strata based on combinations of age, gender, income, education, country of birth and cohabitation (96 =  $2 \times 2 \times 3 \times 3 \times 2 \times 2 \times 2$ ). The choice of these intersectional locations was restricted by the available information but it was to the largest degree possible informed by previous intersectional research (Bauer, 2014; Collins, 2002; Veenstra, 2013) and by what is known about associations between different social dimensions and mediators for COPD risk. Using this matrix, we performed an intersectional MAIHDA (Evans et al., 2017; Green et al., 2017; Merlo, 2017; Wemrell et al., 2017a) with individuals at the first level and the intersectional strata at the second level. We modelled COPD risk through three successive multilevel logistic regression models and estimated the predicted incidences and 95% credible intervals (CIs). To make the article as accessible as possible, we restrict the technical details of these models to Supplemental materials.

#### Model 1: Simple intersectional model

The first model is an *unadjusted*, random intercepts model (i.e., a variance components model) with individuals nested within intersectional strata. The purpose of this model was two-fold. First, we performed simple analysis of components of variance in order to calculate the ICC. This measure expresses the share of the total individual variance in the propensity for developing COPD that is at the intersectional stratum level. The higher the ICC, the greater the degree of similarity in COPD incidence within the strata and the greater the difference in ricidence between the strata. Models with higher ICCs are therefore better at discriminating individuals that developed COPD from those that did not, compared to models with lower ICCs. In summary, the ICC evaluates the relevance of the intersectional strata for understanding individual risk heterogeneity. The ICC also informs on the DA of the intersectional categorization for distinguishing individuals with COPD from those without.

To calculate the ICC, we used the most popular version of the ICC derived from the latent response formulation of the model. This ICC was computed as:

$$ICC = \frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_u^2 + 3.29} \tag{1}$$

where  $\sigma_u^2$  denotes the between-stratum variance in the propensity to receive a new COPD diagnosis and 3.29 denotes the within-stratumbetween-individual variance constrined equal to the variance of the standard logistic distribution (Goldstein, Browne & Rasbash, 2002; Merlo et al., 2005). There is currently no official grading scale for interpreting the magnitude of the ICC within social epidemiology. However, in line with the terminology suggested for evaluation of psychometric test reliability (Cicchetti, 1994) we consider that a reasonable grading for social epidemiologic purposes could be (ICC as %): nonexistent (0–1), poor (> 1 to  $\leq$  5), fair (> 5 to  $\leq$  10), good (> 10 to  $\leq$ 20), very good (> 20 to  $\leq$  30), excellent (> 30).

The second purpose of this model was to calculate predicted incidence and the 95% CIs for every intersectional stratum. For doing so, and in order to use an additive scale, we transformed the predicted logit (log-odds) of receiving a new COPD diagnosis in stratum *j* obtained in the multilevel logistic regression into the probability of receiving a new COPD diagnosis in stratum *j* according the formula

$$\pi_j = \text{logit}^{-1}(\beta_0 + u_j) \tag{2}$$

#### Model 2: Partially-adjusted intersectional model

The purpose of the *partially adjusted* model 2 was to quantify to what degree the different dimensions used to construct the intersectional strata contributed to the between stratum variance seen in the previous model. In six different versions we expanded model 1 by adjusting for one of these dimensions at a time (i.e., a different model for each dimension). Thereafter we calculated the Proportional Change in the between-stratum Variance (PCVs):

$$PCV = \frac{\sigma_{u(1)}^{2} - \sigma_{u(2)}^{2}}{\sigma_{u(1)}^{2}}$$
(3)

where  $\sigma_{u(1)}^2$  and  $\sigma_{u(2)}^2$  denote the between-stratum variance from models 1 and 2 respectively. PCVs are typically multiplied by 100 and reported as percentages.

#### Model 3: Intersectional interaction model

The ICC of model 1 represents the ceiling of the explanatory power of the intersectional strata and encompasses both additive and potential interactive effects of the variables that define the strata. Model 3 expands model 1 by simultaneously including as fixed main effects all the variables used to construct the intersectional strata. In the absence of stratum specific interactions, the inclusion of the main effects would completely explain between stratum variance and all 96 stratum random effects would equal zero. If this is not the case, the stratum variance and corresponding ICC of model 3 represents that part of the original model 1 stratum variance that is due to intersectional interaction effects, at least in relation to the set of variables included. This model also yields mutually adjusted unidimensional ORs representing the main effects of age, gender, income, education, civil status and migration status, respectively.

Model 3 was used to calculate total predicted incidences (main effects and interactive effects) and predicted incidences based on the main effects only. By subtracting the incidence attributable to main effects from the total incidence we isolated the incidence attributable to interaction in each intersectional stratum. We also calculated their 95% CIs. A positive interaction effect means that individuals in that intersectional stratum have a higher incidence than expected based on the simple addition of the risks conveyed by the categories that constitute the intersectional stratum, while a negative interaction means a lower incidence than expected. For further details, see the statistical details.

#### Software

The models were fitted using Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) methods as implemented in MLwiN version 3.01 (Browne, 2017; Charlton, Rasbash, Browne, Healy & Cameron, 2017). We called MLwiN from within Stata version 14.1 using the runmlwin command (Leckie & Charlton, 2013).

#### Results

Overall, 0.22% (5419/2,445,501) of the study population developed COPD in 2011. As expected, we observed (Table 1, model 3) that, compared to men, women had a higher incidence of COPD. The same was true for high compared to low age, low and medium compared to high income, low compared to high education, as well as for people living alone and immigrants compared to people cohabiting and natives, respectively.

Table 2 (for full version see Table A1 Appendix) presents the number of individuals, number of new cases of COPD, and the model 1 total predicted incidences (main effects and interaction effects). The stratum with the highest predicted incidence of COPD comprised older (0.98%, 95%CI: 0.89%–1.08%). It was followed by the strata including older immigrant females, with low income and low education who lived alone (0.87%, 95%CI: 0.72%–1.05%) and older immigrant males with low income and low education who lived alone (0.82%, 95%CI: 0.66%–1.00%).

At the other side of the spectrum, the strata with lowest predicted incidences included young native males with high income and high education who cohabited (0.02%, 95%CI: 0.01%–0.04%). It was followed by young native males with medium income and high education who cohabited (0.03% 95%CI:0.02%–0.04%) and by young native males with low income and high education who cohabited (0.03%, 95%CI: 0.02%–0.05%).

The ICC of model 1 (see Table 1) was good (i.e., 20.0%), which means that a substantial share of the total individual differences in the propensity of suffering from COPD was at the intersectional strata level. In the age-adjusted model (model 2) the ICC fell to 10.8%, which demonstrates that half of the clustering of COPD incidence observed in model 1 was attributable to the age of the individuals. In similar analyses with adjustment for one dimension at a time (not shown in tables) the ICC changed to 17.7%, 17.8%, 18.2%, 20.0 and 20.4% when we adjusted for civil status, education, income, migration status and gender respectively. Thus, age was by far the most important single factor in explaining variation in the propensity of developing COPD between strata. In the intersectional interaction model (model 3) the ICC dropped to 1.1%, which suggests that additive rather than interactive effects of age, gender, income, education, civil status and country of birth, explain most of the differences in COPD incidence across intersectional strata.

Fig. 2 demonstrates the heterogeneity between intersectional strata in predicted COPD incidence based on model 1 and thus conflating main and interaction effects of the six social dimensions. Fig. 3 demonstrates the small changes in predicted incidence in model 3 when comparing predictions based on the total effects with predictions based on main effects only. The difference between these predictions represent the interaction effects. The isolated interaction effects are visualized in Fig. 4. Most strata have interaction effects that cannot be statistically distinguished from 0. Three strata, however, have positive interactions and 95% CIs excluding 0: young native women with low income and low education who cohabited (interaction effect 0.13 95%CI 0.07-0.20), young native males with low income, low education who lived alone (interaction effect 0.08 95%CI 0.03-0.13) and young native women with medium income and low education who lived alone (interaction effect 0.06 95%CI 0.01-0.11). This finding is consistent with the poor ICC observed in model 3 and illustrates that the interaction effects are small.

#### Discussion

Our study advances social epidemiological research by incorporating MAIHDA (Merlo, 2014) within an intersectionality framework (Merlo, 2017). By doing so, we go beyond undimensional measures of socioeconomic position to improve our understanding of risk heterogeneity and social dynamics driving disparities in COPD incidence in the society. While MAIHDA has mainly been applied for investigating geographical (Merlo, 2003; Merlo, Wagner, Ghith & Leckie, 2016) and institutional effects (Ghith, Wagner, Frolich & Merlo, 2016; Ohlsson, Librero, Sundquist, Sundquist & Merlo, 2011) on individual outcomes, pioneers scholars (Evans et al., 2017; Green et al., 2017) have applied this methodology for analysing an intersectional matrix of interlocking social dimensions. This innovative approach represents, we think, a major step forward in the study of socioeconomic and demographic disparities in health in general, including COPD incidence.

Socioeconomic distribution of COPD incidence and intersectional interaction

We found that intersectional strata defined by combinations of age, gender, income, education, civil status and country of birth provided good information for classifying individuals according to their COPD incidence in Sweden, with an ICC of 20.0%. The intersectional strata effect was mostly additive, and half of it due to the age differences between the strata. About 1.1% of the individual differences in COPD risk were due to the interaction effect between the variables defining the intersectional strata.

The intersectional multilevel approach allowed us to map socioeconomic differences in health in the population and, thereby, identify specific strata with an overtly increased COPD incidence (e.g., older native females with low income and low education who lived alone).

#### Table 1

Results from the intersectional multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity in Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) risk, for people aged 45–65 residing in Sweden 2010, according to demographic and socioeconomic groupings used to construct intersectional strata. Model 1 (simple intersectional is a random intercepts model with individuals nested in intersectional strata. Model 2 (age adjusted) is partially adjusted for and model 3 (intersectional interaction) is adjusted for all the main variables used to define the intersectional strata. In this table we present only measures of variance and of association (ORs and 95% CIs) between the main individual variables and COPD risk. The incidences for specific intersectional strata are hidden in this table but we present them in Fig. 2 and in Table 2 and Table A1 (Appendix). The green boxes indicate the actual category. For each category, we show the total number of individuals and the absolute incidence of COPD.

H a	igh ge	Fei gei	nale nder	I	ncon	ne	Lo educ	ow ation	Liv alc	ing me	Im gr	mi- ant	Number (% COPD)	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
No	Yes	No	Yes	Hi	Me	Lo	No	Yes	No	Yes	No	Yes			OR (95% CI)	OR (95%CI)
													1180420 (0.10)		Ref.	Ref.
													1265081 (0.33)		3.79(2.90-4.91)	3.62 (3.22-4.08)
													1228715 (0.20)			Ref.
													1216786 (0.24)			1.21 (1.08–1.36)
													831992 (0.14)			Ref.
													829423 (0.21)			1.52 (1.31-1.76)
													784086 (0.32)			2.25 (1.96-2.59)
													1070164 (0.11)			Ref.
													1375337 (0.30)			1.97 (1.76-2.21)
													1665239 (0.16)			Ref.
													780262 (0.36)			1.88 (1.69-2.10)
													2080162 (0.21)			Ref.
													365339 (0.26)			1.15 (1.01-1.29)
			V	'aria	ince l	betw	een s	trata (	SE)					0.83 (0.14)	0.40 (0.07)	0.04 (0.01)
Intra Class Correlation (95% Credible Interval)						)			20.0 (15.6-25.6)	10.8 (8.1–14.1)	1.1 (0.6-2.1)					
	Bayesian diagnostic information criterion (DIC)					661.87	650.21	628.31								

#### Table 2

Total number of individuals, number of cases of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) and predicted incidence in 2011 for people aged 45-65 residing in Sweden on Dec 31st 2010, by intersectional strata. Predictions are based on model 1 multilevel regression analysis with individuals at the first level and intersectional strata at the second level. Main effects and interactive effects are conflated. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tretiles in the whole population aged 45–65 years, education, civil status and country of birth. Intersectional strata are ordered according to predicted incidence of COPD, with increasing incidence in descending rows. For a full table with data for all 96 intersectional strata, see Appendix Table A1.

Aį	ge	Ger	nder	h	ncom	e	Educ	ation	Liv alc	ing one	Immi	grant			Model 1	
45-54	55-65	Male	Female	High	Medium	Low	High	Low	No	Yes	Yes	No	Number of individuals	Number of cases	Incidence	95% Credible interval
			The	five st	trata	with l	owest	incide	ence (	of Chr	onic C	)bstru	ctive Pulmoi	hary Diseas	e in 2011	
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	50798	9	0.02	(0.01 – 0.04)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	72164	19	0.03	(0.02 - 0.04)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	54482	16	0.03	(0.02 – 0.05)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	74237	26	0.04	(0.03 – 0.05)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		6991	1	0.04	(0.01 – 0.09)
			The f	five st	rata v	vith h	ighest	t incid	ence	of Ch	ronic (	Dbstru	ictive Pulmo	nary Diseas	e in 2011	
	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		2957	19	0.59	(0.36 – 0.90)
	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	45939	370	0.80	(0.72 – 0.88)
	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		10450	88	0.82	(0.66 – 1.00)
	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		12805	113	0.87	(0.72 – 1.05)
	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	41513	409	0.98	(0.89 – 1.08)

#### Table 3

Incidence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease during 2011 for people aged 45-65 residing in Sweden on Dec 31st 2010, by intersectional strata. Predicted incidences and their 95% CIs based on the total effect (intersectional effects and main effects) and main effects only, in model 3. Interaction effects calculated as total effect minus main effect. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tertiles in the whole population aged 45-65 years, education, living alone and immigration status. In this table only the five strata with the most negative (protective) and the most positive (hazardous) interaction effects are shown. Intersectional strata are ordered according to their interaction effects with the lowest first and increased interaction effects in descending rows. Strata with 95% CIs excluding 0 are bold. For a full table showing data for all 96 intersectional strata, see Table A2 in Appendix and Figs. 3 and 4.

	Age	Gender	Income	Educa	ation	Livi alo	ing ne	Immi	grant				Model 3		
2	65	ale	v Jiu	÷	3	0	ŝ	ŝ	0	Total		Main effec	ts	Total - main	effects
15	55-14	Fen	L Mei Hig	Ξ	2	ž	Ye	Υe	ž	Incidence	95% CI	Incidence	95% CI	Interaction	95% CI
					The	e five i	interse	ectiona	al strat	ta with the mo	st negative (prot	ective) interad	ction effect		
	$\checkmark$	√	$\checkmark$		√ _		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		0.92	0.77 - 1.07	1.06	0.92 - 1.23	-0.15	-0.35 - 0.06
	$\checkmark$	√	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		0.59	0.46 - 0.75	0.72	0.61 - 0.84	-0.13	-0.28 - 0.04
	$\checkmark$	✓	1		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		0.45	0.36 - 0.55	0.57	0.49 - 0.65	-0.11	-0.23 - 0.00
	$\checkmark$	✓	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		0.23	0.17 - 0.31	0.29	0.25 - 0.34	-0.06	-0.12 - 0.02
	$\checkmark$	1	1		√ _		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	0.29	0.25 - 0.33	0.34	0.29 - 0.40	-0.05	-0.12 - 0.01
					Th	e five	inters	ection	al stra	ta with the mo	st positive (haza	rdous) interac	tion effect		
$\checkmark$		✓	$\checkmark$		√ _		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	0.23	0.18 - 0.28	0.17	0.15 - 0.20	0.06	0.01 - 0.11
	$\checkmark$	✓	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		0.51	0.37 – 0.72	0.45	0.38 - 0.53	0.06	-0.08 - 0.25
	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	_	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		0.39	0.29 - 0.50	0.32	0.27 – 0.37	0.07	-0.02 - 0.18
$\checkmark$	_	1	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	0.29	0.25 - 0.35	0.21	0.18 - 0.25	0.08	0.03 - 0.13
$\checkmark$		✓	$\checkmark$		√		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	0.39	0.33 - 0.45	0.26	0.22 - 0.30	0.13	0.07 - 0.20



Fig. 2. Predicted incidence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease in 2011 for people aged 45–65 residing in Sweden on Dec 31st 2010, by intersectional strata. Predictions are based on model 1 multilevel regression analysis with individuals at the first level and intersectional strata at the second level. Main effects and interactive effects are conflated. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tertiles in the whole population aged 45–65 years, education, civil status and country of birth. Intersectional strata are ordered according to their rank, strata with lowest rank to the left. For identification of the different intersectional strata, see Table 2 and Table A1.

The same was true for identifying groups with a lower COPD incidence (e.g., young native males with high income and high education who cohabited). The incidence in the most vulnerable stratum was 49 times higher than the incidence in the most protected stratum. Compared to studies focused on unidimensional demographic and socioeconomic measures, this approach allows for a better understanding of the distribution of COPD incidence in the population. For example, both low income and low education are considered to be socioeconomic predictors of COPD (Gershon et al., 2012). Nevertheless, young men with high education that cohabited with another adult and were born in Sweden always belong to the strata with the lowest predicted incidence = 0.02%, 95%CI 0.01–0.04%), medium (predicted incidence = 0.03%



Fig. 3. Incidence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease during 2011 for people aged 45–65 residing in Sweden on Dec 31<sup>st</sup> 2010, by intersectional strata. Point estimates of predicted incidences based on model 3. Black circles indicate the incidence according to predictions based on the total effect (intersectional effects and main effects) while white circles indicate the incidence according to predictions based on main effects only. The differences between black and white circle depict the interaction effects. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tertiles in the whole population aged 45–65 years, education, living alone and immigration status. To identify the different intersectional strata, see Table 3 and Table A2 (Appendix).

95%CI 0.02–0.04%) or low (predicted incidence = 0.03%, 95%CI: 0.02–0.05%). This indicates that with sufficient protecting factors, exposure to low income is not as hazardous as it is for individuals lacking those protective factors. On the other hand, older men with low income who were cohabiting and had immigrated had a clear COPD risk despite high education (predicted incidence = 0.60 95%CI 0.36–0.90). These results show that a protective factor like high education cannot counterbalance increased COPD-risk caused by additive hazardous effects of other social exposures. Intersectional MAIHDA, thus, provides worthy quantitative information on how societal factors that condition COPD risk intersect and overlap.

Though the ICC of model 3 that isolated interaction effects was poor



Fig. 4. Intersectional interaction effects on incidence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease during 2011 for people aged 45–65 residing in Sweden on Dec 31<sup>4\*</sup> 2010, by intersectional strata. Point estimates of the incidences attributable to intersectional interaction and their 95% CIs based on model 3. Interaction effects are calculated as the incidence according to the total effect (intersectional effects and main effects) minus incidence according to main effect only, for each intersectional stratum. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tertiles in the whole population aged 45–65 years, education, living alone and immigration status. Intersectional strata are ordered according to their intersectional interaction effect. To identify the different intersectional strata, see Table 3 and Table A2 (Appendix).

and only three of the 96 strata had interaction effects with 95% CIs excluding 0, which is about what would be expected by chance, the directions of the interactions are interesting. For example, among young women with low education and low income that lived alone, intersectional interaction may explain why natives had higher incidence of COPD than immigrants. A previous study using a fixed effects approach found interactions between gender and race in the USA (Fuller-Thomson, Chisholm & Brennenstuhl, 2016). Also, a study of lung cancer mortality in the USA with an explicit intersectional approach comprising gender, race, income and education found that black men had a higher mortality risk than white men but black women had markedly lower mortality risk than white women (Williams et al., 2012). Intersectional interaction has been shown for obesity in the USA using multilevel analyses (Evans et al., 2017), but not for ischemic heart disease in Sweden applying a traditional logistic regression analyses and measures of DA (Wemrell et al., 2017b). Altogether, this suggests that whether or not intersectional interaction takes place depends on both the context and the studied outcome, which underscores the importance of replicating intersectional findings in different contexts and for distinct health outcomes.

#### Implications of MAIHDA for social epidemiology of COPD incidence

From a public health perspective, it is less important however whether observed differences between intersectional strata are due to additive or interaction effects. The analysis of ICC, on the other hand, is relevant for public health researchers and policy-makers. The ICC provides analogous information to that delivered by measures of DA, which is a standard measure for evaluating biomarkers and diagnostic tests (Pepe et al., 2004). While measures of DA are used for the evaluation of predictive risk models among COPD-patients (Garcia-Rivero et al., 2016; Sundh & Ekström, 2017), the DA approach is also being applied for questioning the role of traditional risk factors (Merlo et al., 2017), and other categorizations in public health (Merlo & Mulinari, 2015). Socioeconomic and demographic categorizations are cornerstone concepts in (social) epidemiology that provide fundamental

#### SSM - Population Health 4 (2018) 334-346

information for policy makers and clinicians. However, the relevance of such categorizations must be properly assessed.

While intersectional categories from the "normative" vantage point adopted in much qualitative intersectional research represent social locations whose relevance cannot be tested or refuted statistically (Hancock, 2013), from a public health perspective intersectionality generates empirically testable research questions that can guide quantitative social epidemiological research. More specifically, MAIHDA and the decomposition of the variance to within-group and between-group components is a suitable tool for the evaluation of the relevance of an intersectional categorization in quantitative public health research (Merlo, 2017).

A related and key question for public health is if selective interventions can be justified in specific strata on the basis of knowledge on the size of the difference between strata averages (e.g., differences in incidences between intersectional strata). The answer we propose to this question is influenced by the three perspectives or "complexities" within intersectionality that McCall recognizes (McCall, 2005): the intercategorical, the anticategorical and the intracategorical. According to this author, the anticategorical approach is based on the insight that social life is too complex for simple categorization and that unproblematized use of social categories runs the risk of essentialization and perpetuation of existing power structures of which such categorizations form part. Those social categories should be deconstructed since society is too complex to be reduced to simple categories and deconstructing categorizations is a way of deconstructing inequality itself. The intercategorical approach, accepts the provisional adoption of categories with the purpose of documenting inequalities between categories. Finally, the intracategorical approach tends to "focus on particular social groups at neglected points of intersection...in order to reveal the complexity of lived experiences within such groups" (McCall, 2005) (p.1774). The intracategorical approach is reasonable within a qualitative framework. However, from a quantitative perspective, the intracategorical approach cannot be distinguished from the intercategorical approach but it just suggests the need for a more detailed classification. Consequently, the intercategorical and anticategorical perspectives appear most relevant for addressing the question of whether selective intervention can be justified in specific intersectional strata on the basis of knowledge of the size of the difference between strata averages (Merlo, 2017; Mulinari et al., 2017; Wemrell et al., 2017a).

Specifically we argue, from an anti-categorical point of view, should the ICC be poor, an intervention in specific intersectional strata guided by difference between strata averages should be considered inappropriate since the overlap in individual risk heterogeneity between strata is very high. Even a good ICC of 20.0%, as found in our study, points towards substantial remaining heterogeneity regarding COPDincidence within intersectional strata. From a public health perspective, the increased incidence of COPD identified for some strata together with a good ICC supports intercategorical intersectionality and the idea of identifying societal factors that condition COPD risk in those specific strata. Besides, from a clinical perspective, a high DA also supports targeted interventions (for instance voluntary spirometry screening) in specific intersectional strata. In this case, the intersectional approach ensures a much higher accuracy than customary unidimensional analyses based on income, education or occupation gradients.

#### Strengths and weaknesses

Our study is based on a large database that covers the whole population of Sweden and the socioeconomic and demographic information is of high quality (Statistics Sweden, 2012). Noteworthy, the smallest stratum had 1236 individuals which increases the reliability of the stratum specific estimations and render unnecessary the use of shrunken residuals. Also, ICD-codes for COPD in Sweden have been validated and are sufficiently valid for epidemiological studies

(Inghammar, Engstrom, Lofdahl & Egesten, 2012). In this study, we analysed incidence rather than prevalence of COPD. This may generate more conservative results since more individuals were excluded due to prior COPD-diagnosis in strata with high incidence of COPD than in more privileged strata with a low incidence. We chose to study incidence to avoid reverse causality between income and COPD (i.e., existence of COPD leads to low income rather than the opposite).

In intersectionality theory, focus is directed towards power dynamics and social processes that position individuals along interwoven axes of socio-economic differentiation in society. In register studies, these processes (e.g., capitalist exploitation, sexism, racism) are not accessible for direct investigation but are measured through proxies (e.g., individual income, education, sex, country of birth). Whereas this flaw is inherent to intersectional register studies, we have designed our matrix using variables that are as close to the power dynamics of interest as possible. Due to lack of further information about gender, this variable was subject to binary definition as male or female, although this excludes recognition of people of trans- or non-binary gender. We did not have information on sexual orientation, which limits the accuracy of our intersectional stratification since homo- and transphobia are important components in intersectionality research (Collins, 2002) and since some risk factors for COPD are more prevalent among Lesbian-Gay-Bisexual-Transgender individuals (Jannat-Khah, Dill Reynolds & Joseph, 2017). By using information on country of birth rather than on ethnicity, we avoid endorsing hypotheses of cultural differences, but on the other hand, we fail to assess racism and racialization directly. Similarly, our lack of data on class relations impeded a proper class analysis. Income is a measure of purchasing power that theoretically affects health by determining what material assets are available for an individual (Lynch, Smith, Kaplan & House, 2000). Education is a Weberian-originated variable that corresponds to lifechances (Galobardes, Shaw, Lawlor & Lynch, 2006). Neither of these evaluate the influence of social class as a multidimensional parameter reflecting ownership, skill and authority (Wright, 1997).

As discussed in a previous paper (Axelsson Fisk & Merlo, 2017), smoking is considered a mediator rather than a confounder for socioeconomic disparities in respiratory health. Adjustment for smoking would lead to underestimation of differences across intersectional strata. The lack of information on tobacco use can still be considered a limitation of this study, since it would be valuable to discern how much of the differences between intersectional strata observed that are due to tobacco use.

We only had information on COPD-diagnoses retrieved from hospitals, although most COPD-patients visit primary health care. This situation may reduce the absolute incidence values. We cannot exclude, however, that individuals with COPD belonging to socially advantaged strata are well controlled at the primary health care and have less frequent hospital visits, which could underestimate the incidence of COPD among privileged strata. On the other hand, if privileged strata are referred to specialists more readily than patients in disadvantaged strata (Bongers, van der Meer, van den Bos & Mackenbach, 1997), this could counterbalance this effect. In the future, socioeconomic studies

#### Appendix

See Appendix Tables A1 and A2.

should be performed on Swedish databases comprising diagnoses from both hospitals and primary health care.

Since an intersectional life-course approach (Warner & Brown, 2011) was, unfortunately, beyond the scope of our study we wanted to include age-categories in our intersectional matrix. We included only two age categories but evaluated the contribution of age to ICC in model 2. Use of finer age-stratifications would have decreased the number of individuals in the intersectional strata and reduced the interpretability of the results.

#### Conclusions and recommendations

Although no causal conclusions can be drawn from this observational study, policies that enhance equality between genders, social classes, people from different countries and people living in different family situations are needed to reduce socially determined disparities in COPD incidence. Research has shown that social disparities are best addressed by broad policies that may be beneficial not only for preventing COPD incidence but for decreasing health disparities for many other diseases and for all social strata (Wilkinson & Pickett, 2009). A systematic quality improvement initiative in Denmark eliminated socioeconomic differences in COPD care during four years (Tottenborg, Lange, Thomsen, Nielsen & Johnsen, 2017). In contrast, the privatizations of primary health care that have taken place in Sweden allocate health resources to affluent individuals (Burstrom *et al.* 2017) with lower risk and may therefore exacerbate such disparities.

Intersectional MAIHDA provides a better theoretical and analytical framework for the evaluation of socioeconomic and demographic disparities in respiratory health and health care utilisation than unidimensional analyses of gradients in health. The relevance of intersectionality for COPD risk calls on researchers and policy makers to simultaneously consider combinations of demographic, social and economic dimensions when investigating and targeting inequalities in COPD morbidity.

#### Ethics

The Regional Ethics Review Board in southern Sweden (# 2012/ 637) as well as the data safety committees from the National Board of Health and Welfare and from Statistics Sweden approved the construction of the database used in this study.

#### Acknowledgements

This work was supported by funds from the Swedish Research Council (#2017-01321. PI: Juan Merlo) and research funds from the Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, and Region Skåne County Council. We thank Sofia Zettermark and Anna Persmark, colleagues at the unit for Social Epidemiology, Lund University, and professor Peter Nilsson for valuable discussions on the concepts brought forth in this paper.

#### Table A1

Total number of individuals, number of cases of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease and predicted incidence in 2011 for people aged 45–65 residing in Sweden on Dec 31<sup>st</sup> 2010, by intersectional strata. Predictions are based on model 1 multilevel regression analysis with individuals at the first level and intersectional strata at the second level. Main effects and interactive effects are conflated. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tertiles in the whole population aged 45–65 years, education, civil status and country of birth. Intersectional strata are ordered according to predicted incidence of COPD, with increasing incidence in decreasing rows.

A	ge	Ger	nder	h	ncom	e	Educ	ation	Liv alc	ing one	Immi	grant			м	odel 1
45-54	55-65	Male	Female	High	Medium	Low	High	Low	No	Yes	Yes	No	Number of individuals	Number of cases	Incidence	95% Credible interval
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	50798	9	0.02	(0.01 - 0.04)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	72164	19	0.03	(0.02 - 0.04)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			_	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	54482	16	0.03	(0.02 - 0.05)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	74237	26	0.04	(0.03 – 0.05)
$\checkmark$			✓	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		6991	1	0.04	(0.01 – 0.09)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	56851	25	0.05	(0.03 – 0.07)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		5473	1	0.05	(0.01 - 0.11)
$\checkmark$		✓			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	6685	2	0.05	(0.02 - 0.11)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	27451	14	0.06	(0.03 – 0.08)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	58098	31	0.06	(0.04 - 0.08)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	55705	30	0.06	(0.04 - 0.08)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	25075	14	0.06	(0.04 – 0.09)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	22160	14	0.07	(0.04 - 0.10)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		9021	5	0.07	(0.03 – 0.13)
$\checkmark$		√				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		20321	13	0.07	(0.04 - 0.11)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	13516	8	0.07	(0.03 - 0.12)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	31143	21	0.07	(0.05 - 0.10)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		9481	6	0.08	(0.03 - 0.14)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		6549	4	0.08	(0.03 - 0.15)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		11853	8	0.08	(0.04 - 0.14)								
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	57497	45	0.08	(0.06 - 0.10)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	68586	58	0.09	(0.07 – 0.11)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		19625	16	0.09	(0.05 - 0.13)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	7809	6	0.09	(0.04 - 0.16)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		3076	2	0.09	(0.03 – 0.20)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		1993	1	0.09	(0.02 - 0.22)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	20237	19	0.10	(0.06 - 0.14)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	11206	10	0.10	(0.05 – 0.16)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		1943	1	0.10	(0.02 – 0.23)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		4613	4	0.10	(0.04 - 0.20)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		4351	4	0.11	(0.04 – 0.20)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		3334	3	0.11	(0.04 – 0.23)
	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	98120	113	0.12	(0.10 - 0.14)
	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	101692	120	0.12	(0.10 - 0.14)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	62902	76	0.12	(0.10 - 0.15)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		2926	3	0.12	(0.04 – 0.24)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	32367	40	0.13	(0.09 – 0.17)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$				$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		2450	3	0.14	(0.04 - 0.30)
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		4795	7	0.15	(0.07 – 0.28)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		4099	6	0.15	(0.06 – 0.28)
$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	71224	111	0.16	(0.13 – 0.19)
	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		2606	4	0.16	(0.06 – 0.32)
	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		6786	11	0.16	(0.09 – 0.27)
	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		9085	15	0.17	(0.09 – 0.25)
	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	57439	98	0.17	(0.14 – 0.21)
	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\sqrt{-}$				$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		4071	7	0.17	(0.08 - 0.32)

(continued on next page)

Table A1 (continued)



#### Table A2

Incidence of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease for people aged 45-65 residing in Sweden on Dec 31<sup>st</sup> 2010, by intersectional strata. Predicted incidences and their 95% CIs based on total effect (intersectional effects and main effects) and main effects only. Interaction effects calculated as total effect minus main effect. Intersectional strata were calculated by categories of age, gender, income based on tertiles in the whole population aged 45-65 years, education, living alone and immigration status. Intersectional strata are ordered according to their interaction effects with the lowest first and increased interaction effects in descending rows. Strata with 95% CIs excluding 0 are bold.



(continued on next page)

Table A2 (continued)

	1	1 1		1		1		1	0.12	0.10 0.14	0.11	0.10 0.12	0.00	0.02 0.02
	× -			N.		1	.1	V	0.12	0.10 - 0.14	0.11	0.10 - 0.13 0.17 - 0.23	0.00	-0.02 = 0.03
1	× (	× (		~,		×, -	~	-	0.20	0.02 - 0.05	0.02	0.02 - 0.04	0.00	-0.00 0.07
×,	ľ,	×,		×,		~		-	0.05	0.02 - 0.05	0.05	0.02 - 0.04	0.00	-0.02 - 0.02
~	ľ,	×		×, -		1	· ·	-	0.00	0.02 - 0.07	0.05	0.03 - 0.07	0.00	-0.02 - 0.03
1	v	1 1		V	1	×,	V	1	0.05	0.05 - 0.07	0.05	0.04 - 0.05	0.00	-0.01 - 0.02
×,				1	v	×, -	1	V	0.00	0.03 - 0.05	0.00	0.05 - 0.07	0.00	-0.01 - 0.02
×,		1 1		×, ·		v	· ·	-	0.00	0.05 - 0.10	0.07	0.05 0.07	0.00	-0.02 -0.03
×,		×, ×,		×,		1	v v	1	0.07	0.03 0.05	0.07	0.00 - 0.08	0.00	-0.02 - 0.03
V	1 1	VV		×,		v	1 1	V	0.04	0.03 - 0.03	0.03	0.03 - 0.04	0.01	-0.00 - 0.02
1			×, 1	1			× ×		0.01	0.21 - 0.44	0.00	0.23 - 0.30	0.01	-0.03 - 0.05
v			- X	V	1			-	0.05	0.00 - 0.14	0.00	0.50 - 0.70	0.01	-0.02 - 0.03
		1 1	×		$\mathbf{\tilde{\prime}}$	1	v v	-	0.00	0.19 - 0.36	0.25	0.30 0.70	0.01	-0.06 - 0.10
	111	× ×	ł	1	v	v	1	.1	0.20	0.15 - 0.23	0.18	0.21 0.50	0.01	-0.03 - 0.06
		11		×.			1 1	V	0.15	0.13 0.25	0.10	0.10 - 0.20	0.01	-0.05 - 0.00
	1 1			1		./	v v		0.25	0.08 - 0.17	0.11	0.09 - 0.13	0.01	-0.02 - 0.05
1			1		1	1	v	./	0.12	0.13 - 0.18	0.14	0.12 - 0.16	0.01	-0.02 -0.05
•	1	1	1	1		•	1	1	0.49	0.38 - 0.62	0.48	0.40 - 0.55	0.01	-0.11 - 0.14
1							1 1		0.14	0.09 - 0.20	0.13	0.10 - 0.15	0.01	-0.03 - 0.07
	1	1		j.		1		1	0.19	0.15 - 0.22	0.17	0.15 - 0.20	0.01	-0.02 - 0.05
	JJ		1	1		1	1		0.18	0.13 - 0.24	0.16	0.14 - 0.19	0.02	-0.04 - 0.07
	J J		- <u>)</u>	,			1	1	0.28	0.20 - 0.37	0.27	0.22 - 0.31	0.02	-0.06 - 0.11
	JJ	1		j.		J		1	0.11	0.09 - 0.13	0.09	0.08 - 0.11	0.02	0.00 - 0.04
1		1	1		1	1		1	0.11	0.09 - 0.14	0.09	0.08 - 0.11	0.02	-0.01 - 0.05
	JJ	· ·	1		j.	1		1	0.30	0.26 - 0.33	0.28	0.24 - 0.32	0.02	-0.03 - 0.07
	1	11		1		_	1	1	0.23	0.19-0.28	0.21	0.18-0.25	0.02	-0.03 - 0.07
	11		$\checkmark$	1		$\checkmark$		1	0.16	0.14 - 0.20	0.14	0.12 - 0.16	0.02	-0.01 - 0.06
	1	$\sqrt{}$		1		1	$\checkmark$		0.15	0.11 - 0.21	0.13	0.11 - 0.16	0.02	-0.02 - 0.08
$\checkmark$	✓		1		$\checkmark$	~	1	-	0.15	0.12 - 0.20	0.13	0.11 - 0.15	0.02	-0.01 - 0.07
_	V V		1	$\checkmark$		~	1		0.27	0.20 - 0.35	0.24	0.20-0.28	0.03	-0.04 - 0.10
	$\checkmark$	1 1			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	0.25	0.22 - 0.29	0.22	0.19 - 0.26	0.03	-0.02 - 0.08
				_				_						
$\checkmark$		✓	$\checkmark$	_	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$ $\checkmark$		0.33	0.25 - 0.42	0.30	0.25 - 0.35	0.03	-0.05 - 0.12
$\checkmark$		✓	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		0.19	0.15 - 0.24	0.16	0.13 - 0.18	0.03	-0.01 - 0.08
	<b>√</b>		✓		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	0.80	0.72 – 0.89	0.77	0.66 - 0.88	0.04	-0.10 - 0.17
	$\checkmark$	~	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	0.37	0.29 - 0.46	0.32	0.27 – 0.37	0.05	-0.03 - 0.13
_	$\checkmark$	✓	$\checkmark$	_			√	$\checkmark$	0.98	0.89 - 1.07	0.93	0.80 - 1.07	0.05	-0.11 - 0.20
$\checkmark$	✓		✓		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$ $\checkmark$		0.30	0.23 - 0.38	0.24	0.21 - 0.29	0.06	-0.01 - 0.14
$\checkmark$		✓	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	0.23	0.18 - 0.28	0.17	0.15 - 0.20	0.06	0.01 - 0.11
	✓ <mark>√</mark>		✓	$\checkmark$			$\checkmark$ $\checkmark$	_	0.51	0.37 - 0.72	0.45	0.38 - 0.53	0.06	-0.08 - 0.25
_	<b>√</b>		$\checkmark$	_	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		0.39	0.29 - 0.50	0.32	0.27 - 0.37	0.07	-0.02 - 0.18
$\checkmark$	✓		$\checkmark$	-	$\checkmark$		✓ _	~	0.29	0.25 - 0.35	0.21	0.18 - 0.25	0.08	0.03 - 0.13
$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$		$\checkmark$	$\checkmark$	0.39	0.33 - 0.45	0.26	0.22 - 0.30	0.13	0.07 - 0.20

#### Appendix A. Supplementary material

Supplementary data associated with this article can be found in the online version at http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.03.005.

#### References

- Axelsson Fisk, S., & Merlo, J. (2017). Absolute rather than relative income is a better socioeconomic predictor of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Swedish adults International Journal for Equity in Health, 16, 70.
- Bauer, G. R. (2014). Incorporating intersectionality theory into population health research methodology: Challenges and the potential to advance health equity. Social Science & Medicine, 110, 10–17. Bongers, I. M., van der Meer, J. B., van den Bos, J., & Mackenbach, J. P. (1997). Socio-
- onomic differences in general practitioner and outpatient specialist care in The
- Netherlands: A matter of health insurance? Social Science & Medicine, 44, 1161–1168. Boschetto, P., Quintavalle, S., Miotto, D., Cascio, N. L., Zeni, E., & Mapp, C. E. (2006). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) and occupational exposures. Journal
- of Occupational Medicine and Toxicology, 1, 11. Bowleg, L. (2008). When Black plus Lesbian plus Woman not equal Black Lesbian Woman: The methodological challenges of qualitative and quantitative intersectionality research. Sex Roles, 59, 312-325.
- Brostrom, E. B., Akre, O., Katz-Salamon, M., Jaraj, D., & Kaijser, M. (2013). Obstructive pulmonary disease in old age among individuals born preterm. European Journal of Epidemiology, 28, 79-85.

Browne, W. J. (2017). MCMC Estimation in MLwiN v3.00. Centre for Multilevel Modelling.

- Centre for Multilevel Modelling, University of Bristol. Burstrom, B., Burstrom, K., Nilsson, G., Tomson, G., Whitehead, M., & Winblad, U. (2017). Equity aspects of the primary health care choice reform in Sweden - A scoping review. International Journal for Equity in Health, 16, 29.Charlton, C., Rasbash, J., Browne, W. J., Healy, M., & Cameron, B. (2017). MLwiN version
- 3.00. Centre for Multilevel Modelling, University of Bristol. Chen, Y., Breithaupt, K., & Muhajarine, N. (2000). Occurrence of chronic obstructive
- pulmonary disease among Canadians and sex-related risk factors. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 53, 755–761.
- Cicchetti, D. V. (1994). Guidelines, criteria, and rules of thumb for evaluating normed and standardized assessment instruments in psychology. Psychological Assessment, 6, 284.
- Collins, P. H. (2002). Black feminist thought: Knowledge, consciousness, and the politics of empowerment. New York, USA: Routledge. Dirven, J. A., Tange, H. J., Muris, J. W., van Haaren, K. M., Vink, G., & van Schayck, O. C. (2013). Early detection of COPD in general practice: Patient or practice managed? A randomised controlled trial of two strategies in different socioeconomic environ-
- ments. Primary Care Respiratory Journal, 22, 331–337.
  Eachus, J., Williams, M., Chan, P., Smith, G. D., Grainge, M., Donovan, J., et al. (1996).
  Deprivation and cause specific morbidity: Evidence from the Somerset and Avon
- survey of health. Bmj, 312, 287-292.

Evans, C. R., Williams, D. R., Onnela, J.-P., & Subramanian, S. (2017), A multilevel

SSM - Population Health 4 (2018) 334-346

approach to modeling health inequalities at the intersection of multiple social identities. *Social Science Medicine*.

Fuller-Thomson, E., Chisholm, R. S., & Brennenstuhl, S. (2016). COPD in a populationbased sample of never-smokers: Interactions among sex, gender, and race. *International Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 2016, 5862026.

Galobardes, B., Shaw, M., Lawlor, D. A., & Lynch, J. W. (2006). Indicators of socio-

- economic position (part 1). Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 60, 7–12. Garcia-Rivero, J. L., Esquinas, C., Barrecheguren, M., Bonnin-Vilaplana, M., Garcia-Sidro, P., Herrejon, A., et al. (2016). Risk factors of poor outcomes after admission for a COPD exacerbation: Multivariate logistic predictive models. Copd. 1–6.
- Gershon, A. S., Dolmage, T. E., Stephenon, A., & Jackson, B. (2012). Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and socioeconomic status: A systematic review. COPD, 9, 216–226
- Ghith, N., Wagner, P., Frolich, A., & Merlo, J. (2016). Short term survival after admission for heart failure in Sweden: Applying multilevel analyses of discriminatory accuracy to evaluate institutional performance. *Plos One*, 11, e0148187.
- GOLD (2017). From the global strategy for the diagnosis, management and prevention of COPD, global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease (GOLD) 2017. pp. Official homepage for global strategy for the global strategy for the diagnosis, management and prevention of COPD, global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease (GOLD) 2017. (http://goldcopd.org/gold-2017-global-strategy-diagnosis-managementprevention-copd/).
- Goldstein, H., Browne, W., & Rasbash, J. (2002). Partitioning variation in multilevel models. Understanding Statistics: Statistical Issues in Psychology, Education, and the Social Sciences 1, 223–231
- Social Sciences, 1, 223–231.
  Green, M. A., Evans, C. R., & Subramanian, S. V. (2017). Can intersectionality theory enrich population health research? Social Science & Medicine, 178, 214–216.
- Hancock, A.-M. (2013). Empirical intersectionality: A tale of two approaches. UC Irvine Law Review, 3, 259.
- Hiscock, R., Bauld, L., Amos, A., Fidler, J. A., & Munafo, M. (2012). Socioeconomic status and smoking: A review. Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 1248, 107–123. Inghammar, M., Engstrom, G., Lofdahl, C. G., & Egesten, A. (2012). Validation of a COPD
- Inghammar, M., Engstrom, G., Lofdahl, C. G., & Egesten, A. (2012). Validation of a COPD diagnosis from the Swedish inpatient registry. Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, 40, 773–776.
- Jannat-Khah, D. P., Dill, L. J., Reynolds, S. A., & Joseph, M. A. (2017). Stress, socializing, and other motivations for smoking among the lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, and queer community in New York City. *American Journal of Health Promotion* (890117117694449).
- Jones, K., Johnston, R., & Manley, D. (2016). Uncovering interactions in multivariate contingency tables: A multi-level modelling exploratory approach. *Methodological Innovations*, 9 (2059799116672874).
- Kainu, A., Rouhos, A., Sovijarvi, A., Lindqvist, A., Sarna, S., & Lundback, B. (2013). COPD in Helsinki, Finland: Socioeconomic status based on occupation has an important impact on prevalence. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health*, **41**, 570–578.
- Kanervisto, M., Vasankari, T., Latimen, T., Heliovaara, M., Jousilahti, P., & Saarelainen, S. (2011). Low socioeconomic status is associated with chronic obstructive airway diseases. *Respiratory Medicine*, 105, 1140–1146.
- Kaplan, G. A. (1999). What is the role of the social environment in understanding inequalities in health? Annals of the New York Academy of Sciences, 896, 116–119.
- Krieger, N. (1994). Epidemiology and the web of causation: Has anyone seen the spider? Social Science & Medicine, 39, 887–903.
  Leckie, G., & Charlton, C. (2013). Rummlwin-a program to run the MLwiN multilevel
- modelling software from within stata. Journal of Statistical Software, 52, 1-40. Lindovist, G., & Hallberg, L. R. (2010). 'Feelings of guilt due to self-inflicted disease':
- grounded theory of suffering from chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). Journal of Health Psychology, 15, 456–466. Lynch, J. W., Smith, G. D., Kaplan, G. A., & House, J. S. (2000). Income inequality and
- Lyncn, J. W., Smith, G. D., Kapian, G. A., & House, J. S. (2000). income inequality and mortality: Importance to health of individual income, psychosocial environment, or material conditions. *Bnij*, 320, 1200–1204.
- Marmot, M., Shipley, M., Brunner, E., & Hemingway, H. (2001). Relative contribution of early life and adult socioeconomic factors to adult morbidity in the Whitehall II study. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Healthh, 55, 301–307.
- McCall, L. (2005). The complexity of intersectionality. Signs: Journal of Women in Culture and Society, 30, 1771–1800.
- Merlo, J. (2003). Multilevel analytical approaches in social epidemiology: Measures of health variation compared with traditional measures of association. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health, 57, 550–552.
- Merlo, J. (2014). Invited commentary: Multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity-a fundamental critique of the current probabilistic risk factor epidemiology. American Journal of Epidemiology, 180, 208–212 (discussion 213-204).
- Merlo, J. (2017). Multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA) within an intersectional framework. Social Science & Medicine. (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/29305018).
  Merlo, J., & Mulinari, S. (2015). Measures of discriminatory accuracy and categorizations
- Merlo, J., & Mulinari, S. (2015). Measures of discriminatory accuracy and categorizations in public health: A response to Allan Krasnik's editorial. *European Journal of Public Health*, 25, 910.
- Merlo, J., Chaix, B., Yang, M., Lynch, J., & Råstam, L. (2005). A brief conceptual tutorial of multilevel analysis in social epidemiology: Linking the statistical concept of clustering to the idea of contextual phenomenon. Journal of Epidemiology Community

Health, 59, 443-449.

- Merlo, J., Mulinari, S., Wemrell, M., Subramanian, S. V., & Hedblad, B. (2017). The tyranny of the averages and the indiscriminate use of risk factors in public health: The case of coronary heart disease. SSM - Population Health, 3, 684–698.
- Merlo, J., Wagner, P., Ghith, N., & Leckie, G. (2016). An original stepwise multilevel logistic regression analysis of discriminatory accuracy: The case of neighbourhoods and health. Plos One, 11, e0153778.
- Miravitlles, M., Naberan, K., Cantoni, J., & Azpeitia, A. (2011). Socioeconomic status and health-related quality of life of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Respiration*, 82, 402–408.
- Montnemery, P., Bengtsson, P., Elliot, A., Lindholm, L. H., Nyberg, P., & Lofdahl, C. G. (2001). Prevalence of obstructive lung diseases and respiratory symptoms in relation to living environment and socio-economic group. *Respiratory Medicine*, 95, 744–752.
- Mulinari, S., Wemrell, M., Rönnerstrand, B., Subramanian, S., & Merlo, J. (2017). Categorical and anti-categorical approaches to US racial/ethnic groupings: Revisiting the National 2009 HINJ Flu Survey (NIHS). *Critical Public Health*, 1–13.
- Murray, C. J., & Lopez, A. D. (1997). Alternative projections of mortality and disability by cause 1990–2020: Global burden of disease study. *Lancet*, 349, 1498–1504.
- Ng, E., & Muntaner, C. (2014). A critical approach to macrosocial determinants of population health: Engaging scientific realism and incorporating social conflict. *Current Epidemiology Reports*, 1, 27–37.

cpuannovgy reports, 1, 27-27.
Chisson, H., Librero, J., Sundquist, J., Sundquist, K., & Merlo, J. (2011). Performance evaluations and league tables: Do they capture variation between organizational units? An analysis of 5 Swedish pharmacological performance indicators. *Medical Care*, 49, 327–331.
Pere, M.S., Janes, H., Longton, G., Leisenring, W., & Newcomb, P. (2004). Limitations of

- Pepe, M. S., Janes, H., Longton, G., Leisenring, W., & Newcomb, P. (2004). Limitations of the odds ratio in gauging the performance of a diagnostic, prognostic, or screening marker. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 159, 882–890.
  Pleasants, R. A., Riley, I. L., & Mannino, D. M. (2016). Defining and targeting health
- Pleasants, N. A., Riley, L. L., & Mannino, D. M. (2016). Defining and targeting health disparities in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Diseases*, 11, 2475–2496.Po, J. Y., FitzGerald, J. M., & Carlsten, C. (2011). Respiratory disease associated with solid
- Po, J. Y., FitzGerald, J. M., & Carlsten, C. (2011). Respiratory disease associated with solid biomass fuel exposure in rural women and children: Systematic review and metaanalysis. *Thorax*, 66, 232–239.
- Schraufnagel, D. E., Blasi, F., Kraft, M., Gaga, M., Finn, P., & Rabe, K. F. (2013). An official American Thoracic Society and European Respiratory Society policy statement: Disparities in respiratory health. European Respiratory Journal, 42, 906–915.
- Socialstyrelsen (2015a). Nationella riktlinjer för vård vid Astma och KOL 2015. Stockholm: Stöd för styrning och ledning.
- Socialstyrelsen (2015b). Öppna jämförelser. Stockholm: Hälso och sjukvård vid kroniska sjukdomar.
- Statistics Sweden (2012). Longitudinal integration database for health insurance and labour market studies (LISA by Swedish acronym). English.Strang, S., Parrell, M., Larsson, L. O., Sjostrand, C., Gunnarsson, A., Ekberg-Jansson, A.

Strang, S., Farrell, M., Larsson, L. O., Sjostrand, C., Gunnarsson, A., Ekberg-Jansson, A., et al. (2014). Experience of guilt and strategies for coping with guilt in patients with severe COPD: A qualitative interview study. *Journal of Palliative Care*, 30, 108–115.

- Stringhini, S., Carmeli, C., Jokela, M., Avendano, M., Muennig, P., Guida, F., et al. (2017). Socioeconomic status and the 25 x 25 risk factors as determinants of premature mortality: A multicohort study and meta-analysis of 1.7 million men and women. *Lancet*.
- Sundh, J., & Ekström, M. (2017). Risk factors for developing hypoxic respiratory failure in COPD. International Journal of Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, 12, 2095.
- Tottenborg, S. S., Lange, P., Thomsen, R. W., Nielsen, H., & Johnsen, S. P. (2017). Reducing socioeconomic inequalities in COPD care in the hospital outpatient setting -A nationwide initiative. *Respiratory Medicine*, 1255, 19–23.
- Warner, D. F., & Brown, T. H. (2011). Understanding how race/ethnicity and gender define age-trajectories of disability: An intersectionality approach. *Social Science & Medicine*, 72, 1236–1248.
- Veenstra, G. (2013). Race, gender, class, sexuality (RGCS) and hypertension. Social Science & Medicine, 89, 16–24.
- Wemrell, M., Merlo, J., Mulinari, S., & Hornborg, A. C. (2016). Contemporary epidemiology: A review of critical discussions within the discipline and a call for further dialogue with social theory. Sociology Compass, 10, 153–171.
- Wemrell, M., Mulinari, S., & Merlo, J. (2017a). An intersectional approach to multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity (MAIH) and discriminatory accuracy. Social Science & Medicine, 178, 217–219.

Wemrell, M., Mulinari, S., & Merlo, J. (2017b). Intersectionality and risk for ischemic heart disease in Sweden: Categorical and anti-categorical approaches. *Social Science & Medicine*, 177, 213–222.

- WHO (2016). W.H.O. International statistical classification of diseases and related health problems 10th revision (ICD-10) WHO version for 2016. (http://apps.who.int/ classifications/icd10/browse/2016/en#/J40-J47>: World Health Organization.
- Wilkinson, R. G., & Pickett, K. (2009). The spirit level: Why more equal societies almost always do better. London, UK: Allen Lane.
- Williams, D. R., Kontos, E. Z., Viswanath, K., Haas, J. S., Lathan, C. S., MacConaill, L. E., et al. (2012). Integrating multiple social statuses in health disparities research: The case of lung cancer. Health Services Research, 47, 1255–1277.

Wright, E. O. (1997). Class counts: Comparative studies in class analysis. Cambridge, UK: Cambridge University Press.

# Paper III

# **Clinical Epidemiology**

# open Access Full Text Article

ORIGINAL RESEARCH

Geographical and sociodemographic differences in discontinuation of medication for Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease – A Cross-Classified Multilevel Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy (MAIHDA)

> This article was published in the following Dove Press journal: *Clinical Epidemiology*

Kani Khalaf<sup>1</sup><sup>1,\*</sup> Sten Axelsson Fisk<sup>1,\*</sup> Ann Ekberg-Jansson<sup>2,3</sup> George Leckie<sup>1,4</sup> Raquel Perez-Vicente<sup>1</sup> Juan Merlo<sup>1,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Unit for Social Epidemiology, Faculty of Medicine, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden; <sup>2</sup>Department of Research and Development, Region Halland, Halmstad, Sweden; <sup>3</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Institute of Medicine, Sahlgrenska Academy, University of Gothenburg, Gothenburg, Sweden; <sup>4</sup>Centre for Multilevel Modelling, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK; <sup>5</sup>Center for Primary Health Care Research, Region Skåne, Malmö, Sweden

\*These authors contributed equally to this work

**Background:** While discontinuation of COPD maintenance medication is a known problem, the proportion of patients with discontinuation and its geographical and sociodemographic distribution are so far unknown in Sweden. Therefore, we analyse this question by applying an innovative approach called multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA).

Patients and Methods: We analysed 49,019 patients categorized into 18 sociodemographic contexts and 21 counties of residence. All patients had a hospital COPD diagnosis and had been on inhaled maintenance medication during the 5 years before the study baseline in 2010. We defined "discontinuation" as the absolute lack of retrieval from a pharmacy of any inhaled maintenance medication during 2011. We performed a cross-classified MAIHDA and obtained the average proportion of discontinuation, as well as county and sociodemographic absolute risks, and compared them with a proposed benchmark value of 10%. We calculated the variance partition coefficient (VPC) and the area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC) to quantify county and sociodemographic differences. To summarize the results, we used a framework with 15 scenarios defined by the size of the differences and the level of achievement in relation to the benchmark value.

**Results:** Around 18% of COPD patients in Sweden discontinued maintenance medication, so the benchmark value was not achieved. There were very small county differences (VPC=0.35%, AUC=0.54). The sociodemographic differences were small (VPC=4.98%, AUC=0.57).

**Conclusion:** Continuity of maintenance medication among COPD patients in Sweden could be improved by reducing the unjustifiably high prevalence of discontinuation. The very small county and small sociodemographic differences should motivate universal interventions across all counties and sociodemographic groups. Geographical analyses should be combined with sociodemographic analyses, and the cross-classified MAIHDA is an appropriate tool to assess health-care quality.

**Keywords:** COPD, socioeconomic inequity, multilevel analysis, equity in health care, health care quality, compliance, discriminatory accuracy

# Introduction

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) is a progressive and irreversible disorder that impairs quality of life,<sup>1</sup> increases the risk of premature mortality and

Clinical Epidemiology 2020:12 783-796

© © © © © 2000 fluid et al. This work is published and licensed by Dove Medical Press Limited. The full terms of this license are available at https://www.dovepress.com/terms php and incorporate the Creative Commons Attribution — Non Commercial (unported, v3.0) license (http://creative.commons.org/license.t/p-wc3.0), By accessing the work you hereby access the Ierms. Non-commercial uses of the work are permitted without any further permission from Dove Medical Press Limited, provide the work is properly attributed. For permission for commercial uses of the work, pieze see paragraph 4.2 and 5 of our Terms (http://www.dovepress.com/terms.php).

783

Correspondence: Kani Khalaf Email kani.khalaf@med.lu.se



conveys considerable costs for both the individual and society.<sup>2</sup> While smoking cessation reduces mortality among COPD patients,<sup>3</sup> life-long inhaled maintenance medication of COPD reduces symptoms and exacerbations, increases activity tolerance and improves health-related quality of life.<sup>4–6</sup> Life-long inhaled maintenance medication is recommended in both international<sup>5</sup> and the national Swedish guidelines for COPD management, except for the mildest stage.<sup>7</sup> Because COPD is a chronic condition, once a patient has initiated inhaled maintenance medication, it should not be discontinued, unless the initial diagnosis was incorrect or the patient suffers intolerable side effects from the medication, which is not a frequent problem.<sup>5,8</sup>

The evidence is divergent regarding the influence of socioeconomic factors on adherence with inhaled maintenance medication among COPD patients. Low socioeconomic position was associated with more moderate adherence in the USA,9 while in Denmark one study found an association with lower,<sup>10</sup> and another with higher adherence.<sup>11</sup> In a Swedish study, adherence was equal across age and gender categories but socioeconomic factors were not analysed.<sup>12</sup> In Sweden, health-care management is a county council responsibility and geographical differences between counties in health-care quality are regularly monitored by the Swedish authorities.13 However, it is still unknown whether there are geographical and sociodemographic differences in discontinuation of inhaled maintenance medication (henceforth "discontinuation"). Therefore, the aim of our study was to evaluate such possible differences. We analysed 49,019 patients from 18 different sociodemographic contexts and residing in the 21 Swedish counties in 2010.

For the purpose of our investigation, we apply an innovative methodological approach called multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA).<sup>14–17</sup> MAIHDA is not a new methodology per se, but it may be viewed as a reorganization of existing multilevel modelling concepts. The MAIHDA approach proposed here stresses the relevance of performing a systematic analysis that simultaneously considers county and sociodemographic differences in the average risk of discontinuation and the extent of individual variation around such averages. This methodology allows the disentangling of geographical from sociodemographic inequalities. It also maps and quantifies the sizes of such inequalities and provides information on the discriminatory accuracy of the sociodemographic and geographical information when predicting discontinuation in COPD patients.

Compared with traditional analysis based on differences between group averages, the MAIHDA methodology provides an improved tool for auditing geographical and sociodemographic inequalities in quality of health care.

# Patients and Methods Databases and Study Population

We analysed a database constructed by record linkage between several Swedish register<sup>19</sup> and the Longitudinal Integration Database for Health Insurance and Labour Market Studies (LISA), administrated at Statistics Sweden; as well as data from the National Patient Register (NPR),<sup>20</sup> the Swedish Prescribed Drug Register (SPDR)<sup>21</sup> and the Cause of Death Register,<sup>22</sup> administrated by the National Board of Health and Welfare. We linked the registers by means of the anonymized personal identification number provided by the Swedish authorities.

Initially, we selected all 4,994,992 individuals aged 35-80 years who resided in Sweden on 31st December 2010. We then restricted this to 69,391 patients with a COPD diagnosis defined according to the International Classification of Diseases, 10th edition (codes at any position) as emphysema (J43) or other chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (J44). The NPR includes information from all Swedish hospitals on both outpatient external visits and inpatient discharges. However, it does not cover information on diagnoses in primary health care. Next, we excluded 16,402 patients without previous inhaled maintenance pharmacotherapy (see Assessment of Variables, below) between 1st January 2006 and 31st December 2010. For this purpose, we used the SPDR, which records all medications dispensed by the Swedish pharmacies, excluding storage in hospitals and nursing homes. Finally, we excluded 3640 patients who died during 2011 and 330 patients who had resided in Sweden for less than 5 years at baseline.

In summary, the study population consisted of 49,019 patients with a hospital COPD diagnosis. The patients were 35–80 years old and had resided in Sweden for at least 6 years by 31st December 2011. All patients had complete information on demographic and socioeconomic variables and were using inhaled maintenance pharmacotherapy before 31st December 2010 (Figure 1).

# Ethical Statement

The Regional Ethics Review Board in southern Sweden (no. 2012/637), as well as the data safety committees from the



Figure I Flowchart indicating the selection of patients in the study sample.

National Board of Health and Welfare and from Statistics Sweden, approved the construction of the database.

# Data Accessibility

The original databases are available from the Swedish National Board of Health and Welfare, and Statistics Sweden. In Sweden, register data are protected by strict rules of confidentiality<sup>23</sup> but can be made available for research after a special review that includes approval of the research project by both an Ethics Committee and the authorities' own data safety committees. The Swedish authorities under the Ministry of Health and Social Affairs do not provide individual-level data to researchers abroad. Instead, they normally advise researchers in other countries to cooperate with Swedish colleagues and

analyse data in collaboration according to standard legal provisions and procedures.

# Assessment of Variables

# Discontinuation of Inhaled Maintenance Medication (the Outcome Variable)

We first retrieved information from the SPDR. Thereafter, we defined inhaled maintenance medication as any dispensation of the following substances: long-acting  $\beta_2$ agonists (LABA), including salmeterol, formoterol and indacaterol; long-acting muscarinic antagonists (LAMA), including tiotropium bromide; and combinations of LABA and inhaled corticosteroids (LABA-ICS), including formoterol and budesonide, salmeterol and fluticasone, and formoterol and beclometasone. We specify the Anatomical Therapeutic Chemical Classification system (ATC) codes of these substances in the <u>supplementary material</u>. The Stata do-file can easily be adapted by readers for use on their own data.

Based on the Swedish guidelines at the time of the study,<sup>7</sup> we assumed that the patients in our sample fulfilled the criteria for inhaled maintenance medication since they all had a COPD diagnosis in the NPR as well as previous inhaled maintenance medication in the SPDR. We defined "discontinuation" as the absolute lack of retrieval from a pharmacy of inhaled maintenance medication between 1st January and 31st December 2011.

### Sociodemographic Variables

We defined three age categories: 35-49, 50-64 and 65-80 years. These cut-off values were chosen to create three groups with a similar age-span and to separate individuals aged 65 and older, as 65 years is the official age of retirement. Gender was defined in a binary manner according to legal sex as male or female. We used information on individualized disposable family income for the years 2000, 2005 and 2010 to compute a cumulative measurement that is more stable to temporary fluctuations in income than single measurements.<sup>24</sup> We used information on absolute income, which takes into account the size of the household and the consumption weight of the individuals. In each of the three years, income was categorized into 25 groups (coded 1-25) by quantiles using the complete Swedish population. The groups from the three years were then summed up, so a patient could have a value between 3 (always in the lowest income group) and 75 (always in the highest income group). Thereafter, we categorized the cumulative income in three groups by tertiles. Individuals with missing values for income during 2000 or 2005 (N=381) were assigned the tertile values of the year 2010. No individuals in our study population had missing income data for 2010.

Finally, we created a multicategorical sociodemographic variable composed of 18 sociodemographic contexts consisting of all possible combinations of categories of gender, age and income-level variables  $(2\times3\times3)$ .

#### Geographical Information

At the time of our study, Sweden was divided into 21 counties, and each patient was assigned to the county where the individual resided on 31st December 2010.

# Multicategorical Geographical and Sociodemographic Matrix

For the purpose of the cross-classified multilevel analyses (see the description in the following subsection), we created a multicategorical matrix with 372 strata defined by the unique combinations of the 18 sociodemographic contexts and the 21 counties (ie, 18×21 minus 6 empty strata).

# Multilevel Analysis of Individual Heterogeneity and Discriminatory Accuracy (MAIHDA)

# Two-Way Cross-Classified Multilevel Model

We analysed the risk of discontinuation of the patients using cross-classified multilevel logistic regression models with COPD patients simultaneously nested within 18 sociodemographic contexts and within 21 counties. Underneath these two higher levels of analysis, there were the 372 strata.

To avoid giving a higher weight to patient categories with a large number of individuals, as in the case of a traditional single-level analysis, we calculated the average proportion of discontinuation across the geographical and sociodemographic categories. We also considered the reliability and precision of the strata information by using multilevel models, as they are based on reliability-weighted strata residuals (ie, shrunken residuals) and average proportions.<sup>25</sup>

In addition, crude geographical (eg, county) differences in discontinuation may be confounded by the different composition of the counties in relation to the demographic and socioeconomic characteristics of the patients. Analogously, sociodemographic categories may be confounded by the different health-care management policies of the counties where the patients reside. Ideally, to investigate county and sociodemographic differences, they should be disentangled from one another. Therefore, we performed a two-way crossclassified multilevel model that decomposes the higher level variance into county and sociodemographic components. Let  $y_i$  denote the number of patients who discontinue in stratum *i* (*i* = 1,..., 372). The model is written as

$$y_i \sim \text{Binomial}(n_i, \pi_i)$$

$$\operatorname{logit}(\pi_i) \equiv \operatorname{log}\left(\frac{\pi_i}{1 - \pi_i}\right) = \beta_0 + \nu_k + u_j$$
$$\nu_k \sim N(0, \sigma_{\nu}^2)$$

$$u_i \sim N(0, \sigma_u^2)$$

1

where  $n_i$  denotes the total number of patients in that stratum,  $\pi_i$  denotes the probability of discontinuation,  $\beta_0$  denotes the intercept,  $u_j$  denotes the random effect for sociodemographic context j (j = 1, ..., 18) and  $v_k$  denotes the random effect for county of residence k (k = 1, ..., 21). The random effects are assumed to be normally distributed with mean 0 and variances  $\sigma_v^2$  (between counties),  $\sigma_u^2$  (between sociodemographic contexts). The intercept,  $\beta_0$ , is the average proportion (on the log-odds scale) of discontinuation (ie, grand mean) across all counties and sociodemographic categories, defined as the 372 strata.

This model has three purposes:

1. Mapping county and sociodemographic differences in discontinuation risk

The first purpose was to obtain an improved mapping of how the individual risk of discontinuation is distributed across counties and sociodemographic strata. We use the predicted random effects (ie, shrunken residuals) from the multilevel regression to calculate the absolute risk (AR) of discontinuation and its 95% credible interval (CI) in each sociodemographic context and county. To do so, we transformed the predicted logit of discontinuation into predicted proportions.

For the county-level prediction, we used the following formula, and calculated the absolute risk  $(AR_C)$ :

$$\operatorname{AR}_{C} \equiv \pi_{k} = \operatorname{logit}^{-1}(\beta_{0} + \nu_{k}) \equiv \frac{\exp(\beta_{0} + \nu_{k})}{1 + \exp(\beta_{0} + \nu_{k})} \qquad 2$$

For the sociodemographic context prediction, we used the following formula:

$$\operatorname{AR}_{SD} \equiv \pi_j = \operatorname{logit}^{-1} (\beta_0 + u_j) \equiv \frac{\exp(\beta_0 + u_j)}{1 + \exp(\beta_0 + u_j)} \qquad 3$$

Observe that in Formulas 2 and 3, the predictions isolate the county and sociodemographic differences while holding the other source of differences constant and, in this way, the values are adjusted for each other.

An advantage of multilevel modelling is that in the presence of higher level units with a small number of patients, the shrunken residuals enable one to obtain precision-weighted AR predictions and also to overcome the limitation of model convergence in the presence of small groups.<sup>25,26</sup>

The graphical or tabulated representation of the ARs facilitates the evaluation of how the individual risk of discontinuation is distributed across counties of residence and sociodemographic contexts. However, this information is based on differences between average ARs, and it does not inform us about individual patient heterogeneity around such averages.<sup>14</sup> Therefore, for a complete evaluation, the mapping of risk needs to be accompanied by measures of county, sociodemographic context and individual patient components of variance and/or discriminatory accuracy.

2. Evaluating the components of variance: the variance partition coefficient (VPC)

The second purpose, therefore, was to take into account the individual heterogeneity around the averages and quantify the share of the total individual differences in the latent propensity of discontinuation that existed at the different levels of the analysis. Consequently, we calculated a VPC based on the latent response formulation of the model, as it is an approach widely adopted in applied work.<sup>27–29</sup>

The VPC for the county level ( $VPC_C$ ) informs on the share of the total individual differences in the underlying propensity for discontinuation that existed at the county level. The VPC<sub>C</sub> expresses what has been called the general contextual effect;<sup>14</sup> that is, the potential ceiling influence of the geo-administrative boundaries of the counties on the individual outcome without any other specific county-level information. The higher the VPC<sub>C</sub>, the higher the county general contextual effect; in other words, the more relevant the county context for understanding individual variation in the latent risk for discontinuation. We computed the  $VPC_C$  as

$$VPC_C = \frac{\sigma_v^2}{\sigma_v^2 + \sigma_u^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{3}}$$
5

where  $\pi$  denotes the mathematical constant 3.1416, and  $\frac{\pi^2}{3} = 3.29$  is the variance of the standard logistic distribution. We then multiplied the *VPC<sub>C</sub>* by 100 and interpreted it as a percentage.

Analogously, the VPC for the sociodemographic level (VPC<sub>SD</sub>) can be calculated as

$$VPC_{SD} = \frac{\sigma_u^2}{\sigma_v^2 + \sigma_u^2 + \frac{\pi^2}{3}}$$
 6

The  $VPC_C$  and the  $VPC_{SD}$  can be directly compared with each other in order to evaluate the relative relevance of geographical versus sociodemographic factors when it comes to understanding patient differences in the latent propensity of discontinuation.

3. Evaluating the discriminatory accuracy (DA) of the information on county of residence and sociodemographic context

787

A well-known measure of DA is the area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC).<sup>14,30</sup> The AUC measures the accuracy of geographical and/or sociodemographic information for discriminating patients according their treatment status (discontinuing or not).

The  $AUC_C$  computed for the county level obtained from Formula 2 and the  $AUC_{SD}$  computed for the sociodemographic level from Formula 3 provide complementary information to the  $VPC_C$  and  $VPC_{SD}$ .<sup>14,31</sup> One advantage of the use of the AUC is that this measure is already an established concept in clinical epidemiology.

## Software and Estimation Methods

All models were run in MLwiN 3.02,<sup>32</sup> called from Stata 14.1 using the runmlwin command.<sup>33</sup> We note that MLwiN can equally be called from within R using the R2MLwiN package,<sup>34</sup> and so our analysis can also be replicated by readers in that statistical package.

We performed all estimations via Markov chain Monte Carlo (MCMC) methods with diffuse (vague, flat or minimally informative) prior distributions for all parameters. We used quasi-likelihood methods to provide starting values for all parameters. For each model, the burn-in length and monitoring chains were set to 5000 and 10,000 iterations. We analysed the parameter chains and standard MCMC convergence diagnostics to evaluate whether the model was adequate.

An advantage of the MCMC is that the resulting parameter chains can be used to construct 95% credible intervals (CI) for all model predictions to communicate statistical uncertainty. MCMC is easy to apply using available software.<sup>32,35,36</sup>

An advantage of our approach is that the multilevel analyses can be performed using a simple table or matrix with the 372 strata. The only information necessary for the analysis is the number of patients and the number of cases with discontinuation in each stratum. This aggregated approach maintains the joint distribution of the socioeconomic strata and the counties and provides exactly the same model results (parameter estimates, predictions and standard errors) as when analysing the underlying individual-level data. The aggregated approach allows a large number of patients to be analysed in just a few hundred strata, which leads to computationally efficient (fast) estimation. In addition, working with tabulated data reduces ethical problems of confidentiality (statistical disclosure).

The Stata do-file used for our analysis is available as supplementary material.

# Auditing Sociodemographic and Geographical Differences in Discontinuation of Inhaled Maintenance Medication

In traditional analysis, geographical (ie, county) differences are evaluated by means of figures (eg, league tables) and sociodemographic differences are appraised by measures of association such as odds ratios or relative risks (ie, socioeconomic gradients). In both cases, the information is only based on differences between group averages. However, as explained in a previous publication,<sup>17</sup> in order to perform an improved epidemiological evaluation of sociodemographic and geographical differences in discontinuation, we need at least two types of information.

First, we need a predetermined benchmark or target value informing on the highest percentage of patients with discontinuation that is considered as acceptable. Ideally, this target value should be zero, since there are no formal reasons for discontinuation once maintenance with inhaled therapy is indicated. However, based on standards of ≥90% treatment proposed among Danish COPD patients with documented dyspnoea<sup>37</sup> and findings of a prevalence of non-adherence of 5% among patients attending pulmonary outpatient clinics in Denmark,<sup>11</sup> we propose a benchmark of 10%, which could be acceptable considering that in some cases medication can be discontinued because of side effects or because the COPD diagnosis was incorrect. Therefore, we propose that a percentage under 10% should be considered as a full achievement, between 10% and 15% as a close achievement and >15% as an insufficient achievement. However, further studies are needed to establish an appropriate benchmark level and the level of achievement. In our study, rather than the country proportion of discontinuation, we used the average proportion (ie, grand mean) across the 372 strata defined in the multicategorical geographical and sociodemographic matrix.

The main questions that we asked in the evaluation were: Has the benchmark value been insufficiently, closely or fully reached? What is the size of the inequities between the counties and between sociodemographic groups? To answer these questions, we created a framework (Table 1) with 15 scenarios combining benchmark value achievement and the size of the county/sociodemographic difference measures according to the VPC and the AUC. First, we located the overall achievement in relation to the predefined benchmark value of acceptable prevalence of discontinuation. Second, we quantified the size of the county and sociodemographic differences expressed as VPC and AUC. Those scenarios can be used to orient the interpretation of an analysis.

# Results

Table 2 presents the characteristics of the 49,019 COPD patients and absolute risk of discontinuation by county of residence, and Table 3 by sociodemographic category. There was a slight overrepresentation of women, and the mean age was around 68 years. In the whole country as well as in all counties except Stockholm, low income was overrepresented in the COPD patient population.

Overall in Sweden, 8998 patients discontinued inhaled maintenance medication during 2011, giving a national prevalence close to 18%. However, the crude county averages ranged between 14% in Värmland and 21% in Stockholm. The national average percentage of discontinuation across the geographical and sociodemographic strata and accounting for the reliability of the information was 21.9% (95% CI 19.1–25.0%). Table 4 illustrates the results from the cross-classified multilevel model of discontinuation.

According to the framework presented in Table 1, the county differences were very small since the  $VPC_v$  was only 0.4% and the  $AUC_v$  was 0.54. The differences between the sociodemographic categories were higher than the geographical differences but still those differences were small, as the  $VPC_u$  was 5.0% and the  $AUC_u$  value was 0.57.

The cross-classified multilevel model provided information on the predicted average risk of discontinuation for the 21 counties and the 18 sociodemographic contexts

 Table I Framework for Evaluating Continuity of Maintenance

 Medication Among COPD Patients

Size of the C Sociodemog	County/ raphic Diffe	erences	Benchmark Value Achievement				
			Full	Close	Insufficient		
	VPC (%)	AUC	<10%	10-15%	>15%		
Absent/very	0-1	0.50-0.55	А	В	С		
small							
Small	I5	0.55-0.61	D	E	F		
Moderate	5–10	0.61–0.66	G	н	1		
Large	10-20	0.66-0.72	J	к	L		
Very large	>20	>0.72	м	N	0		

Notes: The table outlines a two-dimensional evaluation of continuity with maintenance medication. First, we locate the overall achievement in relation to a predefined benchmark value. Second, we quantify the size of county and sociodemographic differences expressed as variance partition coefficient (VPC) and area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC). Combining this information, we obtain 15 different scenarios (A-O) useful to the evaluation. simultaneously adjusted for each other. The adjusted county average risk of discontinuation ranged between 19% in the county of Värmland and 26% in the county of Stockholm (Figure 2). The sociodemographic differences were more pronounced than the geographical ones. They varied between 14% in 65–80-year-old women with high income and 34% in 35–49-year-old men with low income (Figure 3). Discontinuation decreased with age, but we did not find clear income gradients. The pattern of discontinuation across sociodemographic categories was similar in men and women, with men having a marginally higher proportion of discontinuation. This difference was not obvious in young patients. However, it was conclusive for patients aged 50–64 and 65–80 years across all three income categories.

An appropriate interpretation of the observed county and sociodemographic differences in Figures 2 and 3 needs to be made in the light of the information provided by the VPC and the AUC (Tables 1 and 4 and Figure 4). Figure 4 shows the AUCs for the county and the sociodemographic information, and it illustrates very clearly their low discriminatory accuracy.

In summary, at the time of our study, there were very small county differences and the sociodemographic inequalities were small, but the proportion of discontinuation was unjustifiably high overall in Sweden. Geographical differences in discontinuation of inhaled maintenance medication can be placed in scenario C and the sociodemographic differences in scenario F (see Table 1) in the framework that we propose.

# Discussion

We aimed to evaluate geographical and sociodemographic differences in discontinuation of maintenance with inhaled medication therapy. As far as we know, our study is original in this area and it demonstrates a high prevalence of discontinuation in Sweden. The discontinuation rate across all geographical and sociodemographic categories was 21.86% and, overall, around 18% of the COPD patients who should be on maintenance therapy were not dispensed any such medication during a whole year. While we found statistically significant average differences between both county and sociodemographic strata, those differences only explained very small (geographical case) and small (sociodemographic case) proportions of the individuals' propensities for discontinuation. Both the VPC and the AUC indicated that discontinuation presented a homogeneous distribution across counties in Sweden.

County	Number of	AR-D Crude	AR-D Adjusted <sup>a</sup>	Female	Mean Age	Income Group (%)			
	Patients	(%)	(%)	(%)	(Years)	High	Middle	Low	
Stockholms län	10,028	21.01	25.80	57.14	67.50	31.46	36.35	32.19	
Uppsala län	1699	16.48	20.77	54.97	67.25	22.66	37.08	40.26	
Södermanlands län	1604	16.77	21.21	56.80	67.76	21.32	37.66	41.02	
Östergötlands län	2264	15.28	19.73	55.30	67.72	20.32	36.75	42.93	
Jönköpings län	1759	15.86	20.31	53.21	67.96	18.65	38.26	43.09	
Kronobergs län	909	16.17	20.93	53.91	68.07	19.47	40.26	40.26	
Kalmar län	1330	17.74	21.94	53.83	67.88	17.74	36.54	45.71	
Gotlands län	331	20.24	22.74	50.45	67.35	13.90	34.44	51.66	
Blekinge län	850	18.12	22.09	53.06	67.76	17.06	41.06	41.,88	
Skåne län	8034	17.70	21.84	56.97	67.28	21.55	35.69	42.77	
Hallands län	1523	16.41	21.17	55.88	68.31	24.43	37.16	38.41	
Västra Götalands län	7567	19.65	24.21	57.31	68.11	19.41	36.91	43.68	
Värmlands län	1161	13.87	19.15	53.66	68.57	15.93	33.76	50.30	
Örebro län	1597	17.41	21.36	54.16	67.17	16.91	35.82	47.28	
Västmanlands län	1324	18.88	22.67	56.34	67.19	18.96	38.44	42.60	
Dalarnas län	1394	17.29	21.60	55.24	67.97	16.43	39.38	44.19	
Gävleborgs län	1358	17.82	22.12	57.73	68.22	17.45	36.16	46.39	
Västernorrlands län	1083	16.99	21.35	56.14	67.85	19.85	34.44	45.71	
Jämtlands län	602	18.44	22.54	58.80	68.26	16.94	37.38	45.68	
Västerbottens län	1150	18.00	22.39	57.83	68.70	17.48	39.91	42.61	
Norrbottens län	1452	19.28	23.54	55.65	68.44	19.70	41.18	39.12	
Sweden	49,019	18.36	21.86	56.25	67.75	22.08	36.91	41.01	

Table 2 Characteristics by County

Notes: Characteristics of the 49,019 COPD patients by county of residence and sociodemographic factors, as well as absolute risk for discontinuation (AR-D) of inhaled maintenance medication in 2011. Values are percentages if not otherwise indicated. \*Estimated from the cross-classified MAIHDA.

Sociodemographic categorizations appeared to have a higher relevance than counties as determinants of discontinuation.

Our results indicate that measures to reduce the discontinuation of inhaled maintenance medication could be improved among COPD patients in Sweden. Using our proposed benchmark of 10%, the prevalence of discontinuation was double the desired level. However, neither counties nor sociodemographic factors seem relevant to understanding patient discontinuation. Other geographical and sociodemographic contexts may play a more relevant role for understanding patients' adherence to inhaled medication. For example, the clinics where patients are treated on a regular basis and even physician-prescribing behaviour have been shown to be relevant for adherence to other medications, such as statins.<sup>38,39</sup> In addition, in countries with different health-care systems, counties and sociodemographic factors may have a larger influence on adherence.

The prevalence of discontinuation in our study was similar to that observed in previous publications,<sup>40–42</sup> in spite of different definitions of medication adherence/

discontinuation being used. Haupt et al<sup>41</sup> saw that among patients who had received any inhaled medication, 24% received it only once during a 5-year period. However, short-acting pharmacological agents that may be prescribed for non-chronic conditions were included in that study. In another study, Sundh et al<sup>40</sup> found that 22% of COPD patients treated at hospitals lacked prescribed maintenance medication. Those results concerning discontinuation, low-dosage coverage or no maintenance treatment on discharge from hospital are in line with our findings.

The high prevalence of discontinuation may have several explanations. Compliance with COPD medication is influenced by many different factors. One possible reason for the high prevalence of discontinuation is offered by publications suggesting a considerable prevalence of COPD overdiagnosis.<sup>43,44</sup> If COPD was erroneously diagnosed, the patient would not benefit from maintenance medication and discontinuation would be an adequate response to an incorrect diagnosis. In this scenario, discontinuation of therapy could be a relevant process indicator of COPD health-care quality.

,	0 1	0,	
Sociodemographic Group	Number of Patients (N)	AR-D Crude (%)	AR-D Adjusted <sup>a</sup> (%)
65–80 male high	3530	17.65	16.71
65–80 male middle	5913	17.74	17.07
65–80 male low	5731	18.79	18.22
50–64 male high	1528	21.53	20.59
50–64 male middle	1831	24.30	23.39
50–64 male low	2288	26.79	25.61
35–49 male high	115	29.57	26.54
35–49 male middle	161	34.78	31.58
35–49 male low	347	36.60	34.05
65–80 female high	3555	14.74	13.81
65–80 female middle	7070	15.30	14.56
65–80 female low	7813	15.33	14.85
50–64 female high	2026	15.20	14.55
50–64 female middle	2904	17.84	17.24
50–64 female low	3091	21.51	20.72
35–49 female high	68	23.53	21.79
35–49 female middle	214	32.24	29.58
35–49 female low	834	31.77	30.46
Total	49,019	18.36	21.86

 Table 3
 Number of Patients and Absolute Risk of Discontinuation by Sociodemographic Category

Notes: Number of patients by sociodemographic group, as well as crude and adjusted absolute risk for discontinuation (AR-D) of inhaled maintenance medication in 2011. Values are percentages if not otherwise indicated. <sup>a</sup>Estimated from the cross-classified MAIHDA.

 Table 4 Results (95% Confidence Intervals) from the Multilevel

 Cross-Classified Analysis of County and Sociodemographic

 Context in Relation to Discontinuation of Inhaled Maintenance

 Medication in 2011, Among 49,019 Patients with COPD

Variance	
County level Sociodemographic category	0.012 (0.005-0.026) 0.174 (0.082-0.352)
VPC (%) County level Sociodemographic context	0.35 (0.15–0.75) 4.98 (2.42–9.63)
AUC County level $(AUC_v)$ Sociodemographic context $(AUC_u)$	0.54 (0.53–0.54) 0.57 (0.56–0.57)

Abbreviations: VPC, variance partition coefficient; AUC, area under the receiver operating characteristics curve.

The negative association between age and therapy discontinuation could be explained by the findings by Ingebrigtsen et al<sup>11</sup> that adherence and use of maintenance therapy increase with the increased severity of COPD, since COPD is often more severe among older patients. Tottenborg et al presented similar results regarding the relationship between young age and non-use of maintenance therapy, in a Danish cohort study of COPD patients.<sup>10</sup>

As indicated in Figure 3, and while not statistically significant in all age categories, we found men to have a higher absolute risk of therapy discontinuation than women, which is in line with previous research.<sup>40,45</sup> Possible explanations include findings that the lung function of female smokers deteriorates more rapidly than among male smokers, causing more severe COPD<sup>46,47</sup> and, thereby, increased adherence with maintenance therapy. However, we need more research on gender disparities in COPD maintenance treatment.

Finally, we did not find obvious income gradients in discontinuation, except among middle-aged women. This observation is in line with findings of small differences in adherence across income groups in Denmark.10 The absence of effect of income on propensity of discontinuation could be explained by the Swedish reimbursement scheme for prescription medication, which is available for all individuals residing in Sweden, and has a copayment ceiling that by 2011 was at SEK 1800 (~EUR 180) in a given 12-month period. It is also possible that higher disease severity among patients with low income increases adherence and counterbalances a possible income gradient. However, we did not have access to information on COPD severity. In any case, because of the limited success in reducing socioeconomic disparities achieved by behavioural interventions,48 socioeconomic determinants of health higher up in the causal pathway should be addressed in order to reduce inequalities.

It is possible that using only three categories of age and income may result in an underestimation of the variance attributed to the sociodemographic level and wider credible interval. Therefore, we performed a sensitivity analysis using, besides the two categories of sex, nine categories of age and 25 categories of income. In this analysis, the VPC=2.7% (CI: 2.0–3.5%) was lower than in the primary analysis. In absolute terms, our conclusion on the low/moderate relevance of the sociodemographic context remains in both analyses. Using the AUC rather than the VPC values indicates that a finer categorization (ie, AUC=0.59) does not improve the discriminatory accuracy of the original sociodemographic categorization (ie, AUC= 0.57). However, a more detailed categorization would result in more empty cells.

As a supplementary analysis, we also investigated potential interaction effects between county of residence and sociodemographic strata by constructing a third



Figure 2 Adjusted absolute risk differences by county. Adjusted differences between the 21 counties in discontinuation of inhaled maintenance medication among 49,019 COPD patients according to the cross-classified multilevel model.

interaction model (see elsewhere for details and an empirical example<sup>49</sup>). However, we did not find any obvious interaction, suggesting that the degree of sociodemographic inequalities varies across different counties.

# Strengths and Limitations

The major limitation of this observational register study is the lack of information on the disease stage and COPD severity of the patients. Since both overdiagnosis and underdiagnosis of COPD are common problems, it is likely that we have both missed COPD patients who ideally should be included and included some patients with erroneous COPD diagnoses. According to the guidelines in Sweden at 2010, all individuals with COPD stages 2, 3 and 4 should be prescribed a bronchodilator as maintenance therapy.<sup>7</sup> The study population consisted of individuals treated at hospitals, and with previous prescriptions of LAMA, LABA or LAMA/LABA. Therefore, we assumed that all COPD patients included in our study had COPD stage 2 or higher and needed maintenance therapy. While our assumption seems very probable, we need further studies with exact information on COPD stage since patients with more severe disease have better adherence compared to those with milder cases.<sup>50</sup> We did not have information on the type of inhaler or the frequency of dosing, which also influence adherence.<sup>51</sup> Another limitation is that patients who are treated only in primary health care are not covered by the NPR.

Overall, the data used in this study are of high quality since all socioeconomic parameters are based on national registers. A total of 3636 individuals died during 2011 and it cannot be ruled out that this fact introduces a selection bias. Since follow-up was only one year and the proportion of patients who died during the follow-up time accounted for 6.9% of the study population, we do not think that it would alter our conclusions if we ran a survival analysis instead. In a sensitivity analysis where the patients who died during 2011 were not excluded, we found similar





Figure 3 Adjusted absolute risk differences by sociodemographic category. Adjusted differences between the 18 sociodemographic categories in discontinuation of inhaled maintenance medication among 49,019 COPD patients according the cross-classified multilevel model.

results. Our results are based on a large database comprising all patients with COPD diagnosed at hospital wards or specialist outpatient clinics. The validity of the ICD diagnoses of COPD has been judged to be suitable for epidemiological research.<sup>52</sup>

Another strength of this study is the application of measurements of discriminatory accuracy for investigating socioeconomic and geographical inequities in both public health<sup>16,53</sup> and health-care epidemiology.<sup>14,54</sup> For instance, in order to assess whether it would be preferable to target certain groups (eg, counties or sociodemographic strata) or to perform a universal intervention, we need measures of general contextual effects. If the general contextual effect is low, targeting only those counties or strata with a high average risk may lead to inefficient interventions, and also raises ethical issues related to risk communication and the perils of stigmatization of individuals from specific strata.<sup>55</sup>

Multilevel models have a number of advantages compared to traditional single-level models and we refer to previous publications for extended explanations.<sup>28,29,56–61</sup> However, the present study emphasizes the advantage of using average proportions based on the reliability-weighted strata rather than on the population of individuals, especially when the interest focuses on measuring the proportion of patients with a specific quality indicator (eg, discontinuation of maintenance medication in our case) in relation to geographical and sociodemographic categories.<sup>25</sup> The crude proportion of patients with discontinuation may provide information on the burden of discontinuation in, for instance, the country, but it is less representative of the county and sociodemographic contexts of interest in this study.

# Implications and Conclusions

The MAIHDA methodology used in this study converges with the current movement of precision (ie, individualized, personalized, stratified) medicine, and its efforts towards understanding not only differences between group averages but also individual heterogeneity around such averages.



Figure 4 Area under the receiver operating characteristics curve (AUC) for the county and for the sociodemographic information as predictors of discontinuation of inhaled maintenance medication among COPD patients in Sweden with previous maintenance treatment.

Nevertheless, a fundamental conceptual distinction exists between the MAIHDA and individualized medicine: rather than considering only individual characteristics, MAIHDA tries to identify the components of individual heterogeneity in health that are at different contextual levels of analysis. The fundamental statement is that individual and population health are not dislocated study objects. Rather, we need to consider the existence of a continuous distribution of individual outcome heterogeneity that can be articulated at different levels of analysis.<sup>15,18</sup>

One key question for policy makers is to what degree public health interventions should be universal (ie, similarly directed towards the whole population) or targeted to specific groups. The framework outlined in this study provides a tool to guide such decisions. If the insufficient overall achievement had been accompanied by large disparities, as in scenario O in Table 1, targeted health interventions would be justified for categories above the benchmark value. For the case of discontinuation of COPD maintenance medication (scenarios C and F), our results support the public health concept of proportionate universalism.<sup>62,63</sup> Since the overlap between both county and sociodemographic strata is substantial, interventions to improve adherence need to be universal and not exclusively target those groups with increased risk of discontinuation. However, the existence of small sociodemographic

disparities and even smaller county-level disparities means that interventions should be proportionately more intense among sociodemographic strata with higher average risk of discontinuation, and to a lesser extent in counties with increased risk of discontinuation. One example of an efficient universal intervention is presented by Tottenborg et al,<sup>64</sup> who showed how a systematic quality improvement initiative managed to eliminate socioeconomic inequalities in COPD health care. Such universal incentives should be initiated in sociodemographic strata and counties with higher risk of discontinuation. Our study demonstrates the use of MAIHDA to assess differences between geographical areas (ie, counties) and between sociodemographic contexts. Evaluations of geographical differences in health-care performance should always consider sociodemographic factors, and MAIHDA is an appropriate tool to perform such analyses.

# Abbreviations

AUC, area under the receiver operating characteristics curve; COPD, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease; CI, confidence interval; DA, discriminatory accuracy; NPR, National Patient Register; SPDR, Swedish Prescribed Drug Register; GCE, general contextual effect; MAIHDA, multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy; VPC, variance partition coefficient.

# Disclosure

The authors report no conflicts of interest in this work.

# References

- Carrasco Garrido P, de Miguel Diez J, Rejas Gutierrez J, et al. Negative impact of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease on the health-related quality of life of patients. Results of the EPIDEPOC study. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. 2006;4(1):31. doi:10.1186/1477-7525-4-31
- Loddenkemper R, Gibson GJ, Sibille Y. The burden of lung disease in Europe: why a European white book on lung disease? *Eur Respir* J. 2003;22(6):869. (). doi:10.1183/09031936.03.00107803
- Anthonisen NR, Skeans MA, Wise RA, et al. The effects of a smoking cessation intervention on 14.5-year mortality: a randomized clinical trial. Ann Intern Med. 2005;142(4):233–239. doi:10.7326/0003-4819-142.4-200502150-00005
- Ferguson GT. Maintenance pharmacotherapy of mild and moderate COPD: what is the evidence? *Respir Med.* 2011;105(9):1268–1274. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2011.02.005
- 5. GOLD. From the global strategy for the diagnosis, management and prevention of COPD, global initiative for chronic obstructive lung disease (GOLD) 2017; 2017. Available from: http://goldcopd.org/ gold-2017-global-strategy-diagnosis-management-prevention-copd /2017. Official homepage for Global Strategy for the Global Strategy for the Diagnosis, Management and Prevention of COPD, Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease (GOLD).
- Stuart BC, Simoni-Wastila L, Zuckerman IH, et al. Impact of maintenance therapy on hospitalization and expenditures for Medicare beneficiaries with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Am J Geriatr Pharmacother*. 2010;8(5):441–453. doi:10.1016/j.amjopharm.2010.10.002
- [Läkemedelsverket]. SMPA. Chronic obstructive pulmonary diseasetreatment recommendations [Swedish: kroniskt Obstruktiv Lungsjukdom - behandlingsrekommendationer]; 2015. Available from: https://lakemedelsverket.se/upload/halso-och-sjukvard/behan dlingsrekommendationer/Kroniskt\_obstruktiv\_lungsjukdom\_KOL\_ behandlingsrekommendation.pdf2015.
- Melani AS. Long-acting muscarinic antagonists. Expert Rev Clin Pharmacol. 2015;8(4):479–501. doi:10.1586/17512433.2015.1058154
- Oates GR, Hamby BW, Stepanikova I, et al. Social determinants of adherence to pulmonary rehabilitation for chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Copd.* 2017;14(6):610–617. doi:10.1080/15412555.2017.1379070
- Tottenborg SS, Lange P, Johnsen SP, Nielsen H, Ingebrigtsen TS, Thomsen RW. Socioeconomic inequalities in adherence to inhaled maintenance medications and clinical prognosis of COPD. *Respir Med.* 2016;119:160–167. doi:10.1016/j.rmed.2016. 09.007
- Ingebrigtsen TS, Marott JL, Nordestgaard BG, et al. Low use and adherence to maintenance medication in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in the general population. J Gen Intern Med. 2015;30 (1):51–59. doi:10.1007/s11606-014-3029-0
- Henoch I, Strang S, Löfdahl C-G, Ekberg-Jansson A. Management of COPD, equal treatment across age, gender, and social situation? A register study. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. 2016;11:2681–2690. doi:10.2147/COPD.S115238
- Landsting S Kvalitetsindikatorer i hälso- och sjukvården; 2012. Available from: www.skl.se/publikationer.
- Merlo J, Wagner P, Ghith N, Leckie G. An original stepwise multilevel logistic regression analysis of discriminatory accuracy: the case of neighbourhoods and health. *PLoS One*. 2016;11(4):e0153778. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0153778.
- Merlo J. Invited commentary: multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity-a fundamental critique of the current probabilistic risk factor epidemiology. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2014;180(2):208–212. doi:10. 1093/aje/kwu108

- Merlo J. Multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA) within an intersectional framework. *Social Sci Med.* 2018;203:74–80. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.12.026
- Merlo J, Wagner P, Leckie G. A simple multilevel approach for analysing geographical inequalities in public health reports: the case of municipality differences in obesity. *Health Place*. 2019;58:102145. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2019.102145
- Merlo J. Multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA) within an intersectional framework. *Soc Sci Med.* 2017;203: 74–80.
- Ludvigsson JF, Almqvist C, Bonamy AK, et al. Registers of the Swedish total population and their use in medical research. *Eur J Epidemiol.* 2016;31(2):125–136.
- Ludvigsson JF, Andersson E, Ekbom A, et al. External review and validation of the Swedish national inpatient register. *BMC Public Health.* 2011;11(1):450. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-11-450
- Wettermark B, Hammar N, Fored CM, et al. The new swedish prescribed drug register–opportunities for pharmacoepidemiological research and experience from the first six months. *Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf.* 2007;16(7):726–735. doi:10.1002/pds.1294
- Brooke HL, Talback M, Hornblad J, et al. The Swedish cause of death register. Eur J Epidemiol. 2017;32(9):765–773. doi:10.1007/ s10654-017-0316-1
- Public Access to Information and Secrecy Act: Government Offices of Sweden; 2009. Available from: http://www.government.se/informa tion-material/2009/09/public-access-to-information-and-secrecy-act/.
- Galobardes B, Lynch J, Smith GD. Measuring socioeconomic position in health research. *Br Med Bull.* 2007;81–82(1):21–37. doi:10. 1093/bmb/ldm001
- Jones K, Johnston R, Manley D. Uncovering interactions in multivariate contingency tables: a multi-level modelling exploratory approach. *Methodol Innovations*. 2016;9:1–17. doi:10.1177/2059799116672874
- Evans CR, Williams DR, Onnela J-P, Subramanian S. A multilevel approach to modeling health inequalities at the intersection of multiple social identities. *Soc Sci Med.* 2017;203:64–73.
- Goldstein H, Browne WJ, Rashbash J. Partitioning variation in multilevel models. Understanding Stat. 2002;1(4):223–231. doi:10.1207/ S15328031US0104\_02
- Merlo J, Yang M, Chaix B, Lynch J, Rastam L. A brief conceptual tutorial on multilevel analysis in social epidemiology: investigating contextual phenomena in different groups of people. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2005;59(9):729–736. doi:10.1136/jech.2004.02 3929
- Merlo J, Chaix B, Ohlsson H, et al. A brief conceptual tutorial of multilevel analysis in social epidemiology: using measures of clustering in multilevel logistic regression to investigate contextual phenomena. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2006;60(4):290–297. doi:10.1136/jech.2004.029454
- Wagner P, Merlo J. Measures of discriminatory accuracy in multilevel analysis. *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2013;28(1, Supplement):135.
- Wagner P, Merlo J. Discriminatory accuracy of a random effect in multilevel logistic regression. *Int J Epidemiol*. 2014;44(suppl\_1):i49– i50. doi:10.1093/ije/dyv097.190
- Charlton C, Rasbash J, Browne WJ, Healy M, Cameron B. MLwiN Version 3.00. Centre for Multilevel Modelling, University of Bristol.; 2017.
- Leckie G, Charlton C. runmlwin A program to run the MLwiN multilevel modelling software from within stata. J Stat Softw. 2013;52(11):1–40.
- Zhang Z, Parker R, Charlton C, Leckie G, Browne WJ. R2MLwiN -A program to run the MLwiN multilevel modelling software from within R. J Stat Softw. 2016;72(10):1–43. doi:10.18637/jss.v072.i10
- Leckie G, Charlton C. runmlwin A program to run the MLwiN multilevel modelling software from within stata. J Stat Softw. 2013;52(11):1–40. doi:10.18637/jss.v052.i12

795
- Browne WJ MCMC estimation in MLwiN. Version 2.31. Centre for multilevel modelling, university of Bristol. 2014;ISBN: 978-0-903024-99-0Available from: http://www.bristol.ac.uk/cmm/media/ migrated/2-31/mcmc-print.pdf.
- Lange P, Tottenborg SS, Sorknaes AD, et al. Danish Register of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Clin Epidemiol.* 2016;8:673–678. doi:10.2147/clep.s99489;.
- Hjerpe P, Ohlson H, Lindblad U, Bostrom KB, Merlo J. Understanding adherence to therapeutic guidelines: a multilevel analysis of statin prescription in the Skaraborg Primary Care Database. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2010;67:415–423.
- Ohlsson H, Lindblad U, Lithman T, et al. Understanding adherence to official guidelines on statin prescribing in primary health care - a multi-level methodological approach. *Eur J Clin Pharmacol.* 2005;61 (9):657–665. doi:10.1007/s00228-005-0975-9
- Sundh J, Aberg J, Hasselgren M, et al. Factors influencing pharmacological treatment in COPD: a comparison of 2005 and 2014. *Eur Clin Respir j*. 2017;4(1):1409060. doi:10.1080/20018525.2017.1409060
- Haupt D, Krigsman K, Nilsson JL. Medication persistence among patients with asthma/COPD drugs. *Pharm World Sci.* 2008;30 (5):509–514. doi:10.1007/s11096-008-9197-4
- Luftvägsregistret; 2017. Available from: https://lvr.registrecentrum. se/om-registret/om-luftvagsregistret/p/BJGNnV3Zl2017.
- Sator L, Horner A, Studnicka M, et al. Overdiagnosis of COPD in subjects with unobstructed spirometry: A BOLD Analysis. *Chest.* 2019;156(2):277–288. doi:10.1016/j.chest.2019.01.015
- Gershon AS, Thiruchelvam D, Chapman KR, et al. Health services burden of undiagnosed and overdiagnosed COPD. *Chest.* 2018;153 (6):1336–1346. doi:10.1016/j.chest.2018.01.038
- Ingebrigtsen TS, Marott JL, Vestbo J, et al. Characteristics of undertreatment in COPD in the general population. *Chest.* 2013;144 (6):1811–1818. doi:10.1378/chest.13-0453
- 46. Gan WQ, Man SF, Postma DS, Camp P, Sin DD. Female smokers beyond the perimenopausal period are at increased risk of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Respir Res.* 2006;7(1):52. doi:10.1186/1465-9921-7-52
- Sorheim IC, Johannessen A, Gulsvik A, et al. Gender differences in COPD: are women more susceptible to smoking effects than men? *Thorax*. 2010;65(6):480–485. doi:10.1136/thx.2009.122002
- Vilhelmsson A, Ostergren PO. Reducing health inequalities with interventions targeting behavioral factors among individuals with low levels of education - A rapid review. *PLoS One.* 2018;13(4): e0195774. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0195774.
- Axelsson Fisk S, Mulinari S, Wemrell M, et al. Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in sweden: an intersectional multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy. SSM Popul Health. 2018;4:334–346. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2018.03.005
- Humenberger M, Horner A, Labek A, et al. Adherence to inhaled therapy and its impact on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD). *BMC Pulm Med*;2018:18(1); 163. doi:10.1186/s12890-018-0724-3

- Koehorst-ter Huurne K, Movig K, van der Valk P, et al. The influence of type of inhalation device on adherence of COPD patients to inhaled medication. *Expert Opin Drug Deliv.* 2016;13(4):469–475. doi:10.1517/17425247.2016.1130695
- Inghammar M, Engstrom G, Lofdahl CG, Egesten A. Validation of a COPD diagnosis from the Swedish Inpatient Registry. *Scand J Public Health*. 2012;40(8):773–776. doi:10.1177/14034948124 63172.
- Merlo J. Multilevel analytical approaches in social epidemiology: measures of health variation compared with traditional measures of association. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2003;57(8):550–552. (). doi:10.1136/jech.57.8.550
- 54. Ghith N, Frolich A, Merlo J. The role of the clinical departments for understanding patient heterogeneity in one-year mortality after a diagnosis of heart failure: A multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity for profiling provider outcomes. *PLoS One.* 2017;12 (12):e0189050. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0189050
- 55. Merlo J, Mulinari S, Wemrell M, Subramanian SV, Hedblad B. The tyranny of the averages and the indiscriminate use of risk factors in public health: the case of coronary heart disease. *SSM Popul Health*. 2017;3:684–698. doi:10.1016/j.ssmph.2017.08.005
- Snijders TAB, Bosker RJ. Multilevel Analysis: An Introduction to Basic and Advanced Multilevel Modeling. 1 ed. Thousand Oaks, California: SAGE Publications; 1999.
- Hox JJ. Multilevel Analysis: Techniques and Applications. 2nd ed. New York: Routledge; 2010:382.
- Raudenbush SW, Bryk AS. *Hierarchical Linear Models: Applications and Data Analysis Methods*. Second ed. Newbury Park, CA: Sage; 2002.
- Goldstein H, Goldstein H. Multilevel Statistical Models. 2nd ed. London: E. Arnold; 1995.
- 60. Merlo J, Chaix B, Yang M, et al. A brief conceptual tutorial of multilevel analysis in social epidemiology: linking the statistical concept of clustering to the idea of contextual phenomenon. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2005;59(6):443–449. doi:10.1136/ jech.2004.023473
- 61. Merlo J, Chaix B, Yang M, et al. A brief conceptual tutorial on multilevel analysis in social epidemiology: interpreting neighbourhood differences and the effect of neighbourhood characteristics on individual health. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. 2005;59 (12):1022–1028. doi:10.1136/jech.2004.028035
- Marmot M, Bell R. Fair society, healthy lives. Public Health. 2012;126 Suppl 1:S4–s10. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2012.05.014
- 63. Carey G, Crammond B, De Leeuw E. Towards health equity: a framework for the application of proportionate universalism. *Int J Equity Health*. 2015;14(1):81. (). doi:10.1186/s12939-015-0207-6
- Tottenborg SS, Lange P, Thomsen RW, Nielsen H, Johnsen SP. Reducing socioeconomic inequalities in COPD care in the hospital outpatient setting
   A nationwide initiative. *Respir Med.* 2017;125:19–23. doi:10.1016/j. rmed.2017.02.016

# **Clinical Epidemiology**

**Dove**Press

# Publish your work in this journal

submit your manuscript | www.dovepress.com

Clinical Epidemiology is an international, peer-reviewed, open access, online journal focusing on disease and drug epidemiology, identification of risk factors and screening procedures to develop optimal preventative initiatives and programs. Specific topics include: diagnosis, prognosis, treatment, screening, prevention, risk factor modification,

Submit your manuscript here: https://www.dovepress.com/clinical-epidemiology-journal

and fair peer-review system, which is all easy to use.

systematic reviews, risk & safety of medical interventions, epidemiology & biostatistical methods, and evaluation of guidelines, translational medicine, health policies & economic evaluations. The manuscript

management system is completely online and includes a very quick

# **Dove**press

Clinical Epidemiology 2020:12

796

# Paper IV

# **BMJ Open** Understanding the complexity of socioeconomic disparities in smoking prevalence in Sweden: a cross-sectional study applying intersectionality theory

Sten Axelsson Fisk <sup>(0)</sup>, <sup>1</sup> Martin Lindström,<sup>2,3</sup> Raquel Perez-Vicente, <sup>1</sup> Juan Merlo <sup>(0)</sup>, <sup>1,3</sup>

## ABSTRACT

To cite: Axelsson Fisk S, Lindström M, Perez-Vicente R, et al. Understanding the complexity of socioeconomic disparities in smoking prevalence in Sweden: a cross-sectional study applying intersectionality theory. *BMJ Open* 2021;11:e042323. doi:10.1136/ bmjopen-2020-042323

 Prepublication history and additional material for this paper is available online. To view these files, please visit the journal online (http://dx.doi.org/10. 1136/bmjopen-2020-042323).

Received 05 July 2020 Revised 19 December 2020 Accepted 25 January 2021



© Author(s) (or their employer(s)) 2021. Re-use permitted under CC BY. Published by BMJ.

<sup>1</sup>Unit for Social Epidemiology, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden <sup>2</sup>Unit for Social Medicine and Health Policy, Department of Clinical Sciences, Lund University, Malmö, Sweden <sup>3</sup>Center for Primary Health Care Research, Region Skåne, Malmö, Sweden

**Correspondence to** 

Dr Sten Axelsson Fisk; sten.axelsson\_fisk@med.lu.se Objectives Socioeconomic disparities in smoking prevalence remain a challenge to public health. The objective of this study was to present a simple methodology that displays intersectional patterns of smoking and quantify heterogeneities within groups to avoid inappropriate and potentially stigmatising conclusions exclusively based on group averages. Setting This is a cross-sectional observational study based on data from the National Health Surveys for Sweden (2004–2016 and 2018) including 136 301 individuals. We excluded people under 30 years of age, or missing information on education, household composition or smoking habits. The final sample consisted on 110 044 individuals or 80.7% of the original sample.

**Outcome** Applying intersectional analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (AIHDA), we investigated the risk of self-reported smoking across 72 intersectional strata defined by age, gender, educational achievement, migration status and household composition. **Results** The distribution of smoking habit risk in the population was very heterogeneous. For instance, immigrant men aged 30–44 with low educational achievement that lived alone had a prevalence of smoking of 54% (95% CI 44% to 64%), around nine times higher than native women aged 65–84 with high educational achievement and living with other(s) that had a prevalence of 6% (95% CI 5% to 7%). The discriminatory accuracy of the information was moderate.

**Conclusion** A more detailed, intersectional mapping of the socioeconomic and demographic disparities of smoking can assist in public health management aiming to eliminate this unhealthy habit from the community. Intersectionality theory together with AIHDA provides information that can guide resource allocation according to the concept proportionate universalism.

#### INTRODUCTION

A higher prevalence of smoking among individuals with low socioeconomic position (SEP) compared with higher SEP has been reported in several studies in Sweden<sup>1</sup> and globally.<sup>2–5</sup> The higher prevalence results both from higher rates of initiation<sup>6</sup> and lower rates of successful smoking cessation.<sup>7</sup>

# Strengths and limitations of this study

- We present an intersectional approach to study the multidimensional socioeconomic disparities in smoking prevalence in Sweden.
- In addition to differences between averages of intersectional strata, we quantify individual heterogeneities around those averages by presenting measurements of discriminatory accuracy.
- Our method is simpler but share crucial advantages with multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (AIHDA), such as improved health mapping and assessment of intersectional interaction.
- We use pooled data from Swedish National Health Survey with participation rates spanning from 60.8% 2004 to 42.1% 2018.
- AIHDA is a suitable tool to inform whether interventions to reduce socioeconomic health disparities should be universal or target-specific groups.

In addition to this, other factors like country of birth,<sup>8</sup> household composition,<sup>9</sup> age and gender influence the probability of smoking.<sup>10</sup> Overall, socioeconomic determinants of smoking are multidimensional but few studies have empirically confronted this heterogeneity using an intersectional perspective.<sup>11–15</sup>

# Intersectionality theory, proportionate universalism and the analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy

Structural interventions including raised tobacco taxes and smoking-free zones can reduce smoking prevalence,<sup>16</sup> most among people with low SEP.<sup>17</sup> In UK, healthcarebased smoking cessation aid has reduced disparities in smoking rates between privileged and socioeconomically deprived areas, although this effect was modest.<sup>18</sup> However, a review of the efficacy of non-healthcare interventions targeting behavioural factors

among people with low education<sup>19</sup> concludes that there is a lack of evidence that such interventions oriented towards individual determinants of health are efficient when it comes to reducing socioeconomic disparities in smoking.<sup>20</sup> Marmot and Bell claim<sup>21</sup> that interventions to reduce socioeconomic health disparities need to address all levels of society and not only those who are worst off. They argue that an efficient approach may be proportionate universalism<sup>21 22</sup> where interventions are universal, that is, directed towards the whole population (such as tobacco taxes, smoking bans in public) but proportionately more intense among population subgroups with augmented needs where targeted interventions can be launched (ie, information campaigns in specific neighbourhoods or populations such as pregnant women). However, as argued elsewhere<sup>22-24</sup> successful and efficient implementation of proportionate universalism requires development and application of appropriate theories and epidemiological methodologies.

Intersectionality theory is a critical social theory<sup>25</sup> that stresses the need for simultaneous consideration of different social dimensions such as racialised identity, gender and class in order to properly understand the social context acting on individuals. According to intersectionality theory, the social reality is shaped by overlapping systems of oppression that influence distribution of resources and power in society.

The inclusion of intersectionality in epidemiology and public health has been promoted by several scholars.<sup>26-29</sup> A direct consequence of this approach in quantitative analyses is the study of multiple intersectional strata defined by combinations of different social dimensions, since the effect of each social dimension on an individual is intrinsically dependent on other social identities of that person. This contrasts with the common approach considering one social dimension at the time. Thereby, the intersectional approach may enrich public health research by providing an improved mapping of socioeconomic health disparities.<sup>26 30</sup> Such socioeconomic heterogeneity can be analysed by quantifying differences between intersectional strata averages. However, we<sup>23 28 29 31 32</sup> and other scholars<sup>33-35</sup> stress the added relevance of simultaneously quantifying the discriminatory accuracy (DA) of the intersectional categorisation for specific outcomes. An intersectional map combined with information on its DA provides an improved picture of the socioeconomic heterogeneity existing in the society. This approach can be used to inform interventions according to the concept of proportionate universalism. The extent to which a universal intervention needs to be proportional can be evaluated by the DA of the intersectional strata. A low DA suggests the need for universal interventions while a high DA supports more selective interventions. This idea aligns with the distinctions made by McCall between anticategorical, and intercategorical intersectional approaches.<sup>36</sup> According to the anticategorical intersectionality, the categorisations adopted in quantitative research are simplified and contribute to stereotypes

and perpetuations of inequalities. The intercategorical intersectionality, on the other hand, accepts categorisations since they can be useful in the study of intersectional inequities. The finding of a low DA would support the anticategorical standpoint that the categorisations lack relevance for the studied outcome. If the DA is high, this would rather support the intercategorical standpoint that intersectional matrix provides worthy information. A moderate DA does not give full support to neither the anticategorical nor intercategorical intersectionality.

Adopting a quantitative perspective, in the present study, we aim to illustrate how a more precise intersectional categorisation combined with analysis of individual heterogeneity and DA (AIHDA) improves our understanding of smoking prevalence and facilitates the application of proportionate universalism.

# METHODS

# **Study population**

In this cross-sectional observational study, we used data from all the 14 National Health Surveys (NHS) for Sweden for the years 2004-2016 and 2018 (https:// www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/the-public-health-agencyof-sweden/public-health-reporting/). The NHS is an ongoing collaborative project between the Public Health Agency of Sweden and the Swedish Association of Local Authorities and Regions. The NHS record self-reported information on health, lifestyle and living conditions. The study has been conducted annually between 2004 and 2016 and comprised a random sample of 20000 individuals aged 16-84 years. After 2016 the survey is conducted biannually but with a random sample of 40000 individuals. Response rates span from 60.8% 2004 to 42.1% 2018. Using a unique personal identification number, the Swedish authorities linked the sample surveys to national register administered at Statistics Sweden to obtain demographical and socioeconomic information.

For our study, we pooled the data from the last 14 surveys, which rendered a sample of 136 301 individuals. Thereafter, we excluded people younger than 30 years. The lower age limit of 30 years was chosen since most individuals in Sweden that will complete a 3-year education after high school do so before this age<sup>37</sup> and educational status was the indicator of SEP chosen in this study. We also excluded people with missing information on education, household composition or smoking habits. The final sample consisted on 110 044 individuals or 80.7% of the original sample (figure 1).

#### Patient and public involvement

All data from NHS provided to researchers is anonymised, so study participants cannot be identified. The study participants were not involved in the research process.

#### Assessment of variables

Smoking status was assessed based on the answer to the question 'Do you smoke?', if the person answered 'yes'



Figure 1 Flow chart showing the selection of the study population.

or 'yes, sometimes', the individual was categorised as a smoker, if the respondent answered 'no' the individual was considered a non-smoker.

We categorised age into three groups: 30–44, 45–64 and 65–84 year-old. We classified gender as a binary variable distinguishing between men and women as more specific information on gender was not available in the questionnaire. We classified educational achievement into three categories, as low if the respondent had not completed 3 years of high school education, as middle if they had high school education but less than 3 years of education after high school and high if the respondent had at least 3 years of education after high school. Throughout 2008–2016 respondents were asked 'with whom do you share household?', we defined household composition as living alone if the respondent answered 'with no one', otherwise as living with other(s). In 2018 that question was not asked so individuals were defined in the same way according to the linked information provided by Statics Sweden. We classified migration status as native (ie, born in Sweden) or immigrant.

As a way of operationalising intersectional contexts, we created 72 strata by combining the three categories of age, the two of gender, the three of educational achievement, the two of migration status and the two categories of household composition. We used 30–45 years old native men living with other(s) and with high educational achievement as the reference in the comparisons, as this group was assumed to occupy the position of greatest structural privilege. This choice was based on unidimensional assumptions of structural privilege for young compared with old, <sup>38</sup> men compared with women, high SEP compared with low SEP,<sup>39</sup> natives compared with immigrants<sup>40</sup> and those living with other(s) compared with people living alone.<sup>41</sup> We also included the survey year of the participants using 2018 as reference in all comparisons.



Figure 2 Absolute risk (ie, prevalence) and 95% CIs of smoking in different intersectional strata according the National health survey in Sweden between 2004 and 2018.

#### Statistical analyses

The first step in our analysis was to obtain the trends in smoking prevalence and the trends in socioeconomic and demographic gradients in smoking between 2004 and 2018 (see online supplemental material 1). Thereafter, we performed a stratified analysis aimed to provide a detailed map of the prevalence (ie, absolute risk) and 95% CIs of smoking across the intersectional strata. This stratification allows comparing the prevalence of smoking in different strata without any reference (figure 2).

Thereafter, we performed seven consecutive regression analyses, modelling smoking as the dependent variable and survey year as well as the different demographical and socioeconomic dimensions alone and in combination as explanatory variables. The use of logistic regression to obtain ORs is common but the OR is a good estimation of the relative risk only when the prevalence of the outcome is very small (rare event assumption).<sup>42</sup> Therefore, for the analysis, rather than logistic regression to obtain ORs, we used Cox proportional hazards regression with a constant follow-up time equal to one to obtain prevalence ratios (PR)<sup>43</sup> with 95% CI.

Model 1 included only survey year, model 2 added age, model 3 added gender, model 4 added educational achievement, model 5 added migration status and model 6 added household composition and thus included all the variables that defined the intersectional strata. Finally, the intersectional model 7 included the same variables as model 6 but in the form of a multicategorical variable with 72 intersectional strata. Here, we used the 30–45 years old, native men living with other(s) and with high educational achievement as the reference in the comparison.

For each model, we quantified its DA by means of the area under the receiver operator characteristics curve (AUC).<sup>44</sup> The AUC measures the accuracy of the information provided by the variables in the model for discriminating individuals who smoke from those who do not. The AUC takes a value between 0.5 and 1, where 1 indicates perfect discrimination and 0.5 means that the studied variables have no DA at all. The AUC can even be used to qualify the size of the intersectional differences. Rather than evaluating the absolute risk differences between strata, using the AUC we assess the overlapping of the individual risk predictions (based on the intersectional strata) between smokers and non-smokers.

There is no fully established practical guideline for the interpretation of the size of the AUC as a measure of DA when analysing intersectional inequalities. However, based on the cut-off values provided by Hosmer and Lemeshow<sup>45</sup> but using more neutral denominations we qualify intersectional inequalities according to the DA as (1) 'absent or very small' (AUC=0.5–0.6), (2) 'moderate' (AUC >0.6–≤0.7), (3) 'large' (AUC >0.7–≤0.8) and (4) 'very large' (AUC >0.8). Evaluating intersectional differences using only strata prevalence is insufficient as it does not consider any overlapping between the strata. Therefore, the AUC provides fundamental information for evaluation of group differences.<sup>46</sup>

We further calculated the incremental change in the AUC value ( $\Delta$ -AUC) between the models. The  $\Delta$ -AUC

quantifies the improvement in the DA obtained by a model, in relation to the previous model.<sup>24</sup> The categorical intersectional variable in model 7 allows for the capturing of interaction of effects. If any such interaction exists, the DA of model 7 will increase in comparison with model 6 and the  $\Delta$ -AUC will thus be positive.

We used STATA V.15.1 and IBM SPSS V.25 for PC to perform all statistical analyses.

#### RESULTS

Over the whole study period, the prevalence of smoking was 18%. The visual analysis of the trends indicated that the prevalence of smoking monotonically decreased in Sweden from 25.0% in 2004 to around 11.1% in 2018. While sex-differences were small throughout the period and the sex-category with highest smoking prevalence changed, we observed consistent differences between groups defined by age, country of birth, educational achievement and household composition. In absolute terms, the gaps between subgroups were static except for differences between age categories that narrowed in later years (see online supplemental material 1).

Table 1 presents the prevalence of smokers and nonsmokers across the included socioeconomic and demographic variables as well as across survey years. It indicates that the prevalence of smoking was higher in individuals aged 45–64 years (20.6%) than in both younger (19.8%) and older people (12.4%). Women and men had similar prevalence of smoking (17.9% vs 17.8%). As expected, smoking was more common among people with low (21.7%) and medium (17.0%) educational achievement compared with people with high educational achievement (11.9%). The prevalence of smoking was higher among immigrants (23.9%) than among natives (17.0%) and the same was true for individuals living alone (24.1%) compared with those who were living with other(s) (16.5%).

Figure 2 shows the prevalence of smoking across the intersectional strata. We observed the highest prevalence (54%) among 30–44 years old immigrant men with low educational achievement and living alone, and the lowest prevalence (6%) among 65–84 years old native women with high educational achievement and living together. The reference stratum (ie, 30–45 years old, native men living with other(s) and with high educational achievement) used in the relative comparisons (table 2) presented a smoking prevalence of about 12%.

The table 3 informs that the PR of smoking decreases with age, being lowest in the old population. This age gradient is clear after adjustment for the other variables in the model 6. Low educational achievement, being immigrant and living alone was associated with a higher smoking risk. However, there were no age-adjusted gender differences. The AUC in the model including only survey year was 0.58. In the age adjusted model 2, the AUC was 0.60 and it did not increase when gender was included in model 3. The AUC increased by 0.04 Table 1Distribution (prevalence) of smokers acrosscategories of age, gender, education, migration andhousehold composition in the 110044 participants in theSwedish National Health Surveys (2004–2018)

	Non-smokers (%)	Smokers (%)
30–44	22799 (80.23)	5618 (19.77)
45–64	38024 (79.41)	9862 (20.59)
65–84	29575 (87.65)	4166 (12.35)
Female	48782 (82.08)	10.653 (17.92)
Male	41 616 (82.23)	8993 (17.77)
Low	38791 (78.32)	10738 (21.68)
Middle	27716 (83.02)	5670 (16.98)
High	23891 (88.06)	3238 (11.94)
Immigrant	10410 (76.07)	3274 (23.93)
Native	79988 (83.01)	16372 (16.99)
Living with other(s)	75625 (83.48)	14964 (16.52)
Living Alone	14773 (75.93)	4682 (24.07)
2004	6803 (75.03)	2264 (24.97)
2005	3339 (75.90)	1060 (24.10)
2006	3450 (77.62)	995 (22.38)
2007	3272 (77.81)	933 (22.19)
2008	6525 (79.07)	1727 (20.93)
2009	6123 (79.22)	1606 (20.78)
2010	6718 (80.59)	1618 (19.41)
2011	6760 (82.56)	1428 (17.44)
2012	6893 (82.68)	1444 (17.32)
2013	6770 (83.10)	1377 (16.90)
2014	6845 (83.74)	1329 (16.26)
2015	6978 (84.21)	1308 (15.79)
2016	7086 (88.13)	954 (11.87)
2018	12836 (88.90)	1603 (11.10)

Values are number (and percentage) of individuals.

units when including education. It did not increase when adding migration status but further increased by 0.01 units when including household composition. The AUC of intersectional model 7 was 0.66, with 95% CI overlapping the AUC of model 6 indicating no conclusive intersectional interaction.

Table 2 shows the 10 strata with the lowest and the 10 strata with the highest PRs of smoking using the strata of young native men with high educational achievement and living with other(s) as reference. The lowest PR=0.55 was observed in older native women with high educational achievement and living with other(s) and the highest PR=4.45 was observed in young immigrant men with low educational achievement and living alone. When comparing with the reference stratum of native young men with high educational achievement and living with other(s), we observed that low educational achievement, being immigrant and living alone were, respectively,

Table 2 Results from the intersectional model 7 indicating the 10 strata with lowest and the 10 strata with highest prevalence ratios (PR) with 95% Cls of smoking across intersectional strata in the Swedish population using the stratum of young, native, men with high education that were living with other(s) (LWO) as reference in the comparisons

Age	Gender	Educational achievement	Migration status	Household composition	PR (95% CI)
65–84	Female	High	Native	LWO	0.55 (0.45 to 0.69)
65–84	Male	High	Native	LWO	0.58 (0.48 to 0.71)
65–84	Female	High	Immigrant	LWO	0.61 (0.33 to 1.11)
65–84	Female	Middle	Native	LWO	0.80 (0.66 to 0.96)
65–84	Female	High	Native	Living alone	0.83 (0.64 to 1.06)
65–84	Male	Middle	Native	LWO	0.85 (0.73 to 0.99)
30–44	Female	High	Native	LWO	0.86 (0.74 to 0.98)
65–84	Male	High	Immigrant	Living alone	0.91 (0.38 to 2.21)
45-64	Male	High	Native	LWO	0.92 (0.8 to 1.07)
65–84	Male	Low	Native	LWO	0.96 (0.84 to 1.11)
30–44	Male	High	Native	LWO	Reference
30–44	Female	High	Immigrant	Living alone	2.87 (1.86 to 4.42)
30–44	Female	Low	Native	Living alone	2.95 (2.29 to 3.78)
45-64	Female	Low	Native	Living alone	2.99 (2.61 to 3.41)
45–64	Male	Middle	Immigrant	Living alone	3.10 (2.26 to 4.26)
45–64	Female	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	3.22 (2.56 to 4.06)
30–44	Male	Middle	Immigrant	Living alone	3.33 (2.35 to 4.71)
30–44	Female	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	3.41 (1.96 to 5.94)
45-64	Male	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	3.61 (2.90 to 4.50)
30–44	Male	Low	Immigrant	LWO	3.66 (3.07 to 4.35)
30–44	Male	Low	Immigrant	Living alone	4.45 (3.29 to 6.03)
AUC					0.66 (0.65 to 0.66)
∆AUC com	pared with	model 6			0.01

AUC, area under the curve.

present in 7, 8 and 9 of the 10 strata with the highest risk of smoking (see online supplemental material 2 for the complete list of PR values).

#### DISCUSSION

### Main findings

Our study provides an improved mapping of the distribution of the smoking habit in Sweden compared with unidimensional analyses. Rather than focusing on single socioeconomic and demographical variables, we use an intersectional AIHDA analysis that uncovers the socioeconomic and demographical heterogeneity existing in the country. We also applied the AUC to obtain information on the accuracy of the intersectional grouping for identifying individuals according to their smoking status. We found a moderate AUC=0.66, which indicates that individual risk of smoking considerably overlaps between the intersectional strata and that neither the anticategorical nor the intercategorical intersectionality approaches are fully supported. We found that the stratum-specific risks were due to the main effects of the different variables used to define the intersectional strata without any conclusive interactive component.

We found intersectional strata with a rather high prevalence of smoking. For instance, the prevalence of smoking in young immigrant men with low educational achievement and living alone was 54%. Interestingly, while high educational achievement generally prevents smoking, young immigrant women that lived alone had a PR of 2.87 (95% CI 1.86 to 4.42) despite their high educational achievement. This indicates that the protective effect of high education may depend on other variables such as migration status and gender. Our finding could hypothetically reflect both smoking culture in the country of birth of the individual or that discrimination on the basis of gender or migration status may contribute to making education a poorer indicator of SEP in this group.

### **Relation to previous studies**

In spite of the use of different definitions and measurements of smoking habits as well as the use of different indicators of SEP, many previous publications have shown the existence of socioeconomic, ethnic and

					Niouel 4	C INOCIAL C	Model 6
	2004	2.25 (2.11–2.40)	2.07 (1.95–2.21)	2.08 (1.95–2.21)	1.85 (1.74–1.98)	1.88 (1.76–2.00)	1.84 (1.73–1.97)
	2005	2.17 (2.01–2.35)	2.01 (1.86–2.17)	2.01 (1.86.2.17)	1.83 (1.69–1.98)	1.85 (1.71–2.00)	1.83 (1.69–1.98)
	2006	2.02 (1.86–2.18)	1.87 (1.72–2.02)	1.87 (1.72–2.02)	1.70 (1.57–1.84)	1.71 (1.58–1.85)	1.68 (1.55–1.82)
	2007	2.00 (1.84–2.17)	1.86 (1.71–2.01)	1.86 (1.71–2.01)	1.71 (1.57–1.85)	1.65 (1.54–1.77)	1.70 (1.56–1.84)
	2008	1.89 (1.76–2.02)	1.76 (1.64–1.88)	1.76 (1.64–1.88)	1.64 (1.53–1.75)	1.66 (1.55–1.78)	1.63 (1.52–1.74)
	2009	1.87 (1.75–2.01)	1.75 (1.64–1.89)	1.76 (1.64-1-88)	1.65 (1.54–1.77)	1.62 (1.51–1.73)	1.63 (1.52–1.75)
	2010	1.75 (1.63–1.87)	1.70 (1.58–1.82)	1.70 (1.58–1.82)	1.61 (1.50–1.72)	1.46 (1.36–1.57)	1.59 (1.48–1.70)
	2011	1.57 (1.46–1.69)	1.53 (1.43–1.64)	1.53 (1.43–1.64)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.47 (1.37–1.58)	1.43 (1.33–1.54)
	2012	1.56 (1.45–1.68)	1.53 (1.42–1.64)	1.53 (1.42–1.64)	1.47 (1.37–1.57)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.44 (1.34–1.55)
	2013	1.52 (1.42–1.64)	1.49 (1.39–1.60)	1.49 (1.39–1.60)	1.45 (1.35–1.55)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.42 (1.32–1.52)
	2014	1.47 (1.36–1.75)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.45 (1.35–1.56)	1.41 (1.31–1.52)	1.42 (1.32–1.53)	1.39 (1.30–1.50)
	2015	1.42 (1.32–1.53)	1.40 (1.30–1.51)	1.40 (1.30–1.51)	1.37 (1.27–1.47)	1.38 (1.28–1.48)	1.35 (1.26–1.46)
	2016	1.07 (0.99–1.16)	1.06 (0.97–1.14)	1.06 (0.97–1.14)	1.04 (0.96–1.13)	1.05 (0.97–1.13)	1.03 (0.95–1.11)
Year	2018	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
	30-44		Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
	45-64		1.06 (1.03–1.10)	1.06 (1.03–1.10)	0.94 (0.91–0.97)	0.94 (0.91–0.98)	0.93 (0.90–0.96)
Age	65-84		0.68 (0.65–0.71)	0.68 (0.65–0.71)	0.56 (0.54–0.58)	0.57 (0.55–0.59)	0.53 (0.51–0.56)
	Male			Reference	Reference	Reference	Reference
Gender	Female			1.00 (0.97–1.02)	1.02 (0.99–1.05)	1.02 (0.99–1.05)	1.01 (0.98–1.04)
	Low				1.96 (1.88–2.04)	1.96 (1.88–2.04)	1.93 (1.86–2.01)
	Middle				1.42 (1.36–1.48)	1.43 (1.37–1.49)	1.42 (1.36–1.49)
Education	High				Reference	Reference	Reference
	Native					Reference	Reference
Born in Sweden	Immigrant					1.39 (1.34–1.45)	1.39 (1.24–1.44)
	Living alone						1.53 (1.48–1.58)
Living alone	living with other(s)						Reference
AUC		0.58 (0.58-0.59)	0.60 (0.60-0.61)	0.60 (0.60-0.61)	0.64 (0.63-0.64)	0.64 (0.64–0.65)	0.65 (0.65–0.66)
AUC		I	0.02	0.00	0.04	0.00	0.01

6

7

demographical differences in smoking.<sup>2 4 47</sup> However, as far we known, only a few have considered the intersectional approach.<sup>11 [4 15</sup> The heterogeneous distribution of smoking prevalence we found in Sweden is in accordance with recent intersectional research on smoking cessation in the US adult population.<sup>15</sup>

High education may influence smoking through both direct effects, such as increased understanding of detrimental health effects of smoking, and indirect effects such as social and material circumstances.<sup>48</sup> Educational achievement is the preferred indicator of SEP in previous public health reports in Sweden.<sup>49</sup> We performed a sensitivity analysis where we included income instead of education and the results were very similar and are provided as online supplemental material 3.

In a comparison of the relative importance of low education on smoking prevalence across age and gender groups in Denmark and Sweden, Eek *et al*<sup>t</sup> found that the effect of low education on smoking prevalence and continuation of smoking was strongest among younger women in Sweden, indicating a failure of tobacco prevention interventions to reach this group. While immigrant men were clearly overrepresented among the strata with highest prevalence of smoking, this was not the case for women. This pattern was also found by Lindström and Sundquist<sup>8</sup> in a study from southern Sweden showing lower rates of smoking among men born in Sweden, but higher rates of smoking among women born in Sweden compared with men and women from most other country groups. These differences were attributable to different smoking prevalence in the countries of origins of the immigrants, potentially representing different stages of the smoking transition. The distribution of smoking prevalence across age groups we found is similar to the pattern observed by Ali *et al*<sup>t0</sup> in a study from southern Sweden.

#### **Strengths and limitations**

The cross-sectional and observational character of this study prevents causal conclusions. However, the variables included in our analyses are to a little extent effected by smoking status, so the causal direction can be presumed to go from sociodemographic variables towards smoking rather than the opposite.

A weakness in our study is that the participation rates were rather low, especially during the last years. An analysis of the non-participants performed by Statistics Sweden shows that people with low income, people born outside Sweden and people living alone were less likely to be responders.<sup>51</sup> Therefore, if the prevalence of smoking is higher in non-participants, our analysis may have underestimated the existing socioeconomic differences. In a sensitivity analysis, we used data that had been weighted by Statistics Sweden in order to reduce skewness resulting from non-participating individuals. The variables used to perform the weighting were age, gender, educational level, country of birth, household composition and urban/rural.<sup>52</sup> These results were very similar, which was expected since the intersectional variable included all weighting variables except rural/ urban. Our study represents the Swedish circumstances so the AIHDA-approach should be replicated in different contexts.

A further limitation of this study is the simple categorisations of the dimensions incorporated in the intersectional matrix. Gender was binary defined which neglects the existence of numerous gender identities. Migration status was binary defined as natives and immigrants, which may hide heterogeneity in smoking prevalence. A more detailed classification with four categories (ie, Sweden, Nordic countries, Europe and Outside Europe) shows that all the categories except women born outside Europe had a higher prevalence than the individuals born in Sweden (see online supplemental material 4). The used categorisations stem in part from the information available in the survey and in part from the aim of presenting a parsimonious intersectional model that is easier to adopt in public health analyses and by the fact that several strata would be empty or contain very few individuals if the intersectional matrix was expanded.

We also performed a sensitivity analysis excluding 'sometimes smokers' from the smoker category. As expected, overall prevalence was lower, 11% compared with 18%, and intersectional disparities larger. The AUC of the intersectional model 7 was 0.70 compared with 0.66 in the main analysis. Our main results combined with the results from the sensitivity analysis reflect the existence of socioeconomic disparities not only in prevalence, but also in intensity, of smoking.<sup>53</sup> Our results, therefore, may underestimate the intersectional disparities in health hazards attributable to smoking.

### Implications and future studies

There is a growing body of literature focusing on how to perform quantitative intersectional research,<sup>27 36</sup> with the emergence of multilevel AIHDA (MAIHDA) as a recent example.<sup>28 29 34</sup> However, in spite of providing complementary information,<sup>34</sup> the fixed effects AIHDA approach we use in our study is rather accessible and share crucial advantages of the MAIHDA. First, the AIHDA provides an intersectional mapping that is more appropriate than unidimensional analyses to identify specifically vulnerable population groups in which interventions could be effective. Second, by going beyond average probabilistic measurements (ie, prevalence) and also analysing DA we get a quantification of the heterogeneity around the averages.<sup>46</sup> From the AIHDA, we found that the DA of our intersectional model was only moderate which indicates the necessity for universal interventions due to a large unexplained heterogeneity. However, we also identified that the three most vulnerable groups (ie, strata) included immigrant men with low education younger than 65 years. This finding suggests that special preventive measures should be directed to these groups. Furthermore, research methods that actively involves members of marginalised

ම

groups and has the explicit purpose to result in public health improvements are developing and could be one way forward.<sup>54</sup>

Interventions to reduce smoking prevalence should address Social Determinants of Health (SDH) at all levels. Examples targeted directly at smoking include increased tobacco taxation, smoke-free zones and public antismoking campaigns.<sup>55</sup> Stigmatisation is a negative side effect of such interventions that need to be taken into account, especially for low SEP groups.<sup>56</sup> Qualitative intersectional research has provided important insights into how the stigma of smoking interacts with identities of low class, country of birth, being a bad mother and may be in conflict with norms of femininity.<sup>57</sup>

Equal access to education, housing and healthy recreation, regardless of gender, socioeconomic status, migration status and household composition, is important to reduce smoking prevalence. Therefore, institutions outside the healthcare system play an important role to redistribute resources and access to SDH,<sup>58,59</sup> in order to counterweight the accelerating tendency of accumulation of resources among a very rich minority that characterises modern capitalism.<sup>60</sup> This requires political decisions that prioritise population health aims more than marketoriented reforms that exacerbate health inequities.<sup>61</sup> Health politics should adopt an intersectional perspective when redistributing resources in order to reduce the complex disparities in smoking revealed in this study.

#### CONCLUSIONS

Compared with studies focused on single variables, the intersectional AIHDA offers a better mapping of the socioeconomic and demographical distribution of smoking in Sweden. However, the moderate DA found in the AIHDA analysis suggested the existence of substantial unexplained heterogeneity in smoking risk within the different intersectional strata defined by age, gender, education, household composition and migration status. An intersectional AIHDA approach is necessary to understand the existing socioeconomic and demographic complexity influencing smoking behaviour. Future studies should identify preventive measures that are guided by proportionate universalism to find practical ways forwards to reduce intersectional disparities in smoking prevalence.

Acknowledgements The authors wish to thank the County Council in Region Skåne for providing financial and administrative support to this study.

Contributors SAF and JM had the original idea of the study. SAF wrote the initial version of the paper. SAF, JM, RP-V and ML participated in the design, analysis, interpretation of data and drafting of the article. All authors approved both the original and revised versions to be published. JM is the guarantor of the article.

Funding This work was supported by grants to Juan Merlo (P) from the Swedish Research Council (Vetenskapsrådet) for the project 'Multilevel Analyses of Individual Heterogeneity: innovative concepts and methodological approaches in Public Health and Social Epidemiology' (https://www.swecris.se/betasearch/details/project/ 201701321VR?lang=en. roject id: 2017-01321.) The study was also supported by a grant for advanced doctoral studies from the Faculty of Medicine at Lund University (Dnr 2020/1125, SAF). **Disclaimer** The funders had no role in study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript. We acknowledge the staff and participants of all the national health surveys that has made this study possible.

Competing interests None declared.

Patient consent for publication Not required.

Ethics approval The present investigation was approved by the Swedish Ethical Review Authority (Dnr: 2019–01793) and the data safety committee at the Public Health Agency of Sweden.

Provenance and peer review Not commissioned; externally peer reviewed.

Data availability statement Data may be obtained from a third party and are not publicly available. The original databases from the Public Health Agency of Sweden used in this study are protected by strict rules of confidentiality that cover sensitive individual information including data regarding health and health behaviours. The data can be made available for research after review by a regional Ethics Committee and the Public Healt Agency's own safety committee.

Supplemental material This content has been supplied by the author(s). It has not been vetted by BMJ Publishing Group Limited (BMJ) and may not have been peer-reviewed. Any opinions or recommendations discussed are solely those of the author(s) and are not endorsed by BMJ. BMJ disclaims all liability and responsibility arising from any reliance placed on the content. Where the content includes any translated material, BMJ does not warrant the accuracy and reliability of the translations (including but not limited to local regulations, clinical guidelines, terminology, drug names and drug dosages), and is not responsible for any error and/or omissions arising from translation and adaptation or otherwise.

Open access This is an open access article distributed in accordance with the Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 Unported (CC BY 4.0) license, which permits others to copy, redistribute, remix, transform and build upon this work for any purpose, provided the original work is properly cited, a link to the licence is given, and indication of whether changes were made. See: https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/.

#### ORCID iDs

Sten Axelsson Fisk http://orcid.org/0000-0002-8110-8376 Juan Merlo http://orcid.org/0000-0001-8379-9708

#### REFERENCES

- 1 Eek F, Ostergren P-O, Diderichsen F, et al. Differences in socioeconomic and gender inequalities in tobacco smoking in Denmark and Sweden; a cross sectional comparison of the equity effect of different public health policies. *BMC Public Health* 2010;10:9.
- 2 Kuntz B, Lampert T. Educational differences in smoking among adolescents in Germany: what is the role of parental and adolescent education levels and intergenerational educational mobility? Int J Environ Res Public Health 2013;10:3015–32.
- 3 Härkönen J, Lindberg M, Karlsson L, et al. Education is the strongest socio-economic predictor of smoking in pregnancy. Addiction 2018;113:1117–26.
- 4 Hiscock R, Bauld L, Amos A, et al. Socioeconomic status and smoking: a review. Ann N Y Acad Sci 2012;1248:107–23.
- 5 Graham H. Gender and class as dimensions of smoking behaviour in Britain: insights from a survey of mothers. Soc Sci Med 1994;38:691–8.
- 6 Joffer J, Burell G, Bergström E, et al. Predictors of smoking among Swedish adolescents. *BMC Public Health* 2014;14:1296. 7 Gilman SE, Martin LT, Abrams DB, et al. Educational attainment
- 7 Gilman SE, Martin LT, Abrams DB, et al. Educational attainmen and cigarette smoking: a causal association? Int J Epidemiol 2008;37:615–24.
- 8 Lindström M, Sundquist J. Ethnic differences in daily smoking in Malmö, Sweden. varying influence of psychosocial and economic factors. *Eur J Public Health* 2002;12:287–94.
- 9 Lindström M, Giordano GN. Changes in social capital and cigarette smoking behavior over time: a population-based panel study of temporal relationships. *Nicotine Tob Res* 2016;18:2106–14.
- 10 Ramström L, Borland R, Wikmans T. Patterns of smoking and Snus use in Sweden: implications for public health. *Int J Environ Res Public Health* 2016;13. doi:10.3390/ijerph13111110. [Epub ahead of print: 09 11 2016].
- 11 Amroussia N, Pearson JL, Gustafsson PE. What drives us apart? decomposing intersectional inequalities in cigarette smoking by

education and sexual orientation among U.S. adults. Int J Equity lealth 2019:18:109

- 12 Mena E, Bolte G, Group AGS, ADVANCE GENDER Study Group. Intersectionality-based quantitative health research and sex/gender sensitivity: a scoping review. *Int J Equity Health* 2019;18:199. 13 Bilal U, Beltrán P, Fernández E, *et al.* Gender equality and smoking: a
- theory-driven approach to smoking gender differences in Spain. Tob Control 2016;25:295-300.
- Aguirre CG, Bello MS, Andrabi N, et al. Gender, ethnicity, and their intersectionality in the prediction of smoking outcome Expectancies in regular cigarette smokers. Behav Modif 2016;40:281–302.
- Potter LN, Lam CY, Cinciripini PM, et al. Intersectionality and 15 smoking cessation: exploring various approaches for understanding health inequities. Nicotine Tobacco Research 2021;23:115-23.
- Neuberger M. Tobacco control: prevention and cessation in Europe. 16 Memo 2019:12:156-61.
- 17 Golden SD, Farrelly MC, Luke DA, et al. Comparing projected impacts of cigarette floor price and excise tax policies on socioeconomic disparities in smoking. Tob Control 2016;25:i60-6.
- 18 Bauld L, Judge K, Platt S. Assessing the impact of smoking cessation services on reducing health inequalities in England: observational study. *Tob Control* 2007;16:400–4. Vilhelmsson A, Östergren P-O. Reducing health inequalities with
- 19 interventions targeting behavioral factors among individuals with low levels of education - A rapid review. PLoS One 2018;13:e0195774.
- Wendel-Vos GCW, Dutman AE, Verschuren WMM, et al. Lifestyle 20 factors of a five-year community-intervention program: the Hartslag Limburg intervention. Am J Prev Med 2009;37:50-6.
- Marmot M, Bell R. Fair Society, healthy lives. Public Health 2012;126 21 Suppl 1:S4-10.
- 22 Carey G, Crammond B, De Leeuw E. Towards health equity: a framework for the application of proportionate universalism. Int J Equity Health 2015:14:81.
- Wemrell M, Bennet L, Merlo J. Understanding the complexity of 23 socioeconomic disparities in type 2 diabetes risk: a study of 4.3 million people in Sweden. BMJ Open Diab Res Care 2019;7:e000749.
- 24 Merlo J, Wagner P, Leckie G. A simple multilevel approach for analysing geographical inequalities in public health reports: the case of municipality differences in obesity. *Health Place* 2019;58:102145. Crenshaw K. Demarginalizing the intersection of race and sex: a
- 25 black feminist critique of antidiscriminiation doctrine, feminist theory and antiracist politics. u Chi Legal f 1989;139.
- Bauer GR. Incorporating intersectionality theory into population 26 health research methodology: challenges and the potential to advance health equity. *Soc Sci Med* 2014;110:10–17. Bowleg L. When black + Lesbian + woman ≠ black Lesbian woman:
- 27 the methodological challenges of qualitative and quantitative intersectionality research. Sex Roles 2008;59:312-25.
- Merio J. Multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA) within an intersectional framework. Soc Sci Med 2018;203:74–80. 28
- Wemrell M, Mulinari S, Merlo J. An intersectional approach 29 to multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity (MAIH) and discriminatory accuracy. Soc Sci Med 2017;178:217-9.
- 30 Green MA, Evans CR, Subramanian SV. Can intersectionality theory enrich population health research? Soc Sci Med 2017;178:214–6.
- Axelsson Fisk S, Mulinari S, Wemrell M, et al. Chronic obstructive 31 pulmonary disease in Sweden: an intersectional multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy. SSM Popul Health 2018;4:334-46.
- Persmark A, Wemrell M, Zettermark S, et al. Precision public health: mapping socioeconomic disparities in opioid dispensations 32 at Swedish pharmacies by multilevel analysis of individual heterogeneity and discriminatory accuracy (MAIHDA). PLoS One 2019;14:e0220322.
- 33 Evans CR, Erickson N. Intersectionality and depression in adolescence and early adulthood: a MAIHDA analysis of the National longitudinal study of adolescent to adult health, 1995-2008. Soc Sci Med 2019;220:1-11.
- Evans CR, Leckie G, Merlo J. Multilevel versus single-level regression for the analysis of multilevel information: the case of quantitative intersectional analysis. Soc Sci Med 2020;245:112499.

- Evans CR. Williams DR. Onnela J-P. et al. A multilevel approach to 35 modeling health inequalities at the intersection of multiple social identities. Soc Sci Med 2018;203:64-73.
- 36 McCall L. The complexity of intersectionality. Signs 2005:30:1771-800
- OECD. A3 How many students finish tertiary education? In: Education at a glance 2010. OECD indicators, 2010: p58. https:// 37 www.oecd-ilibrary.org/docserver/eag-2010-en.pdf?expires 1612446491&id=id&accname=guest&checksum=03C12F630190 D0D0C3D3EFBFE3DFA067
- 38 McMullin JA, Cairney J. Self-Esteem and the intersection of age,
- class, and gender. J Aging Stud 2004;18:75–90.
  Krieger N. A glossary for social epidemiology. J Epidemiol Community Health 2001;55:693–700. 39
- Karlsen S, Nazroo JY. Measuring and analyzing "race," racism, and 40 racial discrimination. Methods in social epidemiology 2017;2:43.
- 41 Alm S, Nelson K, Nieuwenhuis R. The diminishing power of one? welfare state Retrenchment and rising poverty of Single-Adult households in Sweden 1988–2011. Eur Sociol Rev 2020:36:198-217.
- Davies HT, Crombie IK, Tavakoli M. When can odds ratios mislead? 42 BMJ 1998:316:989-91
- Barros AJD, Hirakata VN. Alternatives for logistic regression in 43 cross-sectional studies: an empirical comparison of models that directly estimate the prevalence ratio. BMC Med Res Methodol 2003:3:21
- Pepe MS, Janes H, Longton G, et al. Limitations of the odds ratio in 44 gauging the performance of a diagnostic, prognostic, or screening marker. *Am J Epidemiol* 2004;159:882–90.
- Hosmer DW, Lemeshow S. Applied logistic regression. 2nd ED. New 45 York: Wiley, 2000.
- 46 Merlo J, Wagner P, Leckie G. A simple multilevel approach for analysing geographical inequalities in public health reports: the case of municipality differences in obesity. *Health Place* 2019;58:102145. Landberg J, Ramstedt M, Sundin E. *Socioekonomiska skillnader*
- 47 I beroende och utsatthet för andras användning AV alkohol, narkotika och tobak. Stockholm: Centralförbundet för alkohol- och narkotikaupplysning, 2018.
- Östergren O. Understanding the educational gradient in mortality: department of sociology. Stockholm: Stockholm University, 2017.
- 49 SkoR F. Regional comparisons public health 2019, 2018. Available: www.folkhalsomyndigheten.se/publicerat-material Ali SM, Chaix B, Merlo J, et al. Gender differences in daily smoking
- 50 prevalence in different age strata: a population-based study in southern Sweden. Scand J Public Health 2009;37:146-52
- Franzén M. Extra bortfallsanalys. Stockholm: Statistics Sweden, 51 2018.
- 52 Franzén M. Kalibreringsrapport Nationellt Urval. Stockholm: Statistics Sweden, 2015.
- 53 Bobak M, Jarvis MJ, Skodova Z, et al. Smoke intake among smokers is higher in lower socioeconomic groups. *Tob Control* 2000;9:310–2. Andrews JO, Newman SD, Heath J, *et al.* Community-based
- 54 participatory research and smoking cessation interventions: a review of the evidence. Nurs Clin North Am 2012;47:81-96.
- 55 Dahlgren G, Whitehead M. Policies and strategies to promote social equity in health. Stockholm: Institutet för Framtidsstudier, 1991.
- 56 Graham H. Smoking, stigma and social class. J Soc Policy 2012:41:83-99
- Triandafilidis Z, Ussher JM, Perz J, et al. An intersectional analysis of 57 women's experiences of smoking-related stigma. Qual Health Res 2017;27:1445-60.
- 58 Gkiouleka A, Huijts T, Beckfield J, et al. Understanding the micro and macro politics of health: inequalities, intersectionality & institutions -nacro politics of health: inequalities, intersectionality & institutions -A research agenda. Soc Sci Med 2018;200:92–8. Bambra C, Fox D, Scott-Samuel A. Towards a politics of health. Health Promot Int 2005;20:187–93.
- 59
- Piketty T. About Capital in the Twenty-First Century. Am Econ Rev 60 2015;105:48-53
- 61 Burström B. Market-Oriented, demand-driven health care reforms and equity in health and health care utilization in Sweden. Int J Health Serv 2009;39:271-85.